MEETING THE CHALLENGES OF QUANTIFYING THE ELIMINATION PROCESSES OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN RIVERS

(BESTIMMUNG DER ELIMINIERUNG VON ARZNEIMITTEL-RÜCKSTÄNDEN IN FLÜSSEN: HERAUSFORDERUNGEN UND LÖSUNGEN)

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades Doktor der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.) an der Fakultät Biologie/Chemie/Geowissenschaften der Universität Bayreuth

vorgelegt von

Uwe Kunkel

Geb. am 03.10.1981 in Aschaffenburg

Die Arbeiten zur vorliegenden Dissertation wurden im Zeitraum von April 2007 bis Januar 2014 am Lehrstuhl für Hydrologie der Universität Bayreuth unter der Betreuung von Dr. habil. Michael Radke durchgeführt.

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät für Biologie, Chemie und Geowissenschaften der Universität Bayreuth genehmigten Dissertation zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines Doktors in den Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.).

Dissertation eingereicht am: 21.01.2014

Zulassung durch die Prüfungskommission: 29.01.2014

Wissenschaftliches Kolloquium: 13.06.2014

Amtierender Dekan: Prof. Dr. Rhett Kempe

Prüfungsausschuss:

PD Dr. Jan Fleckenstein Dr. habil. Michael Radke Prof. Dr. Britta-Planer Friedrich Prof. Dr. Carlo Unverzagt (Erstgutachter) (Zweitgutachter) (Vorsitz)

DANKSAGUNG

Ich danke allen, die mich im Laufe meiner Doktorarbeit unterstützt und auf dem schönen, ereignisreichen und manchmal recht mühsamen Weg begleitet haben. Ohne euch wäre diese Arbeit in der vorliegenden Form nicht möglich gewesen. Im Einzelnen möchte ich mich bei folgenden Personen bedanken:

Zu allererst möchte ich Dr. habil. Michael Radke für die Betreuung meiner Arbeit danken. Ohne dich wäre ich nie in das Themengebiet "Organische Spurenstoffe" vorgedrungen. Auch trotz teils großer geografischer Distanzen hattest du immer ein offenes Ohr für Fragen und Probleme, konntest mir sinnvolle Anregungen für Versuchsdesigns geben und durch zielführende Diskussionen die Arbeiten in die richtige Richtung lenken.

Des Weiteren danke ich Herrn Prof. Dr. Stefan Peiffer für die Möglichkeit für meine Promotion, die Laboreinrichtungen des Lehrstuhls für Hydrologie an der Universität Bayreuth nutzen zu können. Prof. Dr. Michael McLachlan danke ich dafür, dass ich Teile der Arbeiten an der Universität Stockholm (Department of Applied Environmental Science, ITM) durchführen konnte.

Den Mitarbeiter(inne)n des Lehrstuhls für Hydrologie der Universität Bayreuth danke ich für die tolle gemeinsame Zeit im Labor. Insbesondere Jutta Eckert, die stets mit Interesse die Arbeiten begleitet hat und das kleine gallische Dorf der Organiker zusammenhielt. Ein weiterer Dank gilt den zahlreichen HiWis, die zum Gelingen der vorliegenden Arbeit beigetragen haben. Besonders danken möchte ich dabei Klaus Kasparbauer, ohne dessen Hilfe die Studien am Säva Brook und an der Gründlach in der vorliegenden Form nicht möglich gewesen wären.

Des Weiteren danke ich Sabine Thüns. Man kann sich keine bessere "Leidensgenossin sowie Büronachbarin und Freundin als dich vorstellen. Danke, Bine!

Ein großer Dank gilt meinen Eltern Norbert und Irmtraud sowie meiner Familie und meinen Freunden für die jahrelange Unterstützung. Achso, Gruppe 5 lebt!

Zuletzt danke ich Maria. Auch wenn die verschlungenen Pfade des Lebens sich unsere Wege erst gegen Ende der Promotion kreuzen ließen, wären ohne deine Zuneigung und Liebe die letzten Schritte des Weges nur halb so schön gewesen.

Man kann nicht zweimal in den gleichen Fluss steigen

Heraklit

ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Die Verfügbarkeit von Humanarzneimitteln zur Behandlung von Krankheiten aller Art bildet einen integralen Bestandteil der modernen Gesellschaft. Üblicherweise denken wir allerdings nicht weiter über den Wirkungsmechanismus des Schmerzmittels, der Herpessalbe oder des Hustensafts nach. Genauso kümmern wir uns kaum darum, was mit dem Wirkstoff geschieht, nachdem die gewünschte Wirkung eingesetzt hat. Nach ihrer Einnahme werden Pharmaka im Körper meist nur unvollständig metabolisiert, über Urin und Kot wieder ausgeschieden und ins Abwassersystem eingetragen. Somit werden unsere Kläranlagen nicht nur mit Pathogenen und Nährstoffen, sondern auch mit Tausenden von pharmazeutisch (und oftmals auch biologisch) wirksamen Substanzen konfrontiert. Da Kläranlagen nicht primär dazu konzipiert wurden, organische Mikroverunreinigungen – zu denen Arzneimittelrückstände zählen – zu entfernen, werden die meisten Arzneimittelwirkstoffe während der konventionellen Abwasserbehandlung nur bedingt abgebaut. Zum Teil werden Pharmaka zwar durch Transformationsprozesse während der biologischen Stufe oder durch Sorption an Überschussschlamm entfernt, dennoch wird ein Großteil kontinuierlich über die Kläranlagenabläufe in unsere Bäche und Flüsse emittiert. Konsequenterweise wurden Vertreter verschiedenster Pharmaka-Wirkstoffklassen in Flüssen, Seen, Grundwasser, dem Meer oder sogar im Trinkwasser nachgewiesen. Über die Langzeitwirkung dieses Cocktails an verschiedensten Substanzen auf aquatische Organismen und den allgemeinen ökologischen Zustand der Wasserkörper ist allerdings noch wenig bekannt.

Bisher fokussierten sich die meisten Forschungsprojekte auf das Beschreiben des Vorkommens von Arzneimittelrückständen an verschiedenen Stellen des urbanen Wasserkreislaufs. Diese Studien stellen aber kaum Daten bereit, aus denen zuverlässige quantitative Aussagen über Eliminierungsprozesse von Arzneimittelrückständen in einzelnen Kompartimenten und insbesondere unter den dynamischen Bedingungen in Fließgewässern abgeleitet werden können. Primär sind diese Eliminierungsprozesse: i) photochemische Transformation im Oberflächenwasser, ii) (mikro-)biologische Transformation in den Flusssedimenten und iii) irreversible Sorption an Sedimentpartikel. In den letzten Jahren haben zahlreiche Studien substanzspezifisch quantitative Daten für die einzelnen Reaktionen (Phototransformation, Biotransformation, Sorption) in kontrollierten Laborexperimenten bestimmt. Die Übertragung der Kenngrößen und Erkenntnisse auf die Feldskala gestaltet sich jedoch sehr schwierig, da die unter vereinfachenden Bedingungen im Labor gewonnenen Daten nur bedingt generalisierbar sind. Dennoch wurden bisher nur wenige Studien mit der Zielsetzung, quantitative Daten im Feld zu bestimmen, durchgeführt.

Ziel dieser Arbeit war daher, diese Wissenslücken zu schließen und nachvollziehbare quantitative Daten über das Verhalten von Arzneimittelrückständen in Fließgewässern zu gewinnen. Im Gegensatz zu bisherigen Arbeiten wurden aufeinander abgestimmte systemorientierte Feldkampagnen inklusive *in situ* Abbauexperimenten mit angepassten Laborstudien, die die komplexen hydraulischen Bedingungen in Flüssen und deren Sedimente besser abbilden, kombiniert. Besonderes im Fokus standen dabei i) das Aufstellen von Massenbilanzen und die Bestimmung von Eliminierungsraten in einzelnen Flussabschnitten, ii) die Beschreibung der Dynamik der Eliminierung von Pharmaka in Fließgewässern unter verschiedenen hydraulischen Randbedingungen, iii) die quantitative Bewertung der einzelnen Eliminierungsmechansimen in Fließgewässern sowie iv) die Ermittlung des Einflusses von Oberflächenwasser/Porenwasser-Interaktionen auf die Eliminierung von Pharmaka in Fließgewässern. Dazu wurde eine Auswahl an Pharmaka aus verschiedenen Wirkstoffklassen (Antibiotika, Antiepileptika, Betablocker, Lipidsenker, Schmerzmittel) betrachtet, die gewöhnlich in Fließgewässern in höheren Konzentrationen nachzuweisen ist. Die ausgewählten Substanzen decken ein breites Spektrum physikalisch-chemischer Eigenschaften ab und unterliegen in der Umwelt unterschiedlichen Eliminierungsprozessen. Durch quantitative Unterschiede in der Eliminierung der Zielsubstanzen kann somit zwischen verschiedenen Eliminierungsmechanismen für die einzelnen Pharmaka differenziert werden.

Sowohl zeitlich hoch dynamische Größen wie der Abfluss eines Flusses und die Konzentrationen an Pharmaka in Flüssen, als auch unbekannte Eintragspfade erschweren die Bestimmung von Massenbilanzen entlang bestimmter Flussabschnitte. Um diesem Problem zu begegnen wurde ein Tracerversuch mit Arzneimittelwirkstoffen in einem kleinen Bach (Säva Brook) ohne Hintergrundbelastung mit Pharmaka in der Nähe der schwedischen Stadt Uppsala durchgeführt. Hierzu wurden neben zwei Fluoreszenzfarbstoffen (Uranin, Rhodamin WT) sechs Pharmaka (Bezafibrat, Clofibrinsäure, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, Metoprolol und Naproxen) als Dirac Puls in den Bach gegeben. Die eingesetzten Mengen wurden so gewählt, dass sich nach vollständiger Durchmischung umweltrelevante Konzentrationen im mittleren ng L⁻¹-Bereich einstellten. Entlang eines 16 km langen Flussabschnittes wurden an fünf Messstellen mit automatischen Probennehmern Wasserproben entnommen. Die Proben wurden über Festphasenextraktion (SPE) angereichert und die Konzentrationen der Pharmaka über Hochleistungsflüssigchromatographie gekoppelt mit Tandemmassenspektometrie (HPLC-MS/MS) bestimmt. Die Konzentrationen der Farbtracer wurden mittels Fluoreszenzspektroskopie ermittelt.

Das Schmerzmittel Ibuprofen wurde rasch mit einer Halbwertszeit von etwa zehn Stunden aus dem Oberflächenwasser entfernt und konnte an der letzten Messstelle nicht mehr detektiert werden. Analog nahmen die gemessenen Frachten von Clofibrinsäure mit der Fließstrecke ab und eine Halbwertszeit von ca. 2,5 Tagen wurde berechnet. Für die anderen vier betrachteten Pharmaka (Bezafibrat, Diclofenac, Metoprolol, Naproxen) konnte keine Entfernung nachgewiesen werden. Basierend auf den sehr geringen hydraulischen Leitfähigkeiten der tonigen Sedimente und der annähernd symmetrischen Form der Durchbruchskurven gibt es nur einen sehr geringen Austausch an Oberflächenwasser mit Speicherzonen im Säva Brook. Somit sollten Prozesse in den Flusssedimenten/der hyporheischen Zone nur zu einem geringen Teil zu einer (potentiellen) Eliminierung von Stoffen entlang der Fließstrecke beitragen können. Photoabbau wurde als wichtiger Eliminationsmechanismus für Ibuprofen und Clofibrinsäure ausgeschlossen, da die als wesentlich photolabiler beschriebenen Pharmaka Diclofenac und Naproxen nicht entfernt wurden. Nur für den Betablocker Metoprolol wurde eine signifikante Retardierung entlang der Fließstrecke festgestellt (reversible Sorption). Daher ist eine Entfernung von Ibuprofen und Clofibrinsäure aufgrund dauerhafter Sorption an Sedimenten ebenfalls sehr unwahrscheinlich. Vielmehr wurde ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

geschlussfolgert, dass die beiden Stoffe durch biologische Transformation in Biofilmen, die an Wasserpflanzen und auf der Sedimentoberfläche in hohem Ausmaß vorkamen, entfernt werden.

Basierend auf den Messdaten des Tracerversuchs wurde ein reaktives Stofftransportmodell entwickelt. Die Kopplung von physikalischen und biogeochemischen Prozessen ermöglichte die Quantifizierung von Prozessen innerhalb der fließenden Welle ("main channel") und Speicherzonen ("transient storage zones"). Dadurch konnte der Beitrag von Prozessen innerhalb dieser beiden Zonen an Gesamtrückhalt und Eliminierung der Pharmaka während des Tracerversuchs bestimmt werden. Dies ermöglichte mittels inverser Modellierung erstmals die Ermittlung quantitativer Daten für Sorption und Transformation von Arzneimittelrückständen in Fließgewässern. Die modellierten Halbwertszeiten von Ibuprofen und Clofibrinsäure in den Speicherzonen (1,6 bzw. 22,1 Stunden) waren sehr viel kleiner als in der fließenden Welle (22,7 bzw. 113,2 Stunden). Jedoch sind durch die geringen Interaktionen der fließenden Welle mit den Speicherzonen die Aufenthaltszeiten der Pharmaka in der fließenden Welle während des Transports im Bach wesentlich höher als in den Speicherzonen. Daher trugen beide Zonen in etwa gleich zu der Gesamtentfernung bei.

Viele Pharmaka, die in der Literatur als biologisch abbaubar und/oder photolabil beschrieben sind, wurden während des Tracerversuchs nicht entfernt. Dies war höchstwahrscheinlich auf geringe Interaktionen zwischen dem Oberflächenwasser und den Sedimenten am untersuchten Fluss sowie einer starken Trübung des Wassers und geringe Strahlungsintensitäten während der Studie zurückzuführen. Aus diesem Grund wurde eine weiterführende Feldstudie an einem Fließgewässer, an dem optimale Bedingungen für die Entfernung von Pharmaka vorzufinden sind, durchgeführt. Als optimal wurden eine geringe Wassertiefe und Trübung für photochemische Prozesse und ein intensiver Austausch von Oberflächenwasser und Porenwasser sowie aerobe Verhältnisse in den Sedimenten für biologischen Abbau angesehen. Die Feldarbeiten fanden an einem kleinen Bach, der Gründlach, in der Nähe der Stadt Nürnberg statt. An beiden Enden eines 12,5 Kilometer langen Abschnittes wurden über einen Zeitraum von zwei Wochen Sechs-Stunden-Mischproben entnommen und auf zehn Arzneimittelwirkstoffe (Bezafibrat, Carbamazepin, Clofibrinsäure, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, Metoprolol, Naproxen, Propranolol, Sotalol und Sulfamethoxazol) analysiert. Darüber hinaus wurde an drei Stellen entlang der Fließstrecke tiefenorientiert das Porenwasser beprobt. An denselben Messstellen wurden in situ Phototransformationsstudien durchgeführt indem Glasaquarien in das Flussbett eingebracht, mit Flusswasser befüllt und die Konzentration der Pharmaka über die Zeit bestimmt wurden. Oberflächenwassermischproben, Porenwasserproben sowie die Proben aus den Photoabbauexperimenten wurden mittels SPE aufkonzentriert und die Arzneimittelkonzentrationen durch HPLC-MS/MS bestimmt.

An der ersten Messstelle wurden Konzentrationen im Bereich von 3,5 ng L⁻¹ für den Betablocker Propranolol bis hin zu 1400 ng L¹ für das Schmerzmittel Diclofenac gemessen. Für alle Substanzen konnte eine Abnahme der Konzentrationen entlang der Fließstrecke durch eine Kombination aus Abbauprozessen und Verdünnung durch Zuflüsse von Grundwasser und kleineren Bächen beobachtetet werden. Um diese Verdünnungseffekte zu berücksichtigen, wurden die Eliminierungsraten der untersuchten Pharmaka relativ zu den Konzentrationsänderungen des Antiepilep-

ш

tikums Carbamazepin quantifiziert. Carbamazepin gilt als sehr persistent in Oberflächengewässern und Sedimenten, weshalb sich diese Substanz sehr gut als konservativer Tracer eignet. Darüber hinaus erwies sich Carbamazepin während der Photoabbaustudien als stabil und konnte in allen Tiefen des Porenwassers (bis zu 30 cm) in ähnlichen Konzentrationen wie im Oberflächenwasser nachgewiesen werden. Die Untersuchungen zeigten, dass die Entfernung der meisten Pharmaka während trockener und sonniger Perioden (Zeitraum A) höher als während Zeiträumen mit erhöhtem Abfluss nach Starkniederschlagsereignissen (Zeitraum B) ist. Die errechneten Entfernungsraten lagen zwischen 25 % für das Antibiotikum Sulfamethoxazol (Zeitraum B) und 70 % für den Betablocker Propranolol während der Trockenperiode (Zeitraum A). Photoabbau war nur für das Schmerzmittel Diclofenac und für den Betablocker Sotalol ein relevanter Eliminierungspfad. Für beide Substanzen wurden Halbwertszeiten für photochemische Transformation im Bereich von einigen Stunden in unbeschatteten Bereichen des Flussabschnitts bestimmt. In Dunkelkontrollen wurden weder Diclofenac und Sotalol noch alle anderen Pharmaka entfernt. Neben Photoabbau spielten somit keine weiteren Eliminierungsmechanismen (z.B. Hydrolyse, Bioabbau) im Oberflächenwasser eine entscheidende Rolle. Für Stoffe, wie für den Betablocker Metoprolol und den Lipidsenker Bezafibrat wurde jedoch eine weitgehende Entfernung entlang der Fließstrecke beobachtet. Daher müssen andere Prozesse als Photoabbau hierfür verantwortlich sein. Mit hoher Wahrscheinlichkeit lassen sich die Eliminierungen auf biologischen Abbau in den Flusssedimenten zurückführen. Dies zeigte sich dadurch, dass ihre Konzentrationen im Verhältnis zu Carbamazepin mit der Tiefe im Sediment abnahmen. Darüber hinaus wurde der postulierte Bioabbau für den chiralen Betablocker Metoprolol durch eine Änderung der Verhältnisse der beiden Enantiomere (enantiomer fraction, EF) von der ersten Probenahmestelle (EF = 0,49) zur zweiten Messstelle (EF = 0,43), sowie einer Abnahme des EF bis auf < 0,40 in den tieferen Schichten der Sedimente belegt.

Quantitative Daten für biologische Transformation der Pharmaka in Flusssedimenten wurden zudem in eigens entwickelten Labortestsystemen bestimmt. Standardmäßig wird die biologische Transformation organischer Spurenstoffe in statischen Experimenten bestimmt. In diesen Testsystemen können generelle Aussagen über die biologische Abbaubarkeit von Stoffen sowie die Bildung von Transformationsprodukten getroffen werden. Das Ableiten von auf die Feldskala übertragbarer Transformationsraten ist allerdings problematisch, da die statischen Bedingungen im Gegensatz zu dem hier angewendeten experimentellen Ansatz nicht die komplexen Interaktionen an der Wasser/Sediment-Grenzfläche in Flüssen widerspiegeln. Um diese advektiv dominierten Austauschprozesse in Laborsystemen besser abzubilden und somit Abbauraten unter umweltnahen hydraulischen Bedingungen zu bestimmen, wurden Säulenversuche konzipiert, in denen Wasser aus Vorratsgefäßen mit definierbaren Filtergeschwindigkeiten kontinuierlich durch das Sediment gepumpt werden konnte. Der Ablauf der Säulen wurde in das Vorratsgefäß zurückgeleitet, so dass ein rezirkulierendes System entstand. Mit Hilfe des neu entwickelten Testsystems wurden Kinetiken für den biologischen Abbau ausgewählter Pharmaka (Bezafibrat, Carbamazepin, Clofibrinsäure, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, Metoprolol, Naproxen und Propranolol) in verschiedenen Sedimenten bestimmt. Ein weiteres Augenmerk lag auf der Überprüfung des GeneralisierungspoZUSAMMENFASSUNG

tenzials der Abbaukinetiken aus den Säulenversuchen und der Reproduzierbarkeit der Ergebnisse. Hierzu wurden zahlreiche Wiederholungen der einzelnen Experimente durchgeführt und der Einfluss von Randbedingungen, insbesondere der eingestellten Filtergeschwindigkeiten, systematisch untersucht.

Abgesehen von einer anfänglichen Einstellung eines Sorptionsgleichgewichts für die beiden Betablocker Metoprolol und Propranolol trugen abiotische Prozesse in den Sedimenten nicht zur Eliminierung der Pharmaka bei. Ebenso spielten biotische Prozesse im Oberflächenwasser nur eine untergeordnete Rolle. Die Konzentrationsverläufe der Pharmaka in den einzelnen Replikaten unterschieden sich nur unwesentlich, eine gute Reproduzierbarkeit der Ergebnisse ist daher gewährleistet. Die Eliminierungsrate eines bestimmten Pharmakons unterschied sich in verschiedenen Sedimenten nur unwesentlich. Zudem waren die Eliminierungsraten der untersuchten Pharmaka in den verschiedenen Sedimenten korreliert, was die Erstellung eines generellen Klassifikationsschemas der biologischen Abbaubarkeit der Pharmaka in Flusssedimenten erlaubte. Für alle Substanzen lagen die abgeleiteten Eliminierungsraten deutlich über den aus statischen Batchexperimenten bestimmten Werten. Die Halbwertszeiten für den biologischen Abbau von gut abbaubaren Substanzen wie Ibuprofen oder Metoprolol lagen zwischen 0,5 und 1,8 Tagen bzw. 0,9 und 3,6 Tagen. Darüber hinaus wurden auch Pharmaka, die als relativ persistent in der aquatischen Umwelt beschrieben werden (z.B. Clofibrinsäure), rasch in den Experimenten mit minimalen Halbwertszeiten von 2,9 Tagen transformiert. Die Filtergeschwindigkeit hatte nur einen geringen Einfluss auf die Eliminierungsraten der Pharmaka. Insgesamt konnte gezeigt werden, dass das gewählte Testdesign aus rezirkulierenden Säulenversuchen zwei entscheidende Vorteile gegenüber Standardtestverfahren aufweist. Einerseits liegen die ermittelten Abbauraten wesentlich näher an den wenigen bestimmten in situ Abbauraten als die aus Batchversuchen berechneten Werte und stellen somit realistischere Raten dar. Andererseits werden die Abbaukinetiken im Gegensatz zu Batchexperimenten unter definierten hydraulischen Bedingungen bestimmt und können dadurch einfacher auf andere Testsysteme oder die in der Umwelt vorherrschenden Bedingungen übertragen werden. Zudem konnte gezeigt werden, dass das gegenläufige Eliminierungsverhalten von Bezafibrat und Diclofenac in Feldstudien an zwei Flüssen nicht auf ein unterschiedlicheres Potenzial zur biologischen Transformation der vorliegenden Sedimente zurückzuführen. Die Abbauraten lagen in Sedimenten aus den beiden Flüssen jeweils in ähnlichen Bereichen (Halbwertszeiten von Bezafibrat: 1,1 – 9,3 Tage, Diclofenac: 1,5 – 4,1 Tage). Somit sind unterschiedliche Eliminierungsraten im Feld vielmehr durch die jeweiligen hydrologischen Bedingungen, insbesondere der hydraulischen Anbindung des Oberflächenwassers an die hyporheische Zone in Flüssen bestimmt.

Zusammenfassend konnte diese Arbeit einen Teil der nach wie vor vorhandenen Wissenslücke über das Verhalten von Pharmaka in Fließgewässern schließen und wertvolle neue Erkenntnisse über die relevanten Eliminierungsmechanismen liefern. Durch eine geschickte Auswahl an Referenzsubstanzen und die Kopplung von strategischen Messkampagnen mit *in situ* Abbaustudien konnten einzelne und substanzspezifische Eliminierungsprozesse in Fließgewässern quantifiziert werden. Es konnte ebenfalls durch eine Kombination der systematischen Feldstudien mit

٧

innovativen Laborexperimenten gezeigt werden, dass insbesondere (mikro-)biologische Transformationsprozesse in den Flusssedimenten/in der hyporheischen Zone entscheidend zur Entfernung von Arzneimittelrückständen aus Fließgewässern beitragen können. Allerdings wird dieses Reinigungspotenzial der Flusssedimente aufgrund eines mangelnden Austausches von Oberflächenwasser und Porenwasser und den darin gelösten Substanzen oftmals nur bedingt ausgeschöpft. Photochemische Transformationsprozesse im Oberflächenwasser sind nur in klaren und flachen Flüssen sowie bei geringer Beschattung von quantitativer Bedeutung. Daher besitzen vor allem kleine Bäche mit einem turbulenten Fließregime eine gute Selbstreinigungsleistung für Pharmaka.

SUMMARY

The availability of pharmaceuticals for the treatment of all kind of diseases is an essential part of modern society. But normally, the average woman on the street does neither care why the drugs work nor worry about their fate after she has taken the pain killer, the herpes cream or the cough syrup. After medication, pharmaceuticals are only incompletely metabolized and excreted via urine and feces. Hence, wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) do not only have to deal with pathogens and nutrients but also with high loads of several thousands of pharmaceutically (and biologically) active substances. Since the setup of WWTPs was originally not designed to focus on the elimination of organic micropollutants such as pharmaceuticals, most pharmaceuticals are only incompletely eliminated during conventional wastewater treatment. Partially they can be removed via biological transformation processes or sorption to excess sludge. Nevertheless a big part of the pharmaceutical residues is continuously released into our rivers and streams via the discharge of treated wastewater. Therefore, numerous studies have reported the occurrence of various classes of pharmaceuticals in rivers, lakes, the sea, groundwater, and even in drinking water. While the knowledge on the effects of this cocktail of micropollutants on aquatic organisms and the general ecological status of the water bodies is still scarce, long-term negative effects on organisms cannot be excluded and have already been confirmed for some compounds.

Past research projects concentrated mostly on the detection and monitoring of pharmaceuticals at various locations in the urban water cycle. However, those studies provide only very little data which can be used to derive reliable elimination rates of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment. Moreover, there is a lack of systematically derived data of the importance of individual elimination processes to the total elimination of pharmaceutical residues in streaming waters. There, the major potential elimination processes are: i) photochemical transformation in the surface water, ii) (micro-)biological transformation in the river sediments, and iii) irreversible sorption to river sediments. Using laboratory test systems numerous studies have determined substance specific quantitative data for individual processes (phototransformation, biotransformation, sorption). However, the transfer of these rates and constants to the field scale is not straightforward since the simplified laboratory experiments do not properly picture the more complex and dynamic situations at real rivers. Additionally, only a few field studies aiming to derive quantitative data *in situ* for the individual elimination processes at rivers were conducted up to now.

Thereto, the overarching aim of this work was to narrow the knowledge gap on quantitative data for the elimination of pharmaceutical residues in rivers and streams. By a comprehensive approach of combined field studies and adapted experimental laboratory test systems, the importances of individual elimination processes were elucidated. In detail, the main questions and tasks of this thesis were to i) calculate mass balances and elimination rates of pharmaceuticals in selected rivers, ii) determine the dynamic behavior of their mass balances in streaming waters under different hydrologic conditions, iii) quantify the individual elimination processes and evaluate

their relevance in surface waters, and iv) determine the influence of the extent of exchange of surface water and pore water (hyporheic exchange) on the elimination and dynamics of pharmaceuticals in streaming waters. During all the tests, the fate of a set of pharmaceuticals from different therapeutic classes which are frequently detected in the aquatic environment (analgesics, antiepileptics, antibiotics, beta-blockers, lipid regulators) was investigated. The purposeful selection of this set of target substances allowed differentiating between the individual elimination mechanisms based on their different physicochemical properties and reported environmental fate.

Calculating mass balances for specific wastewater-borne substances along river stretches is challenging since their input is governed by various factors and is often strongly variable in time. To account for this problem, a tracer experiment was performed at a small Swedish river (Säva Brook) near the city of Uppsala without substantial background contamination of pharmaceuticals. A defined amount of two fluorescent dyes (uranine and rhodamine WT) were added as Dirac pulse into the stream. Simultaneously, six pharmaceuticals (bezafibrate, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, metoprolol, and naproxen) were injected. The injected amount was chosen to establish concentrations in the stream after completely mixing which are representative for wastewater impacted rivers (mid ng L⁻¹ range). Downstream of the injection site, water samples were taken with automated water samplers at five different locations over a total length of 16 kilometers. Subsequently, the water samples were enriched via solid phase extraction (SPE) and pharmaceuticals were determined by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS/MS). The concentrations of the dye tracers were determined via fluorescence spectroscopy.

Ibuprofen was rapidly removed from the surface water and could not be detected anymore at the last monitoring site; a half-life time of approx. ten hours was calculated. The load of clofibric acid also decreased along the river stretch with a calculated half-life time of about 2.5 days. For the four other substances (bezafibrate, diclofenac, metoprolol, and naproxen), no significant removal was observed. Based on the low hydraulic conductivity of the river sediments and on the almost symmetrical shape of the tracer breakthrough curves, we concluded that the exchange of river water with the storage zones was small. Hence, processes in the hyporheic zone/river sediments can supposedly only contribute to a minor extent to the total attenuation along the river stretch. Phototransformation was also excluded as major elimination pathway for ibuprofen and clofibric acid, since the more photolabile substances diclofenac and naproxen were not eliminated. Metoprolol was the only substances that was substantially retarded (by reversible sorption) during river transport. Thus elimination of ibuprofen and clofibric acid due to permanent sorption processes is also highly unlikely. Hence, we concluded that ibuprofen and clofibric acid were potentially transformed and eliminated in biofilms which grew on submerged macrophytes and at the surface water/sediment interface.

In a follow-up study, the data from the tracer test was evaluated using reactive transport modeling. With a coupled physical-biogeochemical modeling framework, we were able to determine the individual contributions of stream channel and transient storage zone processes to the

SUMMARY

overall retention and elimination of each of the six pharmaceuticals. Using inverse simulation techniques, for the first time quantitative data for sorption and transformation of pharmaceuticals in both main channel and storage zones were derived. The modeled half-life times of ibuprofen and clofibric acid were much shorter in the storage zones (1.6 hours and 22.1 hours, respectively) than in the main channel (22.7 hours and 113.2 hours). However, due to only small exchange fluxes between the main channel and the storage zones and thus much higher residence times of pharmaceuticals in the main channel compared to the storage zones during river transport, transformation processes in both zones contributed to a similar extent to the total elimination. This example further highlights that the prediction of the elimination of pharmaceuticals in rivers as well as the explanation of an observed attenuation behavior without exact knowledge of the prevailing hydraulics is virtually impossible.

Since conditions at Säva Brook were not optimal for the biotransformation in sediments and photochemical processes (little surface water/pore water interactions, high turbidity of the water and low radiation intensities), an additional field study was carried out at a river which supposedly exhibited best-case conditions for the elimination of pharmaceuticals. We defined these as a shallow stream and with low turbidity for phototransformation, an intense flux of water and solutes across the water/sediment interface and aerobic conditions in the river sediments. The experiments were carried out at a small stream in Northern Bavaria, Germany, near the city of Nuremberg (river Gründlach). Six-hour-composite water samples were taken over a time span of two weeks during summer time at both ends of a 12.5 km long river stretch located downstream of the WWTP Heroldsberg and analysed for a total of ten pharmaceuticals (bezafibrate, carbamazepine, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, metoprolol, naproxen, propranolol, sotalol, and sulfamethoxazole). Moreover, pore water was sampled depth-resolved and in situ photolysis experiments were performed at three locations within the river stretch to assess the individual importance of the attenuation mechanisms. Composite surface water samples, pore water samples, and samples from the photolysis experiments were enriched via SPE and pharmaceuticals were determined by HPLC-MS/MS.

The concentrations of the pharmaceuticals in the surface water at the first sampling site ranged from 3.5 ng L⁻¹ for the beta-blocker propranolol to 1400 ng L⁻¹ for the analgesic diclofenac. The concentrations of all substances decreased from the first to the second sampling site due to a combination of attenuation and dilution processes caused by inflow of unpolluted groundwater and minor creeks. To correct for dilution, attenuation rates were determined in relation to the antiepileptic drug carbamazepine which is known to be persistent in the aquatic environment and whose appropriateness as conservative tracer has been reported before. Moreover, carbamazepine water samples in the same concentration range than in the surface water. Relative to carbamazepine, the load of all other pharmaceutical residues decreased along the river stretch. Their elimination was higher during a sunny, dry weather period (period A) in comparison to a second period with an elevated discharge of river Gründlach after a heavy rainfall (period B). Overall, the calculated elimination rates ranged from 25 % for the antibiotic sulfamethoxazole (period B) to 70 %

IX

for the beta-blocker propranolol (period A). Photolysis was only a relevant elimination process for the analgesic diclofenac and for the beta-blocker sotalol. For these two compounds phototransformation half-life times of some hours were determined in the unshaded parts of the river. No transformation of diclofenac, sotalol, and of all other pharmaceuticals was observed in dark controls of the photolysis experiment providing proof that besides photolysis no other process in the surface water (biotransformation, hydrolysis) is relevant for elimination. However, since substances such as the beta-blocker metoprolol or the lipid lowering agent bezafibrate were also eliminated along the river stretch, another process than photolysis must have occurred. This process was most likely biotransformation in the sediments since their concentrations relative to carbamazepine decreased with depth in the sediments. The hypothesis of biological elimination processes in the river sediments was confirmed by a decrease in the enantiomer fractionation (EF) of the chiral beta-blocker metoprolol from 0.49 at the first sampling site to 0.43 at the second sampling site and to < 0.40 in the deeper parts of the sediments.

As a final task of this thesis, an experimental setup was developed aiming to derive more realistic rate constants for the elimination of pharmaceuticals in river sediments than those obtained from standard laboratory test systems. Commonly, the biotransformation of organic micropollutants in river sediments is determined in static batch experiments. While these test systems provide valuable information about the general biodegradability of substances in sediments, the derived rate constants are often not realistic for the transformation in real rivers since the hydraulics in these systems does not mimic the conditions in real rivers. To take this into account, an experimental system where surface water was actively pumped through sediment columns in a recirculating manner was developed. The elimination kinetics of eight commonly detected pharmaceutical residues that were previously studied in the field experiments (bezafibrate, carbamazepine, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, metoprolol, naproxen, and propranolol) were determined in different sediments. To check the robustness of the test systems as well as the generalization potential of the elimination rate constants deduced from the test system, we systematically varied the filter velocities and conducted several replicates of each approach.

Besides an initial equilibrium sorption period for the beta-blockers metoprolol and propranolol, abiotic transformation processes in the river sediments as well as biotic processes in the surface water were negligible for the elimination of pharmaceuticals. Their concentration trends in replicate experiments were similar. Hence, the experimental approach provides reproducible results. Moreover, the elimination rates of each pharmaceutical in the different tested sediments were similar and we were able to rank the substances according to their biotransformability. For all substances, the derived biological elimination rate constants were much faster than literature data from static batch systems. The half-life times of rapidly eliminated substances such as ibuprofen and metoprolol ranged from 0.5 to 1.8 days and 0.9 to 3.6 days, respectively. Even substances with a low biodegradability such as clofibric acid were removed at high rate constants corresponding to half-life times as short as 2.9 days in some of the experiments. The adjusted filter velocity in the column experiments has only a minor influence on the elimination kinetics of pharmaceuticals compared to the sediment characteristics. Moreover, the test design is applica**SUMMARY**

ble to derive process based elimination rates in advectively flowed through sediments compared to primarily diffusion controlled rates under less controllable hydraulic conditions in batch experiments. Since the (hydrological) boundary conditions in the test systems can be adjusted and quantitatively described elimination rates can be more easily compared to other test systems and translated to the situation in real rivers. Additionally, the column experiments provide evidence that the contradictive attenuation behavior of bezafibrate and diclofenac at two rivers was not a result of a different biological transformation potential of the respective sediments as both compounds were efficiently eliminated in the column experiments using sediments from both sites (half-life times of bezafibrate: 1.1 - 9.3 days, diclofenac: 1.5 - 4.1 days). Consequently, the observed discrepancy in attenuation at the two river stretches is supposedly a consequence of different hydraulics in the two river systems.

In summary, this thesis provided valuable new insight into the fate of pharmaceuticals residues in streaming waters. By an intelligent selection of reference substances and the coupling of welldesigned sampling campaigns with *in situ* transformation experiments quantitative data on individual elimination processes were derived. The combination of the systematic field studies and newly designed innovative laboratory scale experiments elucidated that especially microbial transformation processes in river sediments (hyporheic zone) can act as major player in the attenuation of pharmaceuticals in our rivers. However, these processes are often limited by the lack of exchange of surface water and pore water and hence, the attenuation potentials of the river sediments are not fully exploited. Photochemical transformation processes in the surface water are quantitatively only relevant in shallow and clear streams. Therefore, especially small rivers with a high turbulence provide optimum conditions for the elimination of pharmaceuticals.

XI

TABLE OF CONTENTS

D	ANKSAGU	NG					
ZUSAMMENFASSUNG							
Summary							
T/	ABLE OF C	ONTENTS XIII					
Lı:	st of Fig	URES					
Lı:	ST OF TAE	BLES					
1		GENERAL INTRODUCTION					
-	1 1	Input and Occurrence of Pharmaceutical Pecidues into the Aquatic Environment and					
	1.1	Pivers					
	1.2	Potential Elimination Processes of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers					
	1.3	Determining the Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers – State of the Art7					
	1.3.1	Laboratory Studies – Concepts, Limitations and Gained Insight7					
	1.3.2	Field Studies – Concepts, Challenges and Gained Insight10					
	1.4	Objectives of this Work					
	1.5	Detailed Information on the Individual Substances15					
	1.5.1	Bezafibrate15					
	1.5.2	Carbamazepine					
	1.5.3	Clofibric acid19					
	1.5.4	Diclofenac21					
	1.5.5	Ibuprofen23					
	1.5.6	Metoprolol25					
	1.5.7	Naproxen27					
	1.5.8	Propranolol					
	1.5.9	Sotalol					
	1.5.10)Sulfamethoxazole					
	1.6	Outline of this Thesis					
	1.7	Contribution to the Different Studies					
	1.8	References for the General Introduction					
2	STUDY I: TRACER TEST TO EVALUATE THE FATE OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN RIVI						
		63					
	2.1	Abstract					
	2.2	Introduction					

CHALLENGES OF QUANTIFYING THE ELIMINATION OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN RIVERS

	2.3	Experimental Methods	65
	2.3.1	Chemicals	65
	2.3.2	Study Site	65
	2.3.3	Tracer Experiment	66
	2.3.4	Analytical Methods	67
	2.3.5	Quality Assurance	68
	2.3.6	Calculations	68
	2.4	Results and Discussion	69
	2.4.1	Hydraulic Conditions	69
	2.4.2	Pharmaceuticals	70
	2.5	References for Chapter 2	75
	2.6	Modeling of the Tracer Test	78
3		STUDY II: ATTENUATION OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN RIVERS AT FA	VORABLE
		CONDITIONS	79
	3.1	Abstract	80
	3.2	Introduction	80
	3.3	Material and Methods	81
	3.3.1	Chemicals	81
	3.3.2	Study Site	82
	3.3.3	Sampling and In situ Measurements	83
	3.3.4	In situ Phototransformation Experiments	84
	3.3.5	Analytical Methods	85
	3.3.6	Calculations	86
	3.4	Results and Discussion	87
	3.4.1	Meteorological and Hydrological Situation	87
	3.4.2	Occurrence and Temporal Dynamics of Pharmaceuticals in Surface Water	88
	3.4.3	Elimination of Pharmaceuticals Along the River Stretch	90
	3.4.4	Phototransformation Experiments	92
	3.4.5	Biotransformation of Pharmaceuticals in the Sediments	95
	3.4.6	Metoprolol Enantiomer Ratios	
	3.5	Conclusions	99
	3.6	References for Chapter 3	100
4		STUDY III: DETERMINING REALISTIC BIOTRANSFORMATION RATES	IN R IVER
		SEDIMENTS	104
	4.1	Abstract	105
	4.2	Introduction	105
	4.3	Material and Methods	107
	4.3.1	Chemicals	107
	4.3.2	Sampling Sites and Sediments	107

	4.3.3	Setup of the Column Experiments 108	8
	4.3.4	Sampling and Determination of Boundary Conditions 109	9
	4.3.5	Analytical Methods 110	0
	4.3.6	Calculations and Data Analysis 11	1
	4.4	Results and Discussion 11	1
	4.4.1	Abiotic control experiments and elimination in surface water	1
	4.4.2	Elimination Rates of Different Pharmaceuticals in Various Sediments	2
	4.4.3	Influence of the Filter Velocity on Elimination Kinetics 11	5
	4.4.4	Assessment of the Lag-Phases and Increasing Elimination Rates over the Course o the Experiments	of 7
	4.4.5	Comparison with Static Batch Systems, Flume Experiments, and Modeling Data 119	9
	4.4.6	Comparison to Observed Field Elimination Data 12	1
	4.5	References for Chapter 4 122	2
5		OVERALL SUMMARY AND FINAL CONCLUSIONS	7
6		APPENDIX A-1	1
	6.1	Supporting Information to Chapter 2 A-	1
	6.1.1	List of Tables for Appendix A	1
	6.1.2	List of Figures of Appendix A A-2	2
	6.1.3	Methods A-2	2
	6.1.4	Results and Discussion A-	7
	6.1.5	References to Chapter 6.1 A-1	1
	6.2	Supporting Information to Chapter 3 A-1	5
	6.2.1	List of Tables of Appendix B	5
	6.2.2	List of Figures of Appendix B A-10	6
	6.2.3	Appendix B-1: Supplemental Information on Study Site, Hydraulic and Meteorologica Data, and Additional Results	аl 7
	6.2.4	Appendix B-2: Uncertainty Analysis of the Procedure Used for Calculating Elimination Rates	n 5
	6.2.5	References to Chapter 6.2 A-28	8
	6.3	Supporting Information to Chapter 4 A-2	9
	6.3.1	List of Tables of Appendix C	9
	6.3.2	List of Figures of Appendix C A-30	0
	6.3.3	Material and Methods A-3	1
	6.3.4	Results and Discussion A-3	3
7		(EIDESSTATTLICHE) VERSICHERUNGEN UND ERKLÄRUNGEN	•

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-	1: Conceptual	model	of the	elimination	of	pharmaceutical	residues	in	rivers	and	river
sedim	ents										4

- Figure 1-2: A priori estimation of the percentage of dissolved mass compared to the total mass of pharmaceuticals in rivers as function of the K_{oc} value of a substance and the organic carbon in suspended solids.

LIST OF TABLES

 Table 1-1: Overview of the pharmaceuticals addressed in this thesis and expected contribution of the individual elimination pathways to the overall fate in rivers (++: very important; +: important; 0: of minor importance; -: not important)
Table 1-2: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of bezafibrate 16
Table 1-3: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of carbamazepine 17
Table 1-4: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of clofibric acid 19
Table 1-5: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of diclofenac 22
Table 1-6: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of ibuprofen 24
Table 1-7: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of metoprolol
Table 1-8: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of naproxen 28
Table 1-9: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of propranolol
Table 1-10: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of sotalol 31
Table 1-11: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of sulfamethoxazole 33
Table 2-1: Mass recoveries (%) at sampling sites II-V relative to site I during the tracer test(mean ± uncertainty)
Table 3-1: Concentrations (site A and site B) and loads (only site A) of pharmaceuticals (ng L ⁻¹ and mg 6h ⁻¹ , respectively) and boron and potassium. Data are shown as mean \pm stand deviation, the range of values is given in parenthesis; n: number of samples used for calculations. A significantly lower concentration at site B compared to site A (p < 0.001) is indicated by an asterisk (*)
Table 3-2: Relative elimination (%) of pharmaceuticals between sites A and B for periods I and II.91
Table 3-3: Photolysis rates (d ⁻¹) of pharmaceuticals measured in the <i>in situ</i> phototransformation experiments at river Gründlach. For all other pharmaceuticals no rate significantly different from 0 was observed
Table 4-1: Coordinates of the sampling sites of the four sediments for the column experiments and sediment characteristics. 108
Table 4.2: Overview of the different performed column experiments 100

1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 INPUT AND OCCURRENCE OF PHARMACEUTICAL RESIDUES INTO THE AQUATIC

ENVIRONMENT AND RIVERS

The catch phrase technological change is primarily linked to terms like globalization and advances in transportation and telecommunication. However, people often neglect that the development of the modern society is also strongly linked to improvements related to human health due to rapid advances in hygiene and medication. It has been a long way from the application of medicinal herbs in the antique and in the middle age to today's huge pharmaceutical market. However, there are two sides to every coin: we suddenly have to deal with a wide-spread occurrence of the salutary substances in non-target environments (e.g., rivers, soils, drinking water) and are only slowly becoming aware how to deal with this.

Most pharmaceuticals are not completely metabolized during human metabolism. Hence, they are excreted via urine and faeces (Ashton et al. 2004, Ternes 1998) and pharmaceutical residues are commonly detected in raw wastewater (Halling-Sørensen et al. 1998, Heberer 2002b, Heberer et al. 1998, Hirsch et al. 1999, Soulet et al. 2002, Ternes 1998, Ternes and Hirsch 2000). Concentration in hospital effluents can even be orders of magnitudes higher (Gomez et al. 2006, Lindberg et al. 2004). Therefore, pharmaceuticals have become a new class of organic micropollutants our wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) have to cope with. The two main elimination processes for organic micropollutants such as pharmaceuticals during conventional wastewater treatment are: i) biological degradation during active sludge treatment and ii) sorption to excess sludge that is continuously removed during the treatment (Jelic et al. 2011, Joss et al. 2005, Joss et al. 2006, Maurer et al. 2007, Wick et al. 2011a). Photodegradation during wastewater treatment is negligible due to the high turbidity of the wastewater. Elimination by volatilization is also only of minor importance since pharmaceuticals usually possess only a low volatility (Daughton and Ternes 1999). In contrast to ingredients of personal care products and biocides (Carballa et al. 2008, Wick et al. 2011a), elimination of pharmaceuticals due to sorption to excess sludge is only of importance for some more hydrophobic pharmaceutical substances such as antidepressants and some antibiotics (Jelic et al. 2011). However, most pharmaceuticals are designed to be hydrophilic in order to pass membranes in humans after application (Halling-Sørensen et al., 1998). Therefore, the extent of biological degradation is the crucial factor for the total removal of pharmaceuticals during wastewater treatment. This removal rate is influenced by many factors such as the treatment scheme of the WWTP, season, sludge retention time (SRT) and is also highly substance specific. For most substances, removal during wastewater treatment is only incomplete (Jelic et al. 2011, Joss et al. 2005, Kahle et al. 2008a, Kahle et al. 2008b, Lishman et al. 2006, Petrovic et al. 2009, Quintana et al. 2005, Reif et al. 2011, Tauxe-Wuersch et al. 2005, Wick et al. 2009). Even if pharmaceuticals are partially eliminated, this removal cannot be seen equal to mineralization, i.e., the conversion to CO_2 and H_2O . In contrast, often stable transformation products (TPs) with only minor change in the chemical structure (such as an introduction of a hydroxyl group or carboxylation of an alcoholic group) are formed (Schulz et al. 2008, Wick et al. 2011b). Therefore, the discharge of treated wastewater constitutes a major source for pharmaceuticals and their TPs into the aquatic environment (Ashton et al. 2004, Heberer 2002a, Lindqvist et al. 2005, Reemtsma et al. 2006).

In recent years, upgrading conventional WWTPs with novel technologies has been discussed to improve their performances. It has been shown that ozonation (Huber et al. 2005, Ternes et al. 2003, Zimmermann et al. 2011), the use the of granular and powdered activated carbon (Nowotny et al. 2007), the combination of ozonation and sand filtration (Hollender et al. 2009), microfiltration (Gabet-Giraud et al. 2010), reverse osmosis (Xu et al. 2005) or combinations of these processes can be suitable to remove pharmaceuticals from (waste)water. While their implication as tertiary treatment step is currently discussed intensively (Joss et al. 2008) and first fullscale plants are upgraded, a lot of water will flow under the bridge until all WWTPs will be retooled. Therefore, the discharge of pharmaceuticals into surface waters via treated wastewater will continue. Moreover, it was also shown that an enhanced treatment (resulting in a reduction of the concentration of pharmaceuticals in rivers) such as the chlorination of water can even lead to enhanced ecotoxicological effects by formation of toxic disinfection by-products (Sedlak and von Gunten 2011). Besides WWTPs as point sources for pharmaceuticals there are several other routines that introduce pharmaceuticals into the aquatic environment. Among these, the most important are e.g., the irrigation of treated wastewater on agriculturally used land (Ternes et al. 2007), and the application of manure or sludge to agricultural land (Boxall et al. 2002, Gottschall et al. 2012, Watanabe et al. 2010).

Due to all these releases, pharmaceutical residues are frequently determined in the aquatic environment. The first pilot studies of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment were conducted in the 1970^{ies} and for example, the active metabolites of the lipid lowering agent clofibrate (clofibric acid) and of the analgesic drug aspirin (salicylic acid) were reported in WWTP effluents in the U.S. (Hignite and Azarnoff 1977). During, the 1980/90^{ies}, improvements in analytical chemistry and especially the rapid development in both gas chromatography (GC) or liquid chromatography (LC) and mass spectrometry (MS) and their subsequent coupling (GC-MS/LC-MS) were the foundation for an enormous number of studies dealing with the occurrence of the pharmaceuticals residues in the aquatic environment (Bendz et al. 2005, BLAC 2003, Daughton and Ternes 1999, Kolpin et al. 2002, Lindqvist et al. 2005, Peng et al. 2008). The highest concentrations (up to μ g L⁻¹) are normally determined in wastewater impacted rivers downstream of WWTPs (Radke et al. 2010, Ternes 1998). Then, due to dilution with unpolluted waters or attenuation processes, the concentrations are usually declining with distance from the WWTP. Nevertheless, pharmaceutical residues have been detected in lakes (Buser et al. 1998a, Buser et al. 1998b, Heberer et al. 1998), the sea (Buser et al. 1998a, Halling-Sørensen et al. 1998, Weigel et al. 2002), groundwater (Müller et al. 2012, Prasse et al. 2011, Reh et al. 2013, Sacher et al. 2001, Ternes and Hirsch 2000) and even in finished drinking water (Heberer 2002b, Jones et al. 2005, Musolff et al. 2007, Prasse et al. 2011). Additionally, TPs of pharmaceuticals that are formed during wastewater treatment have also have detected in surface water (Fatta-Kassinos et al. 2011, Schulze et al. 2010) as well as in **GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

groundwater and drinking water (Kormos et al. 2011, Prasse et al. 2011), showing the persistence of these TPs in the aquatic environment.

As shown above, pharmaceuticals are almost ubiquitously present in the aquatic environment. However, the concentrations are usually in the low ng L⁻¹ range and therefore several orders of magnitude lower than therapeutic doses. For example, even drinking three litres of water from the river Rhine with an average concentration of diclofenac of 50 ng L^{-1} (Sacher et al. 2008) over a time span of 70 years would only result in a total uptake of 8.2 mg diclofenac which corresponds to only 8.2 % of the defined daily dosage (DDD, 100 mg). As the concentrations in drinking water are even lower, it can be assumed that the indirect exposure with pharmaceuticals via drinking water poses no immediate health threat for humans (Webb et al. 2003). However, in the urban water circle, there is not one single substance present at these low concentrations but rather a complex mixture of pharmaceuticals and TPs has to be evaluated. This mixture can potentially evoke negative effects on multiple levels ranging from enzymes, individuals, species, to the whole aquatic community or ecosystem functions (Borgmann et al. 2007, Cleuvers 2003, Cunningham et al. 2006, Kortenkamp et al. 2009, Kostich and Lazorchak 2008, Lawrence et al. 2012, Luna-Acosta et al. 2012, Pomati et al. 2008). Additionally, it has to be distinguished between acute effects and impacts from continuous exposure (chronic effects). For the analgesic drug diclofenac damages of the kidneys and gills in rainbow routs have been determined when being exposed for 28 days to environmentally relevant concentrations (Schwaiger et al. 2004) leading to its inclusion on the "watch list" of substances that might be included into the list of priority substances of the Water Framework Directive (WFD) during its next revision process.

Pharmaceuticals residues and their TPs are commonly detected organic micropollutants in the aquatic environment, i.e., in wastewater impacted rivers and can potentially evoke adverse effects to aquatic organisms and ecosystem functions. Measures to reduce the input of pharmaceuticals into rivers will take years to be adequately implemented. Therefore, a profound understanding of the processes that govern the fate of pharmaceuticals in rivers is essential to assess their environmental risk.

1.2 POTENTIAL ELIMINATION PROCESSES OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN RIVERS

After the discharge of pharmaceutical residues into rivers and streams – which is mainly attributed to inflow of treated wastewater (see above) – several processes govern their (potential) elimination from rivers including volatilisation, direct and indirect photolysis in the surface water, hydrolysis, sorption to suspended matter and sediments, biotransformation in the surface water and sediments or, loss of substances to groundwater (Figure 1-1).

3



Figure 1-1: Conceptual model of the elimination of pharmaceutical residues in rivers and river sediments.

However, several of these potential elimination processes in rivers are of minor importance for pharmaceuticals residues. In contrast to other organic micropollutants such as ingredients of personal care products (e.g., musk fragrances) the vapour pressure of most pharmaceuticals is rather low and hence, elimination from rivers by volatilisation is negligible (Bendz et al. 2005, Daughton and Ternes 1999, Paxéus 2004). The same is true for hydrolysis and biotransformation in the surface water (Kunkel and Radke 2008, Lam et al. 2004, Perez-Estrada et al. 2005, Poiger et al. 2003, Wang et al. 2012). The fraction of pharmaceutical residues that is sorbed to suspended matter in rivers is a function of the sorption affinity of the substances and the concentration of suspended solids in the river and independent of the geometry of the river (Figure 1-2). The sorption affinity of a substance is commonly described by the distribution coefficient between the dissolved concentration and sorbed concentration (K_d). Often this distribution coefficient is normalized to the organic fraction of the sediment (K_{oc}). Most pharmaceuticals are hydrophilic (log $K_{oc} < 2$) and therefore only a small proportion is transported downstream sorbed to suspended matter (Figure 1-2). Even for the beta-blocker propranolol – the pharmaceutical with the highest sorption affinity that is addressed in this thesis (log K_{oc} 2.5-3.5 (Drillia et al. 2005b, Maurer et al. 2007, Ramil et al. 2010)) less than five percent of the total load is being sorbed at elevated concentrations of the organic fraction of suspended solids (e.g., 20 mg L⁻¹, Figure 1-2). Consequently, neither settling of particulate matter is an efficient elimination pathway nor resuspension of suspended solids from the sediments constitutes a substantial source for typical pharmaceutical residues in rivers. Hence, for the scope of this thesis, analysis of suspended matter can be omitted and only the dissolved concentrations of pharmaceuticals are taken into account for the calculation of mass balances along river stretches.



Figure 1-2: A priori estimation of the percentage of dissolved mass compared to the total mass of pharmaceuticals in rivers as function of the K_{oc} value of a substance and the organic carbon in suspended solids.

Most other potential elimination pathways are strongly influenced by the meteorological, hydrological and geomorphologic conditions as well as by the stream characteristics (stream width, water depth, flow velocity, turbidity, and river/groundwater interactions). The rate of direct photolysis of pharmaceuticals due to the absorption of photons is i) governed by the structure and electronic absorption spectrum of the substance, ii) the quantum yield of the photochemical reaction and iii) the solar radiation (a factor of season, latitude, weather, shading of the river, water depth, and turbidity (Zepp and Cline 1977)) to which the substance is exposed (OECD 2008). Additionally, pharmaceuticals can be eliminated by indirect phototransformation reactions i.e., interacting with reactive species in the water produced by solar radiation. These species include photosensitizers and singlet oxygen which are mainly formed by chromophoric dissolved organic matter (CDOM) or 'OH radicals which are primarily formed by nitrate (Zepp et al. 1987).

Biological transformation of pharmaceuticals in river systems is mainly restricted to the sediments (Kunkel and Radke 2008). Also elimination due to sorption processes is restricted to the sediment particles. Therefore, the prevailing hydraulic conditions in rivers, i.e., the type and extent of interactions between the surface water and the pore water, are an important factor governing the elimination of pharmaceutical residues from rivers. On a larger scale, fluxes across the surface water/sediment interface are driven by the hydraulic gradients between the river and the groundwater. However, besides these general gaining or losing conditions caused by larger scale differences in the hydraulic head, additional small-scale interactions of surface water and pore water exist. Theses interactions are controlled by pressure irregularities at the sediment surface which are a result of both river bed geometry and flow dynamics in the surface water. This transition zone between the surface water and the groundwater, where water and solutes are pumped into the sediments and eventually released again into the surface water is also called "hyporheic zone". The fluxes within the hyporheic zone (also called hyporheic flow) are highly dynamic in space and time (Angermann et al. 2012, Lewandowski et al. 2011a). The depth of the hyporheic zone as well as the mean residence time of water and solutes within the hyporheic zone are additionally influenced by the ambient groundwater flow conditions (Trauth et al. 2013). In fluid mechanics, two main mechanisms that induce the transport of water, solutes and particulate matter between surface water and pore water are described. The first mechanism is driven by advective flows that are generated by pressure head gradients ("pumping"). The second mechanism ("turnover") is caused by transport of sediment during which water is periodically trapped and released from the moving riverbed (Cardenas et al. 2004, Elliott and Brooks 1997). The contribution of both mechanisms to the hyporheic exchange is depending on various factors such as surface water flow velocity characteristics (House et al. 1995, Packman and Salehin 2003, Precht and Huettel 2004), bed form geometry (Kasahara and Hill 2006, Marion et al. 2002, Meysman et al. 2007, Saenger et al. 2005), sediment characteristics (Tonina and Buffington 2007), as well as in-stream obstacles such as stones and wood (Mutz et al. 2007). These interactions also influence the microbial community (Halda-Alija et al. 2001, Olsen and Townsend 2003) as well as the biogeochemical conditions (Huettel et al. 2003) in the river sediments. Moreover, the rate of hyporheic exchange governs the turnover kinetics of nutrients within the sediments and effects on net removal of nitrogen and phosphorus from the surface water have been reported (Gu et al. 2007, House et al. 1995, Lautz and Siegel 2007). The hyporheic zone is regarded as hotspot of microbiological activities (Boulton et al. 1998, Lansdown et al. 2012) and reactions taking place in the hyporheic zone are believed to contribute a significant part to the respiration of the whole aquatic ecosystem (Ingendahl et al. 2009) and to impact the ecological balance of rivers (Brunke and Gonser 1997, Hester and Gooseff 2010). Consequently, due to this high potential of substance turnover and subsequently also of pollutant attenuation, the hyporheic zone was called as the river's liver (Fischer et al. 2005).

Typical stream reached averaged fluxes across the sediment surface range from a few L m⁻² d⁻¹ to some hundred L m⁻² d⁻¹ (Schmidt et al. 2006). The percentage of stream water (and solutes) flowing into the sediments at a given groundwater recharge rate within a certain time frame strongly depends on the geometry and size of the river as well as on the flow velocity (Figure 1-3). In large rivers (Figure 1-3a), only at very high hyporheic exchange rates and small flow velocities a substantial proportion of surface water is flowing into the sediments within a travel distance of 20 kilometers. Hence, biotransformation of pharmaceuticals in sediments in this type of river is potentially limited by an insufficient transfer into the sediments. In contrast, in small rivers, the proportion of hyporheic flow to total downstream flow is orders of magnitude higher under at the same exchange rates and flow velocities (Figure 1-3b). Therefore, small rivers seem to constitute favorable conditions for attenuation of pharmaceuticals in river.



Percentage of flux across sediment surface compared to total downstream flow within 20 km (%)

Figure 1-3: A priori estimation of the percentage of surface water that is flowing across the sediment surface within a travel distance of 20 km as function of the flow velocity and hyporheic exchange rate; a) large river: width: 300 m, depth: 3 m b) small river: width: 3 m, depth: 0.3 m

Besides phototransformation in the surface water, biotransformation in the river sediments constitutes the major potential attenuation mechanism for pharmaceuticals in rivers. Therefore, the hydrological connections between surface water and pore water are crucial. These hydraulic interactions also influence the biogeochemical composition of the sediments, the microbial activities, and transformation of substances in the hyporheic zone. Rivers with a high hyporheic exchange should therefore be favorable for the remediation of pharmaceutical residues.

1.3 DETERMINING THE FATE OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN RIVERS – STATE OF THE ART

1.3.1 LABORATORY STUDIES – CONCEPTS, LIMITATIONS AND GAINED INSIGHT

The easiest way to assess the fate of pharmaceutical residues in rivers is to conduct laboratory studies under simplified conditions. These studies allow predicting the general behavior of substances in rivers and river sediments as well as looking in detail on influencing boundary conditions. Moreover, experiments are often conducted at elevated concentrations to minimize the analytical effort and uncertainty. Since generated results strongly depend on the experimental setup, well established guidelines for testing of chemicals exist. Usually, experimental setups are prepared analogously to e.g., the OCED guidelines for sorption (guideline No. 106, OECD (2000)), aerobic and anaerobic transformation in aquatic sediment systems (guideline No. 308, OECD (2002)), transport and leaching in soils and sediments (guideline No. 312, OECD (2004)) or direct phototransformation in surface waters (guideline No. 316, OECD (2008)). The basic information that can be gained with this standardized test systems are if the test substances are susceptible to photolysis, can be biotransformed in soils and sediments or tend to sorb to sediments.

For assessing the transformation of chemicals in sediments (OECD guideline 308) static batch systems with water and sediments are recommended. With this setup the elimination of substances from the water phase, the distribution of the substances between liquid and solid phase, and the formation of TPs can be determined (Berkner and Thierbach 2013, Radke et al. 2009, Ramil et al. 2010). The guidelines explicitly advise the use of radio labelled (¹⁴C, ³H) substances. This additionally allows determining mineralization rates of the substances as well as the formation of non-extractable residues (NER) in the sediments (Löffler et al. 2005, Prasse et al. 2009). However, transfer of solutes into the sediment where the transformation occurs is mainly driven by diffusion. Therefore, if a substance is readily biodegradable, the elimination might be kinetically limited by a slow transport of the substances into the sediment. Moreover, the static setup and little fluxes across the sediment surface also can result in a rapid formation of anaerobic zones in the sediments (Ericson 2007). Hence, especially the elimination and transformation kinetics of substances that are only transformed under aerobic conditions might easily be underestimated.

The standard experimental tests for adsorption of pharmaceuticals onto sediments are based on equilibrium sorption. Test flasks are typically filled with a standard solution (10 mM CaCl₂) and a defined amount of sediment. After equilibration, the target substances are spiked into the supernatant. The flasks are shaken over a certain time period until sorption equilibrium has been reached (typically max. 48 hours) and residual liquid (and sorbed) concentrations are determined. Tests have to be performed at different concentration levels ranging over at least two orders of magnitude in order to calculate sorption isotherms. While temperature does not affect the distribution of substances between the dissolved and solid phase (ten Hulscher and Cornelissen 1996), factors like salinity (Ong et al. 2012), pH (Vasudevan et al. 2009) or sediment properties (Ramil et al. 2010) can strongly influence the sorption equilibrium. For beta-blockers a positive correlation of sorption and fine material of the sediment (higher specific surface area) and its TOC content was determined (Ramil et al. 2010).

Typically, phototransformation is assessed in laboratory by exposing solutions of defined chemical composition to a known irradiation (i.e., wavelength and intensity). The pharmaceutical concentration does not influence the phototransformation rate (Piram et al. 2008b). Hence, experiments are often performed at elevated concentrations simplifying the analytical procedure and the detection of transformation products (TPs). Adding isopropanol as quencher allows determining the importance of indirect photolysis by reactions with 'OH radicals for the total elimination (Jacobs et al. 2011). Additionally, the influence of nitrate and dissolved organic matter (DOM) such as fulvic and humic acids on the transformation rates can be assessed (Andreozzi et al. 2003, Carlos et al. 2012, Jacobs et al. 2011, Lam and Mabury 2005). This way, for example, the photoelimination of the antibiotic sulfamethoxazole in water (WWTP effluent) was attributed to 48 % direct photolysis, 36 % indirect photolysis by reaction with 'OH radicals and to 16 % indirect photolysis by reactions with triplet excited effluent organic matter (Ryan et al. 2011). More straightforward experimental approaches are exposing different water solutions (ultra-pure wa-

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

ter, WTTP effluent, river water, sea water) spiked with target substance to natural sunlight (see e.g., Matamoros et al. (2009) or Packer et al. (2003)). This method usually provides less insight in details of the phototransformation mechanisms but more realistic data for the actual persistence of pharmaceuticals in rivers.

Transport of chemicals such as pharmaceuticals in river sediments or soils is usually tested in column experiments. Beside the transport and the retardation, column experiments also allow determining subsequent desorption and leaching from the sediments as a function of different parameters such as sediment texture, redox conditions (Baumgarten et al. 2011), DOC content (Borgman and Chefetz 2013), pH (Borgman and Chefetz 2013, Strauss et al. 2011) and chemical composition of the river water (Schaffer et al. 2012a). The target substance can either be applied as Dirac pulse or at constant concentration over the specific time span (Scheytt et al. 2004). Column experiments also allow assessing the biotransformation in river sediments. However, this information can only be gained for rather biodegradable substances (e.g., such as ibuprofen (Mersmann et al. 2002)). Otherwise extremely long sediment columns with a high residence time (Tiehm et al. 2011), serial connections of individual columns (Baumgarten et al. 2011) have to be used. Another suitable option to enhance the residence times in the sediment is conducting column experiments in a recirculating manner (Gröning et al. 2007).

A rather novel tool to directly determine biotransformation kinetics within river sediments is applying miniature push-pull tests. To this end, a known amount of target substances is injected into the sediments. After a defined residence time, the pore water is extracted and the residual amount is determined. Based on the recovery of a conservative reference substance elimination rates can be calculated. While this techniques are routinely applied to determine elimination possesses in aquifers (Haggerty et al. 1998, Huntscha et al. 2013, Phanikumar and McGuire 2010), the setup has to be downsized to address small-scale processes within the hyporheic zone or the dimension of laboratory studies. Knecht et al. (2011) successfully developed such a system and subsequently determined the transformation of citrate (half-time time (t_H): 0.5 h) in sediments.

Most complex but also most realistic experimental conditions provide larger scale systems such as microcosms or flumes. These systems bridge the scale gap between manageable batch incubations and field studies. They also allow the contemporaneous evaluation of biotransformation, phototransformation and sorption. For example, Lam et al. (2004) assessed the aquatic persistence of eight pharmaceutical residues in large microcosms (12,000 L) comprised of river water, fish, submerged plants, and phytoplankton. Originally, flumes were primarily used to understand and describe the flow regime in surface water (Thompson et al. 1998), the details of sedimentation and sediment transport (Baas 1999, Robert and Uhlman 2001, Roberts et al. 2003), as well as processes determining the fluxes of water and solutes (Elliott and Brooks 1997, Marion et al. 2002) or particles (Huettel et al. 1996, Ren and Packman 2005) across the sediment surface. In recent years, focus shifted to investigating redox zonation (Huettel et al. 1998), occurrence of biogeochemical reactions (Huettel et al. 2003), nutrient turnover (Barlow et al. 2004) or microbial communities (Frossard et al. 2013) as functions of the prevailing hydraulics. In a pilot study, Kunkel and Radke (2008) described the elimination of acidic pharmaceuticals as function of the

flow velocity in the surface water. The elimination rate of acidic pharmaceuticals from the surface water as well as their biotransformation rate in sediments increased with the flow velocity in the surface water due to a higher transfer rate into the sediments as well as a better oxygen supply to the sediments. In a similar approach, a deeper intrusion of antibiotics into marine sediments in running waters was observed compared to stagnant waters (Xu et al. 2009). In accordance to the acidic pharmaceuticals addressed in Kunkel and Radke (2008), the antibiotics were more persistent in the sediments under stagnant surface water.

Laboratory studies have shown that phototransformation in surface water and biotransformation in sediments are potent processes to eliminate pharmaceuticals from rivers. However, these (kinetic) results cannot directly be transferred to the field scale as their relevance in rivers is governed by complex hydrological and biogeochemical boundary conditions.

1.3.2 FIELD STUDIES – CONCEPTS, CHALLENGES AND GAINED INSIGHT

Compared to the large number of laboratory studies examining the fate of pharmaceuticals, only a small number of mechanistic field studies exist. In contrast, there are many studies balancing the loads of pharmaceutical residues in WWTPs and attributing their elimination during wastewater treatment to different removal processes (Carballa et al. 2004, Göbel et al. 2005, Jelic et al. 2011, Joss et al. 2006, Maurer et al. 2007, Möhle et al. 1999, Strenn et al. 2004). First studies on pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment focussed predominantly on the detection of pharmaceuticals in different receiving waters (Halling-Sørensen et al. 1998, Heberer et al. 1998, Hirsch et al. 1999, Jones et al. 2001, Ternes 1998). Persistence data for the investigated organic micropollutants from the detection patterns in different compartments were derived for processes such as river bank filtration or aquifer recharge (Heberer 2002b, Heberer et al. 1998, Pang and Close 2001, Petrovic et al. 2009). Even in relatively simple hydraulic systems such as WWTPs where the water fluxes are commonly well described, very well designed sampling campaigns and a sufficiently high number of (flow-proportional composite) samples are required to obtain sound mass balances of pharmaceuticals during wastewater treatment (Ort et al. 2010). In rivers with highly time-variable discharge (Kolpin et al. 2004, Osorio et al. 2012, Pailler et al. 2009), spatiotemporal occurrence patterns of pharmaceuticals (Gomez et al. 2012, Madureira et al. 2010), complex interactions of surface water and groundwater (Reh et al. 2013), inflow of minor creeks (Radke et al. 2010), discharge of combined sewer overflows (CSO) or transient storage of water and solutes in the river sediments the situation even gets worse (Gasperi et al. 2008, Osenbrück et al. 2007, Willems 2008). Moreover, the hydrograph after a rain event is often decoupled from the chemograph (Kurtenbach et al. 2006), an effect also known as "first flush" (Barco et al. 2008, Bertrand-Krajewski et al. 1998, Pailler et al. 2009). Hence, taking samples on the tide of a flooding event at several locations can easily lead to false mass balances for pharmaceuticals. Often even

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

finding a river suitable for the investigation purpose – i.e., determining the mass balance of pharmaceuticals along a certain river stretch – itself is a Herculean task.

Most field studies that deduce fate data for pharmaceuticals in rivers base their conclusion on a very small number of grab samples. For example, Gross et al. (2004) calculated the removal of pharmaceutical residues at Santa Ana River (California) only from three grab samples taken over a time span of eight months. A follow-up study (Lin et al. 2006) at the same river tracked three water parcels downstream based on previously determined flow times. Both studies report a rapid elimination of naproxen and ibuprofen due to photolysis (naproxen) and biotransformation (ibuprofen). However, concentrations at the first sampling sites strongly varied between the three sampling dates showing the variability and also some kind of randomness of concentrations in grab samples. Therefore, even if the travel time was only slightly different than previously determined, enormous errors in the mass balance calculations are possible (see also Ort et al. (2010)). The work by Fono et al. (2006) at a river in Texas also consists only of four grab samples taken at five sites downstream of a WWTP - without considering the travel time between the sampling sites. However, the concentrations at the sampling sites are less scattering indicating a better reliability of the results. They derived much longer dissipation times of ibuprofen and naproxen compared to the above stated studies (Gross et al. 2004, Lin et al. 2006). Generally, the quality and explanatory power of the results from these three studies is lowered by the sampling procedure (grab samples) and the low number of total samples.

Representative samples can be achieved by using automatic samplers and combining individual samples to composite samples (Radke et al. 2010) and potentially also by passive sampling techniques. In laboratory, the suitability of this technique with Polar Organic Chemical Integrative Samplers (POCIS) has been successfully applied for hydrophilic substances such as pharmaceuticals (Zhang et al. 2008). However, getting quantitative data in rivers is not straightforward (Zhang et al. 2008) since POCIS require intense calibration procedures and results can be distorted by changes in flow velocities (Vermeirssen et al. 2008), water temperature (Söderström et al. 2009, Togola and Budzinski 2007), and water chemistry (Togola and Budzinski 2007). Therefore, passive sampling was excluded as sampling technique in this thesis. Another possibility to generate a more reliable database for the calculation of elimination of pharmaceuticals along river stretches is to enlarge the number of samples per sampling site (Radke et al. 2010) and/or the application of Lagrangian sampling (Barber et al. 2011, Brown et al. 2009, Writer et al. 2012) requiring "realtime data for flow conditions and travel times between sampling locations "(Volkmar et al. 2011). The most reliable method to ensure Lagrangian sampling is by manually injecting the target substances into the river, thus performing reactive tracer tests. While tracer tests to address the fate of e.g., pesticides in aquifers are a well-established practice (Davis et al. 2000, Pang and Close 1999, 2001), tracer tests in rivers are primarily conducted to determine travel times and to quantify transient storage processes using conservative tracers like tritium, bromide, chloride or fluorescent dye tracers (Johansson et al. 2001, Jonsson and Wörman 2001, Wörman et al. 2002). In a recent tracer test, Lemke et al. (2013) additionally injected resazurin, a substance that can be used to identify surface water/sediment interactions in natural waters since it is exclusively trans-

11

formed in river sediments to a single TP (Haggerty et al. 2008). By the formation of this TP (resorufin), the extent of transient storage and microbial activities in a river sediment can be determined (Haggerty et al. 2009). Ideally, such as tracer would be injected together with a mix of target pharmaceuticals and the breakthrough curves would be recorded at downstream locations. However, since pharmaceuticals are almost ubiquitously present in rivers, depending on the size of the river an enormous amount of substances would have to be injected in order to increase the background concentrations substantially. The permission for this usually is not given by authorities in charge. Therefore, naturally occurring tracers have to be used for calculating mass balances of pharmaceuticals in rivers. Relating the concentration decrease of a reactive substances (e.g., ibuprofen, diclofenac) to inorganic compounds such as bromide, boron or potassium (Nödler et al. 2011) or persistent and non-sorbing organic substances such as the artificial sweetener acesulfame (Engelhardt et al. 2013, Scheurer et al. 2011) allows the calculation of mass balances along river stretches if precise discharge measurements at both site are not available. Moreover, this relative calculation also accounts for dilution effects due to groundwater inflow or confluences with other rivers of lower pollution levels.

However, even well designed sampling campaigns as stand-alone monitoring studies do not allow distinguishing between individual elimination processes. For attributing the total elimination to individual processes, additional experiments have to be performed. Phototransformation in lakes was successfully assessed by measuring concentration profiles of target pharmaceuticals and a subsequent coupling of these depth-resolved concentration profiles with a hydraulic model (Buser et al. 1998a, Buser et al. 1998b, Poiger et al. 2001, Tixier et al. 2003). It was concluded that diclofenac and naproxen were eliminated from lakes by phototransformation whereas substances like clofibric acid or carbamazepine were resistant against photolysis in the epilimnion of lakes. Phototransformation of pharmaceuticals rapidly decreases with depth in rivers or lakes. Quartz tubes exposed to natural radiation and installed in different depths (e.g., Bartels and von Tümpling (2007) or Radke et al. (2010)) showed that transformation is almost completely restricted to the upper half meter of the water column. Kinetic values determined in laboratory or field studies beneath the water surface have to be extrapolated over the whole column to obtain realistic rates for the respective river or lake (Fono et al. 2006, Schwarzenbach et al. 2003). As a consequence, the deeper the river is the less important phototransformation processes will supposedly be for the total elimination.

Assessing the biotransformation of (polar) pharmaceuticals in rivers is not as straightforward as determining phototransformation kinetics. Simultaneous quantification of surface water and pore water concentration without knowing the prevailing surface water/pore water interactions can only be used to check if the substances are reaching the sediments at the respective depths. Since surface water concentrations can be highly dynamic (Huntscha et al. 2013, Radke et al. 2010) the exact travel times from the surface water to the sampling location in the sediments has to be known to calculate elimination rates. Depth-resolved sampling of pore water also often provides no conclusive results for biotransformation within sediments (Lahti and Oikari 2012, Lewandowski et al. 2011b). If a sufficiently high number of data in the stream and numerous sam-
pling points in sediments as well as a hydrological model for the site are available, the transport and elimination in river sediments (and aquifers) can be determined by reactive subsurface flow modeling (Engelhardt et al. 2013, Huntscha et al. 2013). A promising approach might be to scale down classical push-pull tests (Haggerty et al. 1998, Kim et al. 2004, Tomich et al. 1973) – commonly applied in aquifers – to the required small injection volumes and pumping rates in the river sediments.

Field experiments and monitoring studies have shown that pharmaceuticals can be eliminated in rivers. However, the results are often contradictory and the design of most of these studies does not allow distinguishing between individual elimination processes. Moreover, the boundary conditions that affect the removal efficiencies are often not explicitly addressed. Therefore, for most pharmaceuticals no profound quantitative data on their elimination in rivers exist and hypothesis driven field work has to be performed to obtain reliable data.

1.4 OBJECTIVES OF THIS WORK

As shown in chapter 1.3, a large discrepancy exists between in-depth insight on the persistence and transformation pathways of pharmaceuticals in rivers and river sediments derived from elaborate laboratory experiments and actual fate data for pharmaceuticals in rivers. Therefore, the overarching aim of this thesis was to close this knowledge gap and to derive quantitative information on the fate of commonly detected pharmaceutical residues in rivers. Special focus was laid on the contribution of biotransformation in river sediments to the total elimination and on determining the factors that govern the elimination kinetics of pharmaceuticals in rivers.

The work on this thesis is based on two main pillars (see Figure 1-4): i) systematic field experiments supplemented by detailed analysis of the prevailing hydrological and meteorological conditions to calculate the mass balances and elimination of single substances along specific river stretches and ii) the design and application of more realistic laboratory experiments to assess sorption and biotransformation in river sediments.

A first task was to determine exact mass balances of pharmaceuticals in rivers in relation to the prevailing hydrological conditions, i.e., the exchange processes between the main channel of the surface water and transient storage zones (Chapter 2). To this end, a reactive tracer experiment was performed by injecting six pharmaceuticals and two dye tracers into a river. The breakthrough curves of the pharmaceuticals and dye tracers at five downstream locations were recorded to determine their elimination along the river stretch. A subsequent modeling study of the tracer test was conducted to calculate substance-specific elimination kinetics and retardation coefficients in surface water and sediments and to assess the importance of processes in transient storage zones such as the hyporheic zone for the total elimination. A second objective was to determine the elimination of pharmaceutical residues in rivers under best-case conditions (Chapter 3) and to attribute the overall attenuation to individual elimination processes. Thereto, a system-oriented monitoring campaign with high temporal resolution at a small river was combined with *in situ* phototransformation experiments and depth-resolved pore water sampling.

The final aim was to design a laboratory experimental setup that enables determining more realistic biotransformation kinetics for pharmaceutical residues in river sediments (Chapter 4). This test system was subsequently used i) to systematically investigate the biodegradability of pharmaceutical in different river sediments, ii) to determine robustness of the test systems regarding the elimination kinetics of pharmaceuticals in the sediments against changing boundary conditions such as the filter velocities, and iii) to cross-check if the contradicting observed attenuation rates of pharmaceutical residues in field studies can be explained by different elimination kinetics in the sediments of these river systems.



Figure 1-4: Overview on the individual studies of this thesis and how their combination generates new quantitative data for the fate of pharmaceuticals in rivers.

To meet the challenge of the quantification of elimination processes of pharmaceuticals in rivers and river sediments a set of target compounds had to be chosen. The selection was based on occurrence data of the pharmaceutical residues, their physico-chemical properties as well as their expected/reported fate in the environment (see Table 1-1). Differing overall fate and elimination kinetics of the target compounds will then allow attributing their total elimination on actually occurring elimination pathways (biotransformation, phototransformation, and sorption). A

detailed description on the reported occurrence and environmental fate of the pharmaceuticals addressed in this thesis is given chapter 1.5.

Table 1-1: Overview of the pharmaceuticals addressed in this thesis and expected contribution of the individual elimination pathways to the overall fate in rivers (++: very important; +: important; 0: of minor importance; -: not important)

	Biotransformation		Phototrans-	
Substance	aerobic	anaerobic	formation	Sorption
Bezafibrate ^{1,2,3}	+	0	-	-
Carbamazepine ^{2,3}	-	-	-	0
Clofibric acid ^{1,2,3}	-	-	-	-
Diclofenac ^{1,2,3}	+	0	++	0
Ibuprofen ^{1,2,3}	++	+	-	-
Metoprolol ^{1,2,3}	+	0	0	+
Naproxen ^{1,2,3}	0	+	+	0
Propranolol ^{2,3}	0	0	+	++
Sotalol ²	+	0	+	+
Sulfamethoxazole ²	-	+	0	-

¹ pharmaceutical investigated in study 1, ² pharmaceutical investigated in study 2, ³ pharmaceutical investigated in study 3.

1.5 DETAILED INFORMATION ON THE INDIVIDUAL SUBSTANCES

In the following chapters the input, occurrence, and reported environmental fate of the pharmaceuticals that are investigated in detail in this thesis are described. Since data for rivers and river sediments is often scarce, comparable data for WWTPs and soils is discussed as well.

1.5.1 BEZAFIBRATE

Bezafibrate (2-(4-(2-((4-chlorobenzoyl)amino)ethyl))phenoxy)-2-methylpropanoic acid) is a fibrate drug that is used as an lipid lowering agent. Like for all fibrate drugs, its prescribed amounts have slightly decreased over the last few years in Germany from 11.5 tons per year in 2008 to 9.0 tons per year in 2012 (Schwabe and Paffrath 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013). After medication, 95% of the applied amount is excreted within 48 hours via urine as bezafibrate or its glucuronide (Abshagen et al. 1979). Due to this high excretion proportion, the bezafibrate concentration in raw wastewater are relatively high and concentration of several μ g L⁻¹ are determined (Lindqvist et al. 2005, Quintana et al. 2005, Stumpf et al. 1999, Ternes et al. 2007). During conventional wastewater treatment, elimination of bezafibrate ranges commonly from 40-100 % (Clara et al. 2005, Sacher et al. 2008, Stumpf et al. 1999, Ternes 1998, Ternes et al. 2002) and concentrations in the effluent of WWTPs of up to several μ g L⁻¹ are reported (Andreozzi et al. 2003, Ternes 1998). Bezafibrate can be efficiently eliminated from waters by ozonation (Dantas et al. 2007, Ternes et al. 2007, Terne

al. 2002) which however can lead to an increase in toxicity of the treated water (Dantas et al. 2007).



Table 1-2: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of bezafibrate

¹ Dantas et al. (2007), ² Beausse (2004), ³ Mersmann (2003)

In surface water, concentrations of bezafibrate in the high ng L⁻¹ to the low μ g L⁻¹ range are commonly reported (Montforts 2001, Radke et al. 2010, Ternes 1998, Ternes et al. 2006, Zuccato et al. 2000). Bezafibrate has also been detected in pore water (Lewandowski et al. 2011b) and drinking water (Stumpf et al. 1996) but concentration are generally low compared to wastewater and surface waters supposedly due to transformation processes.

In field and laboratory experiments, it has been shown that phototransformation is no efficient elimination mechanism from surface waters (Cermola et al. 2005, Radke et al. 2010). Moreover, no removal was observed in batch experiments with aerobic and anoxic groundwater, as well as with surface water over 28 days (Ternes et al. 2002). Even the addition of gravel or sand to these systems resulted in no substantial increase of the elimination indicating only a minor sorption to solid matrices. Negligible sorption to river sediments was also reported in previous laboratory studies (Kunkel and Radke 2008) since bezafibrate is deprotonated and highly polar at typical river pH values ($pK_a = 3.2$, Table 1-2). In microbially active systems, bezafibrate can be degraded and 4-chlorobenzoic acid was identified as the major TP (Quintana et al. 2005). Consequently, Vieno et al.(2005) reported a slightly decreasing load of bezafibrate with distance from a WWTP outfall in a Finnish river. In contrast, in a French river no clear evidence of elimination during river transport was observed (Comoretto and Chiron 2005). In a small German stream, bezafibrate was also not removed at a 13.6 km long river stretch (Radke et al. 2010). However, in flume experiments with sediment and water from this river bezafibrate was transformed with half-life times (t_{H}) in the range of a few days (Kunkel and Radke 2008). Moreover, (almost) complete removal during river bank filtration (Heberer and Adam 2004, Heberer et al. 2004, Preuß et al. 2002) and during soil passage was reported (Ternes et al. 2007).

The lipid lowering agent bezafibrate is believed to be biodegradable in river sediments under favorable boundary conditions. Sorption and phototransformation constitute no major elimination pathways in rivers. Therefore, bezafibrate will be regarded as an indicator substance to identify biological transformation processes in rivers and river sediments.

1.5.2 CARBAMAZEPINE

Carbamazepine (5H-dibenzo[b,f]azepine-5-carboxamide) is an anticonvulsant drug that is primarily used for the treatment of bipolar disorder and epilepsy. The prescribed amounts of carbamazepine in Germany are about 50 million DDDs or 50 tons per year (Schwabe and Paffrath 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013). Only about 2-3 % of the intake is excreted unmetabolized (Clara et al. 2004) while most is excreted as carbamazepine 10,11-epoxide (van Rooyen et al. 2002). However, also the parent compound has been frequently detected in high concentrations in the aquatic environment and the concentration in raw wastewater are usually in the low μ g L⁻¹ range (Heberer 2002b, Ternes 1998). Carbamazepine is behaving (almost) recalcitrant during wastewater treatment (Bendz et al. 2005, Bernhard et al. 2006, Clara et al. 2004, Gao et al. 2012, Heberer 2002b, Paxéus 2004, Ternes 1998, Wick et al. 2009) as it is neither substantially removed by biodegradation processes nor by sorption to excess sludge. Hence, only low sorption coefficients (e.g., K_D = 25.5 L kg⁻¹ for sludge (Jones et al. 2002), K_{oc} = 70 L kg⁻¹ (Wick et al. 2009)) are reported. However, during a potential tertiary treatment, carbamazepine be transformed and mineralized by ozonation (Andreozzi et al. 2002).



Table 1-3: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of carbamazepine

¹ Stella and Nti-Addae (2007), ² Jones et al. (2002), ³ (Scheytt et al. 2005a)

Due to the bad removal efficiencies during conventional wastewater treatment, concentrations in WWTP effluents are almost equal to the influent concentrations and up to several μ g L⁻¹ are reported (Andreozzi et al. 2003, Bendz et al. 2005, Heberer 2002b, Ternes 1998). In wastewater receiving surface waters, concentrations of more than 1 μ g L⁻¹ have been reported (Bendz et al. 2005, Stolker et al. 2004, Ternes 1998) while the typical concentrations in large rivers like the river Rhine (Sacher et al. 2008) or the river Elbe are in the mid ng L⁻¹ range (Wiegel et al. 2004). Carbamazepine was also detected in pore water (Huntscha et al. 2013), groundwater (Clara et al. 2004, Heberer et al. 2004, Rabiet et al. 2006, Reh et al. 2013, Sacher et al. 2001) and drinking water (Hummel et al. 2006).

Carbamazepine is occurring as neutral molecule in the aquatic environment (Table 1-3) and described as extremely persistent. In column experiments, minimal retardation due to sorption to sediments but no elimination was determined (Mersmann et al. 2002, Scheytt et al. 2006). However, results from laboratory batch systems revealed significant sorption to soils and sediments with log K_{oc} values in the range of 1 – 3.5 (Löffler et al. 2005, Ternes et al. 2004). Higher sorption to sediments in rivers after heavy rainfalls due to higher DOC loads in the water caused by combined sewer overflow (CSO) was also reported (Osenbrück et al. 2007). In sediment/water batch systems, a high resistance against biotransformation ($DT_{50} > 300$ days) was reported (Löffler et al. 2005). In aerobic and anaerobic batch experiments with soil, no transformation occurred (Lin et al. 2011). Carbamazepine was also not degraded by photochemical or microbial processes in outdoor microcosms (Lam et al. 2004). However, there might be some microbes that are potentially able to degrade carbamazepine since a slow elimination during aerobic and anaerobic batch experiments with sediments ($t_H > 150$ days, Conkle et al. (2012)) was detected and a degradation under anoxic conditions was postulated (Hai et al. 2011). The phototransformation of carbamazepine can be enhanced by the presence of nitrate (Andreozzi et al. 2003), chloride (Chiron et al. 2006), humic substances (Carlos et al. 2012) and under low pH values (Calisto et al. 2011). Hence, it is believed that carbamazepine can be mainly degraded via indirect photolysis (Jasper and Sedlak 2013, Lam and Mabury 2005). De Laurentiis et al. (2012) postulated acridine and 10,11dihydroxy-10,11-dihydro-carbamazepine (DHDH-CBZ) as major photo-TPs. However, in general the transformation rates are small and range from a few days to more than 100 days depending on latitude and season (Andreozzi et al. 2003, De Laurentiis et al. 2012).

So far, all field data confirmed the persistence of carbamazepine in the aquatic environment. Grab samples taken along different river stretches downstream of WWTPs revealed no decrease in carbamazepine loads (Bendz et al. 2005). Also no or only minor removal of carbamazepine was observed during soil passage (Ternes et al. 2007), river bank filtration (Clara et al. 2004, Heberer et al. 2004, Massmann et al. 2006), subsurface flow constructed wetland (SFCW) systems (Matamoros et al. 2012, Matamoros et al. 2008a, Matamoros et al. 2008b, Matamoros and Salvado 2012), groundwater transport (Clara et al. 2004) and during push-pull tests performed at a Swiss river (Huntscha et al. 2013). Hence, carbamazepine is often used to identify wastewater influence in rivers (Clara et al. 2004, Nakada et al. 2008, Scheurer et al. 2011) and groundwater (Müller et al. 2012) as well as for the detections of leakages in the wastewater system (Wolf et al. 2012). The conservative behavior of carbamazepine is taken advantage of during the second study (Chapter 3).

The anticonvulsant drug carbamazepine is very persistent in rivers and river sediments. Neither bio- and phototransformation nor sorption to sediments constitutes substantial elimination pathways. Hence, carbamazepine can be used as reference substance when complex hydraulic conditions prohibit the direct calculation of mass balances of pharmaceuticals along river stretches.

1.5.3 CLOFIBRIC ACID

Clofibric acid (2-(4-Chlorophenoxy)-2-methylpropanoic acid) is the pharmaceutically active metabolite of the three lipid lowering agents clofibrate, etofibrate and etofyllinclofibrate. Like bezafibrate, clofibric acid decreases the plasmatic content of triglycerides and cholesterol. While clofibric acid was one of the first pharmaceuticals identified in domestic wastewaters (Hignite and Azarnoff 1977), its use has been declining (BLAC 2003). Additionally, the use of clofibrate was prohibited in 2002. Reported elimination rates during conventional wastewater treatment range from 0 to 50 % (Heberer 2002b, Tauxe-Wuersch et al. 2005, Ternes 1998). Elimination due to sorption to excess sludge is only of minor importance due to the low sorption affinities (K_D for sludge: 4.8 (Ternes et al. 2004)). A more recent study reported a higher removal in wastewater treated with biolfim carriers than in activated sludge (Falas et al. 2012).

882-09-7 CAS number **Clofibric acid** formula C₁₀H₁₁ClO₃ M (g mol⁻¹) 214.65 \cap OH water solubility (mg L^{-1}) 582.5¹ 3.2¹ pK_a (-) CI 2.57², 2.88³ log K_{ow} (-)

Table 1-4: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of clofibric acid

¹ Mersmann (2003), ² Beausse (2004), ³ Scheytt et al. (2005a)

During the 1990^{ies} and first years of the 21st century, the reported concentration of clofibric acid in WWTPs effluents ranged from no detection and concentrations of only a few ng L⁻¹ to up to a few µg L⁻¹ (Andreozzi et al. 2003, Ternes 1998, Tixier et al. 2003). Clofibric acid has been detected in rivers in the mid to high ng L⁻¹ range (Heberer 2002b, Winkler et al. 2001), lakes (Buser et al. 1998a), and groundwaters (Heberer 2002b, Heberer et al. 2004). Even in the North Sea, concentrations of up to 28 ng L⁻¹ were measured (Buser et al. 1998a, Weigel et al. 2002). However, due to the decreasing application rate during the last years, the occurrence and environmental relevance of clofibric acid has decreased. For example, it was not determined in WWTP effluents and receiving rivers in the U.K. (Hilton and Thomas 2003) and rainwater channels in the U.S. (Boyd et al. 2004). In contrast, clofibric acid was sporadically detected in a Spanish river between October

2003 and Summer 2004 (Kuster et al. 2008) while it was permanently detected in a small German river in Summer 2009 (average concentration: 15 ng L^{-1} in Radke et al. (2010)).

Clofibric acid is completely present in its dissociated form under environmental pH values of > 5 due to its low pK_a of 3.2 (Table 1-4). Therefore, clofibric acid is highly polar and only exhibits negligible sorption to soil and sediments. Hence, no sorption was observed in batch and column experiments with sandy sediments (Löffler et al. 2005, Scheytt et al. 2004) and only minor sorption to soils (Drillia et al. 2005b) was reported. Consequently, also a rapid desorption and subsequent leaching from soil was reported (Oppel et al. 2004) and K_{oc} values are consequently very low (14-30 L kg⁻¹; Löffler et al. (2005), Ternes et al. (2004), and Scheytt et al. (2005a)).

Clofibric acid is believed to be strongly resistant against biotransformation processes under natural conditions. In batch experiments with river biofilms (Winkler et al. 2001), sediment and river water (Löffler et al. 2005), oxic and anoxic groundwater (Ternes et al. 2002), in flume experiments with river sediments (Kunkel and Radke 2008) as well as in saturated column experiments (Scheytt et al. 2004) clofibric acid was not or very slowly degraded ($DT_{50} > 50$ days). However, in aerobic sequencing batch reactors, it was shown that the main aerobic biological TPs are α hydroxyisobutyric acid, lactic acid and 4-chlorophenol (Salgado et al. 2012) and thus revealing a potential of biotransformation of clofibric acid. Under natural conditions phototransformation of clofibric acid is very slow (Andreozzi et al. 2003, Packer et al. 2003). Consequently, no elimination in the epilimnion of a lake was observed (Tixier et al. 2003). In situ phototransformation experiments at a German river also reported only slow transformation rates (t_{H} = 2.3 days the near water surface; Radke et al. (2010)). In contrast, Carlos et al. (2012) reported a rapid phototransformation when incubated as single compound in pure water under laboratory conditions. However, in the presence of other pharmaceuticals and/or humic acids the degradation velocity decreased by orders of magnitude. The main photo-TPs are 4-chlorophenol, phenol, hydroquinone as well as α -hydroxyisobutyric acid and lactic acid – the same TPs which can also be formed biologically (Doll and Frimmel 2003, 2004, Salgado et al. 2012).

Since the application rate of the pro drugs of clofibric acid has decreased over the last few years – contrary to the occurrence of more systematic mass balancing studies of pharmaceuticals in rivers – reliable data on the fate of clofibric acid is very scarce. No transformation during river bank filtration has been reported (Preuß et al. 2002). Clofibric acid was detected in the pore water of sediments in depths up to 100 cm in 2009 (Lewandowski et al. 2011b). During transport in constructed subsurface flow wetlands (CSFW) only minor removal (in the same order of magnitude than carbamazepine) was observed (Matamoros et al. 2008b). This tracer-like behavior of clofibric acid (Mersmann et al. 2002) was also used to assess the removal of three other pharmaceuticals relative to clofibric acid along a river stretch (Radke et al. 2010).

Clofibric acid, the active metabolite of several lipid lowering agents, is very persistent in rivers and river sediments since it is resistant against bio- and phototransformation. Clofibric acid does also not substantially sorb to the solid matrices. However, its tracer like behavior can only be partly taken advantage of during field studies since the concentrations of clofibric acid are generally very low due to the decreasing application rate of fibrate drugs over the last decade.

1.5.4 DICLOFENAC

Diclofenac (2-(2-(2,6-dichlorophenylamino)phenyl)acetic acid) is a non-steroidal antiinflammatory drug (NSAID) that is widely used for the treatment of swellings and pain. Besides ibuprofen, it might be the most publicly known pharmaceutical. In Germany, its prescribed amount has been slightly decreasing over the past five years (Schwabe and Paffrath 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013). Nevertheless, still about 500 mg per inhabitant and year are prescribed which corresponds to about 5 DDDs per inhabitant and year. Moreover, an additional amount of diclofenac is also applied as tablet or ointment without prescription, so that the total consumption in Germany is believed to be near 1000 tons per year (Fent et al. 2006). After consumption, diclofenac is rapidly metabolized in the body (Forth et al. 1992). Five different human metabolites have been described in literature (Wiesenberg-Boettcher et al. 1991). Most metabolites are mono- and dihydroxlated TPs of diclofenac and most important excreted species are the parent compound and 4-OH-diclofenac (Degen et al. 1988). Consequently both the parent compounds as well the TPs have been detected frequently in raw wastewater in the $\mu g L^{-1}$ range (Buser et al. 1998b, Gonzalez-Barreiro et al. 2003, Heberer 2002b, Perez and Barcelo 2008). During wastewater treatment, elimination rates of diclofenac strongly vary depending on the specific setup of the WWTP and the sludge age (Ternes and Joss 2006). Removal rates between 0 % and 70 % have been reported (Bernhard et al. 2006, Buser et al. 1998b, Heberer 2002b, Lindqvist et al. 2005, Tauxe-Wuersch et al. 2005, Ternes 1998). Sorption to excess sludge accounts for up to 10 % to the total elimination (Ternes and Joss 2006) and is restricted to primary settling (Carballa et al. 2005, Ternes et al. 2004). During tertiary treatment, diclofenac is efficiently eliminated by ozonation (Ternes et al. 2002, Vieno et al. 2007).

Diclofenac	CAS number	15307-79-6
o 	formula	$C_{14}H_{12}CI_2NO_2$
СІ	M (g mol ⁻¹)	296.15
	water solubility (mg L^{-1})	0.82 ¹
	рК _а (-)	4.51 ¹ , 4.2 ²
	log K _{ow} (-)	0.72 ² ,1.90 ³

Table 1-5: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of diclofenac

¹ Avdeef et al. (2000), ² Jones et al. (2002), ³ Scheytt et al. (2005a)

Commonly, very high diclofenac concentrations of several μ g L⁻¹ are detected in treated wastewaters (Andreozzi et al. 2003, Scheytt et al. 2004, Ternes 1998). Hence, concentration in receiving streams are also relatively high spanning concentration ranges from the mid ng L⁻¹ range (Letzel et al. 2009, Radke et al. 2010, Sacher et al. 2008, Wiegel et al. 2004) to several μ g L⁻¹ (Hilton and Thomas 2003, Ternes 1998, Tixier et al. 2003). Diclofenac was also detected in pore water (Lewandowski et al. 2011b), lakes (Buser et al. 1998b, Tixier et al. 2003), and groundwaters (Heberer 2002b, Heberer et al. 2004, Sacher et al. 2001) in substantial concentrations. Additionally to diclofenac, its main human metabolites are frequently detected in WWTP effluents and rivers (Scheurell et al. 2009, Stülten et al. 2008).

Sorption of diclofenac to sediments and soils is strongly related to the TOC of the solid matrix (Borgman and Chefetz 2013, Drillia et al. 2005b). Consequently, in column experiments with sandy sediment and a low TOC only minor retardation was observed (Mersmann et al. 2002). Sorption estimations purely based on log Kow are false and overestimates due to the presence of the dissociated form of diclofenac at environmental pH (Table 1-5) which increases the polarity (Scheytt et al. 2005b). The biotransformation pathways of diclofenac in rivers and river sediments are relatively well investigated. However, the results are often contradicting. Some studies reported a resistance against biotransformation (Mersmann et al. 2002, Onesios and Bouwer 2012, Quintana et al. 2005, Ternes et al. 2002) while other observed a pronounced transformation under anaerobic conditions (Rauch-Williams et al. 2010). However, studies which determined the fate under different redox conditions obtained higher elimination rates under aerobic conditions (Kunkel and Radke 2008, Lahti and Oikari 2011, Mersmann et al. 2002). These results are backed up by the rapid elimination of diclofenac in unsaturated and therefore aerobic soil studies (Al-Rajab et al. 2010, Kreuzig et al. 2003, Ternes et al. 2007). It was shown that the p-benzoquinone imine of 5-OH-diclofenac is one of the major TPs in river sediments (Gröning et al. 2007) under aerobic conditions. Under denitrifying conditions a reversible transformation into NO₂-diclofenac has been proposed (Barbieri et al. 2012a). Diclofenac can be efficiently photolytically transformed predominantly by direct photolysis (Canonica et al. 2008, Packer et al. 2003) while high concentrations of nitrate or humic acids can act as inner filters and reduce phototransformation kinetics (Andreozzi et al. 2003). In situ phototransformation experiments with river water and ultra-pure water led to similar elimination kinetics (t_H \sim 1.5 hours near the water surface; Radke et al. (2010)). Phototransformation of diclofenac has been shown to be a relevant elimination mechanism in lakes (Bartels and von Tümpling 2007, Buser et al. 1998b, Tixier et al. 2003). Several phototransformation pathways have been described such as a dechlorination leading to hydroxycarbazole-1-acetic acid and subsequent oxidative transformation (Poiger et al. 2001) or breaking of the amide bonding (Bartels and von Tümpling 2007). Moreover, for some of the formed photo-TPs an elevated toxicity compared to diclofenac was reported (Encinas et al. 1998, Schulze et al. 2010).

Field observations provide no clear picture about a removal of diclofenac in rivers. Based on grab samples taken downstream of WWTPs, an elimination was concluded (Bendz et al. 2005, Vieno et al. 2005) while a more systematic study revealed no elimination along a 13.6 km stretch (Radke et al. 2010). No elimination of diclofenac was observed in SFCWs (Matamoros and Bayona 2006) while 93 % were eliminated in a water reclamation pond-constructed wetland system (Matamoros et al. 2012). The analysis of pore water also resulted in no clear indication of bio-transformation in river sediments (Banzhaf et al. 2013, Lewandowski et al. 2011b). In contrast, in a push-pull test in river sediments, a rapid elimination ($t_H \sim 1$ hour) was observed (Huntscha et al. 2013). Sorbed concentration in sediments and soils are negligible (Langford et al. 2011, Vazquez-Roig et al. 2010) confirming the hypothesis that sorption is no relevant elimination pathway for diclofenac in rivers.

As shown, diclofenac is one of the most commonly detected pharmaceutical in WWTP effluents and receiving waters and also possesses a relatively high aquatic toxicity (Schwaiger, 2004). Therefore, diclofenac was included on the "watch list" for potential candidates for the update of the list of priority substances according to the Water Framework Directive. The proposed Environmental Quality Standard (EQS) is 100 ng L⁻¹. Based on recent modeling calculations, this EQS will only be exceeded in 1 % of the total European rivers (Johnson et al. 2013).

The anti-inflammatory drug diclofenac is detected in high concentrations in rivers. It is highly susceptible to photolysis and can also be biologically transformed, presumably mostly restricted to aerobic conditions. Therefore, diclofenac is used as indicator compound that can be used to identify occurring phototransformation processes and aerobic conditions in river sediments.

1.5.5 IBUPROFEN

Ibuprofen ((RS)-2-(4-(2-methylpropyl)phenyl)propanoic acid is an NSAID that is used for pain relief, fever reduction, and against swelling. It is classified as a core medicine by the World Health Organization. Ibuprofen is prescribed and applied as racemate while only S-ibuprofen is pharmaceutically active (Winkler et al. 2001). The prescription in Germany has significantly risen over the last few years and in 2012 more than 500 tons or 450 DDDs of ibuprofen were prescribed (Schwabe and Paffrath 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013). Only less than 10 % of ibuprofen are ex-

creted via urine as parent compound (Ternes 1998). The main human metabolites are hydroxy ibuprofen, carboxy ibuprofen, and carboxy hydratropic acid (Winkler et al. 2001, Zwiener et al. 2002). Ibuprofen and the major human metabolites have been frequently detected in raw wastewater in concentrations of several µg L⁻¹ (Bendz et al. 2005, Buser et al. 1999, Clara et al. 2005, Roberts and Thomas 2006). During wastewater treatment ibuprofen is efficiently eliminated (> 90 %) by biological transformation processes in the secondary treatment (Buser et al. 1999, Carballa et al. 2004, Tauxe-Wuersch et al. 2005, Ternes 1998, Thomas and Foster 2005). Losses due to sorption to excess sludge are neglectable (Carballa et al. 2004, Clara et al. 2005, Joss et al. 2005). In WWTPs, the pharmaceutically active enantiomer S-ibuprofen is preferentially degraded (Buser et al. 1999) and the same TPs as during human metabolism are formed. Zwiener et al. (2002) observed that hydroxy ibuprofen was formed primarily during aerobic treatment, carboxy hydratropic acid during anaerobic treatment and carboxy ibuprofen in both treatment options while in a complementary study only the formation of hydroxy ibuprofen was determined (Quintana et al. 2005).



Table 1-6: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of ibuprofen

The concentrations of ibuprofen in WWTP effluents are highly variable depending on the performance of the WWTP. Concentrations between some ng L⁻¹ and 28 μ g L⁻¹ have been measured (Ashton et al. 2004, Bagnall et al. 2012, Bendz et al. 2005, Drewes et al. 2003, Hilton and Thomas 2003, Lindqvist et al. 2005, Ternes 1998). Consequently, the concentrations of ibuprofen in receiving rivers also span large concentration ranges (Ashton et al. 2004, Bataineh et al. 2006, Bendz et al. 2005, Boyd et al. 2004, Hilton and Thomas 2003, Nödler et al. 2011, Roberts and Thomas 2006, Ternes 1998, Tixier et al. 2003, Wiegel et al. 2004). Especially in larger streams with a low proportion of wastewater and fully developed WWTPs as for example at the river Rhine, only very low concentrations in the (sub) ng L⁻¹ are reported (Sacher et al. 2008). Nevertheless, ibuprofen has been detected in lakes (Buser et al. 1999), groundwater (Gottschall et al. 2012) and drinking water (Loraine and Pettigrove 2006).

Ibuprofen is present in the dissociated form at natural pH (Table 1-6). Hence, its tendency to sorb to sediments and soils is low (Conkle et al. 2012, Lin and Reinhard 2005, Mersmann et al. 2002) and log K_{oc} values of 2.0-2.2 were determined in river sediments (Scheytt et al. 2005b). Consequently, ibuprofen was also not detected in river sediments at rivers receiving substantial

¹ Avdeef et al. (2000), ² Scheytt et al. (2005a)

proportions of treated wastewater (Langford et al. 2011). In batch experiments with river sediments and radio-labelled ibuprofen, about 15 % of total elimination after 100 days was attributed to sorption based on remaining radioactivity in the solid phase (Löffler et al. 2005). However, this high apparent loss by sorption can most likely be attributed to a biogenic fixation of radioactive TPs of or even of mineralized ¹⁴C-ibuprofen (Nowak et al. 2013). Like in WWTPs, ibuprofen can be rapidly biologically transformed in river sediments. The reported half-life times in laboratory-scale sediment/water systems are usually in the range of only some hours to a few days depending of the type of sediment and the experimental setup (Kunkel and Radke 2008, Lin et al. 2006, Löffler et al. 2005, Mersmann et al. 2002, Nakada et al. 2008, Onesios and Bouwer 2012, Scheytt et al. 2007, Winkler et al. 2001). Biotransformation of ibuprofen is higher under aerobic conditions than under anaerobic conditions (Conkle et al. 2012, Preuß et al. 2002). In contrast to WWTPs, Ribuprofen was preferentially degraded in river biofilms (Winkler et al. 2001). Compared to the rapid biotransformation, the phototransformation rates in rivers are small. In lakes no phototransformation (Tixier et al. 2003) or only very slow photolysis of preferentially S-ibuprofen was observed (Buser et al. 1999). Under natural sunlight the half-life times are reportedly in the range of tens of days (Matamoros et al. 2009). Phototransformation of ibuprofen is primarily achieved by indirect mechanisms (Lin and Reinhard 2005, Packer et al. 2003, Szabó et al. 2011). In the presence of fulvic acids the photo-TPs isobutylacetophenone and 1-(4-isobutylphenyl)ethanol were detected (Jacobs et al. 2011).

Despite being readily biodegradable, no substantial elimination of ibuprofen was observed in two rivers downstream of a WWTP (Bataineh et al. 2006, Bendz et al. 2005). Only a slow removal in a river in Texas with a half-life time of 4.6 days was observed and the elimination was mainly attributed to photolysis (Fono et al. 2006). Contrarily, in a Californian river, an 85 % removal within a 12 km stretch due to biotransformation was observed (Lin et al. 2006). Moreover, the analysis of pore water profiles indicated a transformation of ibuprofen in river sediments (Lewandowski et al. 2011b). In subsurface horizontal flow constructed wetlands, a 50 % removal of ibuprofen was reported (Matamoros and Bayona 2006).

The analgesic drug ibuprofen is reported to be readily biodegradable in river sediments, while photolysis in surface waters is slow and sorption to (sandy) sediments is negligible. Therefore, ibuprofen will be used as an indicator substance to identify biological transformation processes in rivers and river sediments.

1.5.6 METOPROLOL

Metoprolol ((RS)-1-(Isopropylamino)-3-[4-(2-methoxyethyl)phenoxy]propan-2-ol) is a selective beta-blocker that is widely used in cases of malfunction of the cardiovascular system. For example, it is applied for the treatment of hypertension, irregular heartbeat, and also in case of acute myocardial infarction. In Germany, the prescribed amounts of metoprolol have been almost stable over the last five years: about 130 tons are prescribed per year (Schwabe and Paffrath 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013). Only 5 % of metoprolol are excreted as the active compound (Maurer et al. 2007). Three metabolites account for 85% of total excretion and are formed by oxidative deamination, O-desalkylation and subsequent oxidation (leading to the formation of atenolol acid), and by aliphatic hydroxylation (Hernando et al. 2007). Usually concentrations of metoprolol in raw wastewater are in the high ng L⁻¹ to the low μ g L⁻¹ range (Ternes et al. 2007, Thomas et al. 2007, Wick et al. 2009). Reported elimination of metoprolol during wastewater treatment ranges from almost no removal (Alder et al. 2010, Bendz et al. 2005, Thomas et al. 2007, Vieno et al. 2006, Wick et al. 2009) and moderate removal (Gabet-Giraud et al. 2010, Maurer et al. 2007) to almost complete removal (Ternes 1998). The elimination is attributed to biological transformation and not to sorption to excess sludge (Maurer et al. 2007, Scheurer et al. 2010). Consequently, only concentrations in the low ng g⁻¹ range in sludge were determined (Scheurer et al. 2010).



Table 1-7: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of metoprolol

¹ Avdeef et al. (2000), ² Ternes and Joss (2006)

Metoprolol is commonly detected in WWTP effluents in the range of some hundred ng L⁻¹ to several μ g L⁻¹ (Bendz et al. 2005, Miege et al. 2006, Ternes 1998, Wick et al. 2009). Concentrations in receiving waters are generally lower. Depending on the dilution factor, values in the low/mid ng L⁻¹ or few μ g L⁻¹ range are reported (Alder et al. 2010, Ternes 1998, Vieno et al. 2006, Wiegel et al. 2004). However, metoprolol was not detected in a wastewater receiving lake (Alder et al. 2010) and groundwater (Sacher et al. 2001, Ternes et al. 2007) indicating an elimination of metoprolol in the aquatic environment.

Under environmental pH values (pH 5-8.5) metoprolol is predominately protonated (Table 1-7). Hence, metoprolol can sorb to negatively charged surface such as humic substances or iron and manganese oxides in river sediments. In column experiments with river sediments it was shown that the sorption of metoprolol is competitive to Ca^{2+} ions (Schaffer et al. 2012a). In sediments log K_{oc} values of 2-2.5 were determined indicating substantial sorption (Ramil et al. 2010). However, sorption of metoprolol to solid matrices is weaker than of propranolol (Kibbey et al. 2007). The reported biotransformation rates for metoprolol are inconclusive. While Ramil et al. (2010) calculated half-life times of 5-10 days based on experiments in sediment/water batch systems, metoprolol was not transformed in microcosm experiments with river water (Fono et al. 2006) and in aquifer material under denitrifying conditions (Barbieri et al. 2012b). In contrast, Huntscha et al. (2013) determined half-life times of less than one hour using push-pull tests in

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

river sediment. Phototransformation of metoprolol in pure water is slow with half-life times of weeks to years (Fono et al. 2006, Liu et al. 2009, Liu and Williams 2007) and also leads to no change in the ratio of the enantiomer fraction (EF) of metoprolol (Fono et al. 2006). Phototransformation rates can be enhanced by the presence of 'OH radicals and natural organic matter (NOM) indicating indirect photolysis. Wang et al. (2012) divided the total transformation of metoprolol into 6 % by direct transformation, 25 % by 'OH radicals and 70 % by interactions with NOM. No effect of pH (pH range 4-10) on the transformation kinetics was observed. In contrast, Chen et al. (2012) reported an increasing transformation with increasing pH (pH range 6-10). The main described photo-TPs are formed by a hydroxylation of the ether and cleavage of the tertiary amine (Chen et al. 2012, Liu et al. 2009).

No removal of metoprolol with distance from WWTP in a Swedish river was observed (Bendz et al. 2005). In contrast, based on grab samples of river water, a 60 % loss of metoprolol compared to the sum of discharged loads from five WWTPs was estimated (Vieno et al. 2006). In a Californian river, a half-life time of six days for metoprolol was calculated (Fono et al. 2006). Moreover, the authors observed a decrease in the EF of metoprolol during stream transport indicating that this elimination was caused by biological processes. Concentration of metoprolol in Hessian sediments of up to 30 ng g⁻¹ were determined (Ramil et al. 2010).

The beta-blocker metoprolol is reported to be moderately biodegradable in river sediments and also sorbs to a substantial degree to solid matrices. Metoprolol is resistant to photolysis under environmental conditions. Therefore, metoprolol is thought to be used an indicator substance to detect both sorption and biotransformation processes (proved by a change in the EF) in rivers.

1.5.7 NAPROXEN

Naproxen ((+)-(S)-2-(6-methoxynaphthalen-2-yl)propanoic acid) is an NSAID that is commonly applied to reduce moderate stiffness, fever, pain and inflammation. In contrast to the beginning of the 21st century where the consumption of naproxen decreased (BLAC 2003), its prescribed amounts in Germany have increased again over the last five years and accounted for approx. 8.6 tons in 2012 (Schwabe and Paffrath 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013). Naproxen is metabolized in the human body with a half-life time of 13 hours and excreted almost completely via urine as parent compound, O-desmethyl naproxen and the respective conjugates (Segre 1980, Vree et al. 1993). In WWTPs, influent concentrations of naproxen of up to several μ g L⁻¹ are reported (Bendz et al. 2005, Carballa et al. 2004, Lindqvist et al. 2005). Elimination of naproxen during wastewater treatment is typically in the range of 50 to 95 % (Bendz et al. 2005, Joss et al. 2005, Lindqvist et al. 2005, Radjenovic et al. 2007, Ternes 1998) and is attributed to biological transformation during secondary treatment (Carballa et al. 2005, Carballa et al. 2004). Good elimination during anaerobic sludge treatment is reported (Carballa et al. 2008). During wastewater treatment also the human metabolite O-desmethyl naproxen is formed (Quintana et al. 2005).



Table 1-8: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of naproxen

¹ Avdeef et al. (2000), ² Jones et al. (2002)

Concentrations in WWTP effluents usually range from some hundred ng L⁻¹ to several μ g L⁻¹ (Bendz et al. 2005, Carballa et al. 2004, Drewes et al. 2003, Lindqvist et al. 2005, Ternes 1998, Tixier et al. 2003). In receiving rivers, naproxen concentrations are in the range of some ng L⁻¹ to the high ng L⁻¹ (Boyd et al. 2004, Radke et al. 2010, Ternes 1998, Tixier et al. 2003, Vieno et al. 2005). Naproxen was also detected in storm water channels (Boyd et al. 2004), runoff from a field irrigated with treated wastewater (Pedersen et al. 2005), and lakes (Boyd et al. 2004, Tixier et al. 2003). It was not determined in groundwater (Drewes et al. 2003) but in raw drinking at a concentration of 8 ng L⁻¹ (Vieno et al. 2005).

Under natural pH, naproxen is present in its dissociated form and highly polar (Table 1-8); respective log K_{oc} values (determined for sediment, soil and sludge) are only about 2-2.5 (Duran-Alvarez et al. 2012, Jones et al. 2002, Schaffer et al. 2012b) and sorption to river sediments is only of minor importance (Lin et al. 2006). Consequently only minor retardation of naproxen during transport in soils even at high TOC concentration of the soil was determined (Borgman and Chefetz 2013). Biotransformation rates of naproxen span a wide range. Some studies reported no elimination in river water (Peng et al. 2008), river sediments (Lin et al. 2006) or a biofilm reactor (Boyd et al. 2005). Other work determined a slow transformation rate of respective half-life times of some days in biofilm reactors and in aerobic and anaerobic sludge treatment and a subsequent formation of O-desmethyl naproxen (Lahti and Oikari 2011, Quintana et al. 2005) or a biological removal of 80 % within 60 days in batch systems with silica sediment and different nutrients (Maeng et al. 2011). In contrast, naproxen was efficiently eliminated (95 %) in column experiments simulating soil aquifer recharge (Onesios and Bouwer 2012), or in soils by mesophilic aerobic biodegradation also leading to the formation of O-desmethyl naproxen (Topp et al. 2008). In flume experiments with river sediments, naproxen was transformed at equal rates under aerobic and anaerobic conditions (t_{H} = 10-14 days) in the sediments (Kunkel and Radke 2008). Data on the photosusceptibility of naproxen is more conclusive. Packer et al. (2003) determined a rapid phototransformation of naproxen in both ultra-pure and river water. Naproxen is supposedly rapidly transformed by combined direct and indirect photolysis (Lin and Reinhard 2005) leading to a reduction of the carboxy group to a keto group or to an ethylation of the carboxy group. The formed TPs are more toxic to aquatic organism than naproxen (Isidori et al. 2005). Under natural conditions, half-life times for phototransformation are in the range of 2.5-10 days (Araujo et al. 2011, Radke et al. 2010).

Conclusive to the laboratory studies, field data implies that naproxen can be eliminated within the aquatic environment. Calculations based on a few grab samples taken downstream of WWTPs indicated an elimination of naproxen in rivers (Bendz et al. 2005, Lindqvist et al. 2005, Vieno et al. 2005). More systematic studies were only partially able to solidify this interpretation. Naproxen was rapidly removed ($t_H \sim 2$ hours) during river transport at a Californian river which was attributed to a combined effect of photolysis and sorption (Gross et al. 2004, Lin et al. 2006). In a German river, naproxen was poorly eliminated along a river stretch under low flow conditions (Radke et al. 2010) while other studies report high removal in rivers due to photolysis (Fono et al. 2006, Nakada et al. 2008). In a lake, naproxen was slowly eliminated ($t_H = 14$ days) potentially by a combination of direct photolysis and biotransformation. However, the analysis of pore water profiles did not suggest substantial biotransformation in river sediments (Lewandowski et al. 2011b). In contrast, high removal rates during subsurface horizontal flow constructed wetland treatment (Matamoros and Bayona 2006, Zhang et al. 2012) and during aquifer recharge (Drewes et al. 2003) were determined.

The analgesic drug naproxen is reported to be susceptible to photolysis in rivers. Sorption to (sandy) sediments is negligible and data on the biotransformation potential is inconclusive. In this thesis naproxen is considered as a micropollutant that can be eliminated from rivers by various elimination pathways.

1.5.8 PROPRANOLOL

Propranolol ((RS)-1-(1-methylethylamino)-3-(1-naphthyloxy)propan-2-ol) is a non-selective beta-blocker that is used for the treatment of hypertension. The prescribed amounts in Germany are low compared to other countries and only about 3 tons per year or 0.25 DDDs per year and inhabitant are applied (Schwabe and Paffrath 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013). About 10 % of the applied amount is excreted as parent compound while about 15 % are excreted as glucuronide (Mehvar and Brocks 2001). Concentrations in raw wastewater are typically relatively low and only some hundred ng L⁻¹ are reported (Bendz et al. 2005, Fono and Sedlak 2005, Wick et al. 2009). However, in hospital effluents up to 6 μ g L⁻¹ were determined (Gomez et al. 2006). During wastewater treatment propranolol can be efficiently eliminated. However, literature elimination rates range from only a few % (Bendz et al. 2005, Gabet-Giraud et al. 2010, Maurer et al. 2007, Wick et al. 2009) to almost complete elimination (Ternes 1998). These inconclusive elimination rates might be explainable by a cleavage of the glucuronide in WWTPs (Liu and Williams 2007). During WWTP treatment the enantiomer fraction (EF) of propranolol is decreasing, indicating that the elimination in WWTPs is caused by biological processes (Bagnall et al. 2012, Fono and Sedlak 2005, Liu and Williams 2007).

Dronzonalal	CAS number	525-66-6
Propranoioi	formula	$C_{16}H_{21}NO_2$
	M (g mol ⁻¹)	259.34
	water solubility (mg L^{-1})	70 ¹
ОН	рК _ь (-)	9.53 ¹ , 9.49 ²
	log K _{ow} (-)	3.48 ¹

Table 1-9: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of propranolol

¹ Avdeef et al. (2000), ² Beausse (2004)

The concentration of propranolol in WWTP effluents varies strongly between different countries but is generally in the sub μ g L⁻¹ range (Andreozzi et al. 2003, Ashton et al. 2004, Fono and Sedlak 2005, Hilton and Thomas 2003, Miege et al. 2006, Scheurer et al. 2010, Ternes 1998, Wick et al. 2009, Zhang and Zhou 2007). In receiving rivers, propranolol is typically detected at a few ng L⁻¹ (Alder et al. 2010, Ashton et al. 2004, Hilton and Thomas 2003, López-Serna et al. 2012, Roberts and Thomas 2006, Zhang and Zhou 2007). However, individual concentrations of up to 0.6 μ g L⁻¹ were determined (Ternes 1998). Propranolol was not detected in a groundwater survey in Germany (Sacher et al. 2001).

Sorption constitutes a relevant elimination pathway of propranolol from the water phase in sediment/water test systems. About 80-90 % were removed within 6 hours in (Ramil et al. 2010). Reported log K_{oc} values of 2.3-3.5 in sludge, soil, and sediments were determined (Drillia et al. 2005b, Maurer et al. 2007, Ramil et al. 2010). Sorption to sediments is stronger than for metoprolol (Kibbey et al. 2007) and desorption from solids is only very slow (Drillia et al. 2005b). Compared to sorption, biotransformation is believed to be only of minor importance. Maurer et al. (2007) determined a slow biotransformation in activated sludge (t_{H} = 10 hours) after a strong initial sorption phase. Consistently, no elimination was observed in river water (Liu et al. 2009) and propranolol was also resistant against biotransformation in batch experiments with aquifer material under denitrifying conditions (Barbieri et al. 2012b). In a different set of sediment/water batch systems, propranolol was rapidly removed from the water phase (t_{H} = 0.5-2 days), but the sum of dissolved and sorbed propranolol only slowly decreased over time ($t_{H} = 10-30$ days) also indicating the superior importance of sorption compared to biotransformation in river sediments (Ramil et al. 2010). Propranolol is susceptible to photolysis. It is eliminated from surface waters by direct phototransformation with rates from less than one day to some weeks depending on latitude and season (Andreozzi et al. 2003, Liu and Williams 2007). Photo-TPs are formed by initial opening and subsequent oxidation of the aromatic structure (Liu and Williams 2007). Higher rates in presence of nitrate and humic acids indicate indirect photolysis, while biotransformation in surface water is negligible (Andreozzi et al. 2003).

Despite the reported sorption affinity and susceptibility to photolysis, no decrease of the propranolol loads downstream of a WWTP over a distance of 7.5 km was observed (Bendz et al. 2005). Sorbed concentration of 10-30 ng g⁻¹ (Lahti and Oikari 2012, Ramil et al. 2010) were determined in river sediments while no clear trend of the concentration with depth in the sediments was visible (Lahti and Oikari 2012).

The beta-blocker propranolol is primarily eliminated from rivers by strong sorption to the sediments and phototransformation in the surface waters. Biotransformation is believed to be only of minor importance. Propranolol is used as reference substance that allows determining the maximum contribution of sorption to the total elimination in the studies.

1.5.9 SOTALOL

Sotalol ((RS)-N-{4-[1-hydroxy-2-(propan-2-ylamino)ethyl]phenymethanesulfonamide) is a drug belonging to the class of non-selective beta-blockers. It is applied to treat humans with high blood pressure and arrhythmic heartbeat. In Germany, the application rates of sotalol have slightly decreased over the last years and a total of about 3-5 tons per year were prescribed (Schwabe and Paffrath 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013). However since sotalol is excreted via urine to about 70 % as parent compound (Maurer et al. 2007) concentration in raw wastewater are still as high as some µg L⁻¹ (Gabet-Giraud et al. 2010, MacLeod et al. 2007, Maurer et al. 2007, Piram et al. 2008a, Ternes et al. 2007, Vieno et al. 2006, Wick et al. 2010, MacLeod et al. 2007) to almost complete removal (Piram et al. 2008a). But most studies determined a rate of about 30-60 % (Maurer et al. 2007, Ternes et al. 2007, Vieno et al. 2006) and attributed the elimination to a combination of both sorption and biological processes with the latter being the dominant one (Jelic et al. 2012, Scheurer et al. 2010, Wick et al. 2009).



Table 1-10: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of sotalol

¹ Hernando et al. (2007), ² Ternes and Joss (2006)

In WWTP effluents, sotalol is commonly detected in the mid ng L⁻¹ to low μ g L⁻¹ range (Gabet-Giraud et al. 2010, MacLeod et al. 2007, Maurer et al. 2007, Scheurer et al. 2010, Ternes et al. 2007, Vieno et al. 2006, Wick et al. 2009). In receiving waters, various authors determined concentrations of sotalol of a few to some hundred ng L⁻¹ (Nödler et al. 2011, Piram et al. 2008a,

Vieno et al. 2006). Sotalol is also detected sporadically in groundwaters. It was only detected in 3 of 105 groundwater samples in Baden-Württemberg, but the highest the concentration was 590 ng L⁻¹ (Sacher et al. 2001). In contrast, sotalol was never detected in groundwater samples after wastewater containing high amounts of sotalol (> 1 μ g L⁻¹) was applied to an agricultural soil (Ternes et al. 2007). In Spain, up to 16 ng L⁻¹ were detected in groundwater (Huerta-Fontela et al. 2011). Sotalol was also detected in raw and finished drinking water (after chlorination) in the low ng L⁻¹ range (Huerta-Fontela et al. 2011, Vieno et al. 2007).

Like metoprolol and propranolol, sotalol is occurring in its protonated form under environmental pH ($pK_{a,1}$ =8.2 for the sulfonamide and $pK_{a,2}$ = 9.8 for amine, Table 1-10). In sediment/water batch systems, 90% of the initially applied sotalol was removed from the water phase within 6 hours and a log K_{oc} of 2 for this sediments was calculated (Ramil et al. 2010). In contrast, Maurer et al. (2007) reported only minor sorption in batch systems with activated sludge. Sorption to mineral surfaces is highly pH dependent and strongest at slightly acidic and neutral pH values when sotalol is present as cation (Sanchez-Camazano et al. 1987). Quantitative information on biotransformation of sotalol in river sediments is scarce. Ramil et al. (2010) determined total half-life times of 11-30 days depending on the type of sediment. In batch systems with activated sludge, the respective half-life time was 15 hours (Maurer et al. 2007). Phototransformation of sotalol is prize to the structurally similar beta-blocker propranolol (Wang et al. 2012). Studies by Piram et al. (2008a) indicate an indirect phototransformation since they observed no elimination in ultra-pure water but transformation in WWTP effluent water ($t_{H} \sim 5$ hours, lab-scale with an UV light photo reactor).

Based on twelve grab samples taken on a monthly basis sotalol was partly eliminated in a river downstream of a WWTP in a Swedish watershed since its concentration decreased stronger than the concentration of carbamazepine (Daneshvar et al. 2010). During river bank filtration at the river Rhine 70-90 % of sotalol was removed (Storck et al. 2012). This can be potentially attributed to both sorption and (bio-)transformation since substantial concentrations of sotalol in river sed-iments have been reported (Ramil et al. 2010).

Compared to other substances in focus of this thesis only little data on the fate of sotalol in the aquatic environment is available. Biotransformation as well as sorption and phototransformation can potentially be relevant elimination pathways in rivers. This thesis will generate new insight on the actual fate of sotalol in rivers and river sediments.

1.5.10Sulfamethoxazole

Sulfamethoxazole (4-amino-N-(5-methylisoxazol-3-yl)-benzenesulfonamide) is an antibiotic pharmaceutical belonging to the group of the sulfonamides. In Germany, it is exclusively prescribed in combination with the other antibiotic trimethoprim (ratio 5:1) under the name co-

trimoxazole. About 50 % of the intaken sulfamethoxazole is usually excreted via urine within 24 hours. Only about 15 % are excreted as the parent compound while the majority is excreted as the human metabolites N4-actetyl-sulfamethoxazole and sulfamethoxazole-N1-glucuronide (Gill et al. 1996, Vanderven et al. 1995). Its consumption in Germany has slightly declined over the past five years from 18.7 million DDD in 2008 to 12.5 million DDD (Schwabe and Paffrath 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013) corresponding to prescribed amounts of 25-37 tons per year. Nevertheless, sulfamethoxazole has been frequently detected in WWTP influents in concentrations up to the low μ g L⁻¹ range (Göbel et al. 2004, Hirsch et al. 1999, Renew and Huang 2004). Elimination of sulfamethoxazole during wastewater treatment ranges from 20 to 90 % (Carballa et al. 2004, Gao et al. 2012, Göbel et al. 2005, Ternes et al. 2007) while elimination due to sorption is negligible (Gao et al. 2012, Göbel et al. 2005, Yang et al. 2012).



Table 1-11: Structural formula and physicochemical properties of sulfamethoxazole

¹ Lin et al. (1997), ² Beausse (2004), ³ Boreen et al. (2004), ³ Scheytt et al. (2005a)

Sulfamethoxazole is commonly determined in WWTP effluents and receiving rivers (Heberer et al. 2008, Hirsch et al. 1999, Nödler et al. 2011) as well as in groundwater (Heberer et al. 2008, Hirsch et al. 1999, Sacher et al. 2001). Besides its human use, sulfamethoxazole is also used in veterinary medicine and therefore additionally introduced to soils and subsequently also to the aquatic environment via manure spreading and pasture farming. Therefore, also numerous studies on the transport, sorption, and biotransformation of sulfamethoxazole in soil were conducted.

Sulfamethoxazole is susceptible to photodegradation with 4-amino-N-(5-methyl-2-oxazolyl)benzenesulfonamide being the major TP (Zhou and Moore 1994). Half-life times derived from laboratory photokinetic studies range from several hours to a few days (Andreozzi et al. 2003, Lam and Mabury 2005, Zhou and Moore 1994). Since the transformation is decreasing with increasing pH values (Zhou and Moore 1994) and the presence of humic acids also decreases the transformation rate (Andreozzi et al. 2003) phototransformation of sulfamethoxazole in rivers with typically relatively high pH values (6-8) and a high content of organic matter (e.g., humic substances) is only of minor importance as elimination pathway. Consequently, Lam et al. (2004) determined only little elimination due to phototransformation in outdoor microcosms (t_H approx. 20 days). Biological transformation of sulfamethoxazole is reported under various redox conditions. Baumgarten et al. (2011) determined higher transformation rates under aerobic compared to anoxic conditions in column experiments mimicking river bank filtration processes. However, the majority of studies reported a higher removal under more reduced conditions. Mohatt et al. (2011) observed a rapid microbially mediated abiotic transformation of sulfamethoxazole under iron-reducing conditions in soils ($t_H \sim$ few hours) while the elimination under sulfate-reducing and aerobic conditions was much slower ($t_H \sim$ 2 and 5 days, respectively). Under denitrifying conditions, sulfamethoxazole is assumed to be reversibly transformed by a nitration of the primary amine (Barbieri et al. 2012a). Analogously to WWTPs, sorption of sulfamethoxazole to solid matrices constitutes no major sink in rivers (or soil): the reported K_{oc} values for soil range from 0.7 to 530 L kg⁻¹ (Drillia et al. 2005a, Strauss et al. 2011, Ternes et al. 2007, Yu et al. 2009). Sorption to sediments was also excluded as major sink (Radke et al. 2009). The sorption affinity of sulfamethoxazole is more pronounced under slightly acidic pH values as shown in column experiments using manure amended soil (Strauss et al. 2011) and sorption tests (Fukahori et al. 2011) since it is then present in its neutral form (Table 1-11).

The experimental results from laboratory work hint to a rather conservative behavior of sulfamethoxazole in rivers. Consistently, only minor dissipation of sulfamethoxazole during downstream transport at the river Seine (Tamtam et al. 2008) and a persistent behavior in a small river in South Sweden (Bendz et al. 2005) was reported. Only 0-20 % are removed during river bank filtration (Storck et al. 2012) and sulfamethoxazole is also frequently detected in run-off from fields irrigated with WWTP effluent (Pedersen et al. 2005) as well as the pore water and groundwater under an agriculturally used site where a mixture of treated wastewater and digested sludge has been applied to soils for more than 50 years (Ternes et al. 2007).

Sorption of the antibiotic drug sulfamethoxazole to sediments and phototransformation in surface water are supposedly no major elimination pathways in rivers under near neutral (and environmentally relevant) pH values. Hence, a potential elimination of sulfamethoxazole will be used to identify (anaerobic) biotic and abiotic transformation processes in rivers and river sediments.

1.6 OUTLINE OF THIS THESIS

A reactive tracer test to evaluate the fate of pharmaceuticals in rivers

Chapter 2 reports a tracer experiment at a small river where pharmaceuticals were manually spiked into a non-polluted stream. Additionally two non-reactive dye tracers were added. This approach allowed determining precise mass balances for substances along river stretches in relation to prevailing hydraulics in the river and the exchange of water and solutes between the stream and storage zones. A subsequent modeling study determined elimination kinetics of pharmaceuticals for different compartments of the stream and evaluated the importance of processes in the storage zone for the total elimination.

Fate of pharmaceuticals in rivers: deriving a benchmark dataset at favorable attenuation conditions

Chapter 3 describes a systematic study at a river with conditions that are believed to be ideal for the elimination of pharmaceuticals. The study combined a systematic monitoring work at two sites along a river stretch with *in situ* phototransformation experiments and the determination of concentrations in river sediments. Moreover, this concept allowed calculating elimination rates of pharmaceuticals along the river stretch and attributing the total elimination to phototransformation in the surface water or biotransformation in the river sediments for individual substances.

Recirculating sediment columns provide generalizable rate constants for the biotransformation of pharmaceuticals in river sediments

Chapter 4 introduces a laboratory-scale experimental setup based on recirculating sediment columns that enables the determination of more realistic elimination kinetics for pharmaceutical residues in river sediments. The experimental concept was applied to several sediments (i.e., from the sites reported in chapter 3 and in Radke et al. (2010)). The effect of pore water velocity on the elimination rates was investigated and the results of the column tests were discussed in light of the elimination rates determined in the field studies.

Final Conclusions

Chapter 5 discusses the main results of studies I-III, highlights the knowledge gaps that were narrowed by the work of this thesis, draws some final conclusions and summarizes the needs for future research.

1.7 CONTRIBUTION TO THE DIFFERENT STUDIES

Study I

A Reactive Tracer Test to Evaluate the Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers (Environmental Science & Technology 45(15): 6296-6302)

Uwe Kunkel	90 %	Concept, field and laboratory work, calculations, preparation of manuscript
Michael Radke	10 %	Concept, field work, calculations, preparation of manuscript

Study II

Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers: Deriving a Benchmark Dataset at Favorable Attenuation Conditions (Water Research 46(17): 5551-5565)

Uwe Kunkel	90 %	Concept, field and laboratory work, calculations, preparation of manuscript
Michael Radke	10 %	Concept, calculations, preparation of manuscript

Study III

Recirculating Sediment Columns Provide Generalizable Rate Constants for the Biotransformation of Pharmaceuticals in River Sediments (to be submitted to Environmental Science & Technology)

Uwe Kunkel	70 %	Concept, laboratory work, calculations, preparation of manu- script
Stephanie Wilde	20 %	Laboratory work
Michael Radke	10 %	Concept, preparation of manuscript

1.8 REFERENCES FOR THE GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Abshagen, U., Bablok, W., Koch, K., Lang, P.D., Schmidt, H.A.E., Senn, M. and Stork, H. **(1979)** *Disposition Pharmacokinetics of Bezafibrate in Man.* European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 16(1), 31-38.

Al-Rajab, A.J., Sabourin, L., Lapen, D.R. and Topp, E. **(2010)** *The Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug Diclofenac Is Readily Biodegradable in Agricultural Soils.* Science of the Total Environment 409(1), 78-82.

Alder, A.C., Schaffner, C., Majewsky, M., Klasmeier, J. and Fenner, K. **(2010)** *Fate of Beta-Blocker Human Pharmaceuticals in Surface Water: Comparison of Measured and Simulated Concentrations in the Glatt Valley Watershed, Switzerland.* Water Research 44(3), 936-948. Andreozzi, R., Marotta, R., Pinto, G. and Pollio, A. **(2002)** *Carbamazepine in Water: Persistence in the Environment, Ozonation Treatment and Preliminary Assessment on Algal Toxicity.* Water Research 36(11), 2869-2877.

Andreozzi, R., Raffaele, M. and Nicklas, P. (2003) *Pharmaceuticals in STP Effluents and Their Solar Photodegradation in Aquatic Environment*. Chemosphere 50(10), 1319-1330.

Angermann, L., Krause, S. and Lewandowski, J. **(2012)** *Application of Heat Pulse Injections for Investigating Shallow Hyporheic Flow in a Lowland River*. Water Resources Research 48(12), W00P02.

Araujo, L., Villa, N., Camargo, N., Bustos, M., García, T. and Prieto, A.d.J. **(2011)** *Persistence of Gemfibrozil, Naproxen and Mefenamic Acid in Natural Waters.* Environmental Chemistry Letters 9(1), 13-18.

Ashton, D., Hilton, M. and Thomas, K.V. (2004) *Investigating the Environmental Transport of Human Pharmaceuticals to Streams in the United Kingdom.* Science of the Total Environment 333(1-3), 167-184.

Avdeef, A., Berger, C. and Brownell, C. (2000) *pH-Metric Solubility. 2: Correlation between the Acid-Base Titration and the Saturation Shake-Flask Solubility-pH Methods*. Pharmaceutical Research 17(1), 85-89.

Baas, J.H. **(1999)** An Empirical Model for the Development and Equilibrium Morphology of Current Ripples in Fine Sand. Sedimentology 46(1), 123-138.

Bagnall, J.P., Evans, S.E., Wort, M.T., Lubben, A.T. and Kasprzyk-Hordern, B. **(2012)** Using Chiral Liquid Chromatography Quadrupole Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry for the Analysis of Pharmaceuticals and Illicit Drugs in Surface and Wastewater at the Enantiomeric Level. Journal of Chromatography A 1249, 115-129.

Banzhaf, S., Krein, A. and Scheytt, T. **(2013)** Using Selected Pharmaceutical Compounds as Indicators for Surface Water and Groundwater Interaction in the Hyporheic Zone of a Low Permeability Riverbank. Hydrological Processes 27(20), 2892-2902.

Barber, L.B., Antweiler, R.C., Flynn, J.L., Keefe, S.H., Kolpin, D.W., Roth, D.A., Schnoebelen, D.J., Taylor, H.E. and Verplanck, P.L. (2011) Lagrangian Mass-Flow Investigations of Inorganic Contaminants in Wastewater-Impacted Streams. Environmental Science & Technology 45(7), 2575-2583.

Barbieri, M., Carrera, J., Ayora, C., Sanchez-Vila, X., Licha, T., Nödler, K., Osorio, V., Perez, S., Kock-Schulmeyer, M., de Alda, M.L. and Barcelo, D. **(2012a)** *Formation of Diclofenac and Sulfamethoxazole Reversible Transformation Products in Aquifer Material under Denitrifying Conditions: Batch Experiments.* Science of the Total Environment 426, 256-263.

Barbieri, M., Licha, T., Nödler, K., Carrera, J., Ayora, C. and Sanchez-Vila, X. **(2012b)** *Fate of Beta-Blockers in Aquifer Material under Nitrate Reducing Conditions: Batch Experiments.* Chemosphere 89(11), 1272-1277.

Barco, J., Papiri, S. and Stenstrom, M.K. (2008) *First Flush in a Combined Sewer System*. Chemosphere 71(5), 827-833.

Barlow, K., Nash, D. and Grayson, R. (2004) Investigating Phosphorus Interactions with Bed Sediments in a Fluvial Environment Using a Recirculating Flume and Intact Soil Cores. Water Research 38(14-15), 3420-3430.

Bartels, P. and von Tümpling, W. (2007) *Solar Radiation Influence on the Decomposition Process of Diclofenac in Surface Waters.* Science of the Total Environment 374(1), 143-155.

Bataineh, M., Nolte, J., Kuhlmann, B., Zullei-Seibert, N., Borges, M. and Grote, M. (2006) *Degradation Behavior of Selected Pharmaceuticals and Their Main Metabolites in Model Systems for Slow Sand Filtration.* Current Pharmaceutical Analysis 2(3), 313-322.

Baumgarten, B., Jahrig, J., Reemtsma, T. and Jekel, M. (2011) Long Term Laboratory Column Experiments to Simulate Bank Filtration: Factors Controlling Removal of Sulfamethoxazole. Water Research 45(1), 211-220.

Beausse, J. **(2004)** *Selected Drugs in Solid Matrices: A Review of Environmental Determination, Occurrence and Properties of Principal Substances.* Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry 23(10-11), 753-761.

Bendz, D., Paxeus, N.A., Ginn, T.R. and Loge, F.J. **(2005)** *Occurrence and Fate of Pharmaceutically Active Compounds in the Environment, a Case Study: Hoje River in Sweden.* Journal of Hazardous Materials 122(3), 195-204.

Berkner, S. and Thierbach, C. **(2013)** *Biodegradability and Transformation of Human Pharmaceutical Active Ingredients in Environmentally Relevant Test Systems.* Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 1-7.

Bernhard, M., Müller, J. and Knepper, T.R. (2006) *Biodegradation of Persistent Polar Pollutants in Wastewater: Comparison of an Optimised Lab-Scale Membrane Bioreactor and Activated Sludge Treatment.* Water Research 40(18), 3419-3428.

Bertrand-Krajewski, J.L., Chebbo, G. and Saget, A. **(1998)** *Distribution of Pollutant Mass Vs Volume in Stormwater Discharges and the First Flush Phenomenon.* Water Research 32(8), 2341-2356.

BLAC **(2003)** Arzneimittel in der Umwelt: Auswertung der Untersuchungsergebnisse, p. 175, Hamburg.

Boreen, A.L., Arnold, W.A. and McNeill, K. (2004) *Photochemical Fate of Sulfa Drugs in the Aquatic Environment: Sulfa Drugs Containing Five-Membered Heterocyclic Groups.* Environmental Science & Technology 38(14), 3933-3940.

Borgman, O. and Chefetz, B. **(2013)** *Combined Effects of Biosolids Application and Irrigation with Reclaimed Wastewater on Transport of Pharmaceutical Compounds in Arable Soils.* Water Research 47(10), 3431-3443.

Borgmann, U., Bennie, D.T., Ball, A.L. and Palabrica, V. (2007) *Effect of a Mixture of Seven Pharmaceuticals on Hyalella Azteca over Multiple Generations*. Chemosphere 66(7), 1278-1283.

Boulton, A.J., Findlay, S., Marmonier, P., Stanley, E.H. and Valett, H.M. **(1998)** *The Functional Significance of the Hyporheic Zone in Streams and Rivers.* Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 29(1), 59-81.

Boxall, A.B.A., Blackwell, P., Cavallo, R., Kay, P. and Tolls, J. **(2002)** *The Sorption and Transport of a Sulphonamide Antibiotic in Soil Systems.* Toxicology Letters 131(1-2), 19-28.

Boyd, G.R., Palmeri, J.M., Zhang, S.Y. and Grimm, D.A. **(2004)** *Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products (Ppcps) and Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals (Edcs) in Stormwater Canals and Bayou St. John in New Orleans, Louisiana, USA*. Science of the Total Environment 333(1-3), 137-148.

Boyd, G.R., Zhang, S.Y. and Grimm, D.A. (2005) *Naproxen Removal from Water by Chlorination and Biofilm Processes*. Water Research 39(4), 668-676.

Brown, J.B., Battaglin, W.A. and Zuellig, R.E. **(2009)** *Lagrangian Sampling for Emerging Contaminants through an Urban Stream Corridor in Colorado.* Journal of the American Water Resources Association 45(1), 68-82.

Brunke, M. and Gonser, T. **(1997)** *The Ecological Significance of Exchange Processes between Rivers and Groundwater.* Freshwater Biology 37(1), 1-33.

Buser, H.R., Müller, M.D. and Theobald, N. **(1998a)** *Occurrence of the Pharmaceutical Drug Clofibric Acid and the Herbicide Mecoprop in Various Swiss Lakes and in the North Sea.* Environmental Science & Technology 32(1), 188-192.

Buser, H.R., Poiger, T. and Müller, M.D. **(1998b)** *Occurrence and Fate of the Pharmaceutical Drug Diclofenac in Surface Waters: Rapid Photodegradation in a Lake.* Environmental Science & Technology 32(22), 3449-3456.

Buser, H.R., Poiger, T. and Müller, M.D. (1999) Occurrence and Environmental Behavior of the Chiral Pharmaceutical Drug Ibuprofen in Surface Waters and in Wastewater. Environmental Science & Technology 33(15), 2529-2535.

Calisto, V., Domingues, M.R.M., Erny, G.L. and Esteves, V.I. (2011) Direct Photodegradation of Carbamazepine Followed by Micellar Electrokinetic Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry. Water Research 45(3), 1095-1104.

Canonica, S., Meunier, L. and Von Gunten, U. (2008) *Phototransformation of Selected Pharmaceuticals During UV Treatment of Drinking Water.* Water Research 42, 121-128.

Carballa, M., Fink, G., Omil, F., Lema, J.M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2008)** *Determination of the Solid-Water Distribution Coefficient (Kd) for Pharmaceuticals, Estrogens and Musk Fragrances in Digested Sludge*. Water Research 42, 287-295.

Carballa, M., Omil, F. and Lema, J.M. (2005) *Removal of Cosmetic Ingredients and Pharmaceuticals in Sewage Primary Treatment*. Water Research 39(19), 4790-4796.

Carballa, M., Omil, F., Lema, J.M., Llompart, M., Garcia-Jares, C., Rodriguez, I., Gomez, M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2004)** *Behavior of Pharmaceuticals, Cosmetics and Hormones in a Sewage Treatment Plant.* Water Research 38(12), 2918-2926.

Cardenas, M.B., Wilson, J.L. and Zlotnik, V.A. (2004) *Impact of Heterogeneity, Bed Forms, and Stream Curvature on Subchannel Hyporheic Exchange.* Water Resources Research 40(8).

Carlos, L., Martire, D.O., Gonzalez, M.C., Gomis, J., Bernabeu, A., Amat, A.M. and Arques, A. **(2012)** *Photochemical Fate of a Mixture of Emerging Pollutants in the Presence of Humic Substances.* Water Research 46(15), 4732-4740.

Cermola, M., DellaGreca, M., Iesce, M.R., Previtera, L., Rubino, M., Temussi, F. and Brigante, M. **(2005)** *Phototransformation of Fibrate Drugs in Aqueous Media.* Environmental Chemistry Letters 3(1), 43-47.

Chen, Y., Li, H., Wang, Z.P., Li, H.J., Tao, T. and Zuo, Y.G. (2012) *Photodegradation of Selected Beta-Blockers in Aqueous Fulvic Acid Solutions: Kinetics, Mechanism, and Product Analysis.* Water Research 46(9), 2965-2972.

Chiron, S., Minero, C. and Vione, D. **(2006)** *Photodegradation Processes of the Antiepileptic Drug Carbamazepine, Relevant to Estuarine Waters.* Environmental Science & Technology 40(19), 5977-5983.

Clara, M., Strenn, B., Gans, O., Martinez, E., Kreuzinger, N. and Kroiss, H. (2005) *Removal of Selected Pharmaceuticals, Fragrances and Endocrine Disrupting Compounds in a Membrane Bioreactor and Conventional Wastewater Treatment Plants.* Water Research 39(19), 4797-4807.

Clara, M., Strenn, B. and Kreuzinger, N. **(2004)** *Carbamazepine as a Possible Anthropogenic Marker in the Aquatic Environment: Investigations on the Behaviour of Carbamazepine in Wastewater Treatment and During Groundwater Infiltration.* Water Research 38(4), 947-954.

Cleuvers, M. **(2003)** Aquatic Ecotoxicity of Pharmaceuticals Including the Assessment of Combination Effects. Toxicology Letters 142(3), 185-194.

Comoretto, L. and Chiron, S. **(2005)** *Comparing Pharmaceutical and Pesticide Loads into a Small Mediterranean River.* Science of the Total Environment 349(1–3), 201-210.

Conkle, J.L., Gan, J. and Anderson, M.A. (2012) Degradation and Sorption of Commonly Detected *Ppcps in Wetland Sediments under Aerobic and Anaerobic Conditions*. Journal of Soils and Sediments 12(7).

Cunningham, V.L., Buzby, M., Hutchinson, T., Mastrocco, F., Parke, N. and Roden, N. **(2006)** *Effects of Human Pharmaceuticals on Aquatic Life: Next Steps.* Environmental Science & Technology 40(11), 3456-3462.

Daneshvar, A., Svanfelt, J., Kronberg, L., Prevost, M. and Weyhenmeyer, G.A. (2010) Seasonal Variations in the Occurrence and Fate of Basic and Neutral Pharmaceuticals in a Swedish River-Lake System. Chemosphere 80(3), 301-309.

Dantas, R.F., Canterino, M., Marotta, R., Sans, C., Esplugas, S. and Andreozzi, R. **(2007)** *Bezafibrate Removal by Means of Ozonation: Primary Intermediates, Kinetics, and Toxicity Assessment.* Water Research 41(12), 2525-2532.

Daughton, C.G. and Ternes, T.A. **(1999)** *Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: Agents of Subtle Change?*

Davis, J.A., Kent, D.B., Coston, J.A., Hess, K.M. and Joye, J.L. **(2000)** *Multispecies Reactive Tracer Test in an Aquifer with Spatially Variable Chemical Conditions.* Water Resources Research 36(1), 119-134.

De Laurentiis, E., Chiron, S., Kouras-Hadef, S., Richard, C., Minella, M., Maurino, V., Minero, C. and Vione, D. (2012) *Photochemical Fate of Carbamazepine in Surface Freshwaters: Laboratory Measures and Modeling.* Environmental Science & Technology 46(15), 8164-8173.

Degen, P.H., Dieterle, W., Schneider, W., Theobald, W. and Sinterhauf, U. **(1988)** *Pharmacokinetics of Diclofenac and Five Metabolites after Single Doses in Healthy Volunteers and after Repeated Doses in Patients.* Xenobiotica 18(12), 1449-1455.

Doll, T.E. and Frimmel, F.H. **(2003)** *Fate of Pharmaceuticals-Photodegradation by Simulated Solar UV-Light.* Chemosphere 52(10), 1757-1769.

Doll, T.E. and Frimmel, F.H. **(2004)** *Kinetic Study of Photocatalytic Degradation of Carbamazepine, Clofibric Acid, Iomeprol and Iopromide Assisted by Different Tio2 Materials - Determination of Intermediates and Reaction Pathways.* Water Research 38(4), 955-964.

Drewes, J.E., Heberer, T., Rauch, T. and Reddersen, K. **(2003)** *Fate of Pharmaceuticals During Ground Water Recharge.* Ground Water Monitoring and Remediation 23(3), 64-72.

Drillia, P., Dokianakis, S.N., Fountoulakis, M.S., Kornaros, M., Stamatelatou, K. and Lyberatos, G. **(2005a)** *On the Occasional Biodegradation of Pharmaceuticals in the Activated Sludge Process: The Example of the Antibiotic Sulfamethoxazole.* Journal of Hazardous Materials 122(3), 259-265.

Drillia, P., Stamatelatou, K. and Lyberatos, G. (2005b) *Fate and Mobility of Pharmaceuticals in Solid Matrices.* Chemosphere 60(8), 1034-1044.

Duran-Alvarez, J.C., Prado-Pano, B. and Jimenez-Cisneros, B. **(2012)** Sorption and Desorption of Carbamazepine, Naproxen and Triclosan in a Soil Irrigated with Raw Wastewater: Estimation of the Sorption Parameters by Considering the Initial Mass of the Compounds in the Soil. Chemosphere 88(1), 84-90.

Elliott, A.H. and Brooks, N.H. (1997) *Transfer of Nonsorbing Solutes to a Streambed with Bed Forms: Laboratory Experiments.* Water Resources Research 33(1), 137-151.

Encinas, S., Bosca, F. and Miranda, M.A. **(1998)** *Phototoxicity Associated with Diclofenac: A Photophysical, Photochemical, and Photobiological Study on the Drug and Its Photoproducts.* Chemical Research in Toxicology 11(8), 946-952.

Engelhardt, I., Prommer, H., Moore, C., Schulz, M., Schuth, C. and Ternes, T.A. **(2013)** *Suitability of Temperature, Hydraulic Heads, and Acesulfame to Quantify Wastewater-Related Fluxes in the Hyporheic and Riparian Zone.* Water Resources Research 49(1), 426-440.

Ericson, J.F. **(2007)** An Evaluation of the OECD 308 Water/Sediment Systems for Investigating the Biodegradation of Pharmaceuticals. Environmental Science & Technology 41(16), 5803-5811.

Falas, P., Baillon-Dhumez, A., Andersen, H.R., Ledin, A. and Jansen, J.I.C. **(2012)** *Suspended Biofilm Carrier and Activated Sludge Removal of Acidic Pharmaceuticals.* Water Research 46(4), 1167-1175.

Fatta-Kassinos, D., Vasquez, M.I. and Kümmerer, K. **(2011)** *Transformation Products of Pharmaceuticals in Surface Waters and Wastewater Formed During Photolysis and Advanced Oxidation Processes - Degradation, Elucidation of Byproducts and Assessment of Their Biological Potency.* Chemosphere 85(5), 693-709.

Fent, K., Weston, A.A. and Caminada, D. **(2006)** *Ecotoxicology of Human Pharmaceuticals.* Aquatic Toxicology 76(2), 122-159.

Fischer, H., Kloep, F., Wilzcek, S. and Pusch, M.T. (2005) A River's Liver - Microbial Processes within the Hyporheic Zone of a Large Lowland River. Biogeochemistry 76(2), 349-371.

Fono, L.J., Kolodziej, E.P. and Sedlak, D.L. **(2006)** Attenuation of Wastewater-Derived Contaminants in an Effluent-Dominated River. Environmental Science & Technology 40(23), 7257-7262.

Fono, L.J. and Sedlak, D.L. **(2005)** *Use of the Chiral Pharmaceutical Propranolol to Identify Sewage Discharges into Surface Waters.* Environmental Science & Technology 39(23), 9244-9252.

Forth, W., Henschler, D., Rummel, W. and Starke, K. **(1992)** Allgemeine und Spezielle *Pharmakologie und Toxikologie*, Wissenschaftsverlag Mannheim/leipzig/Wien/Zürich.

Frossard, A., Gerull, L., Mutz, M. and Gessner, M.O. **(2013)** *Shifts in Microbial Community Structure and Function in Stream Sediments During Experimentally Simulated Riparian Succession.* Fems Microbiology Ecology 84(2), 398-410.

Fukahori, S., Fujiwara, T., Ito, R. and Funamizu, N. **(2011)** *pH-Dependent Adsorption of Sulfa Drugs on High Silica Zeolite: Modeling and Kinetic Study.* Desalination 275(1–3), 237-242.

Gabet-Giraud, V., Miege, C., Choubert, J.M., Ruel, S.M. and Coquery, M. **(2010)** *Occurrence and Removal of Estrogens and Beta Blockers by Various Processes in Wastewater Treatment Plants.* Science of the Total Environment 408(19), 4257-4269.

Gao, P., Ding, Y.J., Li, H. and Xagoraraki, I. **(2012)** *Occurrence of Pharmaceuticals in a Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plant: Mass Balance and Removal Processes.* Chemosphere 88(1), 17-24.

Gasperi, J., Garnaud, S., Rocher, V. and Moilleron, R. (2008) *Priority Pollutants in Wastewater and Combined Sewer Overflow.* Science of the Total Environment 407(1), 263-272.

Gill, H.J., Maggs, J.L., Madden, S., Pirmohamed, M. and Park, K. **(1996)** *The Effect of Fluconazole and Ketoconazole on the Metabolism of Sulphamethoxazole.* British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 42(3), 347-353.

Göbel, A., McArdell, C.S., Suter, M.J.F. and Giger, W. **(2004)** *Trace Determination of Macrolide and Sulfonamide Antimicrobials, a Human Sulfonamide Metabolite, and Trimethoprim in Wastewater Using Liquid Chromatography Coupled to Electrospray Tandem Mass Spectrometry.* Analytical Chemistry 76(16), 4756-4764.

Göbel, A., Thomsen, A., McArdell, C.S., Joss, A. and Giger, W. (2005) *Occurrence and Sorption Behavior of Sulfonamides, Macrolides, and Trimethoprim in Activated Sludge Treatment.* Environmental Science & Technology 39(11), 3981-3989.

Gomez, M.J., Herrera, S., Sole, D., Garcia-Calvo, E. and Fernandez-Alba, A.R. **(2012)** *Spatio-Temporal Evaluation of Organic Contaminants and Their Transformation Products Along a River Basin Affected by Urban, Agricultural and Industrial Pollution.* Science of the Total Environment 420, 134-145.

Gomez, M.J., Petrovic, M., Fernandez-Alba, A.R. and Barcelo, D. **(2006)** Determination of Pharmaceuticals of Various Therapeutic Classes by Solid-Phase Extraction and Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry Analysis in Hospital Effluent Wastewaters. Journal of Chromatography A 1114(2), 224-233.

Gonzalez-Barreiro, C., Lores, M., Casais, M.C. and Cela, R. **(2003)** *Simultaneous Determination of Neutral and Acidic Pharmaceuticals in Wastewater by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography-Post-Column Photochemically Induced Fluorimetry.* Journal of Chromatography A 993(1-2), 29-37.

Gottschall, N., Topp, E., Metcalfe, C., Edwards, M., Payne, M., Kleywegt, S., Russell, P. and Lapen, D.R. **(2012)** *Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products in Groundwater, Subsurface Drainage, Soil, and Wheat Grain, Following a High Single Application of Municipal Biosolids to a Field.* Chemosphere 87(2), 194-203.

Gröning, J., Held, C., Garten, C., Claussnitzer, U., Kaschabek, S.R. and Schlömann, M. (2007) *Transformation of Diclofenac by the Indigenous Microflora of River Sediments and Identification of a Major Intermediate.* Chemosphere 69(4), 509-516.

Gross, B., Montgomery-Brown, J., Naumann, A. and Reinhard, M. **(2004)** *Occurrence and Fate of Pharmaceuticals and Alkylphenol Ethoxylate Metabolites in an Effluent-Dominated River and Wetland*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 23(9), 2074-2083.

Gu, C.H., Hornberger, G.M., Mills, A.L., Herman, J.S. and Flewelling, S.A. (2007) *Nitrate Reduction in Streambed Sediments: Effects of Flow and Biogeochemical Kinetics.* Water Resources Research 43(12).

Haggerty, R., Argerich, A. and Martí, E. **(2008)** *Development of a "Smart" Tracer for the Assessment of Microbiological Activity and Sediment-Water Interaction in Natural Waters: The Resazurin-Resorufin System.* Water Resources Research 44(4), W00D01.

Haggerty, R., Martí, E., Argerich, A., von Schiller, D. and Grimm, N.B. **(2009)** *Resazurin as a "Smart" Tracer for Quantifying Metabolically Active Transient Storage in Stream Ecosystems.* Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences 114(G3), G03014.

Haggerty, R., Schroth, M.H. and Istok, J.D. (1998) Simplified Method of "Push-Pull" Test Data Analysis for Determining in Situ Reaction Rate Coefficients. Ground Water 36(2), 314-324.

Hai, F.I., Li, X., Price, W.E. and Nghiem, L.D. **(2011)** *Removal of Carbamazepine and Sulfamethoxazole by Mbr under Anoxic and Aerobic Conditions.* Bioresource Technology 102(22), 10386-10390.

Halda-Alija, L., Hendricks, S.P. and Johnston, T.C. **(2001)** *Spatial and Temporal Variation of Enterobacter Genotypes in Sediments and the Underlying Hyporheic Zone of an Agricultural Stream.* Microbial Ecology 42(3), 286-294.

Halling-Sørensen, B., Nors Nielsen, S., Lanzky, P.F., Ingerslev, F., Holten Lützhøft, H.C. and Jørgensen, S.E. **(1998)** *Occurrence, Fate and Effects of Pharmaceutical Substances in the Environment- a Review.* Chemosphere 36(2), 357-393.

Heberer, T. **(2002a)** *Occurrence, Fate, and Removal of Pharmaceutical Residues in the Aquatic Environment: A Review of Recent Research Data.* Toxicology Letters 131(1-2), 5-17.

Heberer, T. **(2002b)** *Tracking Persistent Pharmaceutical Residues from Municipal Sewage to Drinking Water.* Journal of Hydrology 266(3-4), 175-189.

Heberer, T. and Adam, M. (2004) *Transport and Attenuation of Pharmaceutical Residues Durind Artificial Groundwater Replenishment.* 22-25.

Heberer, T., Massmann, G., Fanck, B., Taute, T. and Dünnbier, U. **(2008)** *Behaviour and Redox Sensitivity of Antimicrobial Residues During Bank Filtration.* Chemosphere 73(4), 451-460.

Heberer, T., Mechlinski, A., Fanck, B., Knappe, A., Massmann, G., Pekdeger, A. and Fritz, B. **(2004)** *Field Studies on the Fate and Transport of Pharmaceutical Residues in Bank Filtration.* Ground Water Monitoring and Remediation 24(2), 70-77.

Heberer, T., Schmidt-Bäumler, K. and Stan, H.J. **(1998)** *Occurrence and Distribution of Organic Contaminants in the Aquatic System in Berlin. Part 1: Drug Residues and Other Polar Contaminants in Berlin Surface and Groundwater.* Acta Hydrochimica Et Hydrobiologica 26(5), 272-278.

Hernando, M.D., Gomez, M.J., Aguera, A. and Fernandez-Alba, A.R. **(2007)** *LC-MS Analysis of Basic Pharmaceuticals (Beta-Blockers and Anti-Ulcer Agents) in Wastewater and Surface Water.* Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry 26(6), 581-594.

Hester, E.T. and Gooseff, M.N. (2010) Moving Beyond the Banks: Hyporheic Restoration Is Fundamental to Restoring Ecological Services and Functions of Streams. Environmental Science & Technology 44(5), 1521-1525.

Hignite, C. and Azarnoff, D.L. **(1977)** *Drugs and Drug Metabolites as Environmental Contaminants: Chlorophenoxyisobutyrate and Salicyclic Acid in Sewage Water Effluent.* Life sciences 20(2), 337-341.

Hilton, M.J. and Thomas, K.V. (2003) Determination of Selected Human Pharmaceutical Compounds in Effluent and Surface Water Samples by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography-Electrospray Tandem Mass Spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A 1015(1-2), 129-141.

Hirsch, R., Ternes, T.A., Haberer, K. and Kratz, K.L. **(1999)** *Occurrence of Antibiotics in the Aquatic Environment.* Science of the Total Environment 225(1-2), 109-118.

Hollender, J., Zimmermann, S.G., Koepke, S., Krauss, M., McArdell, C.S., Ort, C., Singer, H., von Gunten, U. and Siegrist, H. (2009) *Elimination of Organic Micropollutants in a Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgraded with a Full-Scale Post-Ozonation Followed by Sand Filtration*. Environmental Science & Technology 43(20), 7862-7869.

House, W.A., Denison, F.H., Smith, J.T. and Armitage, P.D. (1995) An Investigation of the Effects of Water Velocity on Inorganic Phosphorus Influx to a Sediment. Environmental Pollution 89(3), 263-271.

Huber, M.M., Göbel, A., Joss, A., Hermann, N., Löffler, D., McArdell, C.S., Ried, A., Siegrist, H., Ternes, T.A. and von Gunten, U. (2005) Oxidation of Pharmaceuticals During Ozonation of Municipal Wastewater Effluents: A Pilot Study. Environmental Science & Technology 39(11), 4290-4299.

Huerta-Fontela, M., Galceran, M.T. and Ventura, F. **(2011)** *Occurrence and Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Hormones through Drinking Water Treatment*. Water Research 45(3), 1432-1442.

Huettel, M., Roy, H., Precht, E. and Ehrenhauss, S. **(2003)** *Hydrodynamical Impact on Biogeochemical Processes in Aquatic Sediments.* Hydrobiologia 494(1-3), 231-236.

Huettel, M., Ziebis, W. and Forster, S. **(1996)** *Flow-Induced Uptake of Particulate Matter in Permeable Sediments.* Limnology and Oceanography 41(2), 309-322.

Huettel, M., Ziebis, W., Forster, S. and Luther, G.W. **(1998)** Advective Transport Affecting Metal and Nutrient Distributions and Interfacial Fluxes in Permeable Sediments. Geochimica Et Cosmochimica Acta 62(4), 613-631.

Hummel, D., Löffler, D., Fink, G. and Ternes, T.A. **(2006)** *Simultaneous Determination of Psychoactive Drugs and Their Metabolites in Aqueous Matrices by Liquid Chromatography Mass Spectrometry*. Environmental Science & Technology 40(23), 7321-7328.

Huntscha, S., Rodriguez Velosa, D.M., Schroth, M.H. and Hollender, J. (2013) Degradation of Polar Organic Micropollutants During Riverbank Filtration: Complementary Results from Spatiotemporal Sampling and Push–Pull Tests. Environmental Science & Technology.

Ingendahl, D., Borchardt, D., Saenger, N. and Reichert, P. **(2009)** *Vertical Hydraulic Exchange and the Contribution of Hyporheic Community Respiration to Whole Ecosystem Respiration in the River Lahn (Germany).* Aquatic Sciences 71(4), 399-410.

Isidori, M., Lavorgna, M., Nardelli, A., Parrella, A., Previtera, L. and Rubino, M. **(2005)** *Ecotoxicity of Naproxen and Its Phototransformation Products.* Science of the Total Environment 348(1-3), 93-101.

Jacobs, L., Fimmen, R., Chin, Y., Mash, H. and Weavers, L. **(2011)** *Fulvic Acid Mediated Photolysis of Ibuprofen in Water*. Water Research 45(15), 4449-4458.

Jasper, J.T. and Sedlak, D.L. **(2013)** *Phototransformation of Wastewater-Derived Trace Organic Contaminants in Open-Water Unit Process Treatment Wetlands.* Environmental Science & Technology 47(19), 10781-10790.

Jelic, A., Fatone, F., Di Fabio, S., Petrovic, M., Cecchi, F. and Barcelo, D. **(2012)** *Tracing Pharmaceuticals in a Municipal Plant for Integrated Wastewater and Organic Solid Waste Treatment.* Science of the Total Environment 433, 352-361.

Jelic, A., Gros, M., Ginebreda, A., Cespedes-Sánchez, R., Ventura, F., Petrovic, M. and Barcelo, D. (2011) *Occurrence, Partition and Removal of Pharmaceuticals in Sewage Water and Sludge During Wastewater Treatment.* Water Research 45(3), 1165-1176.

Johansson, H., Jonsson, K., Forsman, K.J. and Wörman, A. (2001) *Retention of Conservative and Sorptive Solutes in Streams - Simultaneous Tracer Experiments.* Science of the Total Environment 266(1-3), 229-238.

Johnson, A.C., Dumont, E., Williams, R.J., Oldenkamp, R., Cisowska, I. and Sumpter, J.P. **(2013)** *Do Concentrations of Ethinylestradiol, Estradiol, and Diclofenac in European Rivers Exceed Proposed EU Environmental Quality Standards?* Environmental Science & Technology.

Jones, O.A., Lester, J.N. and Voulvoulis, N. **(2005)** *Pharmaceuticals: A Threat to Drinking Water?* Trends in Biotechnology 23(4), 163-167.

Jones, O.A.H., Voulvoulis, N. and Lester, J.N. (2001) *Human Pharmaceuticals in the Aquatic Environment - a Review*. Environmental Technology 22(12), 1383-1394.

Jones, O.A.H., Voulvoulis, N. and Lester, J.N. **(2002)** *Aquatic Environmental Assessment of the Top 25 English Prescription Pharmaceuticals.* Water Research 36(20), 5013-5022.

Jonsson, K. and Wörman, A. (2001) *Effect of Sorption Kinetics on the Transport of Solutes in Streams*. Science of the Total Environment 266(1-3), 239-247.

Joss, A., Keller, E., Alder, A.C., Gobel, A., McArdell, C.S., Ternes, T.A. and Siegrist, H. (2005) *Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Fragrances in Biological Wastewater Treatment*. Water Research 39(14), 3139-3152.

Joss, A., Siegrist, H. and Ternes, T.A. (2008) Are We About to Upgrade Wastewater Treatment for Removing Organic Micropollutants? Water Science and Technology 57(2), 251-255.

Joss, A., Zabczynski, S., Göbel, A., Hoffmann, B., Löffler, D., McArdell, C.S., Ternes, T.A., Thomsen, A. and Siegrist, H. **(2006)** *Biological Degradation of Pharmaceuticals in Municipal Wastewater Treatment: Proposing a Classification Scheme*. Water Research 40(8), 1686-1696.

Kahle, M., Buerge, I.J., Hauser, A., Muller, M.D. and Poiger, T. **(2008a)** *Azole Fungicides: Occurrence and Fate in Wastewater and Surface Waters.* Environmental Science & Technology 42(19), 7193-7200.

Kahle, M., Buerge, I.J., Hauser, A., Müller, M.D. and Poiger, T. (2008b) *Azole Fungicides: Occurrence and Fate in Wastewater and Surface Waters.* Environmental Science & Technology 42(19), 7193-7200.

Kasahara, T. and Hill, A.R. (2006) *Hyporheic Exchange Flows Induced by Constructed Riffles and Steps in Lowland Streams in Southern Ontario, Canada*. Hydrological Processes 20(20), 4287-4305.

Kibbey, T.C.G., Paruchuri, R., Sabatini, D.A. and Chen, L.X. (2007) Adsorption of Beta Blockers to Environmental Surfaces. Environmental Science & Technology 41(15), 5349-5356.

Kim, Y.S., Istok, J.D. and Semprini, L. (2004) *Push-Pull Tests for Assessing in Situ Aerobic Cometabolism*. Ground Water 42(3), 329-337.

Knecht, K., Schroth, M.H., Schulin, R. and Nowack, B. **(2011)** *Development and Evaluation of Micro Push-Pull Tests to Investigate Micro-Scale Processes in Porous Media.* Environmental Science & Technology 45(15), 6460-6467.

Kolpin, D.W., Furlong, E.T., Meyer, M.T., Thurman, E.M., Zaugg, S.D., Barber, L.B. and Buxton, H.T. (2002) *Pharmaceuticals, Hormones, and Other Organic Wastewater Contaminants in US Streams, 1999-2000: A National Reconnaissance.* Environmental Science & Technology 36(6), 1202-1211.

Kolpin, D.W., Skopec, M., Meyer, M.T., Furlong, E.T. and Zaugg, S.D. **(2004)** *Urban Contribution of Pharmaceuticals and Other Organic Wastewater Contaminants to Streams During Differing Flow Conditions.* Science of the Total Environment 328(1–3), 119-130.

Kormos, J.L., Schulz, M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2011)** *Occurrence of Iodinated X-Ray Contrast Media* and *Their Biotransformation Products in the Urban Water Cycle*. Environmental Science & Technology 45(20), 8723-8732.

Kortenkamp, A., Backhaus, T. and Faust, M. (2009) *State of the Art Report on Mixture Toxicity - Final Report, Executive Summary*.

Kostich, M.S. and Lazorchak, J.M. (2008) *Risks to Aquatic Organisms Posed by Human Pharmaceutical Use.* Science of the Total Environment 389(2-3), 329-339.

Kreuzig, R., Kullmer, C., Matthies, B., Holtge, S. and Dieckmann, H. **(2003)** *Fate and Behaviour of Pharmaceutical Residues in Soils.* Fresenius Environmental Bulletin 12(6), 550-558.

Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. **(2008)** *Biodegradation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals in Bed Sediments: Insight from a Laboratory Experiment.* Environmental Science & Technology 42(19), 7273-7279.

Kurtenbach, A., Möller, S., Krein, A. and Symader, W. **(2006)** *On the Relationship between Hydrographs and Chemographs.* Hydrological Processes 20(14), 2921-2934.

Kuster, M., de Alda, M.J., Hernando, M.D., Petrovic, M., Martin-Alonso, J. and Barcelo, D. (2008) Analysis and Occurrence of Pharmaceuticals, Estrogens, Progestogens and Polar Pesticides in Sewage Treatment Plant Effluents, River Water and Drinking Water in the Llobregat River Basin (Barcelona, Spain). Journal of Hydrology 358(1-2), 112-123.

Lahti, M. and Oikari, A. **(2011)** *Microbial Transformation of Pharmaceuticals Naproxen, Bisoprolol, and Diclofenac in Aerobic and Anaerobic Environments.* Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 61(2), 202-210.

Lahti, M. and Oikari, A. **(2012)** *Vertical Distribution of Pharmaceuticals in Lake Sedimentsucitalopram as Potential Chemomarker.* Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 31(8), 1738-1744.

Lam, M.W. and Mabury, S.A. (2005) Photodegradation of the Pharmaceuticals Atorvastatin, Carbamazepine, Levofloxacin, and Sulfamethoxazole in Natural Waters. Aquatic Sciences 67(2), 177-188.

Lam, M.W., Young, C.J., Brain, R.A., Johnson, D.J., Hanson, M.A., Wilson, C.J., Richards, S.M., Solomon, K.R. and Mabury, S.A. **(2004)** *Aquatic Persistence of Eight Pharmaceuticals in a Microcosm Study*. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 23(6), 1431-1440.

Langford, K.H., Reid, M. and Thomas, K.V. (2011) *Multi-Residue Screening of Prioritised Human Pharmaceuticals, Illicit Drugs and Bactericides in Sediments and Sludge.* Journal of Environmental Monitoring 13(8), 2284-2291.

Lansdown, K., Trimmer, M., Heppell, C.M., Sgouridis, F., Ullah, S., Heathwaite, A.L., Binley, A. and Zhang, H. **(2012)** *Characterization of the Key Pathways of Dissimilatory Nitrate Reduction and Their Response to Complex Organic Substrates in Hyporheic Sediments.* Limnology and Oceanography 57(2), 387-400.

Lautz, L.K. and Siegel, D.I. (2007) *The Effect of Transient Storage on Nitrate Uptake Lengths in Streams: An Inter-Site Comparison.* Hydrological Processes 21(26), 3533-3548.

Lawrence, J.R., Zhu, B., Swerhone, G.D.W., Roy, J., Tumber, V., Waiser, M.J., Topp, E. and Korber, D.R. **(2012)** *Molecular and Microscopic Assessment of the Effects of Caffeine, Acetaminophen, Diclofenac, and Their Mixtures on River Biofilm Communities.* Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 31(3), 508-517.

Lemke, D., Liao, Z., Wöhling, T., Osenbrück, K. and Cirpka, O.A. **(2013)** *Concurrent Conservative and Reactive Tracer Tests in a Stream Undergoing Hyporheic Exchange.* Water Resources Research 49(5), 3024-3037.

Letzel, M., Metzner, G. and Letzel, T. (2009) *Exposure Assessment of the Pharmaceutical Diclofenac Based on Long-Term Measurements of the Aquatic Input.* Environment International 35(2), 363-368.

Lewandowski, J., Angermann, L., Nützmann, G. and Fleckenstein, J.H. **(2011a)** A Heat Pulse Technique for the Determination of Small-Scale Flow Directions and Flow Velocities in the Streambed of Sand-Bed Streams. Hydrological Processes 25(20), 3244-3255.

Lewandowski, J., Putschew, A., Schwesig, D., Neumann, C. and Radke, M. **(2011b)** *Fate of Organic Micropollutants in the Hyporheic Zone of a Eutrophic Lowland Stream: Results of a Preliminary Field Study.* Science of the Total Environment 409(10), 1824-1835.

Lin, A.Y.C., Plumlee, M.H. and Reinhard, M. (2006) Natural Attenuation of Pharmaceuticals and Alkylphenol Polyethoxylate Metabolites During River Transport: Photochemical and Biological Transformation. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 25(6), 1458-1464.

Lin, A.Y.C. and Reinhard, M. **(2005)** *Photodegradation of Common Environmental Pharmaceuticals and Estrogens in River Water.* Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 24(6), 1303-1309.

Lin, C.-E., Chang, C.-C. and Lin, W.-C. **(1997)** *Migration Behavior and Separation of Sulfonamides* in Capillary Zone Electrophoresis lii. Citrate Buffer as a Background Electrolyte. Journal of Chromatography A 768(1), 105-112.

Lin, K., Bondarenko, S. and Gan, J. **(2011)** *Sorption and Persistence of Wastewater-Borne Psychoactive and Antilipidemic Drugs in Soils.* Journal of Soils and Sediments 11(8), 1363-1372.

Lindberg, R., Jarnheimer, P.A., Olsen, B., Johansson, M. and Tysklind, M. (2004) Determination of Antibiotic Substances in Hospital Sewage Water Using Solid Phase Extraction and Liquid Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry and Group Analogue Internal Standards. Chemosphere 57(10), 1479-1488.

Lindqvist, N., Tuhkanen, T. and Kronberg, L. (2005) Occurrence of Acidic Pharmaceuticals in Raw and Treated Sewages and in Receiving Waters. Water Research 39(11), 2219-2228.

Lishman, L., Smyth, S.A., Sarafin, K., Kleywegt, S., Toito, J., Peart, T., Lee, B., Servos, M., Beland, M. and Seto, P. (2006) Occurrence and Reductions of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products and Estrogens by Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants in Ontario, Canada. Science of the Total Environment 367(2-3), 544-558.

Liu, Q.-T., Cumming, R.I. and Sharpe, A.D. (2009) *Photo-Induced Environmental Depletion Processes of Beta-Blockers in River Waters.* Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences 8(6), 768-777.

Liu, Q.T. and Williams, H.E. (2007) *Kinetics and Degradation Products for Direct Photolysis of Beta-Blockers in Water.* Environmental Science & Technology 41(3), 803-810.

Löffler, D., Römbke, J., Meller, M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2005)** *Environmental Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Water/Sediment Systems.* Environmental Science & Technology 39(14), 5209-5218.
López-Serna, R., Petrović, M. and Barceló, D. **(2012)** *Occurrence and Distribution of Multi-Class Pharmaceuticals and Their Active Metabolites and Transformation Products in the Ebro River Basin (Ne Spain).* Science of the Total Environment 440(0), 280-289.

Loraine, G.A. and Pettigrove, M.E. **(2006)** *Seasonal Variations in Concentrations of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in Drinking Water and Reclaimed Wastewater in Southern California.* Environmental Science & Technology 40(3), 687-695.

Luna-Acosta, A., Renault, T., Thomas-Guyon, H., Faury, N., Saulnier, D., Budzinski, H., Le Menach, K., Pardon, P., Fruitier-Arnaudin, I. and Bustamante, P. **(2012)** *Detection of Early Effects of a Single Herbicide (Diuron) and a Mix of Herbicides and Pharmaceuticals (Diuron, Isoproturon, Ibuprofen) on Immunological Parameters of Pacific Oyster (Crassostrea Gigas) Spat.* Chemosphere 87(11), 1335-1340.

MacLeod, S.L., Sudhir, P. and Wong, C.S. **(2007)** *Stereoisomer Analysis of Wastewater-Derived Beta-Blockers, Selective Serotonin Re-Uptake Inhibitors, and Salbutamol by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry.* Journal of Chromatography A 1170(1-2), 23-33.

Madureira, T.V., Barreiro, J.C., Rocha, M.J., Rocha, E., Cass, Q.B. and Tiritan, M.E. **(2010)** *Spatiotemporal Distribution of Pharmaceuticals in the Douro River Estuary (Portugal)*. Science of the Total Environment 408(22), 5513-5520.

Maeng, S.K., Sharma, S.K., Abel, C.D.T., Magic-Knezev, A. and Amy, G.L. (2011) Role of Biodegradation in the Removal of Pharmaceutically Active Compounds with Different Bulk Organic Matter Characteristics through Managed Aquifer Recharge: Batch and Column Studies. Water Research 45(16), 4722-4736.

Marion, A., Bellinello, M., Guymer, I. and Packman, A. (2002) *Effect of Bed Form Geometry on the Penetration of Nonreactive Solutes into a Streambed.* Water Resources Research 38(10).

Massmann, G., Greskowiak, J., Dunnbier, U., Zuehlke, S., Knappe, A. and Pekdeger, A. (2006) *The Impact of Variable Temperatures on the Redox Conditions and the Behaviour of Pharmaceutical Residues During Artificial Recharge.* Journal of Hydrology 328(1-2), 141-156.

Matamoros, V., Arias, C.A., Nguyen, L.X., Salvadó, V. and Brix, H. **(2012)** Occurrence and Behavior of Emerging Contaminants in Surface Water and a Restored Wetland. Chemosphere 88(9), 1083-1089.

Matamoros, V. and Bayona, J.M. **(2006)** *Elimination of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands.* Environmental Science & Technology 40(18), 5811-5816.

Matamoros, V., Caselles-Osorio, A., Garcia, J. and Bayona, J.M. **(2008a)** *Behaviour of Pharmaceutical Products and Biodegradation Intermediates in Horizontal Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetland. A Microcosm Experiment.* Science of the Total Environment 394(1), 171-176.

Matamoros, V., Duhec, A., Albaiges, J. and Bayona, J.M. **(2009)** *Photodegradation of Carbamazepine, Ibuprofen, Ketoprofen and 17 Alpha-Ethinylestradiol in Fresh and Seawater.* Water Air and Soil Pollution 196(1-4), 161-168.

Matamoros, V., Garcia, J. and Bayona, J.M. **(2008b)** Organic Micropollutant Removal in a Full-Scale Surface Flow Constructed Wetland Fed with Secondary Effluent. Water Research 42(3), 653-660.

Matamoros, V. and Salvado, V. **(2012)** *Evaluation of the Seasonal Performance of a Water Reclamation Pond-Constructed Wetland System for Removing Emerging Contaminants.* Chemosphere 86(2), 111-117.

Maurer, M., Escher, B.I., Richle, P., Schaffner, C. and Alder, A.C. (2007) *Elimination of Beta-Blockers in Sewage Treatment Plants*. Water Research 41(7), 1614-1622.

Mehvar, R. and Brocks, D.R. **(2001)** *Stereospecific Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Beta-Adrenergic Blockers in Humans.* Journal of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Sciences 4(2), Stereospecific Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Beta-Adrenergic Blockers in Humans.

Mersmann, P. **(2003)** *Transport- und Sorptionsverhalten der Arzneimittelwirkstoffe Carbamazepin, Clofibrinsäure, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen und Propyphenazon in der Wassergesättigten und -Ungesättigten Zone*, TU Berlin, Berlin.

Mersmann, P., Scheytt, T. and Heberer, T. (2002) Column Experiments on the Transport Behavior of Pharmaceutically Active Compounds in the Saturated Zone. Acta Hydrochimica Et Hydrobiologica 30(5-6), 275–284.

Meysman, F.J.R., Galaktionov, O.S., Cook, P.L.M., Janssen, F., Heuttel, M. and Middelburg, J.J. (2007) *Quantifying Biologically and Physically Induced Flow and Tracer Dynamics in Permeable Sediments.* Biogeosciences 4, 627-646.

Miege, C., Favier, M., Brosse, C., Canler, J.P. and Coquery, M. (2006) Occurrence of Betablockers in Effluents of Wastewater Treatment Plants from the Lyon Area (France) and Risk Assessment for the Downstream Rivers. Talanta 70(4), 739-744.

Mohatt, J.L., Hu, L.H., Finneran, K.T. and Strathmann, T.J. **(2011)** *Microbially Mediated Abiotic Transformation of the Antimicrobial Agent Sulfamethoxazole under Iron-Reducing Soil Conditions.* Environmental Science & Technology 45(11), 4793-4801.

Möhle, E., Kempter, C., Kern, A. and Metzger, J.W. **(1999)** *Examination of the Degradation of Drugs in Municipal Sewage Plants Using Liquid Chromatography-Electrospray Mass Spectrometry.* Acta Hydrochimica Et Hydrobiologica 27(6), 430-436.

Montforts, M.H.M.M. **(2001)** *Pharmaceuticals in the Environment Sources, Fate, Effects and Risks.* Kümmerer, K. (ed), pp. 159-174, Springer, Berlin.

Müller, B., Scheytt, T., Asbrand, M. and de Casas, A.M. (2012) *Pharmaceuticals as Indictors of Sewage-Influenced Groundwater*. Hydrogeology Journal 20(6).

Musolff, A., Leschik, S., Reinstorf, F., Strauch, G., Moder, M. and Schirmer, M. (2007) *Xenobiotics in Groundwater and Surface Water of the City of Leipzig.* Grundwasser 12(3), 217-231.

Mutz, M., Kalbus, E. and Meinecke, S. **(2007)** *Effect of Instream Wood on Vertical Water Flux in Low-Energy Sand Bed Flume Experiments.* Water Resources Research 43(10).

Nakada, N., Kiri, K., Shinohara, H., Harada, A., Kuroda, K., Takizawa, S. and Takada, H. **(2008)** *Evaluation of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products as Water-Soluble Molecular Markers of Sewage.* Environmental Science & Technology 42(17), 6347-6353.

Nödler, K., Licha, T., Fischer, S., Wagner, B. and Sauter, M. (2011) A Case Study on the Correlation of Micro-Contaminants and Potassium in the Leine River (Germany). Applied Geochemistry 26(12), 2172-2180.

Nowak, K.M., Girardi, C., Miltner, A., Gehre, M., Schäffer, A. and Kästner, M. (2013) *Contribution* of Microorganisms to Non-Extractable Residue Formation During Biodegradation of Ibuprofen in Soil. Science of the Total Environment 445–446(0), 377-384.

Nowotny, N., Epp, B., von Sonntag, C. and Fahlenkamp, H. **(2007)** *Quantification and Modeling of the Elimination Behavior of Ecologically Problematic Wastewater Micropollutants by Adsorption on Powdered and Granulated Activated Carbon.* Environmental Science & Technology 41(6), 2050-2055.

OECD **(2000)** OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals - Test No. 106: Adsorption/Desorption Using a Batch Equilibrium Method, p. 44.

OECD **(2002)** *OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals - Test No. 308: Aerobic and Anaerobic Transformation in Aquatic Sediment Systems* p. 19.

OECD (2004) OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals - Test No. 312: Leaching in Soil Columns, p. 12.

OECD **(2008)** OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals - Test No. 316: Phototransformation of Chemicals in Water – Direct Photolysis, p. 53.

Olsen, D.A. and Townsend, C.R. **(2003)** *Hyporheic Community Composition in a Gravel-Bed* Stream: Influence of Vertical Hydrological Exchange, Sediment Structure and Physicochemistry. Freshwater Biology 48(8), 1363-1378.

Onesios, K.M. and Bouwer, E.J. **(2012)** *Biological Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products During Laboratory Soil Aquifer Treatment Simulation with Different Primary Substrate Concentrations.* Water Research 46(7), 2365-2375.

Ong, S., Chotisukarn, P. and Limpiyakorn, T. **(2012)** *Sorption of 17α-Methyltestosterone onto Soils and Sediment.* Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 223(7), 3869-3875.

Oppel, J., Broll, G., Löffler, D., Meller, M., Römbke, J. and Ternes, T. **(2004)** *Leaching Behaviour of Pharmaceuticals in Soil-Testing-Systems: A Part of an Environmental Risk Assessment for Groundwater Protection.* Science of the Total Environment 328(1-3), 265-273.

Ort, C., Lawrence, M.G., Rieckermann, J. and Joss, A. **(2010)** *Sampling for Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products (Ppcps) and Illicit Drugs in Wastewater Systems: Are Your Conclusions Valid? A Critical Review.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(16), 6024–6035.

Osenbrück, K., Glaser, H.R., Knöller, K., Weise, S.M., Möder, M., Wennrich, R., Schirmer, M., Reinstorf, F., Busch, W. and Strauch, G. (2007) *Sources and Transport of Selected Organic Micropollutants in Urban Groundwater Underlying the City of Halle (Saale), Germany.* Water Research 41, 3259-3270.

Osorio, V., Marce, R., Perez, S., Ginebreda, A., Cortina, J.L. and Barcelo, D. **(2012)** *Occurrence and Modeling of Pharmaceuticals on a Sewage-Impacted Mediterranean River and Their Dynamics under Different Hydrological Conditions.* The Science of the total environment 440, 3-13.

Packer, J.L., Werner, J.J., Latch, D.E., McNeill, K. and Arnold, W.A. **(2003)** *Photochemical Fate of Pharmaceuticals in the Environment: Naproxen, Diclofenac, Clofibric Acid, and Ibuprofen.* Aquatic Sciences 65(4), 342-351.

Packman, A.I. and Salehin, M. (2003) *Relative Roles of Stream Flow and Sedimentary Conditions in Controlling Hyporheic Exchange*. Hydrobiologia 494(1-3), 291-297.

Pailler, J.-Y., Guignard, C., Meyer, B., Iffly, J.-F., Pfister, L., Hoffmann, L. and Krein, A. **(2009)** *Behaviour and Fluxes of Dissolved Antibiotics, Analgesics and Hormones During Flood Events in a Small Heterogeneous Catchment in the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg.* Water Air and Soil Pollution 203(1-4), 79-98.

Pang, L.P. and Close, M.E. **(1999)** Attenuation and Transport of Atrazine and Picloram in an Alluvial Gravel Aquifer: A Tracer Test and Batch Study. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 33(2), 279-291.

Pang, L.P. and Close, M.E. (2001) A Field Tracer Study of Attenuation of Atrazine, Hexazinone and Procymidone in a Pumice Sand Aquifer. Pest Management Science 57(12), 1142-1150.

Paxéus, N. **(2004)** Removal of Selected Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs (Nsaids), Gemfibrozil, Carbamazepine, Beta-Blockers, Trimethoprim and Triclosan in Conventional Wastewater Treatment Plants in Five EU Countries and Their Discharge to the Aquatic Environment. Water Science and Technology 50(5), 253-260.

Pedersen, J.A., Soliman, M. and Suffet, I.H. **(2005)** *Human Pharmaceuticals, Hormones, and Personal Care Product Ingredients in Runoff from Agricultural Fields Irrigated with Treated Wastewater.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 53(5), 1625-1632.

Peng, X., Yu, Y., Tang, C., Tan, J., Huang, Q. and Wang, Z. **(2008)** *Occurrence of Steroid Estrogens, Endocrine-Disrupting Phenols, and Acid Pharmaceutical Residues in Urban Riverine Water of the Pearl River Delta, South China.* Science of the Total Environment 397(1–3), 158-166.

Perez-Estrada, L.A., Maldonado, M.I., Gernjak, W., Aguera, A., Fernandez-Alba, A.R., Ballesteros, M.M. and Malato, S. **(2005)** *Decomposition of Diclofenac by Solar Driven Photocatalysis at Pilot Plant Scale*. Catalysis Today 101(3-4), 219-226.

Perez, S. and Barcelo, D. **(2008)** *First Evidence for Occurrence of Hydroxylated Human Metabolites of Diclofenac and Aceclofenac in Wastewater Using QqLIT-MS and Qqtof-MS.* Analytical Chemistry 80(21), 8135-8145.

Petrovic, M., de Alda, M.J.L., Diaz-Cruz, S., Postigo, C., Radjenovic, J., Gros, M. and Barcelo, D. **(2009)** *Fate and Removal of Pharmaceuticals and Illicit Drugs in Conventional and Membrane Bioreactor Wastewater Treatment Plants and by Riverbank Filtration*. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 367(1904), 3979-4003.

Phanikumar, M.S. and McGuire, J.T. **(2010)** *A Multi-Species Reactive Transport Model to Estimate Biogeochemical Rates Based on Single-Well Push–Pull Test Data.* Computers & Geosciences 36(8), 997-1004. Piram, A., Salvador, A., Gauvrit, J.Y., Lanteri, P. and Faure, R. **(2008a)** *Development and Optimisation of a Single Extraction Procedure for the LC/MS/MS Analysis of Two Pharmaceutical Classes Residues in Sewage Treatment Plant.* Talanta 74(5), 1463-1475.

Piram, A., Salvador, A., Verne, C., Herbreteau, B. and Faure, R. (2008b) *Photolysis of Beta-Blockers in Environmental Waters.* Chemosphere 73(8), 1265-1271.

Poiger, T., Buser, H.R. and Müller, M.D. **(2001)** *Photodegradation of the Pharmaceutical Drug Diclofenac in a Lake: Pathway, Field Measurements, and Mathematical Modeling.* Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 20(2), 256-263.

Poiger, T., Buser, H.R., Müller, M.D., Balmer, M.E. and Buerge, I.J. (2003) Occurrence and Fate of Organic Micropollutants in the Environment: Regional Mass Balances and Source Apportioning in Surface Waters Based on Laboratory Incubation Studies in Soil and Water, Monitoring, and Computer Modeling. Chimia 57(9), 492-498.

Pomati, F., Orlandi, C., Clerici, M., Luciani, F. and Zuccato, E. **(2008)** *Effects and Interactions in an Environmentally Relevant Mixture of Pharmaceuticals.* Toxicological Sciences 102(1), 129-137.

Prasse, C., Löffler, D. and Ternes, T.A. (2009) *Environmental Fate of the Anthelmintic Ivermectin in an Aerobic Sediment/Water System.* Chemosphere 77(10), 1321-1325.

Prasse, C., Wagner, M., Schulz, R. and Ternes, T.A. **(2011)** *Biotransformation of the Antiviral Drugs Acyclovir and Penciclovir in Activated Sludge Treatment*. Environmental Science & Technology 45(7), 2761-2769.

Precht, E. and Huettel, M. (2004) *Rapid Wave-Driven Advective Pore Water Exchange in a Permeable Coastal Sediment.* Journal of Sea Research 51, 93-107.

Preuß, G., Willme, U. and Zullei-Seibert, N. **(2002)** *Behaviour of Some Pharmaceuticals During Artificial Groundwater Recharge - Elimination and Effects on Microbiology.* Acta Hydrochimica Et Hydrobiologica 29(5), 269-277.

Quintana, J.B., Weiss, S. and Reemtsma, T. **(2005)** *Pathways and Metabolites of Microbial Degradation of Selected Acidic Pharmaceutical and Their Occurrence in Municipal Wastewater Treated by a Membrane Bioreactor*. Water Research 39(12), 2654-2664.

Rabiet, M., Togola, A., Brissaud, F., Seidel, J.L., Budzinski, H. and Elbaz-Poulichet, F. **(2006)** *Consequences of Treated Water Recycling as Regards Pharmaceuticals and Drugs in Surface and Ground Waters of a Medium-Sized Mediterranean Catchment.* Environmental Science & Technology 40(17), 5282-5288.

Radjenovic, J., Petrovic, M. and Barcelo, D. (2007) *Analysis of Pharmaceuticals in Wastewater and Removal Using a Membrane Bioreactor*. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 387(4), 1365-1377.

Radke, M., Lauwigi, C., Heinkele, G., Mürdter, T.E. and Letzel, M. **(2009)** *Fate of the Antibiotic Sulfamethoxazole and Its Two Major Human Metabolites in a Water Sediment Test.* Environmental Science & Technology 43(9), 3135-3141.

Radke, M., Ulrich, H., Wurm, C. and Kunkel, U. **(2010)** *Dynamics and Attenuation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals Along a River Stretch.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(8), 2968-2974.

Ramil, M., El Aref, T., Fink, G., Scheurer, M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2010)** *Fate of Beta Blockers in Aquatic-Sediment Systems: Sorption and Biotransformation.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(3), 962-970.

Rauch-Williams, T., Hoppe-Jones, C. and Drewes, J.E. **(2010)** *The Role of Organic Matter in the Removal of Emerging Trace Organic Chemicals During Managed Aquifer Recharge.* Water Research 44(2), 449-460.

Reemtsma, T., Weiss, S., Mueller, J., Petrovic, M., Gonzalez, S., Barcelo, D., Ventura, F. and Knepper, T.P. **(2006)** *Polar Pollutants Entry into the Water Cycle by Municipal Wastewater: A European Perspective.* Environmental Science & Technology 40(17), 5451-5458.

Reh, R., Licha, T., Geyer, T., Nödler, K. and Sauter, M. **(2013)** *Occurrence and Spatial Distribution of Organic Micro-Pollutants in a Complex Hydrogeological Karst System During Low Flow and High Flow Periods, Results of a Two-Year Study.* Science of the Total Environment 443(0), 438-445.

Reif, R., Santos, A., Judd, S.J., Lema, J.M. and Omil, F. **(2011)** *Occurrence and Fate of Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products in a Sewage Treatment Works.* Journal of Environmental Monitoring 13(1), 137-144.

Ren, J.H. and Packman, A.I. (2005) *Coupled Stream-Subsurface Exchange of Colloidal Hematite and Dissolved Zinc, Copper, and Phosphate.* Environmental Science & Technology 39(17), 6387-6394.

Renew, J.E. and Huang, C.H. (2004) Simultaneous Determination of Fluoroquinolone, Sulfonamide, and Trimethoprim Antibiotics in Wastewater Using Tandem Solid Phase Extraction and Liquid Chromatography-Electrospray Mass Spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A 1042(1-2), 113-121.

Robert, A. and Uhlman, W. **(2001)** *An Experimental Study on the Ripple-Dune Transition*. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 26(6), 615-629.

Roberts, J.D., Jepsen, R.A. and James, S.C. (2003) *Measurements of Sediment Erosion and Transport with the Adjustable Shear Stress Erosion and Transport Flume.* Journal of Hydraulic Engineering-Asce 129(11), 862-871.

Roberts, P.H. and Thomas, K.V. (2006) *The Occurrence of Selected Pharmaceuticals in Wastewater Effluent and Surface Waters of the Lower Tyne Catchment*. Science of the Total Environment 356(1-3), 143-153.

Ryan, C.C., Tan, D.T. and Arnold, W.A. **(2011)** *Direct and Indirect Photolysis of Sulfamethoxazole* and *Trimethoprim in Wastewater Treatment Plant Effluent*. Water Research 45(3), 1280-1286.

Sacher, F., Ehmann, M., Gabriel, S., Graf, C. and Brauch, H.J. (2008) *Pharmaceutical Residues in the River Rhine - Results of a One-Decade Monitoring Programme.* Journal of Environmental Monitoring 10(5), 664-670.

Sacher, F., Lang, F.T., Brauch, H.J. and Blankenhorn, I. **(2001)** *Pharmaceuticals in Groundwaters - Analytical Methods and Results of a Monitoring Program in Baden-Wurttemberg, Germany.* Journal of Chromatography A 938(1-2), 199-210.

Saenger, N., Kitanidis, P.K. and Street, R.L. (2005) A Numerical Study of Surface-Subsurface Exchange Processes at a Riffle-Pool Pair in the Lahn River, Germany. Water Resources Research 41(12).

Salgado, R., Oehmen, A., Carvalho, G., Noronha, J.P. and Reis, M.A.M. **(2012)** *Biodegradation of Clofibric Acid and Identification of Its Metabolites*. Journal of Hazardous Materials 241, 182-189.

Sanchez-Camazano, M., Sanchez-Martin, M., Vicente, M. and Dominguez-Gil, A. **(1987)** *Adsorption-Desorption of Sotalol Hydrochloride by Na-Montmorillonite.* Clay minerals 22(2), 121-128.

Schaffer, M., Börnick, H., Nödler, K., Licha, T. and Worch, E. **(2012a)** *Role of Cation Exchange Processes on the Sorption Influenced Transport of Cationic B-Blockers in Aquifer Sediments*. Water Research 46(17), 5472-5482.

Schaffer, M., Boxberger, N., Börnick, H., Licha, T. and Worch, E. **(2012b)** *Sorption Influenced Transport of Ionizable Pharmaceuticals onto a Natural Sandy Aquifer Sediment at Different pH.* Chemosphere 87(5), 513-520.

Scheurell, M., Franke, S., Shah, R.M. and Hühnerfuss, H. (2009) Occurrence of Diclofenac and Its Metabolites in Surface Water and Effluent Samples from Karachi, Pakistan. Chemosphere 77(6), 870-876.

Scheurer, M., Ramil, M., Metcalfe, C.D., Groh, S. and Ternes, T.A. (2010) *The Challenge of Analyzing Beta-Blocker Drugs in Sludge and Wastewater.* Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 396(2), 845-856.

Scheurer, M., Storck, F.R., Graf, C., Brauch, H.J., Ruck, W., Lev, O. and Lange, F.T. (2011) *Correlation of Six Anthropogenic Markers in Wastewater, Surface Water, Bank Filtrate, and Soil Aquifer Treatment.* Journal of Environmental Monitoring 13(4), 966-973.

Scheytt, T., Mersmann, P., Leidig, M., Pekdeger, A. and Heberer, T. **(2004)** *Transport of Pharmaceutically Active Compounds in Saturated Laboratory Columns.* Ground Water 42(5), 767-773.

Scheytt, T., Mersmann, P., Lindstädt, R. and Heberer, T. **(2005a)** *1-Octanol/Water Partition Coefficients of 5 Pharmaceuticals from Human Medical Care: Carbamazepine, Clofibric Acid, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, and Propyphenazone.* Water, Air and Soil Pollution 165(1-4), 3-11.

Scheytt, T., Mersmann, P., Lindstädt, R. and Heberer, T. (2005b) Determination of Sorption Coefficients of Pharmaceutically Active Substances Carbamazepine, Diclofenac, and Ibuprofen, in Sandy Sediments. Chemosphere 60(2), 245-253.

Scheytt, T.J., Mersmann, P. and Heberer, T. **(2006)** *Mobility of Pharmaceuticals Carbamazepine, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, and Propyphenazone in Miscible-Displacement Experiments.* Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 83(1-2), 53-69.

Scheytt, T.J., Mersmann, P., Rejman-Rasinski, E. and These, A. **(2007)** *Tracing Pharmaceuticals in the Unsaturated Zone.* Journal of Soils and Sediments 7(2), 75-84.

Schmidt, C., Bayer-Raich, M. and Schirmer, M. **(2006)** *Characterization of Spatial Heterogeneity of Groundwater-Stream Water Interactions Using Multiple Depth Streambed Temperature Measurements at the Reach Scale.* Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. Discuss. 3(4), 1419-1446.

Schulz, M., Löffler, D., Wagner, M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2008)** *Transformation of the X-Ray Contrast Medium lopromide in Soil and Biological Wastewater Treatment.* Environmental Science & Technology 42(19), 7207-7217.

Schulze, T., Weiss, S., Schymanski, E., von der Ohe, P.C., Schmitt-Jansen, M., Altenburger, R., Streck, G. and Brack, W. **(2010)** *Identification of a Phytotoxic Photo-Transformation Product of Diclofenac Using Effect-Directed Analysis.* Environmental Pollution 158(5), 1461-1466.

Schwabe, U. and Paffrath, D. (eds) (2009) Arzneiverordnungs-Report 2009, Springer, Heidelberg.

Schwabe, U. and Paffrath, D. (eds) (2010) Arzneiverordnungs-Report 2010, Springer, Heidelberg.

Schwabe, U. and Paffrath, D. (eds) (2011) Arzneiverordnungs-Report 2011, Springer, Heidelberg.

Schwabe, U. and Paffrath, D. (eds) (2012) Arzneiverordnungs-Report 2012, Springer, Heidelberg.

Schwabe, U. and Paffrath, D. (eds) (2013) Arzneiverordnungs-Report 2013, Springer, Heidelberg.

Schwaiger, J., Ferling, H., Mallow, U., Wintermayr, H. and Negele, R.D. **(2004)** *Toxic Effects of the Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug Diclofenac Part 1: Histopathological Alterations and Bioaccumulation in Rainbow Trout.* Aquatic Toxicology 68(2), 141-150.

Schwarzenbach, R.P., Gschwend, P.M. and Imboden, D.M. (2003) *Environmental Organic Chemistry*, Wiley-Interscience, New York.

Sedlak, D.L. and von Gunten, U. (2011) The Chlorine Dilemma. Science 331(6013), 42-43.

Segre, E.J. **(1980)** *Naproxen Sodium (Anaprox): Pharmacology, Pharmacokinetics and Drug Interactions.* The Journal of reproductive medicine 25(4 Suppl), 222-225.

Söderström, H., Lindberg, R.H. and Fick, J. (2009) *Strategies for Monitoring the Emerging Polar Organic Contaminants in Water with Emphasis on Integrative Passive Sampling*. Journal of Chromatography A 1216(3), 623-630.

Soulet, B., Tauxe, A. and Tarradellas, J. **(2002)** *Analysis of Acidic Drugs in Swiss Wastewaters.* International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry 82(10), 659-667.

Stella, V.J. and Nti-Addae, K.W. **(2007)** *Prodrug Strategies to Overcome Poor Water Solubility.* Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 59(7), 677-694.

Stolker, A.A.M., Niesing, W., Hogendoorn, E.A., Versteegh, J.F.M., Fuchs, R. and Brinkman, U.A.T. (2004) Liquid Chromatography with Triple-Quadrupole or Quadrupole-Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry for Screening and Confirmation of Residues of Pharmaceuticals in Water. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 378(4), 955-963.

Storck, F.R., Schmidt, C.K., Wulser, R. and Brauch, H.J. **(2012)** *Effects of Boundary Conditions on the Cleaning Efficiency of Riverbank Filtration and Artificial Groundwater Recharge Systems Regarding Bulk Parameters and Trace Pollutants.* Water Science and Technology 66(1), 138-144.

Strauss, C., Harter, T. and Radke, M. (2011) *Effects of pH and Manure on Transport of Sulfonamide Antibiotics in Soil.* Journal of Environmental Quality 40(5), 1652-1660.

Strenn, B., Clara, M., Gans, O. and Kreuzinger, N. **(2004)** *Carbamazepine, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen and Bezafibrate - Investigations on the Behaviour of Selected Pharmaceuticals During Wastewater Treatment.* Water Science and Technology 50(5), 269-276.

Stülten, D., Zühlke, S., Lamshöft, M. and Spiteller, M. (2008) Occurrence of Diclofenac and Selected Metabolites in Sewage Effluents. Science of the Total Environment 405(1-3), 310-316.

Stumpf, M., Ternes, T.A., Heberer, K., Seel, P. and Baumann, W. (1996) Nachweis von Arzneimittelrückständen in Kläranlagen und Fließgewässern. Von Wasser 86, 291-303.

Stumpf, M., Ternes, T.A., Wilken, R.-D., Silvana Vianna, R. and Baumann, W. **(1999)** *Polar Drug Residues in Sewage and Natural Waters in the State of Rio De Janeiro, Brazil.* Science of the Total Environment 225(1–2), 135-141.

Szabó, R.K., Megyeri, C., Illés, E., Gajda-Schrantz, K., Mazellier, P. and Dombi, A. **(2011)** *Phototransformation of Ibuprofen and Ketoprofen in Aqueous Solutions.* Chemosphere 84(11), 1658-1663.

Tamtam, F., Mercier, F., Le Bot, B., Eurin, J., Dinh, Q.T., Clement, M. and Chevreuil, M. (2008) *Occurrence and Fate of Antibiotics in the Seine River in Various Hydrological Conditions.* Science of the Total Environment 393(1), 84-95.

Tauxe-Wuersch, A., De Alencastro, L.F., Grandjean, D. and Tarradellas, J. **(2005)** *Occurrence of Several Acidic Drugs in Sewage Treatment Plants in Switzerland and Risk Assessment.* Water Research 39(9), 1761-1772.

ten Hulscher, T.E.M. and Cornelissen, G. **(1996)** *Effect of Temperature on Sorption Equilibrium and Sorption Kinetics of Organic Micropollutants - a Review.* Chemosphere 32(4), 609-626.

Ternes, T.A. **(1998)** *Occurrence of Drugs in German Sewage Treatment Plants and Rivers.* Water Research 32(11), 3245-3260.

Ternes, T.A., Bonerz, M., Herrmann, N., Teiser, B. and Andersen, H.R. **(2007)** *Irrigation of Treated Wastewater in Braunschweig, Germany: An Option to Remove Pharmaceuticals and Musk Fragrances.* Chemosphere 66(5), 894-904.

Ternes, T.A., Herrmann, N., Bonerz, M., Knacker, T., Siegrist, H. and Joss, A. **(2004)** A Rapid Method to Measure the Solid–Water Distribution Coefficient (Kd) for Pharmaceuticals and Musk Fragrances in Sewage Sludge. Water Research 38(19), 4075-4084.

Ternes, T.A. and Hirsch, R. **(2000)** *Occurrence and Behavior of X-Ray Contrast Media in Sewage Facilities and the Aquatic Environment.* Environmental Science & Technology 34(13), 2741-2748.

Ternes, T.A. and Joss, A. **(2006)** *Human Pharmaceuticals, Hormones and Fragrances - the Challenge of Micropollutants in Urban Water Management*, IWA Publishing, London.

Ternes, T.A., Meisenheimer, M., McDowell, D., Sacher, F., Brauch, H.-J., Haist-Gulde, B., Preuss, G., Wilme, U. and Zulei-Seibert, N. **(2002)** *Removal of Pharmaceuticals During Drinking Water Treatment.* Environmental Science & Technology 36(17), 3855-3863.

Ternes, T.A., Siegrist, H. and Joss, A. **(2006)** *Heillasten - Arzneimittelrückstände in Gewässern*. Frimmel, F. and Müller, M. (eds), pp. 89-103, Springer, Berlin.

Ternes, T.A., Stuber, J., Herrmann, N., McDowell, D., Ried, A., Kampmann, M. and Teiser, B. (2003) *Ozonation: A Tool for Removal of Pharmaceuticals, Contrast Media and Musk Fragrances from Wastewater*? Water Research 37(8), 1976-1982.

Thomas, K.V., Dye, C., Schlabach, M. and Langford, K.H. **(2007)** *Source to Sink Tracking of Selected Human Pharmaceuticals from Two Oslo City Hospitals and a Wastewater Treatment Works*. Journal of Environmental Monitoring 9, 1410-1418.

Thomas, P.M. and Foster, G.D. (2005) *Tracking Acidic Pharmaceuticals, Caffeine, and Triclosan through the Wastewater Treatment Process.* Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 24(1), 25-30.

Thompson, D.M., Nelson, J.M. and Wohl, E.E. (1998) *Interactions between Pool Geometry and Hydraulics.* Water Resources Research 34(12), 3673-3681.

Tiehm, A., Schmidt, N., Stieber, M., Sacher, F., Wolf, L. and Hoetzl, H. **(2011)** *Biodegradation of Pharmaceutical Compounds and Their Occurrence in the Jordan Valley.* Water Resources Management 25(4), 1195-1203.

Tixier, C., Singer, H.P., Oellers, S. and Müller, S.R. (2003) Occurrence and Fate of Carbamazepine, Clofibric Acid, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, Ketoprofen, and Naproxen in Surface Waters. Environmental Science & Technology 37(6), 1061-1068.

Togola, A. and Budzinski, H. (2007) *Development of Polar Organic Integrative Samplers for Analysis of Pharmaceuticals in Aquatic Systems.* Analytical Chemistry 79(17), 6734-6741.

Tomich, J.F., Dalton Jr., R.L., Deans, H.A., U., R. and Shallenberger, L.K. **(1973)** *Single-Well Tracer Method to Measure Residual Oil Saturation*. Journal of Petroleum Technology 25(2), 211-218.

Tonina, D. and Buffington, J.M. **(2007)** *Hyporheic Exchange in Gravel Bed Rivers with Pool-Riffle Morphology: Laboratory Experiments and Three-Dimensional Modeling.* Water Resources Research 43(1), W01421.

Topp, E., Hendel, J.G., Lapen, D.R. and Chapman, R. **(2008)** *Fate of the Nonsteroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug Naproxen in Agricultural Soil Receiving Liquid Municipal Biosolids.* Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 27(10), 2005-2010.

Trauth, N., Schmidt, C., Maier, U., Vieweg, M. and Fleckenstein, J.H. **(2013)** *Coupled 3-D Stream Flow and Hyporheic Flow Model under Varying Stream and Ambient Groundwater Flow Conditions in a Pool-Riffle System*. Water Resources Research 49(9), 5834-5850.

van Rooyen, G.F., Badenhorst, D., Swart, K.J., Hundt, H.K.L., Scanes, T. and Hundt, A.F. **(2002)** *Determination of Carbamazepine and Carbamazepine 10, 11-Epoxide in Human Plasma by Tandem Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry with Electrospray Ionisation.* Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences 769(1), 1-7.

Vanderven, A., Vree, T.B., Kolmer, E., Koopmans, P.P. and Vandermeer, J.W.M. **(1995)** Urinary Recovery and Kinetics of Sulphamethoxazole and Its Metabolites in Hiv-Seropositive Patients and Healthy Volunteers after a Single Oral Dose of Sulphamethoxazole. British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 39(6), 621-625.

Vasudevan, D., Bruland, G.L., Torrance, B.S., Upchurch, V.G. and MacKay, A.A. (2009) *pH-Dependent Ciprofloxacin Sorption to Soils: Interaction Mechanisms and Soil Factors Influencing Sorption.* Geoderma 151(3–4), 68-76.

Vazquez-Roig, P., Segarra, R., Blasco, C., Andreu, V. and Pico, Y. **(2010)** *Determination of Pharmaceuticals in Soils and Sediments by Pressurized Liquid Extraction and Liquid Chromatography Tandem Mass Spectrometry*. Journal of Chromatography A 1217(16), 2471-2483.

Vermeirssen, E.L.M., Asmin, J., Escher, B.I., Kwon, J.H., Steimen, I. and Hollender, J. **(2008)** *The Role of Hydrodynamics, Matrix and Sampling Duration in Passive Sampling of Polar Compounds with Empore (Tm) SDB-RPS Disks.* Journal of Environmental Monitoring 10(1), 119-128.

Vieno, N.M., Harkki, H., Tuhkanen, T. and Kronberg, L. **(2007)** *Occurrence of Pharmaceuticals in River Water and Their Elimination a Pilot-Scale Drinking Water Treatment Plant.* Environmental Science & Technology 41(14), 5077-5084.

Vieno, N.M., Tuhkanen, T. and Kronberg, L. **(2005)** *Seasonal Variation in the Occurrence of Pharmaceuticals in Effluents from a Sewage Treatment Plant and in the Recipient Water.* Environmental Science & Technology 39(21), 8220-8226.

Vieno, N.M., Tuhkanen, T. and Kronberg, L. **(2006)** *Analysis of Neutral and Basic Pharmaceuticals in Sewage Treatment Plants and in Recipient Rivers Using Solid Phase Extraction and Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry Detection.* Journal of Chromatography A 1134(1-2), 101-111.

Volkmar, E.C., Dahlgren, R.A., Stringfellow, W.T., Henson, S.S., Borglin, S.E., Kendall, C. and Van Nieuwenhuyse, E.E. **(2011)** *Using Lagrangian Sampling to Study Water Quality During Downstream Transport in the San Luis Drain, California, USA*. Chemical Geology 283(1–2), 68-77.

Vree, T.B., Van den Biggelaar-Martea, M., Verwey-Van Wissen, C.P., Vree, M.L. and Guelen, P.J. (1993) *The Pharmacokinetics of Naproxen, Its Metabolite O-Desmethylnaproxen, and Their Acyl Glucuronides in Humans. Effect of Cimetidine.* British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology 35(5), 467-472.

Wang, L., Xu, H.M., Cooper, W.J. and Song, W.H. **(2012)** *Photochemical Fate of Beta-Blockers in NOM Enriched Waters*. Science of the Total Environment 426, 289-295.

Watanabe, N., Bergamaschi, B.A., Loftin, K.A., Meyer, M.T. and Harter, T. **(2010)** *Use and Environmental Occurrence of Antibiotics in Freestall Dairy Farms with Manured Forage Fields.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(17), 6591-6600.

Webb, S., Ternes, T., Gibert, M. and Olejniczak, K. **(2003)** *Indirect Human Exposure to Pharmaceuticals Via Drinking Water*. Toxicology Letters 142(3), 157-167.

Weigel, S., Kuhlmann, J. and Hühnerfuss, H. **(2002)** *Drugs and Personal Care Products as Ubiquitous Pollutants: Occurrence and Distribution of Clofibric Acid, Caffeine and DEET in the North Sea.* Science of the Total Environment 295(1–3), 131-141.

Wick, A., Fink, G., Joss, A., Siegrist, H. and Ternes, T.A. **(2009)** *Fate of Beta Blockers and Psycho-Active Drugs in Conventional Wastewater Treatment*. Water Research 43(4), 1060-1074.

Wick, A., Marincas, O., Moldovan, Z. and Ternes, T.A. **(2011a)** *Sorption of Biocides, Triazine and Phenylurea Herbicides, and UV-Filters onto Secondary Sludge.* Water Research 45(12), 3638-3652.

Wick, A., Wagner, M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2011b)** *Elucidation of the Transformation Pathway of the Opium Alkaloid Codeine in Biological Wastewater Treatment*. Environmental Science & Technology 45(8), 3374-3385.

Wiegel, S., Aulinger, A., Brockmeyer, R., Harms, H., Löffler, J., Reincke, H., Schmidt, R., Stachel, B., von Tümpling, W. and Wanke, A. **(2004)** *Pharmaceuticals in the River Elbe and Its Tributaries*, pp. 107-126.

Wiesenberg-Boettcher, I., Pfeilschifter, J., Schweizer, A., Sallmann, A. and Wenk, P. **(1991)** *Pharmacological Properties of Five Diclofenac Metabolites Identified in Human Plasma*. Agents and Actions 34(1-2), 135-137.

Willems, P. **(2008)** *Quantification and Relative Comparison of Different Types of Uncertainties in Sewer Water Quality Modeling.* Water Research 42(13), 3539-3551.

Winkler, M., Lawrence, J.R. and Neu, T.R. (2001) *Selective Degradation of Ibuprofen and Clofibric Acid in Two Model River Biofilm Systems.* Water Research 35(13), 3197-3205.

Wolf, L., Zwiener, C. and Zemann, M. **(2012)** *Tracking Artificial Sweeteners and Pharmaceuticals Introduced into Urban Groundwater by Leaking Sewer Networks.* Science of the Total Environment 430, 8-19.

Wörman, A., Packman, A.I., Johansson, H. and Jonsson, K. **(2002)** *Effect of Flow-Induced Exchange in Hyporheic Zones on Longitudinal Transport of Solutes in Streams and Rivers.* Water Resources Research 38(1), 2-1-2-15.

Writer, J.H., Ryan, J.N., Keefe, S.H. and Barber, L.B. (2012) *Fate of 4-Nonylphenol and 17 Beta-Estradiol in the Redwood River of Minnesota*. Environmental Science & Technology 46(2), 860-868.

Xu, P., Drewes, J.E., Bellona, C., Amy, G., Kim, T.U., Adam, M. and Heberer, T. **(2005)** *Rejection of Emerging Organic Micropollutants in Nanofiltration-Reverse Osmosis Membrane Applications.* Water Environment Research 77(1), 40-48.

Xu, W., Zhang, G., Wai, O.H., Zou, S. and Li, X. (2009) *Transport and Adsorption of Antibiotics by Marine Sediments in a Dynamic Environment*. Journal of Soils and Sediments 9(4), 364-373.

Yang, S.-F., Lin, C.-F., Wu, C.-J., Ng, K.-K., Lin, A.Y.-C. and Hong, P.-K.A. **(2012)** *Fate of Sulfonamide Antibiotics in Contact with Activated Sludge - Sorption and Biodegradation.* Water Research 46(4), 1301-1308.

Yu, L., Fink, G., Wintgens, T., Melin, T. and Ternes, T.A. **(2009)** *Sorption Behavior of Potential Organic Wastewater Indicators with Soils.* Water Research 43(4), 951-960.

Zepp, R.G. and Cline, D.M. **(1977)** *Rates of Direct Photolysis in Aquatic Environment.* Environmental Science & Technology 11(4), 359-366.

Zepp, R.G., Hoigne, J. and Bader, H. **(1987)** *Nitrate-Induced Photooxidation of Trace Organic Chemicals in Water.* Environmental Science & Technology 21(5), 443-450.

Zhang, D.Q., Gersberg, R.M., Hua, T., Zhu, J.F., Tuan, N.A. and Tan, S.K. **(2012)** *Pharmaceutical Removal in Tropical Subsurface Flow Constructed Wetlands at Varying Hydraulic Loading Rates.* Chemosphere 87(3), 273-277.

Zhang, Z.L., Hibberd, A. and Zhou, J.L. **(2008)** *Analysis of Emerging Contaminants in Sewage Effluent and River Water: Comparison between Spot and Passive Sampling.* Analytica Chimica Acta 607(1), 37-44.

Zhang, Z.L. and Zhou, J.L. **(2007)** *Simultaneous Determination of Various Pharmaceutical Compounds in Water by Solid-Phase Extraction-Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry.* Journal of Chromatography A 1154(1-2), 205-213.

Zhou, W. and Moore, D.E. **(1994)** *Photochemical Decomposition of Sulfamethoxazole.* International Journal of Pharmaceutics 110(1), 55-63.

Zimmermann, S.G., Wittenwiler, M., Hollender, J., Krauss, M., Ort, C., Siegrist, H. and von Gunten, U. **(2011)** *Kinetic Assessment and Modeling of an Ozonation Step for Full-Scale Municipal Wastewater Treatment: Micropollutant Oxidation, by-Product Formation and Disinfection.* Water Research 45(2), 605-617.

Zuccato, E., Calamari, D., Natangelo, M. and Fanelli, R. **(2000)** *Presence of Therapeutic Drugs in the Environment.* The Lancet 355(9217), 1789-1790.

Zwiener, C., Seeger, S., Glauner, T. and Frimmel, F. **(2002)** *Metabolites from the Biodegradation of Pharmaceutical Residues of Ibuprofen in Biofilm Reactors and Batch Experiments.* Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 372(4), 569-575.

2 STUDY I: TRACER TEST TO EVALUATE THE FATE OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN RIVERS

A Reactive Tracer Test to Evaluate the Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers

Uwe Kunkel¹ and Michael Radke^{1,2,*}

¹Department of Hydrology, BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany ²Department of Applied Environmental Science, Stockholm University, 10691 Stockholm, Sweden

> *Corresponding Author phone +46/86747136; fax +46/86747638; e-Mail: michael.radke@itm.su.se

Environmental Science & Technology, 45(15), 6296-6302 (2011)



2.1 ABSTRACT

The fate of pharmaceutically active substances in rivers is still only incompletely understood, especially as the knowledge transfer from laboratory experiments to the real world is complicated by factors like turbidity, hydrodynamics, or heterogeneity. Therefore, we performed a tracer test with pharmaceutically active substances to study their fate and the importance of individual attenuation mechanisms *in situ*. The experiment was carried out at a small stream in central Sweden. Two dye tracers and six pharmaceuticals were injected as Dirac pulse and water was sampled at five downstream sites along a 16 km long river reach. Ibuprofen and clofibric acid were the only compounds which were eliminated along the study reach at half-life times of 10 h and 2.5 d, respectively. Based on the shape of the breakthrough curves and the low hydraulic conductivity of the river bed, exchange of river water with the hyporheic zone was minor. Thus, the contribution of processes in the hyporheic zone to the attenuation of pharmaceuticals was low. We hypothesize that ibuprofen and clofibric acid were transformed by in-stream biofilms growing on submerged macrophytes and at the water/sediment interface. Phototransformation and sorption were ruled out as major attenuation processes. No attenuation of bezafibrate, diclofenac, metoprolol, and naproxen was observed.

2.2 INTRODUCTION

Pharmaceutical residues are commonly detected organic micropollutants in the aquatic environment (Ternes 1998, Tixier et al. 2003). Due to incomplete elimination during wastewater treatment (Carballa et al. 2005, Joss et al. 2006), they can reach surface waters where they are present at concentrations in the ng L^{-1} to $\mu g L^{-1}$ range. From laboratory experiments, we learned that certain pharmaceuticals will be removed or retained by biodegradation in river sediments (e.g., ibuprofen, Kunkel and Radke (2008)), photolysis in the surface water (e.g., diclofenac, see Tixier et al. (2003)), or sorption to sediment (e.g., metoprolol, see Kibbey et al. (2007)). However, the environmental fate of pharmaceutical residues in rivers and the contribution of individual attenuation mechanisms to their elimination are still incompletely understood. This is due to difficulties in transferring laboratory-derived knowledge to the situation in real systems, for example caused by factors such as turbidity of the river water (Robinson et al. 2007), climatic variabilities, river morphology, or the magnitude of hyporheic exchange (Kunkel and Radke 2008). Moreover, in field studies at wastewater impacted rivers additional uncertainties arise from a number of system-inherent properties. For example, spatio-temporal fluctuations of river discharge as well as the temporally variable input of pharmaceuticals (Radke et al. 2010) impair not only the determination of *in situ* attenuation rates, but also the differentiation between individual attenuation processes. Consequently, a wide range of parameters for biotransformation and sorption have been measured for pharmaceuticals in aquatic systems (Table A- 3 in Supporting Information to chapter 2) summarizes some of these observations.

From a process-oriented point of view, on the field scale only an experimental program based on a specifically designed sampling scheme and precisely measured hydraulic parameters can provide adequate information on micropollutant attenuation (Brown et al. 2009, Ort et al. 2010). Reactive tracer tests are an alternative to such extensive field campaigns since some of the relevant boundary conditions can be assessed more easily. Experiments with a set of organic micropollutants as reactive tracers should enable us to evaluate specific hypotheses and processes under *in situ* conditions at a reasonable effort. However, while such tests are regularly used to study the attenuation of organic contaminants in aquifers (Bahr 1989, Fischer et al. 2006), they are only rarely applied in surface water.

The aim of this study was to determine the influence of individual attenuation processes on the fate of organic micropollutants in rivers. More specifically, we aimed at testing the hypothesis that the interface between surface water and groundwater (i.e., the hyporheic zone) is a major contributor to the attenuation of pharmaceuticals. We performed a tracer test with conservative and reactive tracers at a small river. As reactive tracers, we selected a set of six pharmaceuticals with supposedly different fate in rivers: ibuprofen (easily biodegradable), diclofenac (high photolysis rate, moderately biodegradable), naproxen (moderate photolysis rate, moderately biodegradable), bezafibrate (moderately biodegradable), clofibric acid (persistent), and metoprolol (moderately biodegradable, sorptive).

2.3 EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

2.3.1 CHEMICALS

All pharmaceuticals (purity > 97%) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Seelze, Germany). The surrogate standards bezafibrate-D₄, clofibric acid-D₄, diclofenac-D₄, ibuprofen-D₃, metoprolol-D₇, and naproxen-D₃ were purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (North York, ON, Canada). LC/MS-grade acetonitrile (ACN) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, acetic acid (HAc) and formic acid (FA, both analytical reagent grade), methanol (MeOH, HPLC grade), and ammonium hydrox-ide (NH₄OH, 25 % in water) were obtained from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany), and LC/MS-grade water from J.T. Baker (Deventer, The Netherlands). Uranine (Fluorescein sodium salt; CAS No. 518-47-8) was purchased from Niepötter Labortechnik (Bürstadt, Germany) and rhodamine WT (CAS No. 37299-86-8; 21% aqueous solution) was purchased from Navarc OY (Turku, Finland).

2.3.2 STUDY SITE

Experiments were carried out at Säva Brook, a small stream in central Sweden where several tracer studies were conducted before (Johansson et al. 2001, Salehin et al. 2003). It drains a watershed of 197 km² and has a total length of about 34 km. Säva Brook originates in forested areas northwest of Uppsala, then flows southward through agricultural lands and finally discharges into Lake Mälaren. Its average inclination is 0.1 %. This study was carried out between 08/31/2009 and 09/02/2009 at a 16.2 km long reach of the stream. Along this reach, most parts of the channel are deeply incised in the landscape. The stream width varied between 3 and 10 m with an average and also predominant width of approx. 5 m. During the experiment, the average water depth was about 1 m but varied from about 20 cm in fast flowing stretches up to 1.5 m in sections with al-

most stagnant water. The hydraulic radius along the study reach varied between 0.2 m and 1.2 m (average/predominant hydraulic radius: 0.7 m). Generally, the flow velocity was low (approx. 10 cm s⁻¹), and at time of the experiment many sections of the stream channel were densely vegetated as described previously (Salehin et al. 2003). The sediment texture was consolidated clayey silt (Table A- 2) overlaid by a thin layer of densely rooted, loosely packed organic material. Only in the surroundings of the few villages and bridges, the banks are reinforced and consequently the flow velocity is higher (up to 60 cm s⁻¹). There, the stream bed consists of rocks with only little instream vegetation. During the experiment, the exposure of the channel to sunlight was limited by vegetation on the river banks and in the stream channel as well as by the high and steep banks. The colour of the river water is reddish-brown; an UV/VIS-absorption spectrum of the river water is available as Supporting Information (Figure A- 5). Säva Brook receives no substantial input of wastewater and hence, the background concentration of the investigated pharmaceuticals was insignificant; we verified this by preliminary analyses. Throughout the experiment, the pH of the river water was approximately 5.5. The concentration of dissolved organic carbon (DOC) was about 16 mg L^{-1} (Table A- 2); the water temperature varied between 13 and 16 °C (Figure A- 4). The weather on the first day of the experiment was sunny, became cloudy on the second day, and on the third day there was some slight rainfall.

2.3.3 TRACER EXPERIMENT

Approximately 500 mg of each pharmaceutical (bezafibrate, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, metoprolol; 1000 mg of naproxen) and 30 g of uranine were dissolved in river water and injected as Dirac pulse at 08/31/2009 10:10 a.m. into the centre of the stream. Rhodamine WT (32 g) was injected earlier (9:42 a.m.). Pharmaceuticals were dissolved in about 25 mL of ethanol (c ~ 20 mg L^{-1} ; 40 mg L^{-1} for naproxen) while the fluorescence tracers were dissolved in about 5 L of river water. The solutions were poured into the stream, and the containers were then quickly rinsed several times with river water. The calculated initial concentrations in the stream were about 170 μ g L⁻¹ for the pharmaceuticals (naproxen: 340 μ g L⁻¹) and 10 mg L⁻¹ for the dye tracers. Pictures of the tracer injections are available as Supporting Information to chapter 2. At five sites downstream of the injection site (sites I through V, see Figure 2-1, coordinates are given in Table A- 1), the breakthrough curves of rhodamine WT were measured online (time resolution: 1 min) with a portable fluorometer (sites I, III, V; model 10AU instrument with optical kit 10-041R (excitation/emission wavelengths: 550/580 nm) and continuous flow cuvette, Turner Designs Inc., Sunnyvale, CA, USA) or with a submersible sensor (sites II, IV; Cyclops 7; excitation/emission: 550/590 nm; Turner Designs Inc.). The distance required for complete mixing of the tracers with river water was estimated at 185 m according to an established USGS Guideline (Kilpatrick and Wilson 1989) (for details on the mixing process and its calculation see Supporting Information to chapter 2). As temperature varied by only 3 °C during the experiments, no correction of the fluorescence intensity of rhodamine WT as a function of temperature was necessary; the same applies to the effect of pH on fluorescence.



Figure 2-1: Map of Säva Brook with the injection site and the five sampling sites. Numbers in parentheses indicate the distance from the injection point.

Sampling of river water for the subsequent determination of uranine and pharmaceuticals at the five sites was triggered by the increase of the rhodamine WT signal. Approximately 300 mL of water were collected with automatic water samplers (3700 compact, Teledyne-ISCO, Lincoln, NE, USA) at intervals from 10 (site I) to 60 min (site V). Subsequently, a 40 mL subsample was separated for the analysis of uranine and stored at 4 °C, the rest of each sample was stored frozen until further analysis for up to 15 days. Sample stability during deep-freezing was previously confirmed (Radke et al. 2010). Over the whole experiment, discharge was measured at site III with a continuous wave Doppler instrument (model 2150, Teledyne ISCO); at the other sites discharge was measured occasionally with a current meter. Average discharge at site III during the experiment was approximately 350 L s^{-1} with little variations; the time trend at site III is available as Supporting Information (Figure A- 2). Water temperature was continuously measured at several locations along the river stretch with temperature loggers (HOBO UA-001-64, Onset, Bourne, MA, USA). The hydraulic conductivity of the river bed was determined in intervals of approx. 200 m by slug tests as described by Wörman et al. (2002). The exchange of groundwater and surface water was determined at the same spatial resolution with a temperature probe similar to Schmidt et al. (2006).

2.3.4 ANALYTICAL METHODS

Uranine concentrations were determined in the laboratory with a 10AU Field Fluorometer (Turner Designs Inc.; optical kit 10-086R, excitation/emission wavelengths: 490/580 nm, quartz

tubes) without additional sample pre-treatment. The pharmaceuticals were enriched by solid phase extraction (SPE) as previously described (Lavén et al. 2009). Briefly, water samples were vacuum filtered (GF6, Whatman, Dassel, Germany), 50 ng of each deuterated surrogate standard were added, and the pH was adjusted to 2 by H₂SO₄. Oasis MCX cartridges (60 mg/3 mL; Waters, Eschborn, Germany) were preconditioned with 2 mL MeOH and 2 mL FA (2 % in ultra-pure water), and the samples were extracted on a vacuum extraction manifold. The extracted sample volumes ranged from 220 to 250 mL. Then, cartridges were washed with 2 mL of FA (2 % in ultra-pure water), dried for 1 h by purging with air, and stored frozen. Prior to analysis, cartridges were eluted two times with 1 mL of MeOH (eluate I; fraction containing the acidic compounds) and two times with 1 mL of NH₄OH (2 % in MeOH, eluate II; containing metoprolol). Both eluates were evaporated to dryness under a stream of nitrogen and subsequently redissolved separately in 300 µL ACN:H₂O:HAc (80:20:0.1). Pharmaceutical concentrations were then determined with HPLC/MS/MS (bezafibrate, clofibric acid, ibuprofen, and naproxen) or UPLC/QToF/MS (diclofenac and metoprolol). Details on the choice of the instruments and the LC/MS methods are given as Supporting Information to chapter 2. Concentrations of peaks with S/N < 5 were set to 0 for subsequent data analysis. The operational limits of quantification (LOQ) were 1 ng L⁻¹ for clofibric acid, ibuprofen, and metoprolol, 5 ng L^{-1} for bezafibrate and naproxen, and 25 ng L^{-1} for diclofenac.

2.3.5 QUALITY ASSURANCE

The analytical method for the determination of pharmaceuticals was validated by a standard addition experiment. To this end, river water was spiked with the target compounds to a concentration of 50 ng L⁻¹. This sample was used as river reference and aliquots of this sample were spiked to 100 ng L⁻¹, 150 ng L⁻¹, and 200 ng L⁻¹. Each of these solutions was analyzed in triplicate. To monitor inter-day deviations, a reference sample (100 ng L⁻¹) was prepared in Säva water and extracted; this sample was then measured in every sequence.

2.3.6 CALCULATIONS

Dilution along the river stretch was accounted for by normalizing the cumulative concentrations of the pharmaceuticals to the cumulative concentrations of uranine at each site. To this end, the area under the breakthrough curve (BTC) of each compound was calculated using the trapezoidal rule. Based on the uranine BTC area a dilution factor for sites II-V was determined which was used to correct the areas of the pharmaceuticals' peaks. Finally, the BTC areas relative to site I was calculated for each pharmaceutical, which corresponds to the mass recovery relative to site I. Details of these calculations are available as Supporting Information (Chapter 6.1). Attenuation along the river stretch was assessed by testing a log-linear regression between pharmaceutical mass and travel time (i.e., a pseudo first-order kinetics) for significance. The effect of analytical uncertainties on mass recoveries was assessed by a modified Monte Carlo analysis combined with error propagation. Briefly, a randomly generated relative error was superimposed on each measured concentration. BTCs were then integrated as described above. 200 realizations were calculated. Finally, the uncertainty of the relative mass recovery was calculated by error propagation. A description of this procedure is available as Supporting Information. The slug tests were evaluated for hydraulic conductivity with the method described in Freeze and Cherry (1979). Groundwater/surface water exchanges rates were calculated from the temperature profiles in the sediments as published previously (Schmidt et al. 2006).

2.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

2.4.1 HYDRAULIC CONDITIONS

The BTCs of uranine and rhodamine WT were virtually identical (Figure 2-2). The mean travel time from the injection point to the last sampling site was 44 h, corresponding to a mean flow velocity of 10 cm s⁻¹. Maximum concentrations of both tracers decreased and the width of the BTCs increased with distance due to dispersion in the river channel. The areas under both dye tracer BTCs decreased with distance from the injection site (Table A- 4 as Supporting Information to chapter 2), indicating dilution of river water along the study reach. Current meter measurements confirmed an increase of discharge along the river stretch by about 250 L s⁻¹. This can be attributed to the confluence with 10 small creeks (see Figure 2-1; cumulative discharge: 50 L s⁻¹) and to the exfiltration of groundwater (approximately 200 L s⁻¹; see below).

Transient storage of water and solutes was limited as the BTCs of uranine and rhodamine WT were almost symmetric with only little tailing. The tailing was most probably caused by retention in dead water zones in the stream channel rather than by temporary storage in the hyporheic zone. The minor transient storage can be attributed to the fine sediment texture which limits the exchange of water and solutes between the channel and the river bed. This interpretation is supported by the results of the slug tests as the hydraulic conductivity of the sediment in 7 cm depth was low and typical for clayey and silty sediments (< 10^{-9} m s⁻¹). The exchange rates of groundwater and surface water derived from the temperature profiles (see Figure A- 3) were unexpectedly high for this type of sediments; the calculated fluxes range from 2 to $108 \text{ L} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1}$ (average flux: $30 \text{ L} \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ d}^{-1}$) and probably overestimate the real value. The flux was directed from the groundwater into the channel at all locations.



Figure 2-2: Breakthrough curves of uranine and rhodamine WT at the five sampling sites during the tracer test.

From the similar BTCs of both tracers, we conclude that neither photodegradation of uranine nor sorption of rhodamine WT was quantitatively relevant along the river stretch. This is an important prerequisite for the interpretation of our experiment since both tracers are not in all circumstances behaving in a conservative manner. Uranine has been reported to be susceptible to photolysis (Smart and Laidlaw 1977), while sorption is only of minor importance (Koeniger et al. 2010). In contrast, phototransformation is not relevant for rhodamine WT (Tai and Rathbun 1988) while sorption can be significant in porous media (Everts and Kanwar 1994) (see also Table A- 3). However, if sorption of rhodamine WT had occurred its BTC peak should have been delayed compared to uranine at the more downstream sites. Similarly, the uranine concentrations should have decreased substantially in relation to rhodamine WT along the studied river stretch if photolysis had been relevant.

2.4.2 PHARMACEUTICALS

Quality Assurance. The results of the analytical quality assurance indicate a robust and precise method. In the standard addition experiment, the deviation from the expected value was low for bezafibrate (< 10 %) and clofibric acid, ibuprofen, and naproxen (< 5 %; see Supporting Information to chapter 2, Table A- 5 and Figure A- 1). However, the nominal concentration (50 ng L⁻¹) was systematically overestimated for metoprolol (79 ± 6 ng L⁻¹) and diclofenac (59 ± 7 ng L⁻¹). The standard deviation of triplicate analyses was < 13 %.

The inter-day reproducibility of the reference sample was good with a standard deviation < 10% for all substances (Table A- 6). However, the concentration of the reference sample was underestimated by approx. 20 %. The reason for this underestimation is unclear since we did not observe a similar systematic deviation in the standard addition experiment. Nevertheless, such a

systematic absolute deviation would not impair the interpretation of our results since the data analysis is exclusively based on the relative comparison of the sampling sites.

Mass recoveries. The BTCs were well captured for all pharmaceuticals (Figure 2-3). The calculated relative mass recoveries of the reactive tracers are summarized in Table 2-1. The estimated uncertainty was ≤ 20 % for all pharmaceuticals. Only ibuprofen and clofibric acid were attenuated along the study reach: ibuprofen was not detectable any more at site V, while the relative mass recovery of clofibric acid decreased to 65 ± 6 %. For both compounds the slope of the regression lines (ln(mass) vs. time) was significantly < 0 (Figure 2-4a). The changes in the mass recoveries of the other pharmaceuticals were within the range of the methodical (Table A- 6). Due to unknown reasons, the mass recoveries at site III were generally underestimated. This is most pronounced for naproxen, but also applies to the other compounds. Mass recovery of diclofenac at site V is not reported since – due to the high LOQ – only three data points were available there. Due to a contaminated solvent, no data are available for metoprolol at site III.

Table 2-1: Mass recoveries (%) at sampling sites II-V relative to site I during the tracer test (mean ± uncertainty)

	t (h)	x (km)	Bezafi- brate	Clofibric Acid	Diclofenac	Ibuprofen	Meto- prolol	Naproxen
Site II	8.9	3.8	106 ± 9	102 ± 9	102 ± 18	52 ± 5	96 ± 20	102 ± 12
Site III	15.9	7.1	81 ± 7	84 ± 8	97 ± 19	26 ± 3	n/a	76 ± 9
Site IV	23.9	9.9	95 ± 8	82 ± 8	111 ± 19	21 ± 2	87 ± 18	112 ± 14
Site V	41.4	14.7	85 ± 7	65 ± 6	ş	n.d.	95 ± 19	100 ± 12

t: travel time of BTC peak after passage of site I; x: distance to site I; n.d.: not determined; n/a: not available due to analytical difficulties; §: not reported since only 3 valid measurements were available

Bezafibrate, diclofenac, metoprolol, and naproxen. These pharmaceuticals were not attenuated along the studied reach. Based on the compounds which are susceptible to photolysis – diclofenac and naproxen (Packer et al. 2003) – we can conclude that direct photolysis was not a relevant attenuation process for all pharmaceuticals (see Table A- 3). The absence of photolysis can be attributed to the high turbidity of the river water (see also Figure A- 5 for an UV/VIS absorption spectrum), to the limited exposure of the stream channel to sunlight due to morphology and vegetation, and to the cloudy and rainy weather on days 2 and 3 of the experiment.

As bezafibrate, diclofenac, and naproxen were not retarded compared to the dye tracers (Figure 2-3 and Table 2-1), their transport was not affected by sorption. A visual data analysis shows that the breakthrough of metoprolol at sites IV and V might have occurred somewhat later than that of the other compounds (Figure 2-4b), but this was not significant for a number of statistical calculations. The study reach was not long enough to provide solid evidence for the retardation of metoprolol by sorption. As higher sorption coefficients have been reported for metoprolol than for bezafibrate, diclofenac, and naproxen (see Table A- 3), we expected *a priori* to observe

its substantial retardation along the study reach. However, sorption will only be of quantitative relevance at a relatively high solids-to-water ratio as, for example, in sewage sludge or in porous media. This condition was not met at Säva Brook with a low concentration of suspended particles in the river water and a small magnitude of hyporheic exchange.



Figure 2-3: Breakthrough curves of pharmaceuticals in comparison to rhodamine WT at the five sampling sites. Left y-axis: concentration of pharmaceutical; right y-axis: concentration of rhodamine WT. Naproxen concentrations have to be multiplied by 2. Metoprolol at site III cannot be reported because of analytical problems.

Clofibric acid and ibuprofen. The recovered mass of ibuprofen and clofibric acid decreased along the river stretch (p < 0.05). The attenuation of ibuprofen was rapid and it was not detectable at site V (Figure 2-3d and Table 2-1). Assuming pseudo-first order kinetics, the elimination of ibuprofen proceeded at a half-life time (t_H) of 10 ± 1.3 h (Figure 2-4a) which corresponds to a half-life distance of 4.3 ± 0.4 km. Rapid elimination of ibuprofen in streams was previously reported. Lin et al. (2006) calculated an even shorter half-life time of 2.7 h during river transport, while others reported half-life times of some days (Fono et al. 2006, Kunkel and Radke 2008). For clofibric

acid, we estimated a half-life time of $2.5 \pm 0.5 d$ (Figure 2-4a), equivalent to a half-life distance of 22.3 ± 4.5 km. In contrast to ibuprofen, the attenuation of clofibric acid was unexpected since it was shown to be persistent in the aquatic environment on time scales much longer than in our experiment (Kunkel and Radke 2008, Löffler et al. 2005). For both compounds, sorption can be ruled out as attenuation mechanism since they were not retarded compared to uranine and rhodamine WT and most studies reported only minor sorption of these two compounds (Table A- 3). Moreover, we can rule out direct photolysis as ibuprofen and clofibric acid are not susceptible to this process. Indirect photolysis or enhanced photolysis in the presence of DOM was reported for ibuprofen (t_{H} : 23 d by Peuravuori and Pihlaja (2009)) and clofibric acid (t_{H} : 69 d by Radke et al. (2010)). However, based on these studies it is likely that indirect photolysis was of minor importance in our study. Even though we do not have quantitative data on all chemical species involved in such photolytical processes, the rates reported in literature are far too low to explain the elimination of ibuprofen and clofibric acid on the time scale of our experiment. Biotransformation in the flowing water is also unlikely since previous studies reported no or only very slow biodegradation of pharmaceuticals in the water phase on the time scale of our experiment (Buser et al. 1999, Kunkel and Radke 2008, Yamamoto et al. 2009). Therefore, we hypothesize that biofilms growing on submerged vegetation and in the thin, loosely packed uppermost sediment layer were responsible for the attenuation of both compounds. A substantial degradation of ibuprofen in biofilms growing on submerged plants has already been observed by Reinhold et al. (2010) in laboratory experiments. However, they also reported clofibric acid to be persistent. Such a contrasting finding may be explained by differences in the composition and metabolic activity of the biofilms between their laboratory incubation and our field site. To test our hypothesis and to determine the contribution of biofilms on submerged macrophytes to the attenuation of both pharmaceuticals, experiments under the specific conditions of Sava Brook would be necessary.



Figure 2-4: a) Pseudo first-order kinetic plots for clofibric acid and ibuprofen relative to site I during the tracer test; error bars indicate the uncertainty determined with the Monte Carlo analyses; b) Metoprolol BTCs at sites IV and V in comparison to rhodamine WT. The dotted vertical lines indicate the maximum of the rhodamine WT BTCs.

So far, the findings on the attenuation of pharmaceuticals in rivers are inconclusive. This is illustrated by the comparison of our results with the few similar studies currently available:

• In a river (discharge 3.3 m³ s⁻¹) located 20 km east of Säva Brook, 75 % of the metoprolol load was attenuated in summer within a distance of only 1320 m (Daneshvar et al. 2010). No information about sediment characteristics and the morphology of the river is available, but given the proximity to our site and the relatively uniform landscape of this area, we assume that river morphology and sediments are similar to Säva Brook (no attenuation of metoprolol).

• Clofibric acid, bezafibrate, and diclofenac were persistent while the load of naproxen decreased along a 13.6 km long stretch of a German river (discharge 2.2 m³ s⁻¹) at a half-life time of 3.6 ± 2.1 d (Radke et al. 2010) (Säva Brook: no attenuation of bezafibrate and diclofenac, but of clofibric acid). Sediments of this river are heterogeneous: most parts are sandy, but there are also reinforced and rocky stretches as well as stretches with clayey sediments and very low flow velocity.

• Along a 300 km stretch of a large river (discharge $21-23 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) in Texas, ibuprofen, naproxen, and metoprolol were attenuated at similar half-life times between 4.2 and 5.3 d (Fono et al. 2006) (Säva Brook: ibuprofen half-life time 10 ± 1.3 h, no attenuation of naproxen and metoprolol). A variety of different sediment types and flow characteristics is likely to occur along the studied reach.

• In a Californian stream (discharge $1.4 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$), ibuprofen and naproxen were eliminated at half-life times < 3 h (Lin et al. 2006) (Säva Brook: no attenuation of naproxen); sediments are coarse gravel, and from the morphology a high exchange of river water with the sediments can be assumed.

While the difference between the Californian stream and Säva Brook can be explained by higher hyporheic exchange (faster elimination of ibuprofen) and higher UV intensity (attenuation of naproxen), our current knowledge does not allow a consistent mechanistic interpretation of all findings. The rivers analyzed in the studies cited above represent a wide variety of environmental characteristics, for example with respect to sunlight exposure, input of nutrients and DOC, pH, and river hydraulics (e.g., with respect to hyporheic exchange and discharge dynamics). Moreover, the microbial communities in some of the rivers might have been adapted to a continuous input of pharmaceuticals, while the microorganisms at Säva Brook were not. This might affect the environmental fate of compounds which are transformed by a specific bacterial strain and not by more general, e.g., co-metabolic processes. Overall, we are currently lacking a holistic mechanistic understanding which allows predicting micropollutant attenuation based on all such site-specific parameters and processes.

At Säva Brook in-stream biotransformation was much more significant than biotransformation and retardation (sorption) in the hyporheic zone. Therefore, we have to reject our initial hypothesis – the hyporheic zone being the major contributor to micropollutant attenuation – for this specific stream. This is due to the consolidated clayey silt sediments underlying the stream channel and the comparatively low flow velocity which both limit hyporheic exchange. Instead, we attribute the attenuation of ibuprofen and clofibric acid to biofilms attached to these submerged macrophytes and at the water/sediment interface. Future studies should aim at determining the quantitative importance of such in-stream biofilms.

Our study highlights the potential of reactive tracer tests to evaluate the fate of emerging micropollutants in rivers and streams. By comparing compounds with different reactivity and physicochemical properties, we were able to elucidate the importance of sorption, photolysis, and biotransformation for the fate of a set of pharmaceuticals in the studied stream. However, even with well-defined stream hydraulics, a defined input of pharmaceuticals, and state-of-the art analytical methods, uncertainties in the calculated mass recoveries up to 20 % were inevitable. Therefore, the exploratory power of such tests is limited to compounds with a sufficiently high attenuation rate, or to reaches with longer residence times. The application of complementary methods, such as the determination of characteristic transformation products (Quintana et al. 2005), of changes in enantiomer ratios of chiral compounds (Buser et al. 1999), or of compound-specific stable isotope ratios (Penning et al. 2010), could help reducing such uncertainties and provide further insight into the mechanisms of micropollutant attenuation and a means of further differentiating between individual processes. Finally, to complement our study we suggest carrying out similar tracer tests at streams with more intense hyporheic exchange. This would allow us to better understand the mechanisms controlling micropollutant fate in rivers and streams.

2.5 REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER 2

Bahr, J.M. **(1989)** Analysis of Nonequilibrium Desorption of Volatile Organics During Field Test of Aquifer Decontamination. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology 4(3), 205-222.

Brown, J.B., Battaglin, W.A. and Zuellig, R.E. **(2009)** *Lagrangian Sampling for Emerging Contaminants through an Urban Stream Corridor in Colorado.* Journal of the American Water Resources Association 45(1), 68-82.

Buser, H.R., Poiger, T. and Müller, M.D. **(1999)** *Occurrence and Environmental Behavior of the Chiral Pharmaceutical Drug Ibuprofen in Surface Waters and in Wastewater*. Environmental Science & Technology 33(15), 2529-2535.

Carballa, M., Omil, F. and Lema, J.M. (2005) *Removal of Cosmetic Ingredients and Pharmaceuticals in Sewage Primary Treatment*. Water Research 39(19), 4790-4796.

Daneshvar, A., Svanfelt, J., Kronberg, L., Prevost, M. and Weyhenmeyer, G.A. (2010) Seasonal Variations in the Occurrence and Fate of Basic and Neutral Pharmaceuticals in a Swedish River-Lake System. Chemosphere 80(3), 301-309.

Everts, C.J. and Kanwar, R.S. (1994) *Evaluation of Rhodamine WT as an Adsorbed Tracer in an Argricultural Soil.* Journal of Hydrology 153(1-4), 53-70.

Fischer, A., Bauer, J., Meckenstock, R.U., Stichler, W., Griebler, C., Maloszewski, P., Kästner, M. and Richnow, H.H. (2006) A Multitracer Test Proving the Reliability of Rayleigh Equation-Based

Approach for Assessing Biodegradation in a BTEX Contaminated Aquifer. Environmental Science & Technology 40(13), 4245-4252.

Fono, L.J., Kolodziej, E.P. and Sedlak, D.L. **(2006)** *Attenuation of Wastewater-Derived Contaminants in an Effluent-Dominated River.* Environmental Science & Technology 40(23), 7257-7262.

Freeze, R.A. and Cherry, J.A. (1979) Groundwater, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, N. J.

Johansson, H., Jonsson, K., Forsman, K.J. and Wörman, A. (2001) *Retention of Conservative and Sorptive Solutes in Streams - Simultaneous Tracer Experiments.* Science of the Total Environment 266(1-3), 229-238.

Joss, A., Zabczynski, S., Göbel, A., Hoffmann, B., Löffler, D., McArdell, C.S., Ternes, T.A., Thomsen, A. and Siegrist, H. **(2006)** *Biological Degradation of Pharmaceuticals in Municipal Wastewater Treatment: Proposing a Classification Scheme*. Water Research 40(8), 1686-1696.

Kibbey, T.C.G., Paruchuri, R., Sabatini, D.A. and Chen, L.X. (2007) Adsorption of Beta Blockers to Environmental Surfaces. Environmental Science & Technology 41(15), 5349-5356.

Kilpatrick, F.A. and Wilson, J.F. **(1989)** *Measurement of Time of Travel in Streams by Dye Tracing. Twi 03-A9,*, USGS.

Koeniger, P., Leibundgut, C., Link, T. and Marshall, J.D. **(2010)** *Stable Isotopes Applied as Water Tracers in Column and Field Studies.* Organic Geochemistry 41(1), 31-40.

Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. **(2008)** *Biodegradation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals in Bed Sediments: Insight from a Laboratory Experiment.* Environmental Science & Technology 42(19), 7273-7279.

Lavén, M., Alsberg, T., Yu, Y., Adolfsson-Erici, M. and Sun, H. **(2009)** *Serial Mixed-Mode Cationand Anion-Exchange Solid-Phase Extraction for Separation of Basic, Neutral and Acidic Pharmaceuticals in Wastewater and Analysis by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography-Quadrupole Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry.* Journal of Chromatography A 1216(1), 49-62.

Lin, A.Y.C., Plumlee, M.H. and Reinhard, M. **(2006)** *Natural Attenuation of Pharmaceuticals and Alkylphenol Polyethoxylate Metabolites During River Transport: Photochemical and Biological Transformation.* Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 25(6), 1458-1464.

Löffler, D., Römbke, J., Meller, M. and Ternes, T.A. (2005) *Environmental Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Water/Sediment Systems*. Environmental Science & Technology 39(14), 5209-5218.

Ort, C., Lawrence, M.G., Rieckermann, J. and Joss, A. **(2010)** *Sampling for Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products (Ppcps) and Illicit Drugs in Wastewater Systems: Are Your Conclusions Valid? A Critical Review.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(16), 6024–6035.

Packer, J.L., Werner, J.J., Latch, D.E., McNeill, K. and Arnold, W.A. **(2003)** *Photochemical Fate of Pharmaceuticals in the Environment: Naproxen, Diclofenac, Clofibric Acid, and Ibuprofen.* Aquatic Sciences 65(4), 342-351.

Penning, H., Sørensen, S.R., Meyer, A.H., Aamand, J. and Elsner, M. **(2010)** *C, N, and H Isotope Fractionation of the Herbicide Isoproturon Reflects Different Microbial Transformation Pathways.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(7), 2372-2378.

Peuravuori, J. and Pihlaja, K. **(2009)** *Phototransformations of Selected Pharmaceuticals under Low-Energy UVA-Vis and Powerful UVB-UVA Irradiations in Aqueous Solutions-the Role of Natural Dissolved Organic Chromophoric Material.* Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 394(6), 1621-1636.

Quintana, J.B., Weiss, S. and Reemtsma, T. **(2005)** *Pathways and Metabolites of Microbial Degradation of Selected Acidic Pharmaceutical and Their Occurrence in Municipal Wastewater Treated by a Membrane Bioreactor.* Water Research 39(12), 2654-2664.

Radke, M., Ulrich, H., Wurm, C. and Kunkel, U. **(2010)** *Dynamics and Attenuation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals Along a River Stretch.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(8), 2968-2974.

Reinhold, D., Vishwanathan, S., Park, J.J., Oh, D. and Saunders, F.M. **(2010)** Assessment of Plant-Driven Removal of Emerging Organic Pollutants by Duckweed. Chemosphere 80(7), 687-692.

Robinson, P.F., Liu, Q.T., Riddle, A.M. and Murray-Smith, R. **(2007)** *Modeling the Impact of Direct Phototransformation on Predicted Environmental Concentrations (Pecs) of Propranolol Hydrochloride in UK and US Rivers.* Chemosphere 66(4), 757-766.

Salehin, M., Packman, A.I. and Wörman, A. (2003) *Comparison of Transient Storage in Vegetated* and Unvegetated Reaches of a Small Agricultural Stream in Sweden: Seasonal Variation and Anthropogenic Manipulation. Advances in Water Resources 26(9), 951-964.

Schmidt, C., Bayer-Reich, M. and Schirmer, M. (2006) *Characterization of Spatial Heterogeneity of Groundwater-Stream Water Interactions Using Multiple Depth Streambed Temperature Measurements at the Reach Scale.* Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 10, 849-859.

Smart, P.L. and Laidlaw, I.M.S. (1977) *Evaluation of Some Fluorescent Dyes for Water Tracing.* Water Resources Research 13(1), 15-33.

Tai, D.Y. and Rathbun, R.E. (1988) *Photolysis of Rhodamine-WT Dye.* Chemosphere 17(3), 559-573.

Ternes, T.A. **(1998)** *Occurrence of Drugs in German Sewage Treatment Plants and Rivers.* Water Research 32(11), 3245-3260.

Tixier, C., Singer, H.P., Oellers, S. and Müller, S.R. **(2003)** *Occurrence and Fate of Carbamazepine, Clofibric Acid, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, Ketoprofen, and Naproxen in Surface Waters*. Environmental Science & Technology 37(6), 1061-1068.

Wörman, A., Packman, A.I., Johansson, H. and Jonsson, K. **(2002)** *Effect of Flow-Induced Exchange in Hyporheic Zones on Longitudinal Transport of Solutes in Streams and Rivers.* Water Resources Research 38(1).

Yamamoto, H., Nakamura, Y., Moriguchi, S., Honda, Y., Tamura, I., Hirata, Y., Hayashi, A. and Sekizawa, J. **(2009)** *Persistence and Partitioning of Eight Selected Pharmaceuticals in the Aquatic Environment: Laboratory Photolysis, Biodegradation, and Sorption Experiments.* Water Research 43(2), 351-362.

2.6 MODELING OF THE TRACER TEST

In a follow-up study, the data of the tracer test were evaluated from a modeling point of view (Riml, J., et al. (2013). Evaluating the fate of six common pharmaceuticals using a reactive transport model: Insights from a stream tracer test. Science of the Total Environment 458-460: 344-354). The data was used as input for a newly developed coupled physical-biogeochemical model framework that implemented surface water transport as well as transient storage in slow/immobile zones of the streams and the river sediments. The model enabled to determine river stretch-specific transformation rates and sorption coefficients in both the main channel and the storage zones for each substance. Only a moderate hydraulically based retention of compounds in the hyporheic zone as well as in densely vegetated areas of the river was calculated. All substances except for diclofenac were apparently affected by sorption processes during stream transport and sorption was more pronounced in the storage zones. Consistently to literature data, highest sorption coefficients were determined for the beta-blocker metoprolol. Elimination of ibuprofen and clofibric acid was attributed to (bio-)transformation processes in both main channel and storage zones. The half-life times of were much shorter in the storage zones (1.6 hours for ibuprofen and 22.1 hours for clofibric acid, respectively) than in the main channel (22.7 hours and 113.2, respectively). However, since residence times of pharmaceuticals were about ten times longer in the main channel than in the storage zones, elimination processes of ibuprofen and clofibric acid in both compartments were of equivalent importance for the total elimination during river transport.

The modeling techniques developed for the evaluation of the tracer test enabled us to distinguish between individual elimination processes that govern the fate of pharmaceuticals during stream transport. For the first time, quantitative data for sorption and transformation of pharmaceuticals in both main channel and storages zones could be derived by inverse simulation techniques. By coupling these rates with the mean residence times of substances in the two river compartments during the tracer experiment, we were able to quantify the contribution of instream processes as well as reactions in transient storages zones for the overall elimination. Overall, the combined results of the both published manuscripts on the tracer test provide valuable information for evaluating the fate and persistence of organic micropollutants such as pharmaceuticals in rivers.

3 STUDY II: ATTENUATION OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN RIVERS AT FAVORABLE CONDITIONS

Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers: Deriving a Benchmark Dataset at Favorable Attenuation Conditions

Uwe Kunkel^{1,*} and Michael Radke^{1,2}

¹ Department of Hydrology, BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany ² Department of Applied Environmental Science, Stockholm University, 10691 Stockholm, Sweden

> ^{*} Corresponding Author mail: kunkel@bafg.de phone: +49/(0)261/1306-5024

Federal Institute of Hydrology, Am Mainzer Tor 1, 56068 Koblenz, Germany



Water Research 46(17): 5551-5565.

3.1 ABSTRACT

Pharmaceutical residues are commonly detected organic micropollutants in the aquatic environment. Their actual fate in rivers is still incompletely understood as their elimination is highly substance specific and studies often report contradictory results. To elucidate the ceiling of attenuation rates of pharmaceuticals in rivers we carried out a study at a river with favorable conditions for the elimination of organic micropollutants.

Experiments were carried out at a small stream in Germany. Composite samples were taken at both ends of a 12.5 km long river stretch located downstream of a wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) and analyzed for ten pharmaceuticals. Moreover, pore water samples were taken and *in situ* photolysis experiments at several sites within the river stretch were performed to assess the importance of these individual elimination mechanisms.

Pharmaceutical concentration in the surface water at the first sampling site ranged from 3.5 ng L⁻¹ for propranolol to 1400 ng L⁻¹ for diclofenac. In comparison to carbamazepine which was used as persistent tracer, all other pharmaceuticals were attenuated along the river stretch. Their elimination was higher in a sunny, dry weather period (period I) compared to a period with elevated discharge after a heavy rainfall (period II). Overall, the measured elimination rates ranged from 25 % for sulfamethoxazole (period II) to 70 % for propranolol (period I). Photolysis was only a relevant elimination process for diclofenac and potentially also for sotalol; for these compounds phototransformation half-life times of some hours were determined in the unshaded parts of the river. Biotransformation in the sediments was also an important attenuation process since the concentrations of the other pharmaceuticals in the sediments decreased relative to carbamazepine with depth. For the chiral beta-blocker metoprolol this biotransformation was also confirmed by a decrease in the enantiomer fractionation from 0.49 at site A to 0.43 at site B and to < 0.40 in the deeper sediments.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

Human health is one of the important concerns in modern life, and it has been improved substantially during the past decades. This can be attributed to, among other factors, the usage of large amounts of pharmaceutically active substances. Due to incomplete metabolism and subsequent excretion, these substances enter the aquatic environment via wastewater. During wastewater treatment, pharmaceuticals are often only incompletely eliminated and thus are emitted into receiving surface waters. Depending on consumption and metabolism of a substance, season, structure of the wastewater treatment plant (WWTP), and the proportion of WWTP effluent in the river, concentrations in rivers range from a few ng L⁻¹ up to tens of μ g L⁻¹ (Daneshvar et al. 2010, Meyer et al. 2011, Sacher et al. 2008). Today conclusive information on the environmental fate of pharmaceuticals is only available for a small number of compounds. For example, most studies report that the widely used analgesic ibuprofen is readily biodegradable during activated sludge treatment, and its rapid elimination in rivers has also been shown (Daneshvar et al. 2010, Fono et al. 2006, Kunkel and Radke 2011). For other substances, the picture is less straightforward. Most laboratory studies reported a high to moderate biodegradability of diclofenac (Al-Rajab et al. 2010, Kunkel and Radke 2008) while others found a recalcitrant behavior (Lahti and Oikari 2011); it is generally considered as highly susceptible to photolysis (Buser et al. 1998, Packer et al. 2003). Similarly, findings from field studies range from no or only minor elimination of diclofenac in rivers (Kunkel and Radke 2011, Radke et al. 2010) to moderate attenuation in a lake system on a longer time scale (Tixier et al. 2003). Overall, with our current knowledge and the limited transferability of specific laboratory findings to the environmental scale, it is difficult to predict the behavior of diclofenac in a specific aquatic system based on the physical and/or biogeochemical boundary conditions.

Moreover, it is important to assess the contribution of individual attenuation processes. Factors like turbidity of the water, the hydraulic regime and hyporheic exchange, or the structure of microbial communities in the river strongly influence the importance of potential elimination mechanisms. For example, in deeper rivers only a minor fraction of surface water is exchanged with the hyporheic zone and consequently biotransformation in the sediments will quantitatively be less important for the attenuation of an organic micropollutant from such a river compared to a shallow river. The importance of phototransformation is also depending on the characteristics of the specific system: it is restricted to the uppermost parts of surface waters (Bartels and von Tümpling 2007) and of less importance in turbid waters (Robinson et al. 2007).

In contrast to previous work by Radke et al. (2010) and Kunkel and Radke (2011) where the total elimination of pharmaceuticals along river stretches was determined, the aim of the present study was to derive a set of benchmark data for the elimination of pharmaceuticals in a river that has more favorable boundary conditions for the attenuation of organic micropollutants, and to simultaneously study individual attenuation mechanisms in situ. Shallower stream depth, lower turbidity, and a higher exposure to sunlight were selected as conditions favoring photolysis; for biotransformation, also a shallower water, aerobic and sandy sediments, and substantial exchange between surface and pore water were selected as criteria. Moreover, a continuous exposure to WWTP effluents was desired. Along a 12.5 km long reach of such a river we monitored the concentration of ten pharmaceutical residues belonging to various therapeutic classes (e.g., analgesics, antibiotics, beta-blockers, lipid-lowering agents). By choosing pharmaceuticals with different environmental fate properties (sorption, biotransformation, phototransformation), we aimed at identifying the relevance of the individual mechanisms for the overall elimination rate of a compound. We combined a mass-balance approach with the analysis of enantiomeric ratios (for metoprolol), in situ phototransformation experiments, and analyses of pore water profiles to differentiate between individual processes and to estimate their relative importance.

3.3 MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.3.1 CHEMICALS

All pharmaceuticals, phenylglyoxylic acid (all purity > 97 %), and acetic acid (HAc, LC-MS grade) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Seelze, Germany). The surrogate standards bezafibrate- D_4 ,

clofibric acid-D₄, ibuprofen-D₃, diclofenac-D₄, naproxen-D₃, metoprolol-D₇, propranolol-D₇, sulfamethoxazole-D₃, and sotalol-D₆ were purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (North York, ON, Canada), carbamazepine-¹³C¹⁵N was generously provided by the German Federal Institute of Hydrology (BfG, Koblenz, Germany). LC-MS-grade water and acetonitrile (ACN) were purchased from Th. Geyer (Renningen, Germany), formic acid (FA, analytical grade), methanol (MeOH, LC-MS-grade), and ammonium hydroxide (NH₄OH, 25 % in water) were obtained from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany). For the chiral analysis of metoprolol, ACN (hyper-grade for LC/MS) and H2O (LC-MS grade) were purchased from VWR (Darmstadt, Germany), NH₄-Acetate (purity > 98 %) from Sigma-Aldrich.

3.3.2 STUDY SITE

Experiments were carried out along a 12.5 km long stretch of river Gründlach, a small stream in Northern Bavaria near the city of Nuremberg, Germany. River Gründlach has a total length of about 20 km and discharges into river Rednitz near Erlangen. The main source of organic micropollutants in river Gründlach is the WWTP Heroldsberg which has a capacity of 12,000 population equivalents. Water was concurrently sampled at two sites along the river Gründlach. Site A was located approx. 600 m downstream of the outlet of the WWTP Heroldsberg (49° 31' 28" N, 11° 08' 12" E); site B was located 12.5 km further downstream, close to the town of Boxdorf (49° 31' 21" N, 11° 01' 26" E). Supplementary, we chose three characteristic sites along the river stretch where in situ phototransformation experiments were conducted and pore water samples were taken (Exp A, Exp B, Exp C). An overview over the study area is given in Figure 3-1, the coordinates of sampling and experimental sites are given in Table B-1 (Supplemental Information (SI) to chapter 3). Complete mixing of the WWTP effluent and the river water upstream of site A was verified using an established USGS guideline (Kilpatrick and Wilson 1989). The calculated mixing distance of 182 m was well below the distance of about 600 m between the WWTP outlet and site A. This estimation was additionally verified by measuring the electrical conductivity (EC) at site A. EC was constant along the cross-section, and thus we conclude that the WWTP outflow (high EC) was completely mixed with river water (lower EC).

No additional sources of pharmaceuticals have to be considered between sites A and B as only minor creeks and ditches confluence with river Gründlach in the investigated river stretch. Consequently, discharge increases only marginally between the two sampling sites, as was confirmed by current meter measurements. The first seven kilometers of the investigated river stretch are passing through densely forested areas, in the last 5.5 km river Gründlach is flowing through agriculturally used areas where the river banks are loosely covered by shrubs and low trees (see Figure 3-1). The average inclination between the sampling sites is about 0.4 %, and stream morphology is highly uniform. The river bed is incised into the landscape by about 1 m; during baseflow conditions, average stream width is about 3 m, and average water depth is about 15 cm. The sediments are sandy down to depths of > 30 cm (coarse and medium sand), and mineralic (C < 0.5 %, N < 0.05 %). Water and sediment characteristics during the sampling campaign are listed in Table B- 2.



Figure 3-1: Map of the catchment of river Gründlach showing the location of sampling and experimental sites, the wastewater treatment plant (WWTP), and the gauging station "Frauenkreuz".

3.3.3 SAMPLING AND IN SITU MEASUREMENTS

River water was collected at the two sampling sites with automatic water samplers (3700 compact equipped with Teflon suction line and stainless steel inlet filter; sample compartment not exposed to light; Teledyne ISCO, Lincoln, NE) from 2010/07/05 to 2010/07/20. Every hour, 100 mL of water were sampled into a glass bottle that contained NaN₃ (final concentration in sample: 0.1 %) for sample stabilization. The addition of NaN₃ to stabilize surface water samples has previously been reported to be valid for a large number of pharmaceuticals (Vanderford et al. 2011). Samples were then taken to the laboratory after a maximum of 2 days, and 6 consecutive samples were combined to respective 6 h composite samples. Subsamples of 20 mL for the determination of boron (B), potassium (K), and total organic carbon (TOC) were separated, and all samples were stored frozen until further processing. Sampling failed from July, 5th to July, 7th at site A due to a dislocated intake hose of the sampler, and from July, 16th to July, 18th at site B due to power failure. The concentration of dissolved oxygen (DO), EC, and pH were measured online at sampling site A (all instruments from WTW, Weilheim, Germany). Water temperature was logged continuously at both sampling sites with temperature loggers (HOBO UA-001-64, Onset, Bourne, MA).

Discharge at sampling site A was measured with a continuous wave Doppler instrument (model 2150, Teledyne ISCO). Additionally, discharge records were available from a gauging station operated by the local water board (Wasserwirtschaftsamt Nuremberg) 6 kilometers downstream of sampling site A (http://www.hnd.bayern.de, station "Pegel Frauenkreuz"; see Figure 3-1). The daily discharge of the WWTP Heroldsberg was provided by the operator. Hourly data for sunshine minutes, air temperature and precipitation were obtained from the DWD weather sta-

tion Nuremberg (http://werdis.dwd.de, station "Nürnberg") which is located approximately 2 km south of experimental site Exp C.

Pore water was sampled with self-constructed mini-piezometers made of stainless steel (length: 1 m, outer diameter: 1 cm, inner diameter: 0.2 cm). Near the lower end, the piezometers were slotted over a length of 10 cm (42 slots, size: 0.5 mm). The mini-piezometers were pushed into the river bed to the desired depth, and pore water was sampled into a glass bottle by applying a gentle vacuum with a hand pump. Approx. 300 mL of pore water were sampled at each depth, immediately taken to the laboratory and stored frozen. Po7re water was sampled on 2010/07/20 at the experimental sites (Exp A to C) in depths of 5-15 cm, 15-25 cm and 25-35 cm (only Exp A and Exp C, see Figure 1). Nitrate, sulfate, ferrous iron (using photometric methods) and methane (CH₄) as well as carbon dioxide (CO₂) (using GC with FID and TCD detection) were measured in the pore water samples to characterize the redox conditions in the sediments.

3.3.4 IN SITU PHOTOTRANSFORMATION EXPERIMENTS

Phototransformation experiments were carried out at three locations with different shading intensity (see Figure 3-1): in the agricultural area without any shading (Exp B, near site B), in the agricultural area with partial shading (Exp C), and in the forested area with complete shading (Exp A, near site A). Although experiments were carried out on different days, sunshine duration and radiation intensities were similar for all experiments. A table with the meteorological data during the photolysis experiments recorded by the DWD weather station is given in the SI (Table B- 3). For the experiments, approximately 22.5 L of river water were transferred to a glass container (length: 50 cm, width: 30 cm, height: 30 cm). For Exp A and B, river water was taken directly from corresponding sites A and B, for Exp C river water was collected at site A to obtain higher initial concentrations for the experiments. The water level in the container was equal to the water depth at the experimental site (~ 15 cm at all sites). Additionally, control experiments under dark and sterile conditions were conducted. For the dark control, we filled a second glass container and wrapped it with aluminium foil to shield the water from radiation. For the sterile control experiment, we added NaN_3 (final concentration 0.1%) as microbial poison to the river water to exclude biological transformation; this third container was also exposed to sunlight. All containers were installed in the river bed (Figure B- 3). Subsamples (approx. 500 mL) from each container were taken immediately after installation (t = 0 h) and after 1, 2, 4, and 6 hours. The samples were stored dark and cool until the experiment was terminated and upon arrival in the laboratory they were frozen until further analysis. Temperature and pH were measured at the time of sampling in each container.

Radiation intensity during the phototransformation experiments was estimated by using phenylglyoxylic acid as chemical actinometer (Defoin et al. 1986). A solution of phenylglyoxylic acid was filled into quartz glass tubes (length: 36 cm; diameter: 2 cm; c = 50 mmol L⁻¹ in ACN/H₂O 3:1 v:v) which were immersed directly below the water surface. Samples were taken in short time intervals and measured on site at a wavelength of 380 nm with a portable spectrophotometer (DR 3800, Hach Lange, Düsseldorf, Germany.
3.3.5 ANALYTICAL METHODS

Samples were filtered (GF6, Whatman, Dassel, Germany) and 250 mL of the filtrate were used for solid phase extraction as previously described (Kunkel and Radke 2011, Lavén et al. 2009). Extractions had to be repeated for carbamazepine and sotalol due to originally inaccurate internal standards; then the residual sample volume was completely extracted (60 - 260 mL). Briefly, 25 ng of each internal standard were added to the sample and pH was adjusted to pH 2 by H₂SO₄. Then, the samples were extracted using Oasis MCX cartridges (60 mg/3 mL; Waters, Milford, MA, USA) which were pre-conditioned with 2 mL of MeOH and 2 mL of 2 % FA (aq.). Then samples were extracted with a flow rate of about 5 mL min⁻¹, dried for 1 h under vacuum, and finally stored frozen until elution. Cartridges were eluted consecutively with 2 x 1 mL of MeOH (eluate I) and 3 x 1 mL of 2 % NH₄OH in MeOH (eluate II). Eluates were dried under a nitrogen stream and redissolved in 500 μ L of H₂O:ACN (70:30, v:v, 2.5mM HAc). Eluate I of the phototransformation samples was subjected to an additional clean-up step: the eluate was evaporated, redissolved in 40 mL of ultrapure water and extracted via Oasis MAX (60 mg/3 mL; Waters). MAX cartridges were preconditioned with 2 mL of MeOH and 2 mL of H₂O. After the extraction, cartridges were washed with 2 mL of 0.5 % NH₄OH (aq.), dried under vacuum and stored frozen until elution. Cartridges were eluted separately with 2 x 1 mL of MeOH (eluate III) and 2 x 1 mL of 2 % FA in MeOH (eluate IV), eluates were dried under nitrogen and redissolved in 300 µL of H₂O:ACN (70:30, v:v, 2.5 mM HAc). Metoprolol, propranolol, sotalol, and sulfamethoxazole were collected in eluate II, the other pharmaceuticals in eluate I. If the samples were additionally extracted by the MAX step, carbamazepine was present in eluate III and all other compounds in eluate IV (details see Lavén et al. (2009)). Pharmaceutical concentrations were determined using a HPLC/MS/MS instrument consisting of two HPLC pumps (ProStar 210), an autosampler (ProStar 410) and a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (1200L, all by Varian Inc., Palo Alto, CA). Separation was achieved by using a binary gradient of H₂O and ACN (both 2.5 mM HAc) with several HPLC columns (150 x 2 mm). The following stationary phases were used (all by Phenomenex Aschaffenburg, Germany): Synergi Fusion-RP 80A (eluates I, III and IV), Luna C18(2)-100A (eluate II, beta-blockers), and Synergi Polar-RP 80A (eluate II, sulfamethoxazole). Calibration by applying isotope-labelled internal standards (c = 50 ng mL⁻¹, isotope dilution) was linear for all substances in the range of 1 - 1000 ng mL⁻¹; the limits of quantification of the overall method (LOQ) ranged from 0.5 ng L⁻¹ for propranolol to 45 ng L⁻¹ for diclofenac (details are given in Table B- 4) in the water samples. The two metoprolol enantiomers (only a subset of the samples was analyzed) were determined in the SPE extracts (eluate II) by UPLC/MS/MS (Acquity UPLC system; Xevo TQ-S mass spectrometer; all by Waters). Enantiomers were separated on a Reprosil AGP column (5 µm, 100 mm x 2 mm, Dr. Maisch, Ammerbuch, Germany) by an isocratic flow (0.22 mL min⁻¹) of H₂O:ACN (98:2, v:v) containing 10 mM NH₄-Acetate.

Concentrations of boron (LOQ: 0.025 mg L⁻¹) and potassium (LOQ: 0.1 mg L⁻¹) were measured with ICP-OES (Vista-Pro radial, Varian Inc.), TOC was determined with a total organic carbon analyzer (TOC-V CPN, Shimadzu, Duisburg, Germany).

3.3.6 CALCULATIONS

The load of each pharmaceutical at sampling site A was calculated by multiplying the concentration in each sample by the average discharge during the respective sampling time span. Loads are given in mg 6h⁻¹ to retain the reference to the sampling interval. As no continuous discharge measurements were available for site B, no loads can be calculated for this site. Therefore, we determined the mass balance and attenuation rate of pharmaceuticals along the river stretch by calculating elimination rates relative to a persistent compound. Carbamazepine is commonly used as wastewater marker and considered as persistent in the aquatic environment (Clara et al. 2004, Löffler et al. 2005). Calisto et al. (2011) determined photolysis half-life times for carbamazepine between 5 and 25 days (summer), and Tiehm et al. (2011) reported only little biodegradation in soils. Hence, given the short travel time (< 1 d) of river water between our two sampling sites, the assumption that carbamazepine is persistent is justified. In a previous study (Radke et al. 2010), we used clofibric acid as conservative tracer. Since the concentrations of clofibric acid in river Gründlach were always < LOQ in the current study this compound could not be used as another persistent reference substance.

Elimination of pharmaceutical residues was calculated for two periods with different meteorological and hydraulic conditions. The first period from 2010/07/07 to 2010/07/12 was characterized by low discharge (period I). The second period from 2010/07/12 to 2010/07/14 spans two days of elevated discharge after a heavy rainfall (period II, also see Figure 3-2). These two periods were chosen to determine the elimination rates of pharmaceuticals under best and worst case conditions in summer. In detail, the elimination of a substance within the river stretch was computed by dividing the sum of its concentrations at site B by the sum of its concentrations at site A. This ratio was then normalized by the ratio of the sum concentrations of carbamazepine at the both sites and the percentaged difference from 100 % was taken as elimination of a substance. For calculation purposes, samples with concentrations below LOQ at site B were set to the average of the three lowest determined concentrations. This method was chosen as it provides a conservative estimate of the elimination rate (i.e., likely underestimates the elimination rate).

Data from the phototransformation experiments were normalized to the measured initial concentration (t = 0 h) in the respective container. The photolysis rates (k_p) and half-life times (t_H) were then calculated by applying a linear regression of the logarithmic normalized concentrations versus time, i.e., a pseudo first-order kinetics. Photon fluxes were calculated according to a published procedure, assuming a quantum yield for phenylglyoxylic acid of 0.7 (Defoin et al. 1986, Neamţu and Frimmel 2006).

Chiral analyses of metoprolol were evaluated using the enantiomer fraction (EF) after normalizing the peak area (A) of the enantiomer by the peak area of the respective enantiomer of the internal standard metoprolol- D_7 (IS). Enantiomers 1 and 2 were labelled according to the order of elution from the HPLC column (Figure B- 1).



All statistical analyses and graphical visualizations were done using the open source software R (R Development Core Team 2011). The spearman rank correlation coefficient was used to test correlations between substances. An unpaired, one-sided Wilcoxon rank-sum test was used to test if concentrations of pharmaceuticals and EFs of metoprolol were significantly different at both sampling sites. For all analyses a minimum significance on the 95 % confidence interval was required.

3.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.4.1 METEOROLOGICAL AND HYDROLOGICAL SITUATION

During the sampling campaign, the average air temperature was 22.5 °C, and average daily air temperatures ranged from 17.4 °C to 27.8 °C. Average daily sunshine duration was 11.5 hours. There were one major (July, 12th, 39.4 mm in total, 33 mm within on hour) and two minor rain events on July, 14th/15th and July, 17th (both less than 5 mm). More detailed weather data is shown in Figure 3-2 and Table B- 3. The average water temperature was 19.8 °C with diel fluctuations of about 3 °C; the fluctuations were slightly more pronounced at sampling site B (Table B- 3). Discharge at sampling site A was about 30 – 40 L s⁻¹ under dry conditions while the average flow velocity along the river stretch was about 20 cm s^{-1} ; at this flow velocity, the corresponding travel time between the two sites was approximately 18 hours. The proportion of wastewater under dry conditions was up to 60% of the total river water. After the rain events, the discharge quickly increased to 500 L s⁻¹ on July, 12th and 200 L s⁻¹ on July, 17th/18th. For these high discharge conditions, a travel time of approx. 12 hours was derived from the time shift of the occurrence of ibuprofen at the two sampling sites (Figure 3-3, see below). The rainfall on July, 15th and in the morning of July, 17th only resulted in a slight increase of discharge at sampling site A. Discharge at the gauging station "Frauenkreuz" in the middle of the studied river reach was always a little higher and peaks were delayed compared to site A.



Figure 3-2: Hydrological and meteorological situation during the experiment. Exp A, Exp B, and Exp C mark the date of the phototransformation experiment at the respective site, "pore water" marks the date of the pore water sampling at all three experimental sites.

Under dry conditions, pH at site A was constantly about 7.7, only after the rain events it decreased to 7.5. EC at site A was in the range of 700 μ S cm⁻¹ und decreased quickly to 250 μ S cm⁻¹ after the rain events. DO was only measured for two days under dry conditions at site A. It was about 70 % or 6 mg L⁻¹ and displayed only little diel fluctuation (< 5 %). The average concentration of total organic carbon (TOC) at sampling site A was 6.6 ± 1.9 mg L⁻¹ (n = 51).

3.4.2 OCCURRENCE AND TEMPORAL DYNAMICS OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN SURFACE WATER

Of all analyzed compounds, clofibric acid was the only one that was not detected in any sample; it will thus not be discussed further. Average concentrations of the other pharmaceuticals were between the low ng L⁻¹ range (propranolol) and the high ng L⁻¹ / low μ g L⁻¹ range (carbamazepine, diclofenac) which is in good agreement to previous studies at rivers that were receiving substantial contributions of wastewater (Bendz et al. 2005, Daneshvar et al. 2010, Radke et al. 2010, Ternes 1998). Table 3-1 summarizes the concentrations at sites A and B and the loads of all pharmaceuticals at sampling site A. Loads could not be calculated for the period following the heavy rainfall due to sedimentation of sand onto the Doppler sensor and resulting malfunction of the instrument. Concordantly with the concentrations, average loads were highest for diclofenac, followed by carbamazepine and ranged from $3.5 \pm 3.0 \text{ mg Gh}^{-1}$ for propranolol to $590 \pm 380 \text{ mg Gh}^{-1}$ for diclofenac. Loads were highest after the heavy rainfall on July, 12th (2.7 g Gh⁻¹ for diclofenac and carbamazepine) when discharge increased by a factor of 20 while concentrations remained relatively constant. Concentrations of all pharmaceutical residues and of boron and potassium were significantly lower (p < 0.001) at site B compared to site A. The ibuprofen data did not allow statistical testing as ibuprofen was only determined in a few samples.

Table 3-1: Concentrations (site A and site B) and loads (only site A) of pharmaceuticals (ng L¹ and mg 6h⁻¹, respectively) and boron and potassium. Data are shown as mean \pm stand deviation, the range of values is given in parenthesis; n: number of samples used for calculations. A significantly lower concentration at site B compared to site A (p < 0.001) is indicated by an asterisk (*).

	Site	Site B	
	Concentration (ng L^{-1} , n = 51 – 55)	Loads (mg 6h ⁻¹ , n = 46 – 50)	Concentration (ng L^{-1} , n = 51 – 52)
Bezafibrate	120 ± 39 (63 - 280)	120 ± 110 (45 – 830)	22 ± 25 (12 ^c – 180) (*)
Carbamazepine	490 ± 110 (290 – 730)	470 ± 340 (266 – 2700)	310 ± 54 (130 – 420) (*)
Diclofenac	650 ± 220 (250 – 1400)	590 ± 380 (242 – 2700)	170 ± 110 (52 – 680) (*)
Ibuprofen	17 ± 37 (8 ^c - 210)	43 ± 220 (4.0 – 1500)	14 ± 23 (8 ^c – 120)
Metoprolol	310 ± 71 (180 – 440)	290 ± 210 (170 – 1700)	84 ± 28 (42 – 170) (*)
Naproxen	47 ± 18 (20 – 830)	49 ± 77 (16 – 560)	20 ± 11 (16 [°] – 75) (*)
Propranolol	3.5 ± 1.3 (0.7 – 7.8)	3.5 ± 3.0 (0.6 – 21)	1.0 ± 0.8 (0.5 ^c – 4.9) (*)
Sotalol	160 ± 34 (99 – 250)	150 ± 130 (78 – 980)	61 ± 16 (21 – 110) (*)
Sulfamethoxazole	330 ± 120 (110 – 730)	320 ± 150 (141 – 890)	140 ± 53 (52 – 270) (*)
Boron ^a	142 ± 54 (63 – 347)	130 ± 81 (60 – 604)	96 ± 50 (30 – 237) (*)
Potassium ^b	16 ± 5.0 (8.6 – 28)	14 ± 8.8 (7.9 – 68)	10 ± 3.8 (2.2 – 18) (*)

 a concentration in μg $L^{\text{-1}},$ load in g $6h^{\text{-1}};$ b concentration in mg $L^{\text{-1}},$ load in kg $6h^{\text{-1}},$ c LOQ

The concentration dynamics of the investigated pharmaceuticals at both sampling sites are shown in Figure 3-3. The respective time trends for boron and potassium are given in Figure B- 2. Concentrations of pharmaceuticals at site A were generally slightly increasing during the dry period (period I), most likely caused but the slightly decreasing discharge at site A and therefore a higher percentage of WWTP effluent in river Gründlach (Figure 3-2). Thereafter, the concentrations of most pharmaceuticals decreased directly after the rain event on July, 12th due to dilution, but recovered quickly after the discharge returned to previous conditions. The effect of the two other minor rain events was not as pronounced. In contrast, ibuprofen – which was not determined during dry conditions – was present at concentrations up to 200 ng L⁻¹ shortly after the three rain events (Figure 3-3). This can either be attributed to input of untreated wastewater through combined sewer overflows (CSOs) or to an incomplete elimination in the WWTP at a decreased short residence time in the treatment plant during the discharge events (Ternes 1998). No data are available on either of these processes.

At site B, the concentrations of pharmaceuticals were generally lower than at site A. Bezafibrate and naproxen were rarely detected during period I, and the concentrations of propranolol were below LOQ in some samples. Ibuprofen was detected only in a few samples corresponding to the rain-driven input observed at site A.



Figure 3-3: Time trends of pharmaceutical concentrations at both samplings sites and discharge at the gauging station "Frauenkreuz" at river Gründlach. For visual clarity concentrations < LOQ were set to 0.

3.4.3 Elimination of Pharmaceuticals Along the River Stretch

The concept we applied to estimate the elimination of pharmaceutical residues along the river stretch by normalizing their concentration to the concentration change of carbamazepine is only completely errorless if the discharge is not changing with time or if the concentrations of carbamazepine and the compound of interest at site A are perfectly positively correlated. A detailed analysis with synthetic examples on the potential errors of our concept for deriving elimination rates is given in Appendix B to chapter 3. Under dry conditions (period I), discharge changed only slightly and consequently correlation of substances (see Table B- 9) is of minor importance for mass balancing; the resulting maximum error of the elimination rate is low (< 2 %; Table B- 9). During the rain events, however, discharge changed substantially and consequently a positive correlation with carbamazepine at site A (see Table B- 5) is crucial for the valid estimation of elimination rates. For period II, this is the case for diclofenac, metoprolol, sulfamethoxazole, and sotalol as well as for potassium (p < 0.05), so their elimination rates can be estimated at acceptable uncertainty (maximum error 6 %, see Appendix B-2, chapter 6.2.4). Bezafibrate, naproxen, pro-

pranolol, and boron were not correlated with carbamazepine at site A during period II (Table B- 6) and consequently the elimination rate for these substances are very uncertain (maximum error 28 %). This is indicated by putting their elimination rates in Table 3-2 in parentheses.

The lower concentrations of all pharmaceuticals at site B compared to site A can either be explained by dilution of surface water due to the convergence of small creeks and ditches and to the exfiltration of groundwater into the river, or by the elimination of the pharmaceuticals along the river stretch. The calculation of elimination rates relative to carbamazepine as conservative tracer compensates for dilution, and thus elimination rates > 0 can be attributed to attenuation.

	period I	period II
Boron	-19	(-9)
Potassium	5	4
Bezafibrate ^b	63	(57)
Diclofenac	69	41
Ibuprofen ^a	n.a.	n.a.
Metoprolol	68	50
Naproxen ^b	50	(43)
Propranolol ^b	70	(42)
Sotalol	42	36
Sulfamethoxazole	26	25

Table 3-2: Relative elimination (%) of pharmaceuticals between sites A and B for periods I and II.

^a For ibuprofen no elimination rates could be calculated due to the few data points. ^b Minimum elimination rates; the actual rate can be higher as concentrations < LOQ at site B were set to LOQ for calculation purposes; negative elimination rates indicate increase of mass compared to carbamazepine; values in parenthesis are uncertain due to a lacking correlation with carbamazepine

All pharmaceuticals were eliminated compared to carbamazepine both during period I and period II (Table 3-2) are conservative estimates and likely underestimate the elimination: the concentrations of these compounds in samples from site B were frequently < LOQ, and for calculation purposes their concentration in such samples were set to LOQ. This especially holds true in period I when the concentrations of these three substances in most samples at site B were < LOQ. If we assume a complete elimination (i.e., if concentrations at site B are set to 0), the calculated elimination rates for period I increase to 100 % (from 63 %) for bezafibrate, 99 % for naproxen (from 50 %), and 84 % for propranolol (from 70 %) while elimination rates in period II only slightly increase (see Table B- 8). Therefore, despite these uncertainties in the exact elimination rates of these three substances the elimination during period I still is substantially higher than in period II.

Higher elimination rates during period I are most probably a result of the longer residence time of substances within the river stretch due to a lower flow velocity of the surface water. Travel time between the two sampling sites in period II (high discharge) is assumed to be only approx.

12 hours compared to approx. 18 hours under low flow conditions (period I). Exact numbers for elimination rates per residence time cannot be derived since these travel times are only rough estimates, but based on these times the elimination rates per residence time are in the same range under both flow conditions. A similar finding was obtained in laboratory-scale flume experiments where the elimination rate from surface water under different flow velocities was investigated (Kunkel and Radke 2008).

The mass recovery of potassium at site B under both hydraulic conditions (see Table 3-2) is in good agreement with that of carbamazepine, and thus the elimination rates of pharmaceuticals relative to potassium as conservative reference substance (see Table B- 7) are almost equal to those calculated with carbamazepine. The good correlation of potassium and carbamazepine was reported before (Nödler et al. 2011) and confirms our approach of using carbamazepine as conservative tracer. The apparent mass increase of boron along the river stretch (Table 3-2) during both periods, however, was unexpected. Although boron might follow different concentration/load dynamics in the effluent of a WWTP due to its input via usage in detergents whereas pharmaceuticals and potassium are mostly excreted by humans, its concentration are even better correlated with the pharmaceutical residues than potassium (Table B- 5 and Table B- 6).Since an additional anthropogenic or geogenic input of boron along the river is unlikely, the explanation for the apparent mass increase of boron remains unsettled.

The environmental fate of pharmaceuticals depends on the characteristics of the specific stream as well as on additional boundary conditions. To move forward in our ability to mechanistically explain field observations, we have to further explore the role of individual processes and boundary conditions for the attenuation of pharmaceuticals. Therefore, we complemented the mass-balance approach that provides information on the overall elimination of a compound with the concurrent and *in situ* investigation of individual attenuation processes. The results of these experiments on phototransformation and the analysis of hyporheic processes will be discussed in the following.

3.4.4 PHOTOTRANSFORMATION EXPERIMENTS

The measured photon fluxes at the three experimental sites reflect the characteristics of these sites: photon flux was lowest at Exp A (strong shading, forest; 2.1×10^{-9} einstein s⁻¹) and highest at Exp B (open terrain; 9.1×10^{-7} einstein s⁻¹). At site Exp C (partial shading), the measured photon flux was intermediate (3.7×10^{-7} einstein s⁻¹). For site Exp B, no elimination rates of bezafibrate, diclofenac, and naproxen can be reported as the initial concentration of these compounds were already < LOQ (see Figure 3-3 and Table 3-1). To overcome this limitation, we used water sampled at site Exp A in the subsequent experiment at site Exp C. The elimination rates measured in the sterile controls (with NaN₃) were generally higher than those in the non-sterile experiments (Table 3–3). Obviously, the addition of NaN₃ caused this increase. This might be explained either by pH dependent elimination kinetics (Canonica et al. 2008) since pH was about 0.2 units higher than in the non-sterile approaches or by an influence of NaN₃ on the complex transformation kinetics and pathways (Xu et al. 2009). All conclusions below are consequently based on the ex-

periments without NaN_3 in order to reflect the real situation in the river water. A detailed investigation of this phenomenon was beyond the scope on this study.

None of the pharmaceuticals was eliminated in any of the dark controls (see Figure B- 4), so biotic and other abiotic processes were quantitatively not relevant during the photolysis experiments. Bezafibrate, carbamazepine, metoprolol, naproxen, and sulfamethoxazole were not eliminated in any of the light exposed experiments either. Photolysis did thus not contribute to their attenuation in river Gründlach, and it is also supposed to be only of minor importance in other rivers that experience similar or worse irradiation conditions. Diclofenac, propranolol, and sotalol were the only compounds for which photolysis was observed in at least one experiment; for propranolol this was the case only in the sterile control at site Exp B, while its concentration did not decrease significantly in any of the other experiments. Consequently, we conclude that the contribution of photolysis to the attenuation of propranolol was negligible. For diclofenac, no data are available for the experiment at site Exp B as the diclofenac concentration in the river water used for this experiment was < LOQ (see above). At site Exp C, its photolysis rate was $2.8 \pm 0.7 d^{-1}$, while it was not eliminated at site Exp A with full tree coverage. The photolysis rate of diclofenac (Exp C) is lower than the near-surface photolysis rate previously reported for a river in close proximity (11.6 \pm 0.6 d⁻¹, Radke et al. (2010)). However, if this near-surface rate is extrapolated for the water depth of 15 cm at river Gründlach (details on calculation see Schwarzenbach et al. (2003) and Fono et al. (2006)), the rate reduces to $2.2 \pm 0.1 d^{-1}$ which is in good agreement with the rate determined in the present study. Sotalol was affected by photolysis at all three sites, but at Exp C it was not eliminated in the container without NaN₃ (not significant $k_p = 0.70 \pm 0.30 \text{ d}^{-1}$). This is contradictory to Exp A where we observed elimination ($k_p = 0.60 \pm 0.15 \text{ d}^{-1}$) in spite of the lower photon flux compared to Exp C. It is also in disagreement with the observations made for diclofenac (elimination at Exp C but not at Exp A). Overall, a definitive assessment of the contribution of photolysis to the elimination of sotalol is hindered by these inconclusive results. But since Piram et al. (2008) reported a high susceptibility of sotalol to indirect photolysis in wastewater, we conclude that photolysis very likely contributes to the overall attenuation of sotalol in river Gründlach.

Table 3-3: Photolysis rates (d⁻¹) of pharmaceuticals measured in the *in situ* phototransformation experiments at river Gründlach. For all other pharmaceuticals no rate significantly different from 0 was observed.

	Exp A ^a	Ехр В		Ехр С	
NaN ₃ addition	no	No	yes	no	yes
shading	complete	No	no	partial	partial
Diclofenac	n.s.	n.a.	n.a.	$2.8 \pm 0.7^{*}$	$5.2 \pm 0.4^{**}$
Propranolol	n.s.	n.s.	$1.7 \pm 0.5^{**}$	n.s.	n.s.
Sotalol	$0.60 \pm 0.15^{*}$	$1.8 \pm 0.5^{*}$	$5.5 \pm 0.3^{**}$	n.s.	$1.4 \pm 0.3^{**}$

^{*} p < 0.05; ^{**} p < 0.01; n.a: not available since initial concentrations were < LOQ; n.s.: slope of regression not significantly different from 0; ^a no sterile control performed at Exp A

Based on the results at the three sites, we conclude that phototransformation was quantitatively not relevant for the elimination in the forested part of the river stretch for any substance due to the efficient shading by the trees. In the agricultural area, photolysis was substantial for diclofenac and potentially also for sotalol. As the observed total elimination rates between site A and site B (Table 3-2) also include night time, the determined phototransformation rates cannot directly be up-scaled for the total travel time between the two sampling sites. However, assuming a travel time of seven hours in the agricultural part during daylight with an average of 13 daily sunshine hours in period I and extrapolating the rate of diclofenac from Exp C ($2.8 \pm 0.7 \text{ d}^{-1}$) over the whole agriculturally used stretch, an elimination rate of diclofenac of 28 – 42 % can be estimated for photolysis. This elimination rate is smaller than the calculated elimination of diclofenac along the river stretch during the dry period (69 %; Table 3-2). But overall, we deduce that a substantial part of the total elimination of diclofenac (and potentially also sotalol) in river Gründlach can be explained by phototransformation. For naproxen, which was previously described as photolabile substance (Packer et al. 2003, Radke et al. 2010), we could not derive phototransformation kinetics at the unshaded site (Exp B) since initial concentrations were < LOQ. However, we observed no elimination at Exp C, and previous work reported a three to five times slower phototransformation kinetics for naproxen compared to diclofenac in river water (Radke et al. 2010). Consequently, we conclude that phototransformation contributes only little to the total elimination (50 % in period I) of naproxen in river Gründlach.

For all other compounds, photolysis was not a quantitatively relevant attenuation mechanism along the river stretch. For sulfamethoxazole, this conclusion seems contradictory to the study by Andreozzi et al. (2003) who reported similar phototransformation kinetics for sulfamethoxazole and diclofenac. This contradiction can be explained by the effect of pH on the photolysis rate of sulfamethoxazole. The experiments by Andreozzi et al. (2003) were conducted at pH 5.5, whereas the pH in river Gründlach was about 8. The photolysis of sulfamethoxazole has been shown to be strongly pH dependent and much higher at lower pH around and below the pK_a (5.6 ± 0.5) of the secondary amine group of sulfamethoxazole (Moore and Zhou 1994), and thus the absence of sulfamethoxazole photolysis in river Gründlach is in agreement with previous studies. However, this example highlights the complexity of phototransformation processes and illustrates challenges when comparing results from different studies.

3.4.5 BIOTRANSFORMATION OF PHARMACEUTICALS IN THE SEDIMENTS

Abiotic (other than photolysis) or biotic elimination processes in the surface water can be excluded as major attenuation mechanisms for all pharmaceuticals since their concentration did not decrease in the dark controls of the phototransformation experiments. This is in agreement with previous studies which also reported no or only minor elimination of pharmaceuticals residues in surface waters under exclusion of sunlight (e.g., Kunkel and Radke (2008)). Therefore, we investigated the presence of pharmaceuticals in the hyporheic zone to estimate the relevance of microbial transformation processes in the sediment. Bezafibrate, ibuprofen, naproxen, and propranolol were not detected in the pore water and will thus not be discussed here. Their concentrations in the surface water were close to the quantification limit, so this observation was to be expected. For diclofenac, no reliable data can be reported due to analytical problems. Hence, the discussion is limited to the depth profiles of metoprolol, sulfamethoxazole, sotalol, and carbamazepine. These compounds were determined in the pore water in all depths (down to 25 – 35 cm) which points to an efficient exchange of surface water with pore water. The pore water concentrations of carbamazepine were equal to the concentrations in the surface water, so dilution by groundwater was little in the sampled sediment profiles, as was biotransformation of carbamazepine. The variations of carbamazepine concentrations with depth are in the same range than concentration fluctuations in the surface water (Figure 3-4a) Therefore, carbamazepine can be considered to be persistent in the pore water as well, and based on the correlation of the other pharmaceuticals with carbamazepine during dry periods (when the pore water sampling was done) we normalized the concentrations of metoprolol, sotalol, and sulfamethoxazole to the respective concentration of carbamazepine in each sample. A decrease in the normalized concentrations thus implies an elimination of a substance in the sediments, which was the case for all three substances (Figure 4b-d). In general, pharmaceutical concentrations (other than carbamazepine) at our three sampling sites decreased more rapidly with sediment depth than at a larger lowland river in Eastern Germany (Lewandowski et al. 2011b). However, a direct comparison is complicated by the different hydraulics and sediments and the somewhat inconclusive results of the cited study.

We attribute the elimination with respect to carbamazepine to microbial transformation, which has been shown for all three substances as potentially relevant process in river sediments (Radke et al. 2009, Ramil et al. 2010). We exclude sorption as a substantial cause for the elimination from the pore water since dynamic sorption equilibrium between the continuously renewed pore water and the sediment particles should have been reached due to the continuous input of pharmaceuticals at relatively constant concentration. For metoprolol, the interpretation of elimination by microbial transformation is backed up by enantiomer ratios (see below).

The analyses of redox parameters (data not shown) indicated that the pore water at Exp B and Exp C was sulfate reducing and methanogenic, respectively, while it was less reducing (denitrifying) at Exp A. This might indicate a faster advection of surface water into the hyporheic zone and thus a more efficient transport of oxygen and pharmaceuticals into the sediment. Such a different hydraulic and biogeochemical situation might also explain differences in the shape of the normalized depth profiles of metoprolol, sotalol, and sulfamethoxazole between Exp A and the two other sites. However, without knowledge on the detailed, small-scale hydraulic conditions; this explanation has to be considered a hypothesis.



Figure 3-4: Pore water profiles of pharmaceuticals on 2010/07/20 at the three experimental sites at river Gründlach (Exp A, Exp B, Exp C): a) absolute concentrations of carbamazepine, b-d) concentrations of metoprolol, sulfamethoxazole, and sotalol relative to carbamazepine and normalized to this ratio in the surface water.

Unlike in the phototransformation experiments, we are not able to calculate biotransformation rates in sediment from the data of the pore water analyses as no quantitative data on exchange of water and solutes between the river channel and the hyporheic zone are available. Nevertheless, the profiles clearly indicate that attenuation in the hyporheic zone is of relevance at the river Gründlach.

3.4.6 METOPROLOL ENANTIOMER RATIOS

The analytical method for determination of metoprolol enantiomers was precise and reproducible. This is documented by constant EFs in the calibrations standards (0.493 ± 0.011 , n = 30), in the quality control samples (0.490 ± 0.004 , n = 4), and in a subset of samples of the phototransformation experiment from Exp A (0.484 ± 0.005 , n = 5) where metoprolol was not transformed. At site A, EF was constant and showed a nearly racemic enantiomer distribution (0.493 ± 0.007 , n = 17). This observation is in agreement with previous studies which reported the occurrence of racemic metoprolol in WWTP effluent (Fono et al. 2006). The meteorological and hydrological conditions had no measurable influence on metoprolol EF at site A (Figure 3-5a). Over the whole period, EFs at site B were significantly lower than at site A (Figure 3-5a, p < 0.0001). Abiotic processes usually do not affect enantiomer ratios (Huehnerfuss and Shah 2009) which is reflected in a constant EF in experiments on the sorption of metoprolol to sterilized Gründlach sediment despite a significant sorption (data not shown). Consequently, the decrease of EF supports our interpretation that metoprolol was transformed by microbiological processes along the river stretch. At site B, EFs during period I were significantly lower (p < 0.001; 0.429 ± 0.007 , n = 7) compared to period II (0.463 ± 0.014 , n = 8). This is in agreement with the higher elimination rate of metoprolol during period I (see above), but also indicates that biotransformation was of relevance even under high discharge conditions. The temporal dynamics of EF in the surface water together with metoprolol concentrations at both sites are available as complementary information in the SI (chapter 6.2). At the time of the highest discharge (in period II), EF at site B was almost equal to EFs at site A, but after discharge decreased again to pre-event values, EFs at site B also returned to pre-rain event values (Figure B- 6).



Figure 3-5: a) Metoprolol enantiomer fractions (EF) at sites A and B during periods I and II (only a subset of samples was analyzed for EF); b) correlation of metoprolol EF with normalized metoprolol concentration in the pore water; different symbols represent different depths, different colours different sites.

For the interpretation of EFs in pore water, we normalized the concentration of metoprolol to the concentration of carbamazepine. This compensates for concentration decreases of metoprolol in the hyporheic zone due to dilution which does not change the EF. These normalized metoprolol concentrations were well correlated with EF ($r^2 = 0.61$, p < 0.01, Figure 3-5b). Despite this good correlation of EF with the relative concentration of metoprolol, we observed no general decrease of EF with depth at the individual experimental sites (Figure 3-5b). This can be attributed to the complexity of flow paths in the upper layer of the sediment (Cardenas et al. 2004, Lewandowski et al. 2011a) which means that a greater depth in the sediment is not necessarily equivalent to a longer travel (or residence) time of water and solutes. Consequently, the interpre-

tation of a compound's concentration depth profiles alone is complicated. However, in combination with a persistent substance whose concentration in the surface water is correlated with that of a target compound and supplemented by indicators such as the enantiomeric fractionation, processes in the hyporheic zone become accessible to interpretation.

It is difficult to compare the findings of this study to previous studies on the environmental fate of pharmaceuticals in rivers. This is mostly due to the few compounds analyzed in all available studies and to experimental differences. Some studies investigated the fate at much larger rivers than the river Gründlach, so evaluating their findings in light of our results is not straightforward. At a Californian river (discharge 20 times larger than river Gründlach), naproxen was rapidly removed with a half-life time of 1.7 hours by phototransformation processes (Lin et al. 2006). In a Swedish river (discharge approx. 100 higher than a river Gründlach) a rapid removal of metoprolol of up to 75 % within in a flow time of 8 hours was determined (Daneshvar et al. 2010). However, if we apply the assumptions used in this study (i.e., carbamazepine is considered persistent and concentration ratios can be used to estimate removal rate) to the data reported by Daneshvar et al. (2010) elimination of metoprolol in summer months ranges from 63 -88 % along a river stretch of approx. 10 km (from R3 to R7 in their manuscript), which is in better agreement to the results of this study. In contrast, in a large Texan river (discharge about 100 time higher than at river Gründlach) metoprolol and naproxen were eliminated rather slowly with half-times times of 4-5 days (Fono et al. 2006). Probably the best comparable dataset was obtained during a tracer experiment at a Swedish river (Säva) which - based on discharge - is about ten times larger than river Gründlach (Kunkel and Radke 2011). There, ibuprofen was rapidly removed from surface water with a half-life time of 10 hours, and clofibric acid was also eliminated at a half-life of 2.5 days. In contrast, bezafibrate, diclofenac, metoprolol, and naproxen were not attenuated within a travel time of 48 hours. Unfortunately, the elimination of ibuprofen and clofibric acid cannot be assessed for river Gründlach. In contrast to Säva Brook, however, at river Gründlach we observed elimination rates of bezafibrate, diclofenac, metoprolol, and naproxen between 40 % and 70 % within a travel time of 12-18 hours. In a similar mass-balancing approach as in the present work, (hardly) no elimination of bezafibrate, diclofenac, and naproxen was observed at a river (discharge about 20 times larger) located 50 km north of river Gründlach (Radke et al. 2010). The observed differences in the fate of individual compounds in these three rivers (Gründlach, Säva, and Roter Main) are supposedly a result of the different stream characteristics and hydraulics. For example, turbidity in Säva Brook (Figure S5 in Kunkel and Radke (2011)) or Figure A-5 in this thesis is much higher than in the rivers Gründlach (Figure B- 5) and Roter Main (Figure S1 in Radke et al. (2010)). Additionally, the average water depth of Säva Brook and Roter Main (1 m each) is notably larger than in river Gründlach (15 cm). The combination of these two parameters favors phototransformation in river Gründlach while it is restrained by the larger water depth in river Roter Main and additionally by the high turbidity in Säva Brook. This might partly explain the elimination of diclofenac (which is susceptible to photolysis) in river Gründlach while no elimination was observed in rivers Säva and Roter Main. Another aspect is the exchange of river water and solutes between the stream channel and the hyporheic zone. Although flow velocity under baseflow conditions are similar in all three rivers (approx. 10 cm s⁻¹), this exchange is (supposedly) much higher in river Gründlach. This can be attributed to the shallow water depth and the resulting smaller ratio of surface water volume to sediment surface area (Packman et al. 2004), to small-scale bedform heterogeneities which were characteristic for the whole stretch a river Gründlach (see Table A- 1) that induce enhanced hyporheic exchange (Elliott and Brooks 1997), and to the comparatively high hydraulic conductivity of the sandy sediments at river Gründlach.

3.5 CONCLUSIONS

In this study we investigated the fate of pharmaceutical residues in a small river. All eight regularly detected pharmaceuticals were attenuated compared to carbamazepine which was used as conservative tracer. Its persistence against photolysis and biodegradation on time scales relevant for this study (maximum travel time of one day) had been shown previously and was also confirmed by this study. The combination of time-resolved composite sampling with *in situ* experiments allows differentiating between potential elimination processes. Hence, this work provides a clear picture of the relevance of individual attenuation processes of organic micropollutants.

Based on the results of this study, we derive the following conclusions.

• The dataset derived for the river Gründlach provides a benchmark for the elimination of the studied pharmaceuticals under favorable yet realistic conditions in Central Europe. Although conditions for photolysis were sub-optimal due to the partial shading of the river stretch, this is typical for the majority of small streams in urban and agriculturally used areas.

• Elimination by photolysis is of minor importance for most substances in rivers. Even under (near) optimal conditions (small stream depth, sparse bank vegetation) photolysis contributes only 50 % to the total elimination for a highly photolabile substance like diclofenac. Therefore, in larger (and deeper) rivers, photolysis of organic micropollutants is supposedly to be even of less importance.

• At favorable hydraulic conditions (intense exchange of surface water and pore water) like at river Gründlach, biotransformation in the bed sediments can be an efficient elimination pathway for pharmaceuticals. For example, the high attenuation of bezafibrate and metoprolol within less than one day can be directly attributed to biotransformation processes in the hyporheic zone since they were persistent to photolysis and transformation in the surface water.

The combination of highly time-resolved sampling and *in situ* experiments that was applied in this study allows elucidating the importance of individual processes and quantifying the overall elimination of organic micropollutants in rivers. However, to provide a better access to *in situ* biotransformation rates of organic micropollutants in river sediments, detailed knowledge on solute transfer rates into and residence times in the sediments are required. Thus, future studies should aim at quantifying this exchange between stream channel and hyporheic zone on both the local and the reach scale.

3.6 REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER 3

Al-Rajab, A.J., Sabourin, L., Lapen, D.R. and Topp, E. **(2010)** *The Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug Diclofenac Is Readily Biodegradable in Agricultural Soils.* Science of the Total Environment 409(1), 78-82.

Andreozzi, R., Raffaele, M. and Nicklas, P. **(2003)** *Pharmaceuticals in STP Effluents and Their Solar Photodegradation in Aquatic Environment.* Chemosphere 50(10), 1319-1330.

Bartels, P. and von Tümpling, W. (2007) *Solar Radiation Influence on the Decomposition Process of Diclofenac in Surface Waters.* Science of the Total Environment 374(1), 143-155.

Bendz, D., Paxeus, N.A., Ginn, T.R. and Loge, F.J. **(2005)** *Occurrence and Fate of Pharmaceutically Active Compounds in the Environment, a Case Study: Hoje River in Sweden.* Journal of Hazardous Materials 122(3), 195-204.

Buser, H.R., Poiger, T. and Müller, M.D. (1998) Occurrence and Fate of the Pharmaceutical Drug Diclofenac in Surface Waters: Rapid Photodegradation in a Lake. Environmental Science & Technology 32(22), 3449-3456.

Calisto, V., Domingues, M.R.M., Erny, G.L. and Esteves, V.I. **(2011)** *Direct Photodegradation of Carbamazepine Followed by Micellar Electrokinetic Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry.* Water Research 45(3), 1095-1104.

Canonica, S., Meunier, L. and Von Gunten, U. (2008) *Phototransformation of Selected Pharmaceuticals During UV Treatment of Drinking Water.* Water Research 42, 121-128.

Cardenas, M.B., Wilson, J.L. and Zlotnik, V.A. (2004) *Impact of Heterogeneity, Bed Forms, and Stream Curvature on Subchannel Hyporheic Exchange.* Water Resources Research 40(8).

Clara, M., Strenn, B. and Kreuzinger, N. **(2004)** *Carbamazepine as a Possible Anthropogenic Marker in the Aquatic Environment: Investigations on the Behaviour of Carbamazepine in Wastewater Treatment and During Groundwater Infiltration.* Water Research 38(4), 947-954.

Daneshvar, A., Svanfelt, J., Kronberg, L., Prevost, M. and Weyhenmeyer, G.A. (2010) Seasonal Variations in the Occurrence and Fate of Basic and Neutral Pharmaceuticals in a Swedish River-Lake System. Chemosphere 80(3), 301-309.

Defoin, A., Defoin-Straatmann, R., Hildenbrand, K., Bittersmann, E., Kreft, D. and Kuhn, H.J. **(1986)** A New Liquid Phase Actinometer: Quantum Yield and Photo-Cidnp Study of Phenylglyoxylic Acid in Aqueous Solution. Journal of Photochemistry 33(2), 237-255.

Elliott, A.H. and Brooks, N.H. (1997) *Transfer of Nonsorbing Solutes to a Streambed with Bed Forms: Laboratory Experiments.* Water Resources Research 33(1), 137-151.

Fono, L.J., Kolodziej, E.P. and Sedlak, D.L. **(2006)** *Attenuation of Wastewater-Derived Contaminants in an Effluent-Dominated River.* Environmental Science & Technology 40(23), 7257-7262.

Huehnerfuss, H. and Shah, M.R. **(2009)** *Enantioselective Chromatography-a Powerful Tool for the Discrimination of Biotic and Abiotic Transformation Processes of Chiral Environmental Pollutants.* Journal of Chromatography A 1216(3), 481-502.

Kilpatrick, F.A. and Wilson, J.F. **(1989)** *Measurement of Time of Travel in Streams by Dye Tracing. Twi 03-A9,*, USGS.

Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. **(2008)** *Biodegradation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals in Bed Sediments: Insight from a Laboratory Experiment.* Environmental Science & Technology 42(19), 7273-7279.

Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. **(2011)** *Reactive Tracer Test to Evaluate the Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers.* Environmental Science & Technology 45(15), 6296-6302.

Lahti, M. and Oikari, A. **(2011)** *Microbial Transformation of Pharmaceuticals Naproxen, Bisoprolol, and Diclofenac in Aerobic and Anaerobic Environments.* Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 61(2), 202-210.

Lavén, M., Alsberg, T., Yu, Y., Adolfsson-Erici, M. and Sun, H. **(2009)** *Serial Mixed-Mode Cationand Anion-Exchange Solid-Phase Extraction for Separation of Basic, Neutral and Acidic Pharmaceuticals in Wastewater and Analysis by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography-Quadrupole Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry.* Journal of Chromatography A 1216(1), 49-62.

Lewandowski, J., Angermann, L., Nützmann, G. and Fleckenstein, J.H. **(2011a)** A Heat Pulse Technique for the Determination of Small-Scale Flow Directions and Flow Velocities in the Streambed of Sand-Bed Streams. Hydrological Processes 25(20), 3244-3255.

Lewandowski, J., Putschew, A., Schwesig, D., Neumann, C. and Radke, M. **(2011b)** *Fate of Organic Micropollutants in the Hyporheic Zone of a Eutrophic Lowland Stream: Results of a Preliminary Field Study.* Science of the Total Environment 409(10), 1824-1835.

Lin, A.Y.C., Plumlee, M.H. and Reinhard, M. **(2006)** *Natural Attenuation of Pharmaceuticals and Alkylphenol Polyethoxylate Metabolites During River Transport: Photochemical and Biological Transformation.* Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 25(6), 1458-1464.

Löffler, D., Römbke, J., Meller, M. and Ternes, T.A. (2005) *Environmental Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Water/Sediment Systems.* Environmental Science & Technology 39(14), 5209-5218.

Meyer, B., Pailler, J., Guignard, C., Hoffmann, L. and Krein, A. **(2011)** *Concentrations of Dissolved Herbicides and Pharmaceuticals in a Small River in Luxembourg.* Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 180(1-4), 127-146.

Moore, D.E. and Zhou, W. (1994) *Photodegradation of Sulfamethoxazole: A Chemical System Capable of Monitoring Seasonal Changes in UVB Intensity.* Photochemistry and Photobiology 59(5), 497-502.

Neamţu, M. and Frimmel, F.H. **(2006)** *Photodegradation of Endocrine Disrupting Chemical Nonylphenol by Simulated Solar UV-Irradiation.* Science of the Total Environment 369(1-3), 295-306.

Nödler, K., Licha, T., Fischer, S., Wagner, B. and Sauter, M. (2011) A Case Study on the Correlation of Micro-Contaminants and Potassium in the Leine River (Germany). Applied Geochemistry 26(12), 2172-2180.

Packer, J.L., Werner, J.J., Latch, D.E., McNeill, K. and Arnold, W.A. **(2003)** *Photochemical Fate of Pharmaceuticals in the Environment: Naproxen, Diclofenac, Clofibric Acid, and Ibuprofen.* Aquatic Sciences 65(4), 342-351.

Packman, A., Salehin, M. and Zaramella, M. **(2004)** *Hyporheic Exchange with Gravel Beds: Basic Hydrodynamic Interactions and Bedform-Induced Advective Flows.* Journal of Hydraulic Engineering-Asce 130(7), 647-656.

Piram, A., Salvador, A., Verne, C., Herbreteau, B. and Faure, R. (2008) *Photolysis of Beta-Blockers in Environmental Waters*. Chemosphere 73(8), 1265-1271.

R Development Core Team **(2011)** *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

Radke, M., Lauwigi, C., Heinkele, G., Mürdter, T.E. and Letzel, M. **(2009)** *Fate of the Antibiotic Sulfamethoxazole and Its Two Major Human Metabolites in a Water Sediment Test.* Environmental Science & Technology 43(9), 3135-3141.

Radke, M., Ulrich, H., Wurm, C. and Kunkel, U. **(2010)** *Dynamics and Attenuation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals Along a River Stretch.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(8), 2968-2974.

Ramil, M., El Aref, T., Fink, G., Scheurer, M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2010)** *Fate of Beta Blockers in Aquatic-Sediment Systems: Sorption and Biotransformation.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(3), 962-970.

Robinson, P.F., Liu, Q.T., Riddle, A.M. and Murray-Smith, R. **(2007)** *Modeling the Impact of Direct Phototransformation on Predicted Environmental Concentrations (Pecs) of Propranolol Hydrochloride in UK and US Rivers.* Chemosphere 66(4), 757-766.

Sacher, F., Ehmann, M., Gabriel, S., Graf, C. and Brauch, H.J. (2008) *Pharmaceutical Residues in the River Rhine - Results of a One-Decade Monitoring Programme.* Journal of Environmental Monitoring 10(5), 664-670.

Schwarzenbach, R.P., Gschwend, P.M. and Imboden, D.M. (2003) *Environmental Organic Chemistry*, Wiley-Interscience, New York.

Ternes, T.A. **(1998)** *Occurrence of Drugs in German Sewage Treatment Plants and Rivers.* Water Research 32(11), 3245-3260.

Tiehm, A., Schmidt, N., Stieber, M., Sacher, F., Wolf, L. and Hoetzl, H. **(2011)** *Biodegradation of Pharmaceutical Compounds and Their Occurrence in the Jordan Valley.* Water Resources Management 25(4), 1195-1203.

Tixier, C., Singer, H.P., Oellers, S. and Müller, S.R. **(2003)** *Occurrence and Fate of Carbamazepine, Clofibric Acid, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, Ketoprofen, and Naproxen in Surface Waters.* Environmental Science & Technology 37(6), 1061-1068.

Vanderford, B.J., Mawhinney, D.B., Trenholm, R.A., Zeigler-Holady, J.C. and Snyder, S.A. (2011) Assessment of Sample Preservation Techniques for Pharmaceuticals, Personal Care Products, and Steroids in Surface and Drinking Water. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 399(6), 2227-2234.

Xu, B.B., Chen, Z.L., Qi, F., Shen, J.M. and Wu, F.C. **(2009)** *Factors Influencing the Photodegradation of N-Nitrosodimethylamine in Drinking Water.* Frontiers of Environmental Science & Engineering in China 3(1), 91-97.

4 STUDY III: DETERMINING REALISTIC BIOTRANSFORMATION RATES IN RIVER SEDIMENTS

Recirculating Sediment Columns Provide Generalizable Rate Constants for the Biotransformation of Pharmaceuticals in River Sediments

Uwe Kunkel¹, Stephanie Wilde, and Michael Radke^{2,*}

Department of Hydrology, BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany

¹ present address: Federal Institute of Hydrology, 56068 Koblenz, Germany

² present address: Department of Applied Environmental Science, Stockholm University, 10691 Stockholm, Sweden

> *Corresponding Author phone +46/86747136; fax +46/86747638; e-Mail: michael.radke@itm.su.se

to be submitted to Environmental Science & Technology

4.1 ABSTRACT

Biological transformation processes in river sediments are a major attenuation pathway for pharmaceutical residues in rivers and streams. They have been intensively investigated in recent years. However, most of the previous (laboratory) studies are not appropriate to derive elimination rates that represent conditions in the hyporheic zone. To meet this challenge, we set up a recirculating system where river water was continuously pumped through sediment columns. By this approach, the elimination kinetics of eight commonly detected pharmaceutical residues (bezafibrate, carbamazepine, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, metoprolol, naproxen, and propranolol) were determined in four different sediments. Generally, the derived elimination rate constants (k_{eli}) were much faster than previously determined values with static batch systems. Half-life times for the biotransformation of ibuprofen and metoprolol ranged from 0.5 to 1.8 days and 0.9 to 3.6 days, respectively. Even substances with low reported biodegradabilities such as clofibric acid were removed at rate constants corresponding to half-life times as short as 2.9 days. Additionally, we were able to reveal that a contradictive observed attenuation behavior of bezafibrate and diclofenac at two rivers cannot be explained by a different biological transformation potential of the respective river sediments since bezafibrate and diclofenac were efficiently eliminated in sediments from both field sites (half-life times of bezafibrate: 1.1 – 9.3 days, diclofenac: 1.5 – 4.1 days). Derived k_{eli} values for each pharmaceutical were in the same range in all tested sediments and almost independent from boundary conditions such as the filter velocity in the sediment columns. Moreover, the elimination rates were determined under hydrological conditions that simulate advective exchange process at the surface water/sediment interface. Hence, the derived elimination rates are supposedly more realistic for estimating in situ attenuation rates in river sediments than values determined in batch systems and thus can be used as valuable input parameters for reactive transport modeling of pharmaceutical residues in rivers.

4.2 INTRODUCTION

The increasing use of pharmaceuticals has led to a large number of studies on their fate during wastewater treatment (Carballa et al. 2005, Joss et al. 2006, Ternes and Hirsch 2000, Wick et al. 2009). Many pharmaceuticals are only incompletely removed during wastewater treatment, and consequently are discharged into receiving waters where they are commonly detected (Ankley et al. 2007, Boxall et al. 2012, Heberer 2002, Sacher et al. 2008). Besides phototransformation in surface waters (Boreen et al. 2003, Buser et al. 1998, Vione et al. 2011), (bio-)transformation and sorption in the sediment compartment constitute the two major elimination pathways of organic micropollutants such as pharmaceutical residues in rivers. During the last years, several studies addressed their attenuation in rivers of different sizes (Fono et al. 2006, Kunkel and Radke 2012, Lin et al. 2006, Radke et al. 2010, Writer et al. 2012). However, differentiating between the contributions of individual elimination processes to the total attenuation is not straightforward and not always feasible. While concepts for the *in situ* determination of phototransformation rates (e.g., installing test tubes into the river) are available and were successfully tested (Radke et al. 2010), the *in situ* determination of biotransformation in river sediments is still a challenge to be

addressed. Some concepts such as miniature push-pull tests were used for the *in situ* determination of turnover rates of nitrate in river sediments (Knecht et al. 2011), the application to pharmaceuticals has not yet been reported.

Commonly, the fate of organic micropollutants in river sediments is investigated in controlled laboratory test systems. Most test designs consist of static batch systems (simplified versions of experimental test systems described in OECD Guideline 308) containing sediment and a supernatant of water (OECD 2002). While these systems provide valuable information on the general persistence of a compound and also on the formation of transformation products (Löffler et al. 2005, Prasse et al. 2009, Radke et al. 2009, Radke and Maier 2014), they are not appropriate for deriving realistic and universally valid kinetic data. The exchange of substances from the supernatant into the sediment – where the predominant proportion of the transformation or sorption of micropollutants takes place (Kunkel and Radke 2008) - is (almost) exclusively driven by diffusion. In contrast, in reality this exchange is both driven by larger scale groundwater/surface water interactions (infiltrating or exfiltrating conditions, Anibas et al. (2011)) and small-scale fluxes of water and solutes across the surface water/sediment interface (Cardenas et al. 2004, Saenger et al. 2005). Additionally, due to the slow fluxes across the sediment surface in the standard batch systems, oxygen is consumed in the uppermost millimeters of the sediment and rapidly anaerobic zones in the sediment/water batch systems occur. This lack of oxygen is often a limiting factor for the transformation of pharmaceuticals since transformation rates of many organic micropollutants are higher under aerobic conditions (Massmann et al. 2008). In experimental designs with an enhanced exchange between surface and pore water oxygen is still available for microbial respiration processes in greater sediment depths (Kunkel and Radke 2008, Moodley et al. 1998). A second and more complex approach to assess the fate of substances in river sediments is to use column experiments. However, in these experiments the focus often is laid on the transport and sorption of substances and the residence time of substances in the sediment is too short (a few hours) to derive data for calculating reliable transformation rates. Only few studies used very long columns and small pore water velocities (Baumgarten et al. 2011). However, these experiments are more appropriate to simulate processes during river bank filtration and not to mimic the often small scale and rapid exchange processes at the sediment surface of rivers which continuously introduce oxygen and nutrients into the upper parts of the sediments. The third one is to use flume systems representing the most complex system to evaluate the fate of organic micropollutants in rivers. This setup was successfully applied to determine the influence of the flow regime in the surface water on the elimination of six acidic pharmaceuticals (Kunkel and Radke 2008). Yet, the usage of this test design for a battery of different approaches or replicates of the same setup is limited due the large amounts of water, sediments, and laboratory space needed as well as also of the high purchase costs for such a system.

The general aim of the present work was to engineer a test design which merges the advantages of all three commonly used systems (static batch experiments, column experiments, flume experiments) while minimizing the disadvantages of each approach to study transformation kinetics of a suite of pharmaceuticals in river sediments. Special focus was laid on a dynamic and flow driven exchange of surface and pore water. To this end, we developed a recirculating system where surface water was actively pumped through river sediments following the setup described in Gröning et al. (2007). The four main aspects of this work were i) to differentiate between elimination by abiotic and biotic processes in river sediments, ii) to determine the relationships of elimination kinetics for specific substances in different sediments, iii) to investigate whether the filter velocity has an impact on the elimination of pharmaceuticals, and iv) to relate the derived elimination kinetics to measured elimination along river stretches where the sediments were taken. In total, the fate of eight commonly detected pharmaceuticals (bezafibrate, carbamazepine, clofibric acid, diclofenac, ibuprofen, metoprolol, naproxen, and propranolol) was investigated.

4.3 MATERIAL AND METHODS

4.3.1 CHEMICALS

All pharmaceutical standards (purity > 97 %) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Seelze, Germany). The isotope-substituted surrogate standards bezafibrate- D_4 , clofibric acid- D_4 , ibuprofen- D_3 , diclofenac- D_4 , naproxen- D_3 , metoprolol- D_7 , and propranolol- D_7 were purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (North York, ON, Canada); carbamazepine-¹³C¹⁵N was kindly provided by the German Federal Institute of Hydrology (BfG, Koblenz, Germany). Acetonitrile (ACN) was obtained from Th. Geyer (Renningen, Germany), water (H₂O) was supplied by J.T. Baker (Deventer, The Netherlands), and acetic acid (HAc, all LC-grade) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

4.3.2 SAMPLING SITES AND SEDIMENTS

Sediments were collected from rivers Roter Main and Gründlach (see Table 4-1). Both rivers are located in Northern Bavaria and represent typical small rivers in Middle Europe. River Roter Main was sampled near the city of Bayreuth where the average annual discharge is about 3 m³ s⁻¹ (http://www.hnd.bayern.de, gauging station "Bayreuth, Roter Main"). Most parts of the sediments of river Roter Main are predominantly sandy except for some slower flowing river stretches upstream of weirs where clayey sediments occur. At some sites the banks and river bed are reinforced and there sediments often are rocky. More information on the river Roter Main and its catchment is given in Radke et al. (2010). Sediments were taken at three different sites of river Roter Main: one sandy sediment was sampled upstream of the city of Bayreuth (no substantial background of wastewater, RM1), and both a sandy sediment (RM2) and a silty sediment (RM3) were collected near the town of Heinersreuth after the WWTP Bayreuth discharges into river Roter Main. Sediment RM1 was sampled on two different dates with a time interval of about eight months. The second river was river Gründlach which is located approx. 10 km north of the city of Nuremberg. River Gründlach is about ten times smaller than river Roter Main with an average discharge of approx. 0.3 m³ s⁻¹ (http://www.hnd.bayern.de, gauging station "Frauenkreuz/Gründlach") and the sediments are deep sandy in the whole catchment. Sediments were sampled close to "Hundsmühle" downstream of the WWTP Heroldsberg (sediment GR). More details on river Gründlach are given in Kunkel and Radke (2012). All sediments were taken from the uppermost 20 cm and wet sieved (< 2 mm). Surface water was collected as grab sample from the middle of the river. The sieved sediments were stored at 4°C with some centimeters of the surface water as supernatant until the experiments were conducted; the water was stored at 4°C as well.

Table 4-1: Coordinates of the sampling sites of the four sediments for the column experiments and sediment characteristics.

	RM1	RM2	RM3	GR
River	Roter Main	Roter Main	Roter Main	Gründlach
Coordinates	49°54'25.1"N, 11°37'05.1"E	49°58'07.6"N, 11°32'18.0"E	49°57'56.0"N, 11°32'24.7"E	49°31'26.8"N, 11°08'10.8"E
pH of water (-)	7.5 ± 0.2	7.4 ± 0.2	7.4 ± 0.2	7.5 ± 0.2
Coarse sand ¹ (%)	65.3 ± 5.6	61.0 ± 3.0	0.7	31.2 ± 1.2
Medium sand (%) ¹	33.3 ± 6.2	36.2 ± 2.4	4.1	67.8 ± 1.2
Fine sand (%) ¹	31.4 ± 5.8	2.4 ± 2.3	59.9	0.6 ± 0.1
Silt and clay (%) ¹	0.4 ± 0.3	0.6 ± 0.3	33.7	0.5 ± 0.5
Classification ¹	sand	sand	sandy silt	sand
C (%)	0.08	0.11	0.72	0.2
N (%)	< LOQ ²	< LOQ	0.06	< LOQ

¹Classification after AG Boden (1994), ²LOQ: 0.05

4.3.3 SETUP OF THE COLUMN EXPERIMENTS

Experiments were conducted in stainless steel columns (length: 30 cm, diameter: 6 cm) previously described by Strauss et al. (2011). The steel columns were incrementally filled with wet sediment from the respective sampling site. To exclude air pockets in the sediment and to obtain a realistic bulk density of the sediment within the steel column each increment was compacted by tapping against the wall of the cylinder. Perforated steel plates were placed at on boths ends of the steel cylinders to retain the sediment within the column. Water was pumped through the columns from bottom to top by a peristaltic pump (IP-8, Ismatec, Wertheim-Mondfeld, Germany) equipped with Pharmed[®] BPT tubing (Ø 1.85 mm, novodirect, Kehl/Rhein, Germany). The water was sucked out of a storage vessel (1 L amber glass screw cap bottles with a modified cap). The water in the storage vessel was permanently aerated to maintain oxygen saturation. The outlet of the sediment column was piped back into the storage vessel to generate a recirculating system. At the inlet and the outlet of the sediment column, three-way cocks (Fresenius, PSU, Bad Homburg, Germany) were installed to enable sampling of water before and after the sediment passage. All connecting tubes were made of PTFE (Ø 4 mm, VWR, Germany). Coupling of tubes and three-way cocks was done by Luer hose connectors (PP, novodirect). Up to six columns were run in parallel. A scheme and a picture of the whole experimental setup are given in Figure C-1.

Experiments were run at three different filter velocities (flow rate normalized to the effective cross-section area in the sediment columns): 2.5 m d⁻¹, 5.0 m d⁻¹ and 10 m d⁻¹ and were kept constant throughout each experiment. An overview of the performed experiments is given in Table 4-2. Experiments (Exp.) 1, 2, 5, and 6 were run in a standard laboratory room. To inhibit both sunlight-induced microbial and algae growth as well as phototransformation of test substances in the semi-transparent PTFE tubes, all PTFE tubes were wrapped in aluminum foil during these experiments. Additionally the windows were coated with an UV light filtering foil. Exp. 3, 4, 7, and 8 were conducted in a dark room. To check for abiotic transformation processes and sorption of the pharmaceuticals to the river sediments, control experiments with sterilized sediment and water were run. To this end, sediments and water were autoclaved (90 min at 125 °C and 1.4 bar) and sodium azide (NaN₃, 0.1 % final concentration) was additionally added to the river water to inhibit microbial re-growth during the course of the experiments. Control experiments without river sediment were sediment were sediments with sterilized water. There, the same setup was used, but the steel columns were solely filled with river water. All experiments were run at room temperature (22 ± 2°C).

Exp.	Sediment	Control experiments	Filter velocity (m d ⁻¹)	No. of repli- cates
1a) ^{1,2}	RM1	-	5.0	5
1b) ^{1,2}	RM1	w ³ , s ⁴	5.0	4
2)	RM2	s ⁴	2.5	2
3)	RM2	w ³ , s ⁴	5.0	2
4)	RM2	s ⁴	10	2
<i>5)</i> ²	RM3	w ³ , s ⁴	5.0	2
6)	GR	-	5.0	2
7)	GR	s ⁴	10	2
8)	GR	s ⁴	10	2

Table 4-2: Overview of the different performed column experiments

¹ experiments were run with sediments collected at site RM1 with a time difference of approx. eight months, ² carbamazepine was not spiked, ³ w: river water control without sediment, ⁴ s: sterile control with autoclaved sediment/river and addition of NaN₃ (0.1 %)

4.3.4 SAMPLING AND DETERMINATION OF BOUNDARY CONDITIONS

After an equilibration phase of seven days to recover microbial activities after storage of water and sediment at 4 °C, the water in the storage bottles was discarded and replaced by fresh surface water. This water was then spiked with a cocktail of pharmaceuticals ($c = 2 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$ in high purity water) to obtain an initial concentration of 100 µg L⁻¹ in Exp. 1 and 5 and 200 µg L⁻¹ in Exp. 2-4 and 6-8, respectively. The spiking solution was well mixed with the surface water in the storage.

age bottle, the peristaltic pump was started and after about fifteen minutes – as soon as the water from the storage bottle had completely replaced the non-spiked water in the connecting PTFE tubes – the first sample was taken before the sediment column at position A. The first sampling at position B was done after about approx. one pore volume had been pumped through the column.

Water was sampled at the three-way cocks without applying any additional suction. In total, about 12 mL of water were sampled. Of the total sample volume, 2 mL were directly used for the determination of pH and dissolved oxygen (DO), respectively. 6 mL of the sample were separated and stored frozen for the subsequent analysis of nitrate and sulfate. The remaining sample volume was transferred into 1.5 mL PP centrifuge tubes and stored frozen for the determination of the pharmaceutical concentrations. For the analysis of total organic carbon (TOC) in the water, additional 10 mL were sampled and stored frozen until analysis.

Sulfate (method adapted from Tabatabai (1974)) and nitrate (Spectroquant nitrate kit, Merck, Darmstadt, Germany) were determined photometrically (DR 3800, Hach-Lange, Düsseldorf, Germany). TOC was measured with a total organic carbon analyzer (TOC V-CPN, Shimadzu, Duisburg, Germany). C_{org} and N of the sediments were determined with a TOC/TNb analyzer (multi N/C 2100, Analytik Jena, Jena, Germany).

Experiments were run for up to four weeks. The sampling intervals were short (intervals less than one day) at the beginning and enlarged during the course of the experiments (intervals up to one week). Samples at sampling point B were taken at every sampling date while samples at point A were taken at the beginning of each experiment and then only occasionally. At each sampling day, the filter velocity was measured by clocking the time until 10 mL had flown into the test tube, and the rotation speed of the peristaltic pump was re-adjusted if necessary.

4.3.5 ANALYTICAL METHODS

In Exp. 1 and 5, 500 μ L of the sample were taken, transferred to small reaction tubes mixed with 50 μ L of the surrogate solution (c = 0.5 μ g mL⁻¹, aq.). Then, 350 μ L of this solution were pipetted into HPLC vials and 150 μ L of ACN (8.34 mM HAc) were added. Samples were stored frozen until final analysis. In Exp. 2-4 and 6-8 sample processing was slightly different. Here, 5 µL of different surrogate solutions (c = 5 μ g mL⁻¹, aq.) were each added to 1 mL of the sample, well mixed, and passed through a 0.45 µm nylon filter (Rotilabo®, Carl Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany). 350 µL of the filtrate was transferred into an HPLC vial and mixed with 150 µL of ACN (8.34 mM HAc). Except for Exp. 2 and 6, pharmaceutical concentrations were determined using an HPLC-MS/MS system consisting of two binary HPLC pumps (Prostar 210), an autosampler (Prostar 410), and a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (1200L, all by Varian Inc, Darmstadt, Germany). Chromatographic separation was done using an HPLC column (Luna C18(2)-100A, 150 x 2 mm) and a binary gradient of H₂O and ACN (both 2.5 mM HAc). In Exp. 2 and 6 pharmaceutical concentrations were determined with a UHPLC-MS/MS (Acquity UPLC system; Xevo TQ-S mass spectrometer; Waters, Milford, MA). There, the chromatographic separation was achieved by a binary gradient on a HSS T3 column (100 mm × 2.1 mm, Waters). Solvent A consisted of H₂O:ACN, 95:5 and solvent B of ACN:H₂O 95:5 (both containing 10 mM HAc). In Exp. 1, metoprolol-D₇ was not yet available and

metoprolol was quantified using propranolol- D_7 instead. Instrument calibration and sample quantification was performed using the isotope dilution method and calibration was linear in the range from 0.5 µg L⁻¹ to 200 µg L⁻¹.

4.3.6 CALCULATIONS AND DATA ANALYSIS

For calculation of elimination rate constants (of microbial transformation, k_{eli}) the highest determined concentration at port B (after the sediment column) was regarded as reference and starting concentration instead of concentrations in the initial samples taken at sampling port A. This procedure was chosen to avoid obtaining altered k_{eli} values by initial mixing and sorption processes. A descriptive example for this procedure is given in the Appendix (chapter 6.3.3, Figure C- 2). Data from replicate experiments (n = 2–5) were aggregated into one combined dataset. Assuming first-order elimination kinetics, all concentrations were normalized to the reference concentration, logarithmized and the elimination rate constant (k_{eli}) was calculated by applying linear regression to the logarithmized data. Moreover, the half-life time for the elimination for each substance was calculated ($t_{H} = \frac{ln(2)}{k_{eli}}$). Only elimination rate constants at a significance level of p < 0.05 are reported. For all k_{eli} and t_{H} values, the standard errors as well as the 95 % confidence intervals were calculated.

For some substances, elimination rate constants changed during the course of the experiment. In these cases, a first/initial regression was performed for the first time period and then a second regression was calculated for the time period after the slope of the regression had changed (also see Figure C- 3 in the Appendix). Rate constants were considered statistically different if their 95 % confidence intervals did not overlap. Derived k_{eli} of all pharmaceuticals at the flow velocity of 5.0 m d⁻¹ (Exp. 1a, 1b, 3, 5, 7) were ranked using Spearman's rank coefficient for the individual compounds. The same was applied to the respective elimination rate constants for the three filter velocities (2.5, 5.0, and 10 m d⁻¹) with sediments RM2 and GR (Exp. 2-4 and 6-8). Hereby, the highest elimination rate constant was given the lowest rank. All statistical analyses were performed using the open source software package R (R Development Core Team 2013). K_{eli} values were also taken as input variables for a principle component analysis (PCA) and a cluster analysis (using Euclidean distance) to support the ranking of the biodegradability of pharmaceuticals with complementary statistical testing.

4.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.4.1 ABIOTIC CONTROL EXPERIMENTS AND ELIMINATION IN SURFACE WATER

Sterile Controls. Generally, the concentration of all compounds did not decrease with time after an initial equilibration phase. This is exemplarily shown for the filter velocity of 10 m d⁻¹ (Exp. 4 and 8) in the Supporting Information (Figure C- 4). In a few cases, a significant and continuous elimination was observed. However, the elimination rates were small compared to the rates in the non-sterile approaches and therefore not considered further (for details see Table C- 2 in Appendix 6.3). For the beta-blockers metoprolol and propranolol the first moments of detection as

well as the time point of the maximum concentration at sampling port B were substantially delayed compared to the other pharmaceuticals. Additionally, the final concentration also indicated a substantial removal from the dissolved phase by sorption to the sediment which was previously reported (Radke and Maier 2014, Ramil et al. 2010). However, in accordance to the other compounds, sorption equilibrium for metoprolol and propranolol was reached rapidly (see Figure C- 4 in the Appendix). Therefore, in real river sediments, when the sediments are continuously exposed to rather constant concentrations of pharmaceuticals in the surface water for a prolonged time period, sorption to sediments is no efficient removal pathway for the investigated substances.

Surface Water Controls. In Exp. 1, 3, and 5, control experiments were run without sediments (only surface water from sites where sediments RM1, RM2, and RM3 were taken) to determine the elimination in surface water. Initially, no or only slow elimination of pharmaceuticals was observed and the respective half-life times in surface water were always > 15 days for all pharmaceuticals (Table C-3). However, for some substances, after an initial lag-phase of six to ten days, a rapid elimination was observed. For bezafibrate and ibuprofen, using river water from RM1 and RM3, concentrations then rapidly decreased and were below the LOQ (2 μ g L⁻¹) within a few days (< 5 days for ibuprofen, 6-10 days for bezafibrate). However, due to an insufficient quantity of data points during this fast concentration decrease, calculation of keli was not possible. Nevertheless, the elimination rates during this rapid concentration decrease are presumably as high as in the experimental approaches with sediment (see below). Similar results were also observed during flume experiments with river water (Kunkel and Radke 2008). There, ibuprofen was rapidly eliminated after a lag-phase of eight days, while naproxen was continuously eliminated at a rate constant corresponding to a t_H of about seven days. For carbamazepine no surface water controls were performed. However, since carbamazepine was not eliminated in the approaches with sediment, it is reasonable to assume that carbamazepine would not have been eliminated during the water control experiments.

4.4.2 Elimination Rates of Different Pharmaceuticals in Various Sediments

The elimination kinetics of the individual pharmaceuticals in the different sediments were similar (see Figure C- 5 to Figure C- 12 in the Appendix). Especially for substances that were quickly eliminated in the test systems, the deviation of elimination rates in individual sediment columns was almost indefinite. Thus, the chosen experimental setup of recirculating sediment columns can be regarded appropriate to derive reproducible k_{eli} values.



Figure 4-1: Elimination rate constants (k_{eli} , ± 95% confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of pharmaceuticals in different sediments at a filter velocity of 5.0 m d⁻¹. Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol; CBZ was not spiked in Exp. with RM1a/b and RM3; §: no significant elimination during initial time period; empty bars with grey border: $k_{eli,sec}$ after initial period with slow/no elimination

Except for carbamazepine, all pharmaceuticals were efficiently eliminated during the recirculating columns experiments (Figure 4-1). The concentration decreases were much more pronounced than in the sterile controls and therefore elimination can be attributed to biological processes. The calculated elimination rate constants ranged from relatively slow rates for clofibric acid (0.05-0.25 d⁻¹) up to approx. 1.0 d⁻¹ for substances such as diclofenac or ibuprofen (Table C-4). The determined elimination rate constants differed more for the pharmaceutical than with the sediment (Figure 4-1). Therefore, it can be assumed that if a general elimination potential of a substance was determined within a specific river sediment, this elimination behavior can be transferred to other sediments. This hypothesis was confirmed by several statistical analyses. All testing is based on the initial keli. At first, we calculated the average Spearman's rank coefficient of keli for the pharmaceuticals in the different sediments (see Figure C- 13a). With the exception of the silty sediment RM3, Spearman's rank coefficients for the elimination rate constants of the pharmaceuticals were correlated (95 % significance level, Figure C- 14). This explicitly means that the elimination kinetics or at least the order of the elimination rate constants of pharmaceuticals in sediments with similar characteristics (i.e., regarding texture and Corg content) compared to a reference substance can be potentially predicted. However, it has to be kept in mind, that the sediments were collected only at two river systems and therefore might be not representative for the whole variety of sediments. In contrast, there was no clear correlation between the sediment type and the average rank of elimination rates for all pharmaceuticals in this sediment compared to other sediments (Figure C- 13b). From a visual analysis, the influence of the sampling the date (RM1a/RM1b) on the elimination kinetics of pharmaceuticals even seems to be more important than the sampling site of the sediments. More specifically, the determined k_{eli} were always higher with the sediment from the second sampling date (RM1b, Figure 4-1). The relationships between keli of pharmaceuticals and sediment quality were additionally checked by PCA (Figure C- 15a). The first principal component explains about 70%, the second about 18% of the total variance. In the loadings plot of the PCA (black labels in Figure C- 15a) the elimination rate constants of diclofenac, ibuprofen and metoprolol as well as clofibric acid and carbamazepine are grouped. Moreover, the cluster analysis (Figure C- 15b) also strongly differentiated the elimination rate constants of clofibric acid and carbamazepine on the one side and better biodegradable substances (diclofenac, ibuprofen, metoprolol, and propranolol) on the other side. In addition, the PCA also gave evidence that the elimination rate constants in the four sandy sediments (RM1a/b, RM2, GR) are different from the silty sediment RM3 (score plot, red labels in Figure C- 15a). Based on the results from this tool box of different statistical methods, the pharmaceuticals can be divided into three different groups regarding their biotransformation rates in river sediments: i) pharmaceuticals that are rapidly eliminated (diclofenac, ibuprofen, metoprolol), ii) pharmaceuticals that are moderately eliminated (bezafibrate, naproxen, propranolol) and iii) pharmaceuticals with no or only slow elimination (clofibric acid and carbamazepine).

For diclofenac, k_{eli} in all four experiments with sediments from river Roter Main (RM) were not significantly different. However, all rate constants of diclofenac in sediments from river Roter Main were different from the elimination rate determined in river Gründlach sediment (GR). In contrast, the elimination rate constants for ibuprofen and metoprolol in RM1a were significantly smaller than in sediments RM1b, RM2 and GR. If more data points for ibuprofen and metoprolol during experiments with sediment RM3 were available and thus the confidence intervals for the respective k_{eli} had been smaller, most certainly also k_{eli} in RM3 would have been significantly different from those in experiments with sediments RM1a. Generally, the derived elimination rate constants are high and corresponding DT_{50} for the elimination were in the range of about one day for diclofenac, ibuprofen, and metoprolol in various sediments. These DT_{50} are very small compared to DT_{50} values that are commonly determined in static batch experiments (Löffler et al. 2005, Radke and Maier 2014). A more thorough comparison of determined k_{eli} with literature data from different experimental setups is given below.

For some of the substances, a delayed onset of the elimination was observed. For example, clofibric acid was only eliminated in sediments RM1 right from the beginning of the experiment (Table C- 4). During experiments with the other sediments (RM2, RM3, GR) elimination of clofibric acid got going three to seven days after the experiment had been started (also see Figure C- 7 in the Appendix). But then, elimination was fast and half-life times for the degradation of clofibric acid from 2.9 to 5.8 days were determined (white bars with grey border in Figure 4-1). Similar observations of an initial lag-phase with no or only very slow elimination were also made for bezafibrate and naproxen. An overview of these increasing k_{eli} (also called secondary elimination

rate constants from here on, $k_{eli,sec}$) after this initial time span with no or only little elimination is also given in Table C- 5 and discussed in detail in chapter 4.4.4.

4.4.3 INFLUENCE OF THE FILTER VELOCITY ON ELIMINATION KINETICS

One aim of this study was to obtain kinetic data for the elimination of pharmaceuticals in river sediments that are less dependent on the experimental setup than data from the commonly performed batch experiments. To this end, the elimination behavior of pharmaceuticals was evaluated at three different filter velocities (2.5, 5.0, and 10 m d⁻¹) in two sandy sediments with similar C_{org} and N content as well as similar texture (RM2, GR, see Table 4-1). In a recirculating and closed experimental system such as the one used in the present study, a change in the filter velocity does not affect the residence time of water and pharmaceuticals in the sediment column compared to tubings and the storage bottle. While the time for the individual passage through the sediment column is longer at a lower filter velocity, the time until is the water is pumped back again from the storage bottle into the sediment is concordantly proportionally increasing. Hence, impacts of the filter velocity on elimination kinetics of pharmaceuticals in our test systems cannot be directly explained by different total residence times in the sediment. However, varying filter velocities can lead to altered boundary conditions (e.g., more reducing conditions at the end of the sediment column due to a longer travel time through the sediment column at the lower filter velocity) and thus influence the elimination kinetics.

The elimination rate constants (k_{eli} , $k_{eli,sec}$) as a function of the filter velocity are shown in Figure 4-2. Since clofibric acid and carbamazepine were only eliminated in some of the experiments, they were omitted from further discussion in this chapter. Their elimination rate constants as well as those for all other pharmaceuticals are given Table C- 6.



Figure 4-2: Elimination rate constants (k_{eli} , ± 95 % confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of pharmaceuticals at different filter velocities in sediments RM2 and GR.: The elimination rate constants for the filter velocity of 5.0 m d⁻¹ are the same as the rates for RM2 and GR in .Bez: Bezafibrate, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol. §: no significant elimination of naproxen during the first three days; empty bars with grey border: $k_{eli,sec}$ after initial period with slow/no elimination

The same relationships between filter velocity and initial elimination rate were observed in experiments with both sediments: pharmaceuticals which were eliminated faster at a higher filter velocity in sediment RM2 were also eliminated with an increased rate constant in experiments with sediment GR. However, variations in the filter velocity changed the elimination rate constants in both sediments only within a factor of 2 and for none of the substances a significant (based on a 95 % significance level) systematic correlation between all filter velocities and elimination rate constants was determined (Table C- 6). But for bezafibrate, diclofenac, and naproxen the elimination rate constants at a filter velocity of 10 m d⁻¹ were significantly lower than those in experiments with a filter velocity of 2.5 m d⁻¹. This holds true for both sediments. For example, k_{eli} of diclofenac dropped from $0.575 \pm 0.172 \text{ d}^{-1}$ to $0.309 \pm 0.050 \text{ d}^{-1}$ in experiments with sediment RM2 and from 0.265 \pm 0.046 d⁻¹ to 0.169 \pm 0.037 d⁻¹ in experiments with sediment GR. Therefore, it can be assumed that the uncertainty of the experiments - due to insufficient data quality and quantity - might prevent from statistically proving a systematic effect of the filter velocity on elimination rate constants. Moreover, while keli of the less sorptive compounds (bezafibrate, diclofenac, ibuprofen, naproxen) seemed to be inversely related to filter velocity, the elimination rate constants of the more sorptive beta-blockers metoprolol and propranolol slightly increased with filter velocity. Effects of initial sorption processes can be excluded as potential reason for the opposing trend of the beta-blockers since we omitted the first data points – when the sorption equilibrium had not yet been reached – for the determination of the rate constants (see Figure C- 2 in chapter 6.3.3 in the Appendix). However, the travel time of the beta-blockers for each sediment passage should be longer than for the acidic pharmaceuticals due to permanent sorption and desorption processes. Therefore, microorganisms attached to the sediment matrix might not be able to as efficiently catch and then degrade the hydrophilic pharmaceuticals at higher filter velocities, the reduced effective filter velocity for the beta-blockers might counteract this effect.

The different filter velocities had no influence on the boundary conditions in both sediments. In all experiment the dissolved oxygen concentration at port B was > 7 mg L⁻¹ throughout the experiment see Figure C- 18), and no concentration decrease of the electron acceptors nitrate and sulfate was observed during the course of the experiments (see Figure C- 16 and Figure C- 17). Hence, the differing k_{eli} have to be explained by other factors than the prevailing redox conditions. Similar to the experiments with a filter velocity of 5.0 m d⁻¹ (previous chapter 4.4.2), an increasing elimination speed over the course of the experiment was observed for some substances at a filter velocity of 10 m d⁻¹ (empty bars with grey borders in Figure 4-2). Exemplarily, k_{eli} of bezafibrate in experiments with sediment GR increased after about five days from the initial rate of $0.074 \pm 0.024 d^{-1}$ to $0.854 \pm 0.513 d^{-1}$ (Table C- 6 and Table C- 7). In contrast, at a filter velocity of 2.5 m d⁻¹, elimination in both sediments (RM2 and GR) started right at the beginning and the rate remained constant throughout the experiments. Apparently, there is a delayed onset of biotransformation processes at higher filter velocities. Up to date we cannot give any plausible explanation for this unexpected phenomenon.

However, our experiments generally reveal that the filter velocity has only a minor influence compared to the sediment characteristics on the elimination kinetics of pharmaceuticals. Hence, the test design is applicable to derive process based elimination rates in advectively flowedthrough sediments compared to majorly diffusion-limited rates under less steerable hydraulic conditions in batch experiments. Thus elimination rates determined with our introduced test design can be more easily extrapolated to other test systems and the situation in real rivers since it is feasible to precisely quantify and describe the (hydrological) boundary conditions under which the elimination rates were determined.

4.4.4 Assessment of the Lag-Phases and Increasing Elimination Rates over the Course of the Experiments

As shown above, especially for the substances with small initial k_{eli} we often observed an enhanced elimination rate over the time course of the experiments. For some substances (e.g., clofibric acid), we even observed a rapid elimination after an initial phase where no elimination occurred (see Figure C- 7). There are several potential reasons for a change in the k_{eli} during an experiment:

• The concentration and composition of the TOC can affect the transformation rate of pharmaceuticals (Rauch-Williams et al. 2010). While we did not determine the bioavailable TOC fraction, the total TOC over the time span of the experiments in the surface water was stable in all

experiments (8-12 mg L⁻¹ with sediment and water from river Roter Main, 4-6 mg L⁻¹ with sediment and water from river Gründlach, see Figure C- 16 and Figure C- 17). Hence, we assume that changes in the TOC content are not (exclusively) responsible for the increasing k_{eli} .

• The elimination of pharmaceuticals is often strongly governed by the prevailing redox conditions in the sediments (Conkle et al. 2012). Therefore, the changing k_{eli} might be a result of more/less reducing conditions over time. However, the redox conditions did not change during the course of the experiments as the concentrations of dissolved oxygen, nitrate, sulfate and pH were constant throughout the experiments (see Figure C- 16, Figure C- 17, Figure C- 18 in the Appendix). Hence, changing redox conditions can be excluded as reason for the increasing k_{eli} .

• Often microbial processes need an adaptation phase to substances in order to be able to degrade them (Pieper et al. 2010). Except for RM1, all sediments and surface waters were taken at sites where sediments are continuously exposed to substantial amounts of wastewater. However, there was no systematic deviation in the occurrence of lag-phases in experiments with the different experiments. Hence, adaptation of microbes is unlikely to cause the increasing k_{eli} .

• Due to sampling, the total volume of the water in the recirculating system decreased over time (about 15-20 % of total initial water volume was used for sampling). Therefore, the proportion of water in the storage bottle compared to water in the sediments decreased over time and the relative residence time of pharmaceuticals in the sediments slightly increased. Assuming that the major part of the transformation takes place during the sediment passage (see Kunkel and Radke (2008), also confirmed by the surface water controls of this study) this could lead to an increased k_{eli}, i.e., of those substances that were not removed during the initial stages of the experiment.

• Since the elimination of pharmaceuticals is predominantly caused by microbial processes (confirmed by the sterile controls), an increasing microbial density and/or activity over time might also lead to an increasing k_{eli} . The sediments and water were stored at 4°C before the experiments were conducted. Although, we let the systems equilibrate for one week, this time might have been not sufficient to re-activate the microbes.

• Often, the increase in k_{eli} started when the rapidly biodegradable pharmaceuticals (e.g., ibuprofen) were eliminated from the test systems (see example for bezafibrate during Exp. 7, Figure C- 20). Therefore, it can be hypothesized that the presence of some pharmaceuticals inhibits the elimination/transformation of others, e.g., ibuprofen actively inhibits the bezafibrate transformation or bezafibrate is not transformed by microorganisms until ibuprofen is not present anymore. However, in previous batch experiments with the same substances (Radke and Maier 2014) no change in elimination kinetics during single and mixture incubations was determined for the substances where a $k_{eli,sec}$ was observed during the column experiments.

To address some of the open questions we performed an additional experiment. After Exp 1b was concluded, the surface water was re-spiked with the cocktail of pharmaceuticals (no carbamazepine). The sediment columns were treated in two ways: the experimental setup remained

unchanged (Exp. 1b.a) or the water was disconnected from the sediment (Exp. 1b.b, for details see Table C- 1). Experiments were immediately re-started after the re-spiking. This time experiments were run without replicates. In Exp. 1b.a (no change of experimental setup), all spiked pharmaceuticals were eliminated right from the beginning (no lag-phases, see Table C- 8). For metoprolol the same keli than in Exp. 1b was calculated (Table C- 8). In contrast, for bezafibrate, clofibric acid, diclofenac, and ibuprofen the elimination kinetics were significantly higher after respiking. The elimination of propranolol even was too fast to obtain a sufficient number of data points for calculating a significant keli. For naproxen, the elimination rate in the re-spiking experiment (0.286 \pm 0.060 d⁻¹) was equal to the observed k_{eli,sec} in Exp. 1b (0.220 \pm 0.036 d⁻¹). Thus, while the results are not totally conclusive, we cannot exclude that the occurrence of secondary elimination kinetics indeed originated from an adaptation of microorganism to the presence of the pharmaceuticals. In re-spiking experiment 1b.b where the storage bottle had been disconnected from the sediment column, elimination of ibuprofen, metoprolol, naproxen and propranolol started immediately (Table C- 8, Figure C- 19). In the water-only test (Table C- 3), these substances mostly had a lag-phase before the elimination started or they were continuously eliminated at a much smaller keli. For example, naproxen that was eliminated at a maximum rate constant of 0.039 ± 0.005 d⁻¹ during the water controls ($k_{eli,sec}$ in Exp. 1b), while it was now eliminated at a k_{eli} of 0.129 ± 0.020 d⁻¹. Moreover, clofibric acid – that was not eliminated in all three water only controls over a time span of at least 16 days (Table C- 3) – was eliminated at a k_{eli} of 0.110 ± 0.027 d⁻¹ starting about four days after the re-spiking. The elimination of bezafibrate started after about six days, and then the elimination rate constant was $0.313 \pm 0.091 d^{-1}$. This rate is statistically not different from the rate determined in the original experiment (Exp 1b; $0.402 \pm 0.094 \text{ d}^{-1}$) and in the re-spiking experiment with the sediment (Exp. 1b.a, 0.509 ± 0.177 d⁻¹). However, in accordance to the water-only controls, diclofenac – which was quickly eliminated in all experiments with sediment contact - was only eliminated slowly. So, while we could observe an enhanced elimination for some pharmaceuticals in surface water after it had been in continuous exchange with the sediments for a prolonged time, this effect seems to be substance specific and not the sole explanation for the occurrence of secondary elimination rate constants.

In conclusion, we cannot give a final explanation for the occurrence of periods with different elimination rates. Most probably, the increased elimination is a combined effect of i) the sampling procedure resulting in a higher relative residence time in the sediments due to decreasing volumes of water in the storage bottle , ii) an onset of degradation processes in the storage bottle presumably by a transport of microorganisms from the sediment to the storage iii) an inhibition of transformation of substances while more favorable substances are present, and iv) an enhanced adaption of microorganisms to the pharmaceuticals leading to degradation of originally unfavorable carbon sources.

4.4.5 COMPARISON WITH STATIC BATCH SYSTEMS, FLUME EXPERIMENTS, AND MODELING DATA

In static batch experiments the exchange fluxes across the surface water/sediment interface are driven predominantly by diffusive processes (slightly shaking of the bottles and/or aeration of

the supernatant). Therefore, these studies neglect advective fluxes and probably underestimate the actual transformation rates in river sediments. The elimination rate constants derived in the present study are almost always substantially higher than previously reported. For example, Löffler et al. (2005) reported a DT_{50} value for clofibric acid of 82 ± 12 days (elimination from the water phase) compared to t_{H} as low as 2.9 ± 0.4 days after an initial lag-phase during Exp. 3 in this study. Also the dissipation of the well biodegradable analgesic drug ibuprofen was substantially faster since half-life times in all experiments ranged from 0.5-1.9 days compared to approx. 6 days in Löffler et al. (2005). In contrast, carbamazepine was not or only very slowly eliminated in both studies ($t_H > 100$ days, respectively). In sediment/water experiments with a sandy sediment, Ramil et al. (2010) determined DT₅₀ values of metoprolol and propranolol from the water phase of 8.7 ± 1 and 1.8 ± 0.3 days which are in the same range than t_H in this work (0.9-3.9 days for metoprolol and 1.5-5.6 days for propranolol). However, in contrast to the present study, they did not exclude the first data points where the sorption equilibrium had not yet been reached. If we calculated DT₅₀ from the water phase instead of biological elimination rate constants the respective values for metoprolol and propranolol would drop to 1.1 and 1.6 days during Exp. 3. Hence, it can be assumed that the transformation rates of the beta-blockers are actually higher during the recirculating column experiments. Ternes et al. (2002) reported also no elimination in batch experiments with groundwater and a sandy sediment over a time span of 28 days for carbamazepine, clofibric acid, and diclofenac. Only for bezafibrate, a slight concentration decrease (residual concentration: 76 ± 32 %) was observed. In contrast, during the recirculating column experiments these three pharmaceuticals were completely eliminated within 28 days (except for carbamazepine in all experiments and clofibric acid in Exp. 1a/b).

In static batch experiments with the same sediments than those used in this work much smaller elimination rate constants were derived (Radke and Maier 2014). For example, the DT_{50} values for bezafibrate ranged from 10 to 56 days (in this study: 1.1 days during Exp. 2 and 5 to 21 days in the initial time period with a low transformation rate of Exp. 7) and ibuprofen was eliminated with DT_{50} values of about 5-8 days (0.5-1.9 days in this study). In an experimental setup similar to the approach of this study also very high elimination rate constants of diclofenac were observed (Gröning et al. 2007). The authors calculated dissipation constants for diclofenac of 0.17-1.0 d⁻¹ (DT₅₀: 0.7-4.1 days) which agree well with the determined k_{eli} values of 0.2-0.6 d¹ (DT₅₀: 1.1-4.1 days) of this study. In more complex and realistic flume studies with sediment RM1, half-life times of pharmaceuticals decreased with the flow velocity in the surface water which can be explained by increased exchange fluxes across the sediment surface into the sediments at the higher flow velocity (Kunkel and Radke 2008). However, even at the higher flow velocity the halflife times (bezafibrate: 4.3 days, diclofenac: 5.5 days, ibuprofen: 2.5 days, naproxen: 10.3 days) were still substantially lower than the ones obtained in this study (minimum values for half-life times: bezafibrate: 0.8 ± 0.2 days, diclofenac: 1.1 ± 0.04 days, ibuprofen: 0.5 ± 0.1 days, naproxen: 0.7 ± 0.2 days). During a reactive tracer test at a small river, bezafibrate, diclofenac, metoprolol, and naproxen were not eliminated within the river stretch of 16.2 km (Kunkel and Radke 2011, Riml et al. 2013). In contrast, ibuprofen and clofibric acid were efficiently removed from the sur-
face water. By a modeling approach, elimination rate constants in the storage zones of the river – which can be primarily set equivalent to the sediments – for ibuprofen and clofibric acid of 10.4 d⁻¹ and 0.75 d⁻¹ were calculated (Riml et al. 2013). These rate constants are substantially higher than the maximum values determined in this study (ibuprofen: $1.4 \pm 0.3 d^{-1}$, clofibric acid: $0.2 \pm 0.03 d^{-1}$). Using field-scale push-pull-tests, extremely fast *in situ* elimination kinetics of diclofenac were calculated (Huntscha et al. 2013). The reported half-life times range from 1.0 to 3.5 hours which are more than an order of magnitude faster than those determined in this study (t_H: 17-98 hours). Hence, while the concept of recirculating sediment columns can help to achieve more realistic biotransformation rates in sediment/water systems actual *in situ* attenuation rates in river sediments can still be substantially higher.

4.4.6 COMPARISON TO OBSERVED FIELD ELIMINATION DATA

The final aim of the study was to compare the derived elimination rate constants in the recirculating sediment columns to observed elimination kinetics of pharmaceuticals during field monitoring studies. In field studies performed at the two rivers where the sediments were taken from (river Roter Main, river Gründlach), completely different behavior of the investigated pharmaceuticals was observed. In the field study at river Roter Main (Radke et al. 2010), no elimination of diclofenac and bezafibrate and a minor load reduction of naproxen was observed. In contrast, at river Gründlach diclofenac, naproxen, and bezafibrate were eliminated (up to 70 % of the incoming load, Kunkel and Radke (2012)). The length of the investigated river stretches (13.6 km for river Roter Main vs. 12.5 km for river Gründlach) and the respective travel times of water and solutes (approx. 30 hours at river Roter Main vs. 18 hours at river Gründlach) were in the same range at both rivers. Hence, the enhanced elimination at river Gründlach is not related to a higher residence time of substances in the river stretch. While phototransformation of diclofenac might be a more relevant elimination process at river Gründlach compared to river Roter Main, it can be neglected as major elimination pathway for bezafibrate, naproxen, and the two beta-blockers (Kunkel and Radke 2012). As shown above, both sediments are able to efficiently transform/eliminate pharmaceutical residues (Table C- 4 to Table C- 7, Figure 4-1 and Figure 4-2). Except for carbamazepine, all pharmaceuticals were removed in the test systems. Moreover, the elimination kinetics were by trend even faster in all three sediments from river Roter Main, which is opposite to the findings in the field. Only the elimination kinetics of the beta-blockers metoprolol and propranolol were in the same range for sediments from both rivers. However, the removal of beta-blockers was not addressed in Radke et al. (2010) and thus no comparison between the determined elimination potential in river sediments and observed elimination in field monitoring can be drawn. Overall, it can be stated that the observed contradiction in the elimination behavior in the field studies cannot be caused by different elimination kinetics or elimination potentials of pharmaceuticals in the respective river sediments. In fact, the different elimination rates at the two river stretches are most likely a result of the different hydraulics of the rivers. River Gründlach is a much smaller river with a smaller ratio of surface water volume to sediment crosssection area and therefore, a much more intense exchange of surface water and pore water can be assumed. Thus the potential for remediation of pharmaceutical residues – which is available in both rivers – is more efficiently used in river Gründlach.

The innovative experimental approach applied in the current study allows addressing the fate of organic micropollutants in river sediments under more realistic (hydraulic) conditions than in usually performed batch experiments under static conditions. Therefore, derived elimination kinetics were generally faster and more realistic than those determined static batch systems. Moreover, our results indicate that the differences in the elimination rates for a specific substance (under aerobic conditions) between various sediments are small. This especially means that substances that are well biodegradable in one sediment are most likely also rapidly transformed in other sediments. However, even with this more dynamic experimental setup it is next to impossible to directly translate the results of the laboratory studies to an actual prediction of attenuation rates due to biological processes in sediments in real river systems. Nevertheless, the more realistic kinetic data on the elimination in river sediments will substantially improve the predictive value of fate models of pharmaceutical residues if the exchange fluxes between surface water and sediments as well as the residence time in the hyporheic zone are known. The insight on the extent of hyporheic exchange as major governing factor for the biological attenuation of organic (micro-)pollutants such as pharmaceutical residues in rivers can and should also be used when setting up new management strategies for rivers and streams. Revitalization of smaller streams with pool-riffle sequences as well as meanders cannot only minimize the risks of flooding catastrophes downstream but also help to reduce the loads of pharmaceuticals residues in streams and thereby improve the surface water quality.

4.5 REFERENCES FOR CHAPTER 4

AG Boden (1994) Bodenkundliche Kartieranleitung, Schweizerbart, Hannover.

Anibas, C., Buis, K., Verhoeven, R., Meire, P. and Batelaan, O. **(2011)** *A Simple Thermal Mapping Method for Seasonal Spatial Patterns of Groundwater–Surface Water Interaction.* Journal of Hydrology 397(1–2), 93-104.

Ankley, G.T., Brooks, B.W., Huggett, D.B. and Sumpter, J.P. **(2007)** *Repeating History: Pharmaceuticals in the Environment.* Environmental Science & Technology 41(24), 8211-8217.

Baumgarten, B., Jahrig, J., Reemtsma, T. and Jekel, M. (2011) Long Term Laboratory Column Experiments to Simulate Bank Filtration: Factors Controlling Removal of Sulfamethoxazole. Water Research 45(1), 211-220.

Boreen, A.L., Arnold, W.A. and McNeill, K. **(2003)** *Photodegradation of Pharmaceuticals in the Aquatic Environment: A Review.* Aquatic Sciences 65(4), 320-341.

Boxall, A.B.A., Rudd, M.A., Brooks, B.W., Caldwell, D.J., Choi, K., Hickmann, S., Innes, E., Ostapyk, K., Staveley, J.P., Verslycke, T., Ankley, G.T., Beazley, K.F., Belanger, S.E., Berninger, J.P., Carriquiriborde, P., Coors, A., Deleo, P.C., Dyer, S.D., Ericson, J.F., Gagne, F., Giesy, J.P., Gouin, T., Hallstrom, L., Karlsson, M.V., Larsson, D.G.J., Lazorchak, J.M., Mastrocco, F., McLaughlin, A., McMaster, M.E., Meyerhoff, R.D., Moore, R., Parrott, J.L., Snape, J.R., Murray-Smith, R., Servos,

M.R., Sibley, P.K., Straub, J.O., Szabo, N.D., Topp, E., Tetreault, G.R., Trudeau, V.L. and Van Der Kraak, G. **(2012)** *Pharmaceuticals and Personal Care Products in the Environment: What Are the Big Questions?* Environmental health perspectives 120(9), 1221-1229.

Buser, H.R., Poiger, T. and Müller, M.D. **(1998)** *Occurrence and Fate of the Pharmaceutical Drug Diclofenac in Surface Waters: Rapid Photodegradation in a Lake.* Environmental Science & Technology 32(22), 3449-3456.

Carballa, M., Omil, F. and Lema, J.M. (2005) *Removal of Cosmetic Ingredients and Pharmaceuticals in Sewage Primary Treatment*. Water Research 39(19), 4790-4796.

Cardenas, M.B., Wilson, J.L. and Zlotnik, V.A. (2004) *Impact of Heterogeneity, Bed Forms, and Stream Curvature on Subchannel Hyporheic Exchange.* Water Resources Research 40(8).

Conkle, J.L., Gan, J. and Anderson, M.A. (2012) Degradation and Sorption of Commonly Detected *Ppcps in Wetland Sediments under Aerobic and Anaerobic Conditions.* Journal of Soils and Sediments 12(7).

Fono, L.J., Kolodziej, E.P. and Sedlak, D.L. **(2006)** *Attenuation of Wastewater-Derived Contaminants in an Effluent-Dominated River.* Environmental Science & Technology 40(23), 7257-7262.

Gröning, J., Held, C., Garten, C., Claussnitzer, U., Kaschabek, S.R. and Schlömann, M. (2007) *Transformation of Diclofenac by the Indigenous Microflora of River Sediments and Identification of a Major Intermediate*. Chemosphere 69(4), 509-516.

Heberer, T. **(2002)** *Occurrence, Fate, and Removal of Pharmaceutical Residues in the Aquatic Environment: A Review of Recent Research Data.* Toxicology Letters 131(1-2), 5-17.

Huntscha, S., Rodriguez Velosa, D.M., Schroth, M.H. and Hollender, J. **(2013)** *Degradation of Polar Organic Micropollutants During Riverbank Filtration: Complementary Results from Spatiotemporal Sampling and Push–Pull Tests.* Environmental Science & Technology.

Joss, A., Zabczynski, S., Göbel, A., Hoffmann, B., Löffler, D., McArdell, C.S., Ternes, T.A., Thomsen, A. and Siegrist, H. **(2006)** *Biological Degradation of Pharmaceuticals in Municipal Wastewater Treatment: Proposing a Classification Scheme.* Water Research 40(8), 1686-1696.

Knecht, K., Schroth, M.H., Schulin, R. and Nowack, B. **(2011)** *Development and Evaluation of Micro Push-Pull Tests to Investigate Micro-Scale Processes in Porous Media.* Environmental Science & Technology 45(15), 6460-6467.

Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. **(2008)** *Biodegradation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals in Bed Sediments: Insight from a Laboratory Experiment.* Environmental Science & Technology 42(19), 7273-7279.

Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. **(2011)** *Reactive Tracer Test to Evaluate the Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers.* Environmental Science & Technology 45(15), 6296-6302.

Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. **(2012)** *Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers: Deriving a Benchmark Dataset at Favorable Attenuation Conditions.* Water Research 46(17), 5551-5565.

Lin, A.Y.C., Plumlee, M.H. and Reinhard, M. (2006) Natural Attenuation of Pharmaceuticals and Alkylphenol Polyethoxylate Metabolites During River Transport: Photochemical and Biological Transformation. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 25(6), 1458-1464.

Löffler, D., Römbke, J., Meller, M. and Ternes, T.A. (2005) *Environmental Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Water/Sediment Systems*. Environmental Science & Technology 39(14), 5209-5218.

Massmann, G., Dünnbier, U., Heberer, T. and Taute, T. (2008) Behaviour and Redox Sensitivity of Pharmaceutical Residues During Bank Filtration - Investigation of Residues of Phenazone-Type Analgesics. Chemosphere 71(8), 1476-1485.

Moodley, L., van der Zwaan, G.J., Rutten, G.M.W., Boom, R.C.E. and Kempers, A.J. **(1998)** *Subsurface Activity of Benthic Foraminifera in Relation to Porewater Oxygen Content: Laboratory Experiments.* Marine Micropaleontology 34(1–2), 91-106.

OECD **(2002)** *OECD Guidelines for the Testing of Chemicals - Test No. 308: Aerobic and Anaerobic Transformation in Aquatic Sediment Systems* p. 19.

Pieper, C., Risse, D., Schmidt, B., Braun, B., Szewzyk, U. and Rotard, W. **(2010)** *Investigation of the Microbial Degradation of Phenazone-Type Drugs and Their Metabolites by Natural Biofilms Derived from River Water Using Liquid Chromatography/Tandem Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS).* Water Research 44(15), 4559-4569.

Prasse, C., Löffler, D. and Ternes, T.A. (2009) *Environmental Fate of the Anthelmintic Ivermectin in an Aerobic Sediment/Water System.* Chemosphere 77(10), 1321-1325.

R Development Core Team **(2013)** *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing*, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.

Radke, M., Lauwigi, C., Heinkele, G., Mürdter, T.E. and Letzel, M. **(2009)** *Fate of the Antibiotic Sulfamethoxazole and Its Two Major Human Metabolites in a Water Sediment Test.* Environmental Science & Technology 43(9), 3135-3141.

Radke, M. and Maier, M.P. **(2014)** *Lessons Learned from Water/Sediment-Testing Of pharmaceuticals.* Water Research 55(0), 63-73.

Radke, M., Ulrich, H., Wurm, C. and Kunkel, U. **(2010)** *Dynamics and Attenuation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals Along a River Stretch.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(8), 2968-2974.

Ramil, M., El Aref, T., Fink, G., Scheurer, M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2010)** *Fate of Beta Blockers in Aquatic-Sediment Systems: Sorption and Biotransformation*. Environmental Science & Technology 44(3), 962-970.

Rauch-Williams, T., Hoppe-Jones, C. and Drewes, J.E. **(2010)** *The Role of Organic Matter in the Removal of Emerging Trace Organic Chemicals During Managed Aquifer Recharge.* Water Research 44(2), 449-460.

Riml, J., Wörman, A., Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. **(2013)** *Evaluating the Fate of Six Common Pharmaceuticals Using a Reactive Transport Model: Insights from a Stream Tracer Test.* Science of the Total Environment 458–460(0), 344-354.

Sacher, F., Ehmann, M., Gabriel, S., Graf, C. and Brauch, H.J. (2008) *Pharmaceutical Residues in the River Rhine - Results of a One-Decade Monitoring Programme.* Journal of Environmental Monitoring 10(5), 664-670.

Saenger, N., Kitanidis, P.K. and Street, R.L. **(2005)** *A Numerical Study of Surface-Subsurface Exchange Processes at a Riffle-Pool Pair in the Lahn River, Germany.* Water Resources Research 41(12).

Strauss, C., Harter, T. and Radke, M. (2011) *Effects of pH and Manure on Transport of Sulfonamide Antibiotics in Soil.* Journal of Environmental Quality 40(5), 1652-1660.

Tabatabai, M.A. **(1974)** A Rapid Method for Determination of Sulfate in Water Samples. Environmental Letters 7(3), 237-243.

Ternes, T.A. and Hirsch, R. **(2000)** *Occurrence and Behavior of X-Ray Contrast Media in Sewage Facilities and the Aquatic Environment.* Environmental Science & Technology 34(13), 2741-2748.

Ternes, T.A., Meisenheimer, M., McDowell, D., Sacher, F., Brauch, H.-J., Haist-Gulde, B., Preuss, G., Wilme, U. and Zulei-Seibert, N. **(2002)** *Removal of Pharmaceuticals During Drinking Water Treatment*. Environmental Science & Technology 36(17), 3855-3863.

Vione, D., Maddigapu, P.R., De Laurentiis, E., Minella, M., Pazzi, M., Maurino, V., Minero, C., Kouras, S. and Richard, C. **(2011)** *Modelling the Photochemical Fate of Ibuprofen in Surface Waters.* Water Research 45(20), 6725-6736.

Wick, A., Fink, G., Joss, A., Siegrist, H. and Ternes, T.A. (2009) *Fate of Beta Blockers and Psycho-Active Drugs in Conventional Wastewater Treatment*. Water Research 43(4), 1060-1074.

Writer, J.H., Ryan, J.N., Keefe, S.H. and Barber, L.B. (2012) *Fate of 4-Nonylphenol and 17 Beta-Estradiol in the Redwood River of Minnesota*. Environmental Science & Technology 46(2), 860-868.

5 OVERALL SUMMARY AND FINAL CONCLUSIONS

The primary goal of this work was to gain new insight into the fate of organic micropollutants such as pharmaceutical residues in rivers and river sediments by quantitatively determining the individual elimination processes. However, this quantification in rivers is complicated by various spatio-temporally dynamic parameters such as the input of pharmaceuticals into rivers, river discharge, interactions of surface water and groundwater, meteorological and hydrological situation, and sediment properties. Therefore, prior to this work, no systematically derived elimination data for pharmaceutical residues which allowed the differentiation between individual elimination pathways in river systems was available.

This knowledge gap was closed by developing and applying innovative methodologies both in adapted field monitoring campaigns combined with *in situ* experimental studies and during welldesigned laboratory work. With the latter it was proven that all tested river sediments possess the potential to degrade of pharmaceuticals rapidly. The derived transformation rates were generally much higher than biotransformation rates reported in studies which used static batch experiments analogously to OECD guideline 308. In these tests the biotransformation potential of river sediments is not fully exploited since it is limited by exclusively diffusive transport into the sediment as well as by the formation of anaerobic zones within the sediment. Hence, these standard experimental approaches are not suitable to determine kinetic transformation rates that can be extrapolated to real river systems.

The concept of injecting pharmaceuticals into a river during the tracer test and downstream sampling of the river water simplified the mass balancing of pharmaceuticals. In contrast to the normal situation in rivers, the amount of each substance entering a river stretch was precisely known. Moreover, the shape of the breakthrough curves of inert tracers revealed that the interactions between the main channel and transient storage zones such as the hyporheic zone were only little. However, pharmaceuticals such as ibuprofen or clofibric acid were eliminated. Phototransformation was negligible due to a high turbidity of the river water and low radiation intensities. Thus their elimination was very likely caused by attenuation processes at river areas with high densities of in-stream biofilms, i.e., at the surface water/sediment interface or submerged macrophytes. A subsequent analysis of the tracer test using a biogeochemical model framework enabled differentiating between elimination processes in the streaming surface water and transient storage zones. There, the importance of the storage zones as major elimination compartment for pharmaceuticals during river transport – even at small interactions of surface water with the sediment – was solidified by the derivation of significantly higher transformation rates in these zones compared to the main channel.

Under favorable conditions, pharmaceuticals can be efficiently eliminated from the surface water within short river stretches and travel times of less than 24 hours. Both phototransformation and biotransformation in the river sediments can contribute substantially to the overall attenuation. Moreover, the use of carbamazepine as reference substance allows the calculation of

actual attenuation rates of eight pharmaceuticals within river stretches independent of dilution processes. A strategic combination of time-resolved composite sampling with *in situ* phototransformation experiments and pore water sampling enabled differentiating between individual elimination processes. Application of cutting-edge analytical methods like chiral analyses helped to definitely attribute the elimination of the beta-blocker metoprolol along the river stretch to biological processes in the river sediments.

In total, this work provided a clear picture of the relevance of individual attenuation processes of organic micropollutants in rivers. It was revealed that a substantial contribution of photolysis to the total elimination is limited to pharmaceuticals that are resistant against biotransformation processes and concurrently are highly susceptible to photodegradation. In contrast, it was clearly highlighted that under favorable conditions – i.e., small rivers with a high hyporheic exchange – biotransformation in the river sediments constitutes the most promising attenuation pathway. The insight on the importance of the exchange fluxes across the surface water/sediment interface for the attenuation of pharmaceutical residues in rivers can and should also be used when setting up new management strategies for rivers and streams to maximally exploit the self-purification potential of rivers. Finally, it was shown that intelligent and thoroughly planned sampling strategies in combination with sophisticated analytical methods can lead to detailed insight into the processes that determine the fate of pharmaceuticals in rivers. Hence, this work provides an unprecedented masterpiece of reliable elimination data of pharmaceuticals in rivers. However, the direct determination of biotransformation rates in situ still remains an open challenge for environmental scientists. Potential approaches to face this challenge are coupling of small-scale push pull tests with flume experiments on the laboratory-scale or heat pulse tracer techniques on the field-scale. But until these avant-garde techniques will be fully applicable for routine analysis a lot of water and substances will have flowed under the bridge...

6 APPENDIX

6.1 SUPPORTING INFORMATION TO CHAPTER 2

A Reactive Tracer Test to Evaluate the Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers

Uwe Kunkel¹ and Michael Radke^{1,2,*}

¹ Department of Hydrology, BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany ² Department of Applied Environmental Science, Stockholm University, 10691 Stockholm, Sweden

> ^{*}Corresponding Author phone +46/86747136; fax +46/86747638; e-Mail: michael.radke@itm.su.se

Environmental Science & Technology, 45(15), 6296-6302 (2011)

6.1.1 LIST OF TABLES FOR APPENDIX A

Table A- 1: Coordinates of the injection site and the sampling sites at the tracer test A-2
Table A- 2: Properties of sediment and water in Säva Brook at the tracer test A-2
Table A- 3: Physicochemical data and reported environmental behavior of pharmaceuticals andfluorescence tracers used at the tracer testA-6
Table A- 4: Concentration integrals (ng L-1 h) of rhodamine WT and uranine at the sampling sitesduring the tracer testA-7
Table A- 5: Recovery rates (%, average ± standard deviation) calculated from the standardaddition analysis experiment of the substances used at the tracer testA-8
Table A- 6: Inter-day variation of the concentration (ng L ⁻¹) of the reference sample used at the tracer test (average ± standard deviation); in parentheses: number of measurements A-8

6.1.2 LIST OF FIGURES OF APPENDIX A

6.1.3 METHODS

Table A- 1: Coordinates of the injection site and the sampling sites at the tracer test

Site	Latitude	Longitude
Injection Site	59° 52′ 49″ N	17° 17' 21'' E
Site I	59° 52′ 35″ N	17° 17′ 02″ E
Site II	59° 51′ 12″ N	17° 17′ 02′′ E
Site III	59° 50′ 01″ N	17° 18′ 32″ E
Site IV	59° 49′ 04″ N	17° 19′ 40″ E
Site V	59° 47′ 57″ N	17° 22′ 20″ E

Table A- 2: Properties of sediment and water in Säva Brook at the tracer test

Water		Sediment		
рН	5.5	Sand (%)	0	
Т (°С)	12.4-16	Silt (%)	69	
$DOC (mg L^{-1})$	'mg L ⁻¹) 16.2 ± 2.2 Clay (%)		31	
		C (%)	2.4	
		N (%)	0.08	

LC/MS analyses

Choice of the LC/MS instruments

Samples from preliminary experiments were analyzed with UPLC-QToF/MS, and all samples from the tracer experiment were initially also analyzed with this instrument. Due to a lower sensitivity of the instrument for naproxen than for the other compounds, we decided to inject twice the amount of naproxen compared to the five other pharmaceuticals. Since concentrations at sites IV and V were in the range of the LOQ, we decided to re-analyze the samples with the HPLC-MS/MS system which had a higher sensitivity for all substances. Unfortunately, due to co-elution of other substances, were not able to analyze diclofenac and metoprolol with the HPLC-MS/MS system and therefore report the results obtained by UPLC-QToF/MS.

Bezafibrate, clofibric acid, ibuprofen, and naproxen

Bezafibrate, clofibric acid, ibuprofen, and naproxen were analyzed by an HPLC-MS/MS system consisting of two ProStar 210 solvent delivery pumps, a ProStar 410 autosampler, a column oven, and a 1200L triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (all by Varian Inc., Darmstadt, Germany). HPLC separation was performed on a Synergi Fusion-RP 80A column (150 x 2 mm, Phenomenex, Aschaffenburg, Germany) with a water-acetonitrile gradient elution; column temperature was set to 30 °C, and acetic acid was added to the mobile phase at a concentration of 2.5 mM. The ion source was operated in negative electrospray ionization mode. Calibration curves were generally linear ($r^2 > 0.99$) for all compounds. Standards in the range from 0.5 to 100 µg L⁻¹ were used for quantification, and samples were quantified by isotope dilution.

Diclofenac and Metoprolol

An ultra-performance liquid chromatography system coupled to a quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometer (UPLC-QToF/MS, Waters, Milford, MA, USA) equipped with an electrospray source was used for the analysis of diclofenac and metoprolol. The column (Acquity HSS T3, 100 mm × 2.1 mm, dp = 1.8μ m; Waters) temperature was kept at 60 °C. 5 μ L of sample were injected; the mobile phase consisted of 10 mM acetic acid in water (A) and 10 mM acetic acid in acetonitrile (B). A linear gradient (flow rate 0.3 mL min⁻¹) from 5 % B to 90 % B in 5 min was used, followed by 2 min at 90 % B. Diclofenac was analyzed in negative-ionization mode, metoprolol in positive-ionziation mode. Standards in the range from 5 to 200 μ g L⁻¹ were used for quantification, and samples were quantified by isotope dilution. Sulfadimethoxine in methanol (100 ng mL⁻¹) was used as lockspray solution in both positive and negative ion mode. The lock-spray frequency was 5 s, with 5 scans to average.

Calculation of mass recovery of pharmaceuticals

To exclude errors due to incomplete dissolution of conservative and reactive tracers, the breakthrough curves at site I was used as reference for calculation of the relative mass recoveries instead of the injected mass. The concentration integral (*Int*) of each substance at a sampling site was calculated using the trapezoidal rule:

$$Int = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=2}^{i=N-1} (c_{i+1} + c_i) \cdot (t_{i+1} - t_i) + \frac{1}{2} \cdot c_1 \cdot (t_2 - t_1) + \frac{1}{2} \cdot c_N \cdot (t_N - t_{N-1})$$
 Equation A-1

where N is the number of samples in the respective peaks at each sampling site, t is the time after injection, and c is the concentration.

To correct for dilution along the study reach, a dilution factor $(f_{Dil,site_x})$ was calculated for sites II through V based on the integrals of the uranine breakthrough curves.

$$f_{Dil,site_x} = \frac{Int_{Uranine,site_l}}{Int_{Uranine,site_x}}$$
Equation A- 2

The mass recovery (mr) of each pharmaceutical at sites II-V was then calculated as follows.

$$mr(\%)_{phar,site_x} = \left(\frac{Int_{EquationA-1,x} \cdot f_{Dil,site_x}}{Int_{phar,Site_l}}\right) \cdot 100\%$$
 Equation A-3

Pictures of the tracer injection



Estimation of mixing length of tracer solutions with river water

The mixing length of the dye tracers and the pharmaceutical solutions with the river water was calculated as described in a USGS Guideline (Kilpatrick and Wilson 1989). Using strongly conservative assumptions of a mean flow velocity of 30 cm s^{-1} , a channel width of 10 m, an inclination of 0.001, a river depth of 1 m, and a centre channel injection, the mixing distance was 185 m. This mixing length is much shorter than the distance from the injection site to site I (1,500 m) and thus complete mixing up to site I must have occurred. In previous work at another river, we verified this calculation by measurements (Radke et al. 2010).

Additionally, there were some "rapids" between the injection site and site I where the inclination was steeper, flow velocity was higher and flow was turbulent (see picture below). Under these conditions, a rapid and homogeneous mixing can be assumed. [Note: this picture was taken between sites II and III, but the situation there is pretty similar to the one between the injection site and site I.]



Table A- 3: Physicochemical data and reported environmental behavior of pharmaceuticals and fluorescence tracers used at the tracer test

	Bezafi- brate	Clofibric Acid	Diclo- fenac	lbu- profen	Meto- prolol	Napro- xen	Ura- nine	Rhoda- mine WT
рК _а	3.6 (Beausse 2004)	3.2 (Mersmann 2003)	4.16 (Rafols et al. 1997)	4.59 (Avdeef 2007)	9.7 (Jouyban et al. 2003)	4.45 (Avdeef 2007)	1.95, 5.05, and 7.00 (Menzel et al. 2002)	5.1 (Shiau et al. 1993)
			4.14 (Avdeef 2007)			4.2 (Al- Rajab et al. 2010)		
log(K _{ow}) (neutral	4.25 (Mompela t et al. 2009)	2.57 (Hansch et al. 1995)	4.51 (Avdeef et al. 1998)	3.97 (Avdeef et al. 1998)	1.88 (Hansch et al. 1995)	3.18 (Jones et al. 2002)	-0.39 (Sabatini and Alaustin 1991)	-1.33 (Sabatini and Alaustin 1991)
species)		2.84 (Henschel et al. 1997)	4.4 (Cleuvers 2004)	3.5 (Cleuvers 2004)		3.3 (Cleuvers 2004)		
	n. s. (Kunkel and Radke 2008)	5 (Ternes et al. 2004)	0.72 (Jones et al. 2002)	453.79 (Jones et al. 2002)	65 (Wick et al. 2009)	217.2 (Jones et al. 2002)	0.05 - 0.3 (Sabatini and Alaustin 1991)	2.5 - 15.7 (Sabatini and Alaustin 1991)
K _d (L kg ⁻¹)		0.3 (Löffler et al. 2005)	16 (Ternes et al. 2004)	7.1 (Ternes et al. 2004)	1.75 - 7.3 (Ramil et al. 2010)	13 (Joss et al. 2006)		15 - 114 (Everts and Kanwar 1994)
			n. s. (Lin and Gan 2011)	n. s. (Lin and Gan 2011)		2.9 (Lin et al. 2006)		
				0.7 (Lin et al. 2006)				
Biological half-life time (d)	4 - 8 (Kunkel and Radke 2008)	119 (Löffler et al. 2005)	5.5 - 18.6 (Kunkel and Radke 2008)	2.5 - 5.1 (Kunkel and Radke 2008)		10.3 - 13.9 (Kunkel and Radke 2008)		
	1 (Quintana et al. 2005)		1 - 4 (Al- Rajab et al. 2010)	5 (Quintana et al. 2005)		25 (Quintana et al. 2005)		
			n.s. (Gonzalez et al. 2006)	10 -50 (Lin and Gan 2011)		17 - 69 (Lin and Gan 2011)		
			5 – 30 (Lin and Gan 2011)					
Biological transfor- mation rate (Lg ⁻¹ d ⁻¹)	2.1 - 4.5 (Joss et al. 2006)	0.1 – 0.8 (Joss et al. 2006)	< 0.1 (Joss et al. 2006)	9 - 35 (Joss et al. 2006)	0.38 (Ramil et al. 2010)	0.4 - 1.9 (Joss et al. 2006)		
				7 – 8 (Smook et al. 2008)				
Phototrans- formation rate k (d ⁻¹)	n.s. (Radke et al. 2010)	0.01 (Radke et al. 2010)	0.37 (Radke et al. 2010)	1.44 (Packer et al. 2003)	n. s. (Kunkel and Radke 2012)	0.16 (Radke et al. 2010)	0.1 - 0.4 (Smart and Laidlaw 1977)	0.0034 - 0.001 (Smart and Laidlaw 1977)
		0.115 (Packer et al. 2003)	28.37 (Packer et al. 2003)	0.001 - 0.03 (Peuravuori and Pihlaja 2009)	0.096 - 0.475 (Liu et al. 2009)	23.62 (Packer et al. 2003)		

n. s.: no significant observation

6.1.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table A- 4: Concentration integrals (ng L^{-1} h) of rhodamine WT and uranine at the sampling sites during the tracer test

	Rhodamine WT	Uranine
Site I	20.5 ± 0.6	20.1 ± 0.5
Site II	19.0 ± 0.5	17.5 ± 0.5
Site III	17.5 ± 0.4	17.4 ± 0.4
Site IV	14.9 ± 0.3	15.5 ± 0.3
Site V	13.4 ± 0.3	13.5 ± 0.4

Quality Assurance



Figure A- 1: Results of the standard addition experiment for the six pharmaceuticals for the tracer test; c: calculated concentration in the reference sample (nominal concentration: 50 ng L^{-1})

Table A- 5: Recovery rates (%, average ± standard deviation) calculated from the standard addition analysis experiment of the substances used at the tracer test

Bezafibrate	Clofibric Acid	Diclofenac	Ibuprofen	Metoprolol	Naproxen
101 ± 3	101 ± 3	100 ± 10	100± 4	110 ± 13	99 ± 7

Table A- 6: Inter-day variation of the concentration (ng L^{-1}) of the reference sample used at the tracer test (average ± standard deviation); in parentheses: number of measurements.

Bezafibrate	Clofibric Acid	Diclofenac	Ibuprofen	Metoprolol	Naproxen
80 ± 7 (10)	86 ± 6 (9)	77 ± 11 (9)	88 ± 6 (10)	66 ± 0 (3)	87 ± 5 (9)

Discharge



Figure A- 2: Time trend of discharge at site III during the tracer experiment

Temperature profiles in the river bed



Figure A- 3: Sediment temperature profiles at sites with high and low groundwater discharge into the stream channel at Säva Brook. The solid lines represent the model fit.



River water temperature

Figure A- 4: Temperature trend of the stream water during the tracer experiment (injection site)



Absorption spectrum

Figure A- 5: Absorption spectrum of the stream water at the tracer test (filtered < 0.45 μ m)



Mass balances for pharmaceuticals with conservative behavior

Figure A- 6: Pseudo first-order kinetic plots for bezafibrate, diclofenac, metoprolol, and naproxen, normalized to breakthrough at site I.

6.1.5 REFERENCES TO CHAPTER 6.1

Al-Rajab, A.J., Sabourin, L., Lapen, D.R. and Topp, E. **(2010)** *The Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug Diclofenac Is Readily Biodegradable in Agricultural Soils.* Science of the Total Environment 409(1), 78-82.

Avdeef, A. (2007) Solubility of Sparingly-Soluble Ionizable Drugs. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews 59(7), 568-590.

Avdeef, A., Box, K.J., Comer, J.E.A., Hibbert, C. and Tam, K.Y. **(1998)** *pH-Metric Logp 10. Determination of Liposomal Membrane-Water Partition Coefficients of Ionizable Drugs.* Pharmaceutical Research 15(2), 209-215.

Beausse, J. (2004) Selected Drugs in Solid Matrices: A Review of Environmental Determination, Occurrence and Properties of Principal Substances. Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry 23(10-11), 753-761.

Cleuvers, M. (2004) *Mixture Toxicity of the Anti-Inflammatory Drugs Diclofenac, Ibuprofen, Naproxen, and Acetylsalicylic Acid.* Ecotoxicology and Environment Safety 59(3), 309-315.

Everts, C.J. and Kanwar, R.S. (1994) *Evaluation of Rhodamine WT as an Adsorbed Tracer in an Agricultural Soil.* Journal of Hydrology 153(1-4), 53-70.

Gonzalez, S., Müller, J., Petrovic, M., Barcelo, D. and Knepper, T.P. **(2006)** *Biodegradation Studies of Selected Priority Acidic Pesticides and Diclofenac in Different Bioreactors.* Environmental Pollution 144(3), 926-932.

Hansch, C., Hoekman, D., Leo, A., Zhang, L.T. and Li, P. **(1995)** *The Expanding Role of Quantitative Structure-Activity-Relationships (Qsar) in Toxicology.* Toxicology Letters 79(1-3), 45-53.

Henschel, K.P., Wenzel, A., Diedrich, M. and Fliedner, A. (1997) *Environmental Hazard* Assessment of Pharmaceuticals. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology 25(3), 220-225.

Jones, O.A.H., Voulvoulis, N. and Lester, J.N. **(2002)** *Aquatic Environmental Assessment of the Top 25 English Prescription Pharmaceuticals.* Water Research 36(20), 5013-5022.

Joss, A., Zabczynski, S., Göbel, A., Hoffmann, B., Löffler, D., McArdell, C.S., Ternes, T.A., Thomsen, A. and Siegrist, H. **(2006)** *Biological Degradation of Pharmaceuticals in Municipal Wastewater Treatment: Proposing a Classification Scheme.* Water Research 40(8), 1686-1696.

Jouyban, A., Khoubnasabjafari, M., Chan, H.K., Altria, K.D. and Clark, B.J. **(2003)** *Predicting Electrophoretic Mobility of Beta-Blockers in a Water-Methanol Based Electrolyte System.* Chromatographia 57(3-4), 191-195.

Kilpatrick, F.A. and Wilson, J.F. (1989) *Measurement of Time of Travel in Streams by Dye Tracing. Twi 03-A9,,* USGS.

Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. (2008) *Biodegradation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals in Bed Sediments: Insight from a Laboratory Experiment.* Environmental Science & Technology 42(19), 7273-7279.

Kunkel, U. and Radke, M. (2012) *Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers: Deriving a Benchmark Dataset at Favorable Attenuation Conditions.* Water Research 46(17), 5551-5565.

Lin, A.Y.C., Plumlee, M.H. and Reinhard, M. (2006) Natural Attenuation of Pharmaceuticals and Alkylphenol Polyethoxylate Metabolites During River Transport: Photochemical and Biological Transformation. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 25(6), 1458-1464. Lin, K.D. and Gan, J. (2011) Sorption and Degradation of Wastewater-Associated Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs and Antibiotics in Soils. Chemosphere 83(3), 240-246.

Liu, Q.-T., Cumming, R.I. and Sharpe, A.D. (2009) *Photo-Induced Environmental Depletion Processes of Beta-Blockers in River Waters*. Photochemical & Photobiological Sciences 8(6), 768-777.

Löffler, D., Römbke, J., Meller, M. and Ternes, T.A. (2005) *Environmental Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Water/Sediment Systems*. Environmental Science & Technology 39(14), 5209-5218.

Menzel, C.M., Lange, F.T., Kass, W. and Hotzl, H. (2002) Occurrence of Naphthalenesulfonates and Their Condensates with Formaldehyde in a Landfill Leachate and Their Transport Behavior in Groundwater of the Upper Rhine Valley, Germany. Environmental Geology 41(6), 731-741.

Mersmann, P. **(2003)** Transport- und Sorptionsverhalten der Arzneimittelwirkstoffe Carbamazepin, Clofibrinsäure, Diclofenac, Ibuprofen und Propyphenazon in der Wassergesättigten und -Ungesättigten Zone, TU Berlin, Berlin.

Mompelat, S., Le Bot, B. and Thomas, O. **(2009)** *Occurrence and Fate of Pharmaceutical Products and by-Products, from Resource to Drinking Water.* Environment International 35(5), 803-814.

Packer, J.L., Werner, J.J., Latch, D.E., McNeill, K. and Arnold, W.A. **(2003)** *Photochemical Fate of Pharmaceuticals in the Environment: Naproxen, Diclofenac, Clofibric Acid, and Ibuprofen.* Aquatic Sciences 65(4), 342-351.

Peuravuori, J. and Pihlaja, K. (2009) Phototransformations of Selected Pharmaceuticals under Low-Energy UVA-Vis and Powerful UVB-UVA Irradiations in Aqueous Solutions-the Role of Natural Dissolved Organic Chromophoric Material. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry 394(6), 1621-1636.

Quintana, J.B., Weiss, S. and Reemtsma, T. (2005) *Pathways and Metabolites of Microbial Degradation of Selected Acidic Pharmaceutical and Their Occurrence in Municipal Wastewater Treated by a Membrane Bioreactor*. Water Research 39(12), 2654-2664.

Radke, M., Ulrich, H., Wurm, C. and Kunkel, U. (2010) *Dynamics and Attenuation of Acidic Pharmaceuticals Along a River Stretch.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(8), 2968-2974.

Rafols, C., Roses, M. and Bosch, E. **(1997)** A Comparison between Different Approaches to Estimate the Aqueous Pk(a) Values of Several Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drugs. Analytica Chimica Acta 338(1-2), 127-134.

Ramil, M., El Aref, T., Fink, G., Scheurer, M. and Ternes, T.A. **(2010)** *Fate of Beta Blockers in Aquatic-Sediment Systems: Sorption and Biotransformation.* Environmental Science & Technology 44(3), 962-970.

Sabatini, D.A. and Alaustin, T. **(1991)** *Characteristics of Rhodamine WT and Fluorescein as Adsorbing Groundwater Tracers.* Ground Water 29(3), 341-345.

Shiau, B.J., Sabatini, D.A. and Harwell, J.H. (1993) *Influence of Rhodamine WT Properties on Sorption and Transport in Subsurface Media*. Ground Water 31(6), 913-920.

Smart, P.L. and Laidlaw, I.M.S. (1977) *Evaluation of Some Fluorescent Dyes for Water Tracing*. Water Resources Research 13(1), 15-33.

Ternes, T.A., Herrmann, N., Bonerz, M., Knacker, T., Siegrist, H. and Joss, A. **(2004)** *A Rapid Method to Measure the Solid-Water Distribution Coefficient (K-D) for Pharmaceuticals and Musk Fragrances in Sewage Sludge.* Water Research 38(19), 4075-4084.

Wick, A., Fink, G., Joss, A., Siegrist, H. and Ternes, T.A. (2009) *Fate of Beta Blockers and Psycho-Active Drugs in Conventional Wastewater Treatment*. Water Research 43(4), 1060-1074.

6.2 SUPPORTING INFORMATION TO CHAPTER 3

Fate of Pharmaceuticals in Rivers: Deriving a Benchmark Dataset at Favorable Attenuation Conditions

Uwe Kunkel^{1,*} and Michael Radke^{1,2}

¹ Department of Hydrology, BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany

² Department of Applied Environmental Science, Stockholm University, 10691 Stockholm, Swe-

den

^{*} Corresponding Author mail: kunkel@bafg.de phone: +49/(0261)/1306-5024

Federal Institute of Hydrology, Am Mainzer Tor 1, 56068 Koblenz, Germany

Water Research 46(17): 5551-5565.

6.2.1 LIST OF TABLES OF APPENDIX B

Table B- 1: Coordinates of sampling and experimental sites at river Gründlach A-17				
Table B- 2: Water and sediment characteristics of river Gründlach A-17				
Table B- 3: Overview over hydrological and meteorological conditions during thephototransformation experiments performed at river Gründlach				
Table B- 4: Average concentration (ng L ⁻¹) of pharmaceuticals in the quality control samples analyzed during the Gründlach study (SD: standard deviation; n: number of samples) and limits of quantification (LOQ)				
Table B- 5: Matrix of Spearman's rank correlation coefficients (r) for concentrations of pharmaceuticals and the elements B and K at sampling site A during the low discharge period (period I)				
Table B- 6: Matrix of Spearman's rank correlation coefficients (r) for concentrations of pharmaceuticals and the elements B and K at sampling site A during the high discharge period (period II).				

e B- 7: Relative elimination (%) of pharmaceuticals between sites A and B for periods I and II	Tab
ased on potassium as conservative tracer at river Gründlach A-21	
e B-8: Comparison of elimination rates for bezafibrate, naproxen, and propranolol in eriods I and II if samples with concentration < LOQ at site B are set to LOQ or 0	Tak
e B- 9: Results of the ten realizations of the errors analyses. Elimination and correlation is	Tak
ven as average ± standard deviation of the ten realizations	

6.2.2 LIST OF FIGURES OF APPENDIX B

Figure B- 1: Example for chromatographic separation of the two metoprolol enantiomers on the chiral column
Figure B- 2: Time trends of potassium and boron concentrations at both sampling sites and discharge at the gauging station "Frauenkreuz" at river Gründlach
Figure B- 3: Picture of the experimental setup at phototransformation experiment Exp B at river Gründlach
Figure B- 4: Results of the dark controls for phototransformation experiments performed at river Gründlach at sites Exp A, Exp B, and Exp C; initial concentrations of bezafibrate and naproxen were < LOQ at Exp B
Figure B- 5: Absorption spectra of the river water used for the three phototransformation experiments at river Gründlach
Figure B- 6: Dynamics of the concentration and enantiomer fraction (EF) of metoprolol at both sampling sites at river Gründlach
Figure B- 7: Discharge scenarios at sites A and B used for the error analyses; a) constant discharge, b) variable discharge
Figure B- 8: Example on correlation of concentration of substances at site A and site B used for the error analyses; a) correlated data, b) uncorrelated data A-26

6.2.3 APPENDIX B-1: SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON STUDY SITE, HYDRAULIC AND METEOROLOGICAL DATA, AND ADDITIONAL RESULTS

Name	Latitude	Longitude
Sampling Site A / Exp A	49° 31' 27″ N	11° 08 '11″ E
Sampling Site B / Exp B	49° 31' 22″ N	11° 01' 27" E
Gauging station "Frauenkreuz"	49° 31′ 15″ N	11° 05′ 22″ E
Ехр С	49° 31′ 31″ N	11° 03' 11″ E
DWD weather station "Nuremberg"	49° 30′ 16″ N	11° 03′ 26″ E
WWTP Heroldsberg	49° 31′ 24″ N	11° 08′ 34″ E

Table B-1: Coordinates of sampling and experimental sites at river Gründlach

Table B-2: Water and sediment characteristics of river Gründlach

	Water ^a		Sediment ^{b,c}							
	Average	min	max		Average	min	max			
рН	7.69 ± 0.04	7.51	7.79	Gravel (%)	2.4 ± 1.6	0.4	5.0			
EC (μS cm ⁻¹)	624 ± 99	246	771	Coarse sand (%)	43.4 ± 12.0	24.6	60.9			
DO (%)	68.9 ± 3.3	61.3	74.8	Medium sand (%)	52.9 ± 34.3	34.3	69.5			
$DO (mg L^{-1})$	6.0 ± 0.3	5.2	6.6	Fine sand (%)	0.63 ± 0.41	0.23	1.4			
				Silt & clay (%)	0.06 ± 0.08	0	0.2			
T _{site A} (°C)	19.5 ± 1.35	16.0	22.0	C (%)	0.23 ± 0.19	0.06	0.55			
Т _{site B} (°С)	18.9 ± 1.83	14.7	23.9	N (%)	< 0.05	n.a.	n.a.			

^a statistics based on measurements at intervals of 15 - 30 minutes during the total sampling period at site A, ^b statistics based on sediment samples (0-30 cm depth) taken at 8 sites along the river stretch ^c texture classification after AG Boden (1994), n.a.: not available as all concentration were < LOQ (0.05 %).

	Shading	Date	Start time	T _{air} (°C) ^a	T _{water} (°C) ^{a,b}	SSM ^c (min, %)	рН (-) ^{а, d}
Exp A	full	2010/07/14	9:30	31.2	19.9	332 (92)	7.7
Ехр В	no	2010/07/09	10:40	33.2	23.7	360 (100)	8.0
Exp C	partial	2010/07/20	12:10	27.0	21.2	319 (89)	7.7

Table B- 3: Overview over hydrological and meteorological conditions during the phototransformation experiments performed at river Gründlach

^a average values throughout the phototransformation experiments, ^b water temperature in the containers, ^c sunshine minutes during phototransformation experiments from DWD weather station "Nuremberg", ^d pH in the containers was stable throughout the experiments, addition of NaN₃ increased the pH by approx. 0.2

Table B- 4: Average concentration (ng L⁻¹) of pharmaceuticals in the quality control samples analyzed during the Gründlach study (SD: standard deviation; n: number of samples) and limits of quantification (LOQ)

	Average	SD	n	LOQª
Bezafibrate	110	15	8	12
Carbamazepine	360	22	7	n.d.
Clofibric Acid	0	n.a	8	n.a.
Diclofenac	780	84	8	45
Ibuprofen	0	n.a.	7	8.0.
Metoprolol	290	22	7	n.d.
Naproxen	48	6	8	16
Propranolol	3.2	1	6	0.5
Sotalol	110	13	7	n.d.
Sulfamethoxazole	220	3	8	n.d.

n.a.: not available, n.d.: not determined since concentrations and intensities in all samples were high (Signal-to-noise > 100). ^a LOQ was calculated as average of the three lowest concentrations determined for a specific substance.

	Bez	CBZ	Dic	lbu	Met	Nap	Pro	SMX	Sot	В	К
Bez	1.00	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	0.81***	0.65**	n.s.	0.53 [*]	0.89***	0.59 [*]	n.s.
CBZ		1.00	n.s.	n.a.	0.55*	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	0.62**	0.66**	n.s.
Dic			1.00	n.a.	0.54 [*]	n.s.	n.s.	0.50 [*]	0.59 ^{**}	0.59 [*]	0.62**
Ibu				1.00	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.	n.a.
Met					1.00	0.52*	0.51*	0.70 ^{**}	0.87***	0.83***	0.79 ^{***}
Nap						1.00	n.s.	n.s.	0.67**	0.59 [*]	0.53 [*]
Pro							1.00	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
SMX								1.00	0.61**	n.s.	0.51*
Sot									1.00	0.71***	0.60**
В										1.00	0.88***
К											1.00

Table B- 5: Matrix of Spearman's rank correlation coefficients (r) for concentrations of pharmaceuticals and the elements B and K at sampling site A during the low discharge period (period I).

* p < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001, n.s.: no significant correlation, n.a.: not available since concentrations of ibuprofen were <LOQ in all samples of period I; Bez: bezafibrate, CBZ: carbamazepine, Dic: diclofenac, Ibu: ibuprofen, Met: metoprolol, Nap: naproxen, Pro: propranolol, SMX: sulfamethoxazole, Sot: sotalol, B: boron, K: potassium

	Bez	CBZ	Dic	lbu	Met	Nap	Pro	SMX	Sot	В	к
Bez	1.00	n.s.	0.88***	n.s.	0.83 [*]	0.88*	n.s.	n.s.	0.86**	n.s.	n.s.
CBZ		1.00	0.71 [*]	n.s.	0.90**	n.s.	n.s.	0.83**	0.93**	n.s	0.78 [*]
Dic			1.00	n.s.	0.88*	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	0.862	n.s.	n.s.
Ibu				1.00	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
Met					1.00	n.s.	n.s.	0.86**	0.983	n.s.	n.s.
Nap						1.00	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
Pro							1.00	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
SMX								1.00	0.83**	n.s.	0.51*
Sot									1.00	n.s.	n.s.
В										1.00	0.99***
К											1.00

Table B- 6: Matrix of Spearman's rank correlation coefficients (r) for concentrations of pharmaceuticals and the elements B and K at sampling site A during the high discharge period (period II).

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01, p < 0.001, n.s.: no significant correlation; Bez: bezafibrate, CBZ: carbamazepine, Dic: diclofenac, Ibu: ibuprofen, Met: metoprolol, Nap: naproxen, Pro: propranolol, SMX: sulfamethoxazole, Sot: sotalol, B: boron, K: potassium

	period I	period II
Boron	-22	-13
<i>Bezafibrate^b</i>	62	(55)
Carbamazepine	-5	-4
Diclofenac	67	(38)
Ibuprofen ^a	n.a.	n.a.
Metoprolol	66	(48)
Naproxen ^b	48	(41)
Propranolol ^b	67	(40)
Sotalol	40	(33)
Sulfamethoxazole	22	22

Table B- 7: Relative elimination (%) of pharmaceuticals between sites A and B for periods I and II based on potassium as conservative tracer at river Gründlach.

^a For ibuprofen no elimination rates could be calculated due to the few data points. ^b Minimum elimination rates; the actual rate can be higher as concentrations < LOQ at site B were set to LOQ for calculation purposes; negative elimination rates indicate increase of mass compared to potassium; values in parenthesis are uncertain due to a lacking correlation with potassium

Table B- 8: Comparison of elimination rates for bezafibrate, naproxen, and propranolol in periods I and II if samples with concentration < LOQ at site B are set to LOQ or 0.

		Bezafibrate	Naproxen	Propranolol
c (Site B) – 100	period I	0.63	0.50	0.68
	period II	0.57	0.43	0.42
c (Site P) = 0	period I	1.00	0.99	0.84
C(SITEB) = 0	period II	0.65	0.51	0.52



Figure B- 1: Example for chromatographic separation of the two metoprolol enantiomers on the chiral column.



Figure B- 2: Time trends of potassium and boron concentrations at both sampling sites and discharge at the gauging station "Frauenkreuz" at river Gründlach.



Figure B- 3: Picture of the experimental setup at phototransformation experiment Exp B at river Gründlach.



Figure B- 4: Results of the dark controls for phototransformation experiments performed at river Gründlach at sites Exp A, Exp B, and Exp C; initial concentrations of bezafibrate and naproxen were < LOQ at Exp B



Figure B- 5: Absorption spectra of the river water used for the three phototransformation experiments at river Gründlach.



Figure B- 6: Dynamics of the concentration and enantiomer fraction (EF) of metoprolol at both sampling sites at river Gründlach.

6.2.4 APPENDIX B-2: UNCERTAINTY ANALYSIS OF THE PROCEDURE USED FOR CALCULATING ELIMINATION RATES

Methods

The calculation of loads of solutes at two sites along a river stretch and the subsequent calculation of elimination rates requires precise discharge measurements. Since such data were not available at both sites, we calculated the elimination of our target substances indirectly. To this end, we compared the relative change of the cumulative concentrations of a target substance (x) between sites A and B the relative change of the cumulative carbamazepine (CBZ) concentrations. In detail, the elimination of a substance (Eli_{concen,x}) in relation to carbamazepine was calculated as follows:

Eli concen,
$$\mathbf{x} = \left(1 - \frac{\frac{\sum c_{x, \text{ Site B}}}{\sum c_{x, \text{ Site A}}}}{\frac{\sum c_{\text{ CBZ}, \text{ Site B}}}{\sum c_{\text{ CBZ}, \text{ SiteA}}}} \right) \cdot 100\%$$

If discharge is available at both sites, elimination can be calculated by directly by comparing the loads of a substance at both sites. Hence, elimination based on loads is calculated as follows (Eli_{load,x}):

Eli_{load, x} =
$$\left(1 - \frac{\sum c_{siteB, x} \cdot Q_{siteB}}{\sum c_{siteA, x} \cdot Q_{siteA}}\right) \cdot 100\%$$

where Q_{siteA} and Q_{siteB} are the discharges at respective sampling sites.

Strictly speaking, the concentration-based approach is only valid if concentrations of a target substance x and carbamazepine as a conservative reference compound are perfectly positively correlated at site A or if discharge is constant over time. Hence, applying this concept is valid (with little errors) in period I (discharge can be considered constant), but can lead to significant errors rates during period II where discharge varied from 40 L s⁻¹ to 500 L s⁻¹ in case a substance's concentration is not correlated to that of carbamazepine.

To estimate the uncertainties associated with the procedure we used, we can consider four different scenarios: a) constant discharge, correlated substances, b) constant discharge, uncorrelated substances, c) variable discharge, correlated substances, d) variable discharge, uncorrelated substances. To evaluate these four cases, we used a synthetic time series of 15 data points at both sampling sites and compared the calculated elimination rate with the "real" elimination rate based on the actual loads of a substance assuming that discharge was known. We created datasets for the different scenarios and superimposed random variations on each value. We then calculated the elimination rates for 10 realizations of each scenario and compared the mean deviations of the calculated concentration-based elimination rate from the load-based rate.



For each realization in the correlated and uncorrelated scenarios, the same discharge data were used (Figure B- 7).

Figure B- 7: Discharge scenarios at sites A and B used for the error analyses; a) constant discharge, b) variable discharge.

An example of one realization of the concentrations used for cases a) and c) (correlated data) and for cases b) and d) (uncorrelated data) is given in Figure B- 8.



Figure B- 8: Example on correlation of concentration of substances at site A and site B used for the error analyses; a) correlated data, b) uncorrelated data

For all ten realizations, the elimination rate based on concentrations and on loads was calculated. The root mean square error (RMSE) of the elimination based of concentrations (Eli_{concen}) and the elimination based on loads (Eli_{load}) was calculated as a measure of the accuracy of the method. In detail, RMSE was calculated as follows:

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{10} \left(Eli_{laod,i} - Eli_{concen,i}\right)^2}$$

Results

The mean elimination rates and their standard deviations for the ten realizations of the calculations based on loads and on concentrations are almost equal in all four cases (Table B-9). Using data based on ten realizations obviously compensates for the uncertainty of using concentrations instead of loads. However, a sampling campaign like the one in this study cannot be repeated under identical conditions and thus it is crucial to examine the deviation between the load- and concentration-based approaches for each individual simulation. This can be done using either the maximum deviation obtained from the 10 realizations or the RMSE that provides information on the overall disagreement between the load-based and the concentration-based concept. If discharge is constant (cases a) and b)) the maximum deviation and hence the maximum error of using concentrations instead of loads is low (<6.1 %) with a low RMSE (4.7 %; Table B- 9). If concentrations are additionally correlated, the maximum deviation was even only 1.3 % (RMSE: 1.2 %). Hence, under constant discharge (like in period I), the use of concentrations instead of loads is valid and the error is negligible regardless if concentrations are correlated or not. Under variable discharge conditions (cases c) and d)), a correlation is more essential for obtaining reliable results when using concentrations. In case concentrations are correlated the maximum deviation was 6.1 % (RMSE: 5.7 %) and the use of concentrations can be considered valid. But in the case of uncorrelated concentrations and variable discharge, the maximum deviation between the concepts obtained from ten realizations was 28 % and the RMSE was largest (17%). Consequently, under variable discharge conditions (like in period II), the concentration-based concept can be considered reliable if the concentration of the substance and carbamazepine are correlated. If concentrations are not correlated under a period of variable discharge, the concentration-based approach is very uncertain.

		Elimination based on concen- trations (%)	Elimination based on loads (%)	Corre- lation (-) [*]	RMSE (%)	Range of deviations (%) ^b
a)	correlated, constant discharge	49.3 ± 3.7	49.6 ± 3.5	0.98 ± 0.02	1.2	(0.3 – 1.3)
b)	uncorrelated, constant discharge	50.3 ± 4.3	50.2 ± 4.3	0.00 ± 0.26	4.7	(0.1 - 6.1)
с)	correlated, variable discharge	51.4 ± 3.4	50.5 ± 4.0	0.97 ± 0.02	5.7	(0.1 - 6.1)
d)	uncorrelated, variable discharge	48.0 ± 3.2	46.6 ± 6.3	-0.02 ± 0.14	17	(3.1 – 28)

Table B- 9: Results of the ten realizations of the errors analyses. Elimination and correlation is given as average \pm standard deviation of the ten realizations.

^a correlation of concentrations of carbamazepine and substance x at site A, ^b percentaged difference of the elimination based on loads and the elimination based on concentrations

6.2.5 REFERENCES TO CHAPTER 6.2

AG Boden **(1994)** *Bodenkundliche Kartieranleitung [Manual of soil mapping]*. Schweizerbart, Hannover; ISBN 3-510-95804-7.
6.3 SUPPORTING INFORMATION TO CHAPTER 4

Recirculating Sediment Columns Provide Generalizable Rate Constants for the Biotransformation of Pharmaceuticals in River Sediments

Uwe Kunkel¹, Stephanie Wilde, and Michael Radke^{2,*}

Department of Hydrology, BayCEER, University of Bayreuth, 95440 Bayreuth, Germany

¹ present address: Federal Institute of Hydrology, 56068 Koblenz, Germany

² present address: Department of Applied Environmental Science, Stockholm University, 10691 Stockholm, Sweden

> ^{*}Corresponding Author phone +46/86747136; fax +46/86747638; e-Mail: michael.radke@itm.su.se

to be submitted to Environmental Science & Technology

6.3.1 LIST OF TABLES OF APPENDIX C

Table C- 1: Detailed information on the re-spiking experiments
Table C- 2: Elimination rate constants (keli, ± 95 % confidence intervals, d ⁻¹) of pharmaceuticals in the sterile controls after the initial sorption period
Table C- 3: Elimination rate constants (keli, ± 95% confidence intervals, d ⁻¹) of eighpharmaceuticals in surface water controlsA-3!
Table C- 4: Initial elimination rate constants (keli, \pm 95% confidence intervals, d ⁻¹) of eigh pharmaceuticals in different sediments at a filter velocity of 5.0 m d ⁻¹
Table C- 5: Secondary elimination rate constants (keli,sec, \pm 95 % confidence intervals, d ⁻¹) of the eight tested pharmaceuticals in different sediments at a filter velocity of 5.0 m d ⁻¹

- Table C- 6: Initial elimination rate constants (keli, ± 95 % confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of eight pharmaceuticals in sediments RM2 and GR at different filter velocities (two replicates)A-42

6.3.2 LIST OF FIGURES OF APPENDIX C

- Figure C- 10: Time trends of metoprolol during all recirculating column experiments......A-38
- Figure C- 12: Time trends of propranolol during all recirculating column experiments A-39



6.3.3 MATERIAL AND METHODS

Figure C- 1: a) Scheme of the setup of the column experiments; b) Picture of five sediment columns running in parallel



Figure C- 2: Example of the calculation procedure of an elimination rate constant (k_{eli} , data of metoprolol in Exp. 6), a) Original data, b) Calculation of k_{eli} after omission of initial concentrations in port A (incompletely mixing) and port B (no sorption equilibrium)



Figure C- 3: Example of the calculation procedure of a secondary elimination rate ($k_{eli,sec}$, data of naproxen in Exp. 7), a) Original data, b) Calculation of $k_{eli,sec}$, solid line: significant removal after a lag-phase, dashed line: no removal with the first x days of the experiment

Table C 1. Detailed information on the re spiking experiments	Table C- 1: Detailed	information	on the re	e-spiking	experiments
---	----------------------	-------------	-----------	-----------	-------------

Exp.	Change compared to Exp 1b	Aim	Pharmaceuticals added
1b.a	None	Is there an adaptation phase?	100 µg
1b.b	Disconnection of sediment and water	Is there a transport of microbes into the storage vessel and are pharma- ceuticals not only transformed in the sediment?	100 µg



Figure C- 4: Time trends of pharmaceuticals in the sterile controls at a filter velocity of 10 m d⁻¹ with sediments RM2 and GR; Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol

Table C- 2: Elimination rate constants (k_{eli} , ± 95 % confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of pharmaceuticals in the sterile controls after the initial sorption period

	Exp. 1b	Exp. 2	Exp. 3	Exp. 4	Exp. 5	Exp. 6	Exp. 8
Bez	$0.021 \pm 0.016^{*}$	$0.010 \pm 0.084^{*}$	n.s.	$0.002 \pm 0.002^{*}$	0.025 ± 0.007 [*]	0.006 ± 0.005 [*]	$0.002 \pm 0.002^{*}$
CBZ	n.d.	n.s.	n.s.	$0.005 \pm 0.003^{**}$	n.d.	$0.009 \pm 0.008^{**}$	n.s.
Clo	0.007 ± 0.004 ^{**}	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	0.015 ± 0.011 [*]	n.s.	n.s.
Dic	0.010 ± 0.004	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	0.032 ± 0.020 ^{**}	n.s.	n.s.
Ibu	n.s.	n.s.	0.012 ± 0.011 [*]	n.s.	0.014 ± 0.007 ^{**}	n.s.	n.s.
Met	$0.015 \pm 0.007^{**}$	0.040 ± 0.012	0.023 ± 0.010	0.034 ± 0.006	n.s.	0.018 ± 0.009	0.015 ± 0.003
Nap	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.	0.030 ± 0.019 ^{**}	n.s.	0.009 ± 0.006 ^{**}
Pro	0.029 ± 0.009 ^{**}	0.029 ± 0.016 ^{**}	$0.035 \pm 0.028^{*}$	0.034 ± 0.004	n.s.	0.039 ± 0.020	0.019 ± 0.006

* < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p< 0.001; n.s.: no significant elimination based on a 95%-confidence level, n.d.: not determined since carbamazepine was not spiked. Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol

	Exp. 1b				Exp. 3			Exp. 5				
	1 st pl	nase	2 nd p	hase	1 st pl	hase	2 nd pl	hase	1 st pl	nase	2 nd p	hase
	k _{eli} (d⁻¹)	dura- tion (d)	K _{eli,sec} (d⁻¹)	gone after (d)	k _{eli} (d⁻¹)	dura- tion (d)	K _{eli,sec} (d⁻¹)	gone after (d)	k _{eli} (d⁻¹)	dura- tion (d)	K _{eli,sec} (d ⁻¹)	gone after (d)
Bez	n.s.	6	c.n.p.	10	n.s.	20	n.s.k.	-	0.023 ± 0.007 [*]	9	c.n.p.	6
CBZ	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.s.	20	n.s.k		n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.
Clo	0.018 ± 0.007 ^{**}	20	n.s.k.	-	n.s.	20	n.s.k.	-	n.s.	16	n.s.k.	-
Dic	n.s.	20	n.s.k.	-	n.s.	20	n.s.k.	-	n.s.	16	n.s.k.	-
Ibu	n.s.	6	c.n.p.	< 5	n.s.	20	n.s.k.	-	n.s.	6	c.n.p.	< 5
Met	0.034 ± 0.022 [*]	20	n.s.k.	-	n.s.	20	n.s.k.	-	n.s.	16	n.s.k.	-
Nap	n.s.	6	0.039 ± 0.023 [*]	-	n.s.	20	n.s.k.	-	0.030 ± 0.024 [*]	16	n.s.k.	-
Pro	0.036 ± 0.012 ^{**}	10	c.n.p.	10	0.014 ± 0.005 ^{****}	20	n.s.k.	-	$0.025 \pm 0.012^{**}$	16	n.s.k.	-

Table C- 3: Elimination rate constants (k_{eli} , ± 95% confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of eight pharmaceuticals in surface water controls

* < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p< 0.001; n.s.: no significant elimination based on a 95%-confidence level, n.d.: not determined since carbamazepine was not spiked, c.n.p.: calculation not possible since elimination was very quickly and too few measured values were available. n.s.k.: no secondary elimination kinetics. Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol



Figure C- 5: Time trends of bezafibrate during all recirculating column experiments



Figure C- 6: Time trends of carbamazepine during all recirculating column experiments



Figure C-7: Time trends of clofibric acid during all recirculating column experiments



Figure C-8: Time trends of diclofenac during all recirculating column experiments



Figure C-9: Time trends of ibuprofen during all recirculating column experiments



Figure C- 10: Time trends of metoprolol during all recirculating column experiments



Figure C- 11: Time trends of naproxen during all recirculating column experiments



Figure C- 12: Time trends of propranolol during all recirculating column experiments

	RM1a (n=5) (Exp. 1a)	RM1b (n=4) (Exp. 1b)	RM2 (n=2) (Exp. 3)	RM3 (n =3) (Exp. 5)	GR (n=2) (Exp. 7)
Bez	0.097 ± 0.020 ^{***}	$0.276 \pm 0.044^{***}$	0.402 ± 0.094 ^{***}	0.653 ± 0157 ^{***}	0.033 ± 0.020 ^{**}
CBZ	n.d.	n.d.	0.015 ± 0.005 ^{***}	n.d.	n.s.
Clo	$0.006 \pm 0.005^{*}$	$0.061 \pm 0.015^{***}$	n.s.	n.s.	n.s.
Dic	0.435 ± 0.062 ^{***}	$0.615 \pm 0.047^{***}$	0.462 ± 0.017 ^{***}	0.381 ± 0.067 ^{***}	0.208 ± 0.050 ^{***}
Ibu	0.357 ± 0.026 ^{***}	0.606 ± 0.073 ^{***}	0.878 ± 0.276 ^{***}	$0.700 \pm 0.612^{*}$	0.666 ± 0.211 ^{***}
Met	0.176 ± 0.015 ^{***}	0.624 ± 0.083 ^{***}	0.502 ± 0.102 ^{***}	0.580 ± 0.549*	$0.611 \pm 0.067^{***}$
Nap	0.060 ± 0.005 ^{***}	0.108 ± 0.008 ^{***}	0.054 ± 0.018 ^{***}	$1.01 \pm 0.702^{*}$	n.s.
Pro	0.143 ± 0.020 ^{****}	$0.431 \pm 0.099^{***}$	$0.205 \pm 0.049^{***}$	(0.118 ± 0.301)	$0.441 \pm 0.063^{***}$

Table C- 4: Initial elimination rate constants (k_{eli} , ± 95% confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of eight pharmaceuticals in different sediments at a filter velocity of 5.0 m d⁻¹

n: number of replicates; * < 0.05, ** p < 0.01, *** p < 0.001; n.s.: not significant; (): too few data points for significance in removal, n.d.: not determined since carbamazepine was not spiked in these experiments. Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol

Table C- 5: Secondary elimination rate constants ($k_{eli,sec}$, ± 95 % confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of the eight tested pharmaceuticals in different sediments at a filter velocity of 5.0 m d⁻¹

	RM1a (n=5) (Exp. 1a)	RM1b (n=4) (Exp. 1b)	RM2 (n=2) (Exp. 3)	RM3 (n =3) (Exp. 5)	GR (n=2) (Exp. 7)
Bez	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	0.230 ± 0.050 ^{***} (3)
CBZ	n.d.	n.d.	n.s.k.	n.d.	n.e.
Clo	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	0.241 ± 0.075 ^{***} (5)	0.127 ± 0.033 ^{***} (3)	0.224 ± 0.092 ^{***} (5)
Dic	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.
Ibu	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.
Met	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.
Nap	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	0.220 ± 0.036 ^{***} (3)	n.s.k.	0.221 ± 0.046 ^{***} (3)
Pro	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.

n: number of replicates, ^{***}p< 0.001; n.s.k.: no secondary elimination kinetics, n.e.: no elimination, n.d.: not determined since carbamazepine was not spiked; in parenthesis (): estimated starting day. Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol



Figure C- 13: Average ranks (± standard deviation) of initial elimination rate constants of (a) different sediments for the elimination of each pharmaceutical and (b) the same pharmaceuticals in different sediments (b). The highest rate was given the lowest rank. Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol



Correlation of Spearman's rank coefficients

□ Bez ○ CBZ △ Clo + Dic ◇ Ibu ■ Met ▲ Nap ● Pro

Figure C- 14: Correlation of Spearman's rank coefficients of k_{eli} of pharmaceuticals in different sediments at a filter velocity of 5.0 m d⁻¹. r: correlation coefficient; grey: no correlation based on a 95 % significance level. Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol



Figure C- 15: Plots for the PCA (a) and Cluster (b) analysis of the initial elimination kinetics of eight pharmaceuticals in the different sediment at a filter velocity of 5.0 m d^{-1}

	RM2			GR		
	2.5 m d⁻¹ (Exp. 2)	5.0 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 3)	10 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 4)	2.5 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 6)	5.0 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 7)	10 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 8)
Bez	0.615 ± 0.162 ^{***}	0.402 ± 0.094 ^{***}	0.295 ± 0.042 ^{***}	0.250 ± 0.023 ^{***}	$0.033 \pm 0.020^{**}$	0.074 ± 0.024 ^{***}
CBZ	n.s.	0.015 ± 0.005 ^{***}	0.009 ± 0.002 ^{***}	n.s.	n.s.	0.004 ± 0.001 ^{***}
Clo	0.122 ± 0.036 ^{***}	n.s.	n.s.	0.145 ± 0.261 ^{***}	n.s.	0.008 ± 0.003 ^{***}
Dic	0.575 ± 0.172 ^{***}	0.462 ± 0.017 ^{***}	0.309 ± 0.050 ^{***}	0.265 ± 0.046 ^{***}	0.208 ± 0.050 ^{***}	0.169 ± 0.037***
Ibu	$1.358 \pm 0.987^{*}$	0.878 ± 0.276 ^{***}	0.548 ± 0.056 ^{***}	0.803 ± 0.473 ^{**}	0.666 ± 0.211 ^{***}	0.323 ± 0.059 ^{***}
Met	0.411 ± 0.097 ^{***}	0.502 ± 0.102 ^{***}	0.586 ± 0.151 ^{***}	0.543 ± 0.125 ^{***}	0.611 ± 0.067 ^{***}	0.748 ± 0.081 ^{***}
Nap	0.227 ± 0.052 ^{***}	0.054 ± 0.018 ^{***}	0.091 ± 0.013 ^{***}	0.200 ± 0.064 ^{***}	n.s.	0.031 ± 0.013 ^{***}
Pro	0.222 ± 0.053 ^{***}	0.205 ± 0.049 ^{****}	0.278 ± 0.048 ^{****}	0.331 ± 0.087 ^{***}	0.441 ± 0.063 ^{***}	0.467 ± 0.099 ^{***}

Table C- 6: Initial elimination rate constants (k_{eli} , ± 95 % confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of eight pharmaceuticals in sediments RM2 and GR at different filter velocities (two replicates)

n: number of replicates; ^{*} < 0.05, ^{**}p < 0.01, ^{***}p< 0.001; n.s.: not significant; Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol

		RM2		GR			
	2.5 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 2)	5.0 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 3)	10 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 4)	2.5 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 6)	5.0 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 7)	10 m d ⁻¹ (Exp. 8)	
Bez	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	0.230 ± 0.050 ^{***} (3)	0.854 ± 0.513 ^{**} (5)	
CBZ	n.e.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.e.	n.e.	n.s.k.	
Clo	n.s.k.	0.241 ± 0.075 ^{***} (5)	0.120 ± 0.022 ^{***} (7)	n.s.k.	0.224 ± 0.092 ^{***} (5)	0.120 ± 0.030 ^{***} (10)	
Dic	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	
Ibu	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	
Met	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	
Nap	n.s.k.	0.220 ± 0.036 ^{***} (3)	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	0.221 ± 0.046 ^{***} (3)	0.216 ± 0.064 ^{***} (7)	
Pro	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	n.s.k.	

Table C- 7: Secondary elimination rate constants ($k_{eli,sec}$, ± 95 % confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of eight pharmaceuticals in sediments RM2 and GR at different filter velocities (two replicates)

^{****}p < 0.001; n.s.k.: no secondary elimination kinetics, n.e.: no elimination, in parenthesis (): estimated starting day of increased elimination after initial lag-phase. Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol



Figure C- 16: Time trends of TOC, nitrate and sulfate in experiments at different filter velocities with sediment RM2; Exp. 2: 2.5 m d^{-1} , Exp. 3: 5.0 m d^{-1} Exp. 4: 10 m d^{-1} .



Figure C- 17: Time trends of TOC, nitrate and sulfate in experiments at different filter velocities with sediment GR; Exp. 6: 2.5 m d^{-1} , Exp. 7: 5.0 m d^{-1} Exp. 8: 10 m d^{-1} .



Figure C- 18: Time trends of pH and dissolved oxygen (DO) in experiment 1b. The shown data are aggregate data from all replicate experiments and both sampling ports.



Figure C- 19: Time trends of pharmaceuticals before and after the re-spiking. Exp. 1b.a: no modification compared to Exp. 1b, Exp. 1b.b: storage bottle was disconnected from the sediment columns, Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol

	Exp. 1b.a	Exp. 1b.b			
Modification	No change in setup	Storage bottle disconnected from sediment			
	k _{eli} (d⁻¹)	k _{eli} (d⁻¹)	K _{eli,sec} (d⁻¹)		
Bez	$0.509 \pm 0.117^{**}$	n.s.	0.313 ± 0.091 ^{**} (6)		
CBZ	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
Clo	$0.105 \pm 0.025^{*}$	n.s.	0.110 ± 0.027 ^{***} (4)		
Dic	$0.806 \pm 0.116^{***}$	0.014 ± 0.006 ^{****}	0.049 ± 0.007 ^{**} (10)		
Ibu	$4.585 \pm 3.164^{*}$	$1.898 \pm 0.450^{**}$	n.s.k.		
Met	$0.459 \pm 0.106^{**}$	0.093 ± 0.029 ^{***}	n.s.k.		
Nap	$0.286 \pm 0.060^{***}$	$0.129 \pm 0.020^{***}$	n.s.k.		
Pro	n.s. [0.403 ± 0.839]	$0.265 \pm 0.136^{**}$	n.s.k.		

Table C- 8: Initial and secondary elimination rate constants (k_{eli} , ± 95 % confidence intervals, d⁻¹) of eight pharmaceuticals in the re-spiking experiments

* < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p< 0.001; n.s.: no significant elimination based on a 95%-confidence level, n.d.: not determined since carbamazepine was not spiked; in parenthesis (): estimated starting day of increased elimination after initial lag-phase, in parenthesis []: elimination but too data quality for significant regression. Bez: Bezafibrate, CBZ: Carbamazepine, Clo: Clofibric Acid, Dic: Diclofenac, Ibu: Ibuprofen, Met: Metoprolol, Nap: Naproxen, Pro: Propranolol



Exp. 7

Figure C- 20: Relationship between the time trends of ibuprofen and bezafibrate during experiment 7

7 (EIDESSTATTLICHE) VERSICHERUNGEN UND ERKLÄRUNGEN

(§ 5 Nr. 4 PromO)

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass keine Tatsachen vorliegen, die mich nach den gesetzlichen Bestimmungen über die Führung akademischer Grade zur Führung eines Doktorgrades unwürdig erscheinen lassen.

(§ 8 S. 2 Nr. 5 PromO)

Hiermit erkläre ich mich damit einverstanden, dass die elektronische Fassung meiner Dissertation unter Wahrung meiner Urheberrechte und des Datenschutzes einer gesonderten Überprüfung hinsichtlich der eigenständigen Anfertigung der Dissertation unterzogen werden kann.

(§ 8 S. 2 Nr. 7 PromO)

Hiermit erkläre ich eidesstattlich, dass ich die Dissertation selbständig verfasst und keine anderen als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe. Ich habe die Dissertation nicht bereits zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades anderweitig eingereicht und habe auch nicht bereits diese oder eine gleichartige Doktorprüfung endgültig nicht bestanden.

(§ 8 S. 2 Nr. 9 PromO)

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich keine Hilfe von gewerbliche Promotionsberatern bzw. -vermittlern in Anspruch genommen habe und auch künftig nicht nehmen werde.

.....

.....

Ort, Datum

Unterschrift